
AGENDA
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, COUNTY OF MONO

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Regular Meetings: First, Second, and Third Tuesday of each month. Location of meeting is specified below.
Teleconference Only - No Physical Location

Regular Meeting
February 16, 2021

TELECONFERENCE INFORMATION
As authorized by Governor Newsom’s Executive Order, N-29-20, dated March 17, 2020, the meeting will be
held via teleconferencing with members of the Board attending from separate remote locations. This altered
format is in observance of recommendations by local officials that precautions be taken, including social
distancing, to address the threat of COVID-19.
Important Notice to the Public Regarding COVID-19  
Based on guidance from the California Department of Public Health and the California Governor’s Officer, in
order to minimize the spread of the COVID-19 virus, please note the following:  
1. Joining via Zoom
There is no physical location of the meeting open to the public. You may participate in the Zoom Webinar,
including listening to the meeting and providing public comment, by following the instructions below.
To join the meeting by computer:
Visit https://monocounty.zoom.us/j/96554411849
Or visit https://www.zoom.us/ click on "Join A Meeting" and use the Zoom Meeting ID 965 5441 1849.
To provide public comment (at appropriate times) during the meeting, press the “Raise Hand” button on your
screen.
To join the meeting by telephone:
Dial (669) 900-6833, then enter Webinar ID 965 5441 1849.
To provide public comment (at appropriate times) during the meeting, press *9 to raise your hand.
2. Viewing the Live Stream
If you are unable to join the Zoom Webinar of the Board meeting you may still view the live stream of the
meeting by visiting http://monocounty.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=759e238f-a489-40a3-ac0e-
a4e4ae90735d

NOTE: In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act if you need special assistance to participate in
this meeting, please contact Shannon Kendall, Clerk of the Board, at (760) 932-5533. Notification 48 hours
prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this
meeting (See 42 USCS 12132, 28CFR 35.130).
ON THE WEB: You can view the upcoming agenda at http://monocounty.ca.gov. If you would like to receive an
automatic copy of this agenda by email, please subscribe to the Board of Supervisors Agendas on our website
at http://monocounty.ca.gov/bos.
UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED BY TIME, ITEMS SCHEDULED FOR EITHER THE MORNING OR
AFTERNOON SESSIONS WILL BE HEARD ACCORDING TO AVAILABLE TIME AND PRESENCE OF
INTERESTED PERSONS. PUBLIC MAY COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS AT THE TIME THE ITEM IS
HEARD.

Page 1 of 8

http://monocounty.ca.gov/
http://monocounty.ca.gov/bos
http://monocounty.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=759e238f-a489-40a3-ac0e-a4e4ae90735d


9:00 AM Call meeting to Order

Pledge of Allegiance

1. OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

Please refer to the Teleconference Information section to determine how to
make public comment for this meeting.

2. RECOGNITIONS - NONE

3. COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

CAO Report regarding Board Assignments
Receive brief oral report by County Administrative Officer (CAO) regarding work
activities.

4. DEPARTMENT/COMMISSION REPORTS

Receive brief oral report on emerging issues and/or activities.

5. CONSENT AGENDA

(All matters on the consent agenda are to be approved on one motion unless a
board member requests separate action on a specific item.)

A. Board Minutes - January 5, 2021
Departments: Clerk of the Board

Approval of the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on January 5, 2021.

Recommended Action: Approve the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting
on January 5, 2021.

Fiscal Impact: None.
B. Reappointment to the Mono County Child Care Council

Departments: Mono County Child Care Council

Mono County Child Care Council seeks the re-appointment of Pam Heays by the
Mono County Board of Supervisors for a two-year term beginning February 28,
2021 and terminating February 27, 2023. 

Recommended Action: Appoint Pam Heays to a two-year term in the category
of Consumer of Child Care beginning February 28, 2021 and terminating
February 27, 2023. 

Fiscal Impact: None.
C. Appointment to County Service Area #1 Advisory Board

Departments: Clerk of the Board

Page 2 of 8



The County Service Area #1 (CSA1) Advisory Board recommends the
appointment of David Titus to its Board effective February 16, 2021, for a term
expiring November 30, 2024.

Recommended Action: Appoint David Titus to the CSA1 Board effective
February 16, 2021, for a term expiring November 30, 2024.

Fiscal Impact: None.
D. Authority to Hire WIC Program Manager/Registered Dietician at Step B

Departments: Public Health

Authorize the Public Health Director to fill the WIC Program Manager/Registered
Dietician position at Step B (75B).

Recommended Action: Authorize the Public Health Director to hire Ms.
Stephanie Riley-Stai at a B step in the position of WIC Program
Manager/Registered Dietician.

Fiscal Impact: There is no impact to the County General Fund.  The cost of this
position is currently budgeted in fiscal year 2020-21 through the approved
budget.  The fiscal impact for the remainder of fiscal year 2020-21 will be
approximately $62,897 consisting of $37,650 in salary and $25,247 in benefits.

E. Authority to Hire Two Community Health Outreach Specialists at Step B
Departments: Public Health

Authorize the Public Health Director to fill two (2) Community Health Outreach
Specialist positions at Step B (63B).

Recommended Action: Authorize the Public Health Director to hire Ms. Maria
Vega and Mr. Juan Rios into the positions of Community Health Outreach
Specialist as a Step B (63B).

Fiscal Impact: There is no impact to the County General Fund.  Both positions
are fully grant funded through the term of the grant, with the positions coming to
an end on November 17, 2022.  The cost of these positions is currently
budgeted in fiscal year 2020-21.  The fiscal impact for the remainder of fiscal
year 2020-21 will be approximately $32,596 per position, consisting of $20,350
in salary and $12,246 in benefits, or $65,192 total for both positions in fiscal year
2020-21.

F. Emergency Guardrail Replacement - Justification for Continued
Emergency
Departments: Public Works - Roads

Update on the Emergency Guardrail replacement project on Eastside Lane and
North River Lane and finding of continued emergency.

Page 3 of 8



Recommended Action:
1. Receive update on Eastside Lane and North River Lane emergency guardrail
repair/replacement project.
2. As established by Public Contract Code Chapter 2.5, “Emergency Contracting
Procedures,” review the emergency action taken on Jan 5, 2021 and make a
finding, based on substantial evidence set forth in this staff report and at the
meeting, that the emergency continues to exist as to Eastside Lane and North
River Lane, and that continuation of action to replace the damaged guardrail on
both roads is necessary to respond to the emergency. [4/5th Vote Required.]
3. Delegate to the Mono County Road Operations Superintendent the authority to
continue to procure the necessary equipment, services, and supplies for the
emergency guardrail replacement on Eastside Lane and North River Lane,
without giving notice for bids to let contracts, including executing any agreements
or contracts for the construction or repair of the damaged/destroyed guardrails.
[4/5th Vote Required.] 

Fiscal Impact: The total cost of the emergency repair/replacement of the
guardrails is approximately $160,000.  The emergency projects are eligible for
75% funding via the California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA) Program
administered by the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (CalOES).  The
LTC approved using transportation funding for the remaining 25% County match. 
Project costs are included in the amended budget for FY 2020-21.

G. Ordinance Amending Chapter 13.40 of the Mono County Code - Public
Use of Conway Ranch
Departments: Public Works, County Counsel

Proposed ordinance amending Chapter 13.40 of the Mono County Code related
to public use of portions of Conway Ranch dedicated to livestock grazing during
grazing season or for other future uses. 

Recommended Action: Adopt proposed ordinance.

Fiscal Impact: None.

6. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED

Direction may be given to staff regarding, and/or the Board may discuss, any item
of correspondence listed on the agenda.

A. Notice Of Petitions for Change for Licenses 10191 And 10192
(Applications 8042 And 8043) of The City of Los Angeles, Department of
Water And Power

On November 14, 2013, the State Water Resources Control Board received
Petitions for Change from the City of Los Angeles, Department of Water and
Power (LADWP) pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 23, section

Page 4 of 8



791, subdivision (e) requesting incorporation into its water right Licenses 10191
and 10192 the Mono Basin Settlement Agreement Regarding Continuing
Implementation of Water Rights Orders 98-05 and 98-07.

B. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Letters re: Dams Part of
the Lee Vining Creek Project, FERC Project No. 1388-CA

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) letters regarding responses to
FERC Comments on the 3rd Independent Consultant's Safety Inspection Report
for Rhinedollar Dam, responses to FERC Comments on 11th Independent
Consultant's Safety Inspection Report for Saddlebag Dam, and Revised Semi-
Quantitative Risk Analysis (SQRA) Report for Rhinedollar Dam. 

7. REGULAR AGENDA - MORNING

A. First 5 Fiscal Year 2019-20 Evaluation Report
Departments: First 5
20 minutes (10 minute presentation; 10 minute discussion)

(Molly DesBaillets, Executive Director) - Evaluation of services provided to
families and children prenatal to five years old in Mono County for Fiscal Year
2019-20.

Recommended Action: None, informational only.

Fiscal Impact: None.
B. Revolving Loan Update

Departments: Finance
20 minutes

(Patricia Robertson, Mammoth Lakes Housing Executive Director) - Mammoth
Lakes Housing has utilized the Mono County Revolving Loan Fund for a total of
five (5) purchases of deed-restricted properties between September 26, 2017
and December 31, 2019.  There have been no new loans issued since
December 2019. There is one outstanding loan that received a 6- month
extension for Unit H101 located on 550 Mono Street.

Recommended Action: 
(1)   Receive presentation and update from Mammoth Lakes Housing (“MLH”)
staff on use of Mono County Revolving Loan Fund (Affordable Housing) (“RLF”)
as required by Resolution Nos. 15-8, 17-86 and 20-104; 
(2)   Receive update on use of RLF funds to purchase affordable/deed-restricted
housing and compliance with RLF program requirements; and 
(3)   Provide any desired direction to staff.  

Fiscal Impact: Interest continues to accrue for outstanding loan which now
supports affordable housing activities.

Page 5 of 8



C. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Update
1 hour

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO, Bryan Wheeler, Public Health Director) - Update on
Countywide response and planning related to the COVID-19 pandemic, including
reports from the Emergency Operations Center (EOC), Unified Command (UC),
and the various branches of the EOC, including Community Support and
Economic Recovery, Joint Information Center (JIC), and Public Health. 

Recommended Action: None, informational only.

Fiscal Impact: None.
D. Mountain View Fire Update

10 minutes

(Justin Nalder, EOC Director) - Update on the Mountain View Fire in Walker,
California.

Recommended Action: Receive update from Incident Command for the
Mountain View Fire and involved staff regarding impacts of the fire, recovery
efforts, County response, debris removal and related topics. Provide any desired
direction to staff.

Fiscal Impact: No impact from this update.
E. Legislative Platform Workshop

Departments: Administration
1.5 hours

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO) - Workshop for the Board of Supervisors to review
changes suggested by County departments for the 2021 Legislative Platform

Recommended Action: Make changes and recommendations for the 2021
Legislative Platform. Provide any desired direction to staff.

Fiscal Impact: None.

8. OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

Please refer to the Teleconference Information section to determine how to
make public comment for this meeting.

9. CLOSED SESSION

A. Closed Session - Labor Negotiations

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS. Government Code Section
54957.6. Agency designated representative(s): Bob Lawton, Stacey Simon,

Page 6 of 8



Janet Dutcher, and Dave Wilbrecht. Employee Organization(s): Mono County
Sheriff's Officers Association (aka Deputy Sheriff's Association), Local 39 -
majority representative of Mono County Public Employees (MCPE) and Deputy
Probation Officers Unit (DPOU), Mono County Paramedic Rescue Association
(PARA), Mono County Public Safety Officers Association (PSO). Unrepresented
employees: All.

B. Closed Session - Public Employee Evaluation

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. Government Code
section 54957. Title: County Administrative Officer.

C. Closed Session - Public Employee Evaluation

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. Government Code
section 54957. Title: County Counsel.

D. Closed Session - Existing Litigation

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION. Paragraph
(1) of subdivision (d) of Government Code section 54956.9. Name of case:
Abshire et. al, v. Newsom, et al. (US Dist. Ct. for the Eastern District 2:21-cv-
00198-JAM-KJN).

THE AFTERNOON SESSION WILL RECONVENE NO EARLIER THAN 1:00
P.M.

10. OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

Please refer to the Teleconference Information section to determine how to
make public comment for this meeting.

11. REGULAR AGENDA - AFTERNOON

A. New Statewide Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-2022 Fishing
Season
Departments: Economic Development
15 minutes

(Jeff Simpson, Economic Development Manager) - The California State Fish and
Game Commission approved new Statewide Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for
the 2021-2022 fishing season. The current 2020-2021 regulations remain in
effect through Feb. 28, 2021. The new regulations will go into effect on: March 1,
2021.

Recommended Action: None, informational only.

Page 7 of 8



Fiscal Impact: None.
B. Discussion of MediCal Managed Care and Presentation from Inland

Empire Health Plan
Departments: Social Services; Public Health; Behavioral Health
Item scheduled to start at 1:30 PM (45 minutes)

(Kathy Peterson, Mono Social Services; Meaghan McCamman, Inyo HHS) - A
brief presentation on the upcoming procurement of new MediCal managed care
plans through the state Department of Health Care Services will be provided,
followed by a presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan.

Recommended Action: Receive presentation on the upcoming procurement of
new MediCal managed care plans through the state Department of Health Care
Services followed by a presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan on the
possibility of partnering with Mono County to provide Medi-Cal Managed Care
Services for Mono County Medi-Cal beneficiaries. Provide staff direction.

Fiscal Impact: None.
C. Housing Update

Departments: CAO
1 hour

(Robert C. Lawton, County Administrative Officer) - In 2018, a toolbox matrix
consisting of strategies to address Mono County's housing challenges
was established and vetted through extensive community outreach. The toolbox
matrix proposed integration of goals and strategies into potential programs and
actions. 

In the absence of a dedicated County housing office, staff in a range of
departments have stepped in to provide momentum. Their efforts have enabled
the County to be proactive and responsive despite the other demands on their
time, especially during the Pandemic. 

The County is now recruiting for a dedicated Housing Coordinator, and a new
Supervisor has been elected to the Board since the toolbox was last reviewed.

Recommended Action: Staff recommends the Board review and discuss the
Housing Toolbox Prioritization set forth in 2018 for possible recommendation of
staff action and amendment at a future date.

Fiscal Impact: None noted at this time.

12. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS

The Board may, if time permits, take Board Reports at any time during the
meeting and not at a specific time.

ADJOURN

Page 8 of 8



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Clerk of the Board
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Board Minutes - January 5, 2021

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Approval of the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on January 5, 2021.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on January 5, 2021.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Queenie Barnard

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5534 / qbarnard@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Minutes

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:57 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:45 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:06 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24960&ItemID=13044


DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 1 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 
DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, COUNTY OF MONO 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
Regular Meetings: First, Second, and Third Tuesday of each month. Location of meeting is 

specified below. 
Teleconference Only - No Physical Location 

 

Regular Meeting 
January 5, 2021 

 

Backup Recording Zoom 

Minute Orders M21-01 – M21-13 

Resolutions R21-01 – R21-08 

Ordinance ORD21-01 Not Used 
 

9:02 AM Meeting Called to Order by Chair Corless. 
 
Supervisors Present: Corless, Gardner, Kreitz, Peters, and Stump (all attended via 
teleconference). 
Supervisors Absent: None. 

 
The Mono County Board of Supervisors stream most of their meetings live on the 
internet and archives them afterward.  To search for a meeting from June 2, 2015 
forward, please go to the following link: http://www.monocounty.ca.gov/meetings. 

 

 

 
Pledge of Allegiance led by Supervisor Duggan. 

 

 

1.  OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 

  

Elaine Kabala, Eastern Sierra Council of Governments (ESCOG) Staff: 

• Introduced self as new staff with the ESCOG 
 
Gary Nelson. Mono City resident: 

• Recycling services at transfer stations, request to expand services to include 
mixed paper 

 

2.  RECOGNITIONS 
 

A. Swearing In of Rhonda Duggan as District Two Supervisor, Bob 
Gardner as District Three Supervisor, and John Peters as District Four 
Supervisor 

 

  
Departments: Board of Supervisors 

 

http://www.monocounty.ca.gov/meetings


DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 2 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

  
(Judge Magit) - Swearing in of Rhonda Duggan as District Two Supervisor, 
Bob Gardner as District Three Supervisor, and John Peters as District Four 
Supervisor 

 

  
Action: No Board action required. Judge Magit administered the oaths of 
office to Supervisors Duggan, Gardner, and Peters.  

 

 
B. Election of New 2021 Board Chair 

 

  
Departments: Board of Supervisors 

 

  
(Stacy Corless, Outgoing Board Chair) - The outgoing Board Chair will call 
for nominations to elect the Chair of the Board for 2021. 

 

  
Action: Elect Supervisor Jennifer Kreitz as the new Chair of the Board for 
2021. 
Peters motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-01 

• Supervisor Peters nominated Supervisor Kreitz as Board Chair  

 

 
C. Presentation to Outgoing Board Chair Corless 

 

  
Departments: Board of Supervisors 

 

  
(Board Chair) - Presentation to outgoing Board Chair Corless by newly 
elected Board Chair honoring Supervisor Corless' service to the Board in 
2020. 

 

  
Action: None. 

• Newly-elected Chair Kreitz presented a plaque to outgoing-Chair Corless  

• Other Board members spoke, expressing their gratitude to Supervisor Corless  

 

 
D. Election of New 2021 Vice Chair 

 

  
Departments: Board of Supervisors 

 

  
(Board Chair) - The newly elected Board Chair will call for nomination to 
elect the Vice Chair of the Board for 2021. 

 

  
Action: Elect Supervisor Bob Gardner as new Vice Chair of the Board for 
2021. 
Peters motion; Duggan seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-02 

• Supervisor Peters nominated Supervisor Gardner as Vice Chair  

 

 
E. Election of New 2021 Chair Pro-Tem 

 

  
Departments: Board of Supervisors 

 

  
(Board Chair) - The newly elected Board Chair will call for nominations to 
elect the Chair Pro-Tem of the Board for 2021. 

 

  
Action: Elect Supervisor Rhonda Duggan as new Chair Pro-Tem of the 
Board for 2021. 
Corless motion; Gardner seconded. 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 3 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-03 

• Supervisor Corless nominated Supervisor Duggan as Chair Pro-Tem  

3.  COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 

  

CAO Report regarding Board Assignments 
Bob Lawton, CAO: 

• EOC meetings, COVID response meetings 

• Mountain View Fire – thanked Justin Nalder, Mary Booher, Jennifer Baker 

• Behavioral Health housing project at The Parcel 

• Business roundtables with Mammoth Lakes and June Lake small businesses and 
lodging owners 

• Continuing engagement with CalOES 

• Mid-year budget development 

• Meeting with CalTrans District 9 Director  

 

4.  DEPARTMENT/COMMISSION REPORTS 

  

Stacey Simon, County Counsel: 

• Introduced Kevin Moss, new Office Manager/Paralegal in County Counsel’s office 
 
Justin Nalder, Solid Waste Superintendent: 

• Granted HD35 grant, Household Hazardous Waste discretionary fund: $100,000 
 
Ingrid Braun, Mono County Sheriff: 

• Retirements: Civil Deputy Pete DeGeorge, Sergeant Tim Minder and Sergeant 
Jeff Beard 

• Promotions: Brent Gillespie and Eli Clark both promoted to Sergeant, Jason 
Pelichowski promoted to Investigator, Cory Custer promoted to Civil Deputy  

 

5.  CONSENT AGENDA 

  (All matters on the consent agenda are to be approved on one motion 
unless a board member requests separate action on a specific item.) 

 

 
A. Board Minutes - November 10, 2020 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 

  
Approval of the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on November 10, 
2020. 

 

  
Action: Approve the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on 
November 10, 2020. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-04  

 

 
B. Board Minutes - November 17, 2020 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 4 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

  
Approval of the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on November 17, 
2020. 

 

  
Action: Approve the Board Minutes from the Regular Meeting on 
November 17, 2020. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-05  

 

 
C. Joint Town/County Meeting Minutes - November 17, 2020 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 

  
Approval of the Joint Town/County Meeting Minutes from the Special 
Meeting on November 17, 2020. 

 

  
Action: Approve the Joint Town/County Meeting Minutes from the Special 
Meeting on November 17, 2020. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-06  

 

 
D. Board Minutes - November 24, 2020 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 

  
Approval of the Board Minutes from the Special Meeting on November 24, 
2020. 

 

  
Action: Approve the Board Minutes from the Special Meeting on November 
24, 2020. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-07  

 

 
E. June Lake Citizens Advisory Committee Appointment 

 

  
Departments: Community Development - Planning 

 

  
Reappoint David Rosky for a second, four-year term to the June Lake 
Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC). The CAC consists of 6 members at 
this time and may have up to 10 members. Three seats will remain open.  

 

  
Action: Appoint David Rosky to the June Lake Citizens Advisory 
Committee for a four-year term, expiring December 31, 2024.  
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-08  

 

 
F. Mono County Child Care Council Certification Statement Regarding 

Composition of Local Planning Council Membership 

 

  
Departments: Mono County Child Care Council 

 

  
The Board of Supervisors and Superintendent of Schools make the 
appointments of the council members to the Mono Council Child Care 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 5 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Council. The Certification Statement Regarding Composition of Local 
Planning Council (LPC) Membership certifies that the membership criteria 
as established under the Education Code are met. The submission of 
certification is required annually by the California Department of Education. 

  
Action: Approve the membership certification for the Mono County Child 
Care Council and authorize the Board of Supervisors Chair to sign the 
certification. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-09  

 

 
G. Annual Resolution Delegating Investment Authority to the County 

Treasurer 

 

  
Departments: Finance 

 

  
Resolution Delegating Investment Authority to the County Treasurer. 

 

  
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution R21-01, Delegating Investment 
Authority to the County Treasurer. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-01  

 

 
H. Mono County Statement of Investment Policy 

 

  
Departments: Finance 

 

  
Annual approval of the Mono County Statement of Investment Policy 
pursuant to Section 27133 of the Government Code of the State of 
California. 

 

  
Action: Approve the Mono County Statement of Investment Policy. 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-10 

 

6.  CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 

  

Direction may be given to staff regarding, and/or the Board may discuss, 
any item of correspondence listed on the agenda. 
 
The Board acknowledged receipt of the correspondence. 

 

 
A. Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) Notice of 

Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration Extension of Public 
Review Period 

 

  
The City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) 
prepared an Initial Study for the Mono Basin Water Rights Licenses Project. 
Based on the information contained in the Initial Study, LADWP intends to 
adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration for the project under the California 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 6 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The public review period commenced 
on October 30, 2020 and originally concluded on December 15, 2020. An 
extension request has been granted, therefore the public review period is 
updated to conclude on January 6, 2021 at 5:00 pm. 

 
B. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Letter re: Revised 

Supporting Technical Information Document (STID) for Tioga Lake 
Dams 

 

  
A letter from Frank L. Blackett, P.E., Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission Regional Engineer, to James A. Buerkle, Southern California 
Edison Company Director of Generation, in response to a letter from 
Wayne Allen submitting the revised Supporting Technical Information 
Document (STID) for Tioga Lake Dams, which are part of the Lee Vining 
Creek Project, FERC No. 1388.  

 

7.  REGULAR AGENDA - MORNING 
 

A. Mountain View Fire Update 
 

  
(Justin Nalder, EOC Director) - Update on the Mountain View Fire in 
Walker, California. 

 

  
Action: None. 
 
Justin Nalder, EOC Director / Solid Waste Superintendent: 

• CDAA application for private property debris removal 

• Department of Toxic Substances Control onsite today – hazardous waste 

• Approved for small business administration declaration – allows individuals to 
apply for low interest loans if they choose to rebuild 

• Continue to collect information through needs survey led by Social Services  
 
Supervisor Peters: 

• Community workshops update 

• Donations update 

 

 
B. Resolution Waiving Well and Septic System Permit Fees Associated 

with the Mountain View Fire (MVF) 

 

  
Departments: Public Health 

 

  
(Louis Molina, Environmental Health Director) - Proposed resolution to 
waive any permit fees for onsite wastewater treatment (OWTS) and water 
well construction associated with new construction or repairs on properties 
affected by the MVF. 

 

  
Action: Adopt Resolution R21-02, waiving water well permit fees and 
onsite wastewater treatment system permit fees for reconstruction 
associated with Mountain View Fire recovery. 
Peters motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-02 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 7 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Louis Molina, Environmental Health Director: 

• Presented item 
 

C. Resolution Waiving Encroachment Permit and Grading Permit Fees 
for Victims of the Mountain View Fire 

 

  
Departments: Public Works 

 

  
(Tony Dublino, Director of Public Works) - Proposed resolution waiving 
encroachment permit and grading permit fees for reconstruction associated 
with Mountain View Fire recovery. 

 

  
Action: Adopt Resolution R21-03, waiving encroachment permit and 
grading permit fees for reconstruction associated with Mountain View Fire 
recovery.  
Peters motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-03 
Tony Dublino, Director of Public Works: 

• Presented item  

 

 
D. Eastside Lane and North River Lane Emergency Guardrail 

Repair/Replacement Projects 

 

  
Departments: Public Works - Roads 

 

  
(Kevin Julian, Road Operations Superintendent) - Authorization of 
Emergency Repair and Replacement of Eastside Lane and North River 
Lane Guardrails Damaged and/or Destroyed by the Mountain View Fire. 

 

  
Action: 
1.  As established by Public Contract Code Chapter 2.5, “Emergency 
Contracting Procedures,” find that based on substantial evidence set forth 
in this staff report and at the meeting that the emergencies posed by the 
damaged/destroyed Eastside Lane guardrails and the damaged/destroyed 
North River Lane guardrails require the County to take directly related and 
immediate action, including but not limited to procuring the necessary 
equipment, services, and supplies for those purposes, without giving notice 
for bids to let contracts. [4/5th Vote Required.] 
2.  Adopt the attached resolution that includes the emergency findings and 
delegates to the Mono County Road Operations Superintendent the 
authority to order any directly related and immediate action required by the 
emergencies created by the damaged/destroyed Eastside Lane guardrails 
and the damaged/destroyed North River Lane guardrails, and procure the 
necessary equipment, services, and supplies for those purposes, without 
giving notice for bids to let contracts, including executing any agreements 
or contracts for the construction or repair of the damaged/destroyed 
guardrails.   [4/5th Vote Required.] 
Peters motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-04 
Kevin Julian, Road Operations Superintendent: 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 8 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

• Presented item 
 
Break: 10:26 AM 
Reconvened: 10:33 AM   

E. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Update 
 

  
(Robert C. Lawton, CAO, Dr. Tom Boo, Mono County Health Officer) - 
Update on Countywide response and planning related to the COVID-19 
pandemic, including reports from the Emergency Operations Center (EOC), 
Unified Command (UC), and the various branches of the EOC, including 
Community Support and Economic Recovery, Joint Information Center 
(JIC), and Public Health.  

 

  
Action: None. 
The following individuals gave updates: 

• Bryan Wheeler, Public Health Director - PPT presentation (can be found under 
Supporting Documents on the meeting webpage) – vaccines, testing, local 
positivity rates 

• Supervisor Peters – CSAC Rural County Group update 

• Bob Lawton, CAO – Update on joint letter from County and Town of Mammoth 
Lakes to Governor Newsom regarding regional grouping  

• Stacey Simon, County Counsel – Midway Venture case update 

• Janet Dutcher, Finance Director – CARES Act funding 
 
Public Comment: 

• Ron Day 

• Alisa Rosa 

• Good Citizen  

 

8.  OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 

  
None. 
 
Moved to Item 12. 

 

9. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 
 
Closed Session: 12:20 PM 
Reconvened: 1:05 PM 
 
Reentered Closed Session: 2:08 PM 
Reconvened: 3:07 PM 

 
Nothing to report out of Closed Session. 

 
A. Closed Session - Public Employee Evaluation 

 

  
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. Government Code 
section 54957. Title: County Administrative Officer. 

 

 
B. Closed Session - Exposure to Litigation 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 9 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

  
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION. 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision 
(d) of Government Code section 54956.9. Number of potential cases: two. 

 

  
THE AFTERNOON SESSION WILL RECONVENE NO EARLIER THAN 
1:00 P.M. 

 

10.  OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 

  None.  

11.  REGULAR AGENDA - AFTERNOON 
 

A. Employment Agreement - Social Services Director 
 

  
Departments: Human Resources/CAO 

 

  
(David R Butters, HR Director) - Proposed resolution approving a contract 
with Kathryn E. Peterson as Social Services Director, and prescribing the 
compensation, appointment and conditions of said employment. 

 

  
Action: Announce Fiscal Impact. Approve Resolution R21-05, approving a 
contract with Kathryn E. Peterson as Social Services Director, and 
prescribing the compensation, appointment and conditions of said 
employment. Authorize the Board Chair to execute said contract on behalf 
of the County. 
 
Fiscal Impact: The cost for this position for the remainder of FY 2020-2021 
(January 5th to June 30th) is approximately $98,961 of which $63,727 is 
salary, and $34,964 is the cost of the benefits and was included in the 
approved budget. The cost for an entire fiscal year would be approximately 
$204,683 of which $132,168 is salary and $72,515 is the cost of benefits. 
 
Gardner motion; Duggan seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-05 
Dave Butters, HR Director: 

• Presented item  

 

 
B. Employment Agreement - Emergency Medical Services Chief 

 

  
Departments: Human Resources/CAO 

 

  
(David R Butters, HR Director) - Proposed resolution approving a contract 
with Chris Mokracek as Emergency Medical Services Chief, and 
prescribing the compensation, appointment and conditions of said 
employment. 

 

  
Action: Announce Fiscal Impact. Approve Resolution R21-06, approving a 
contract with Chris Mokracek as Emergency Medical Services Chief, and 
prescribing the compensation, appointment and conditions of said 
employment. Authorize the Board Chair to execute said contract on behalf 
of the County. 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 10 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 
Fiscal Impact: The cost for this position for the remainder of FY 2020-2021 
(January 5th to June 30th) is approximately $97,778 of which $59,740 is 
salary and $38,038 is the cost of the benefits and is included in the 
approved budget. Total cost for a full fiscal year would be $202,789 of 
which $123,900 is annual salary and $78,889 is the cost of the benefits. 
 
Corless motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-06 
Dave Butters, HR Director: 

• Presented item   
C. Employment Agreement - Assistant Assessor 

 

  
Departments: Human Resources/CAO 

 

  
(David R Butters, HR Director) - Proposed resolution approving a contract 
with Tracy Morgan as Assistant Assessor, and prescribing the 
compensation, appointment and conditions of said employment. 

 

  
Action: Announce Fiscal Impact. Approve Resolution R21-07, approving a 
contract with Tracy Morgan as Assistant Assessor, and prescribing the 
compensation, appointment and conditions of said employment. Authorize 
the Board Chair to execute said contract on behalf of the County. 
 
Fiscal Impact: The cost for this position for the remainder of FY 2020-2021 
(January 5th to June 30th) is approximately $89,072 of which $56,602 is 
salary, and $32,470 is the cost of the benefits and was included in the 
approved budget. The cost for an entire fiscal year would be approximately 
$164,441 of which $104,494 is salary and $59,945 is the cost of benefits. 
 
Gardner motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-07 
Dave Butters, HR Director: 

• Presented item  

 

 
D. Employment Agreement - Solid Waste Superintendent 

 

  
Departments: Human Resources/CAO 

 

  
(David R Butters, HR Director) - Proposed resolution approving a contract 
with Justin Nalder as Solid Waste Superintendent, and prescribing the 
compensation, appointment and conditions of said employment. 

 

  
Action: Announce Fiscal Impact. Approve Resolution R21-08, approving a 
contract with Justin Nalder as Solid Waste Superintendent, and prescribing 
the compensation, appointment and conditions of said employment. 
Authorize the Board Chair to execute said contract on behalf of the County. 
 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 11 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Fiscal Impact: The cost for this position for the remainder of FY 2020-2021 
(January 5th to June 30th) is approximately $78,583 of which $44,489 is 
salary and $34,095 is the cost of the benefits and is included in the 
approved budget.   Total cost for a full fiscal year would be $162,980 of 
which $92,268 is annual salary and $70,712 is the cost of the benefits.   
Peters motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
R21-08 
Dave Butters, HR Director: 

• Presented item   
E. 2021 Calendar of Regular Meetings of the Board of Supervisors 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 

  
(Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar) - Rule 3 of the Mono County 
Board Rules of Procedure specifies that an annual calendar of meetings 
shall be adopted by the Board at its first meeting in January. The calendar 
will include all known regular meetings. Any meeting may be canceled upon 
the order of the Chair or by a majority of Board members. 

 

  
Action: Approve proposed calendar of regular meetings for 2021. 
Duggan motion; Corless seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-11 
Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar: 

• Presented item  

 

 
F. Supervisors' Appointments to Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

for 2021 

 

  
Departments: Clerk of the Board 

 

  
(Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar) - Mono County Supervisors 
serve on various board, commissions, and committees for one-year terms 
that expire on December 31st.  Each January, the Board of Supervisors 
makes appointments for the upcoming year. 

 

  
Action: Appoint Supervisors to boards, commissions, and committees for 
2021 as stated. 
Gardner motion; Peters seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-12 
Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar: 

• Reviewed appointments to board, commissions, and committees  

 

 
G. Reimbursement of Elections Costs 

 

  
Departments: Elections 

 

  
(Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar) - On November 3, 2020, the 
Mono County Elections Office conducted a Statewide General 
Election.  Pursuant to Elections Code 10002, “the city or district shall 
reimburse the county in full for the services performed upon presentation of 

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 12 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

a bill to the city or district.” There were eight contests (two for Mammoth 
Unified School District, one for all others) included in the November 
General Election that are eligible to be reimbursed by a Special or School 
District.  

  
Action: Approve 7 invoices:  $457.17 to Antelope Valley Fire; $2,285.88 to 
Eastern Sierra Unified School District; $2,743.06 to Mono County Office of 
Education; $6171.89 to Mammoth Unified School District (covers board 
race and Measure “G”); $457.17 to Bishop Unified School District; $457.17 
to Hilton Creek Community Services District; and $2,285.88 to Town of 
Mammoth for costs incurred by races/measures on the ballot in the 
Statewide General Election which occurred on November 3, 2020.  
Corless motion; Gardner seconded. 
Vote: 5 yes, 0 no 
M21-13 
Shannon Kendall, Clerk-Recorder-Registrar: 

• Presented item 
 
Moved back to item 9.  

 

12.  BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 

  

Supervisor Corless: 

• 12/9 – RCRC Board of Directors meeting. RCRC staff put together a 
comprehensive wildfire prevention and response legislative package  

• Next week’s Installation Reception, panel discussion with Natural Resources 
Secretary, Wade Crowfoot, US Forest Service Region 5 Forester Randy Moore, 
and Sierra Nevada Conservancy Executive Officer Angela Avery to talk about 
wildfire issues  

• 12/10 – attended final Sierra Nevada Conservancy board meeting representing 
the Eastern region. Alpine, Inyo, and Mono Counties switch representatives every 
two years. Alpine County Supervisor Ron Hames will be our new eastside 
representative starting 2021 

• Wildlife Stewardship team meeting – group working on wildlife crossing project on 
Highway 395 

• Thanked Eastern Sierra Land Trust for offering to serve as the nonprofit fiscal 
agent for private donations. 

• Eastern Sierra Council of Governments meeting, Behavioral Health Advisory 
Board meeting, NACo Public Lands Steering Committee meeting, meeting with 
Inyo National Forest Supervisor Lesley Yen, attended several Yosemite Gateway 
Area Coordination team meetings, Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation 
partnership meeting, joint meeting with Town Council 

• Many conversations and messages from residents regarding COVID – fear, 
anger, frustration on all sides. Urge us as a County and other agencies 
responding to try to maintain compassion and understanding and to continue to 
work together as a region. 

 
Supervisor Duggan: 

• 12/1-2/20 – CSAC New Supervisors Institute – Sessions I/II 
o As part of the CSAC Annual Convention, I participated in the first of 6 

sessions focused on county policy issues, the basics of county 
government, and the role of county supervisor.  

 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 13 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

• 12/10/20 – CSAC Institute – Supervisor Credential Courses 
o I participated in the CSAC Institute Mastering Social Media Basics.  The 

course was designed to guide a social media presence to effectively 
communicate and inform our constituents. I found it beneficial considering 
the ongoing changes to SM platforms and new regulations.  

• 12/10/20 – OVGA (Owens Valley Groundwater Authority) 
o As earlier reported on by Former Supervisor Stump, I attended the 

monthly meeting where issues of Mono County continuing to contribute to 
the GSP were discussed.   

o I look forward to working with the OVGA as Mono County’s representative 
and ensuring the County’s interests and concerns are addressed and 
satisfied.  

• 12/16/20 – TVGA (Tri-Valley Groundwater Authority). 
o I attended the monthly meeting where the TVGA Board discussed options 

for future engagement with OVGA and the process for re-acquiring their 
GSA status. 

o We saw a presentation from OVGA on the groundwater pumping maps for 
the region and status report on the progress of the Groundwater 
Sustainability Plan for the area. 

o The TVGA Board is planning options for community outreach in the Tri-
Valley to gather citizen input and contribute information to the regional 
plan.  More information on outreach dates to come. 

• 12/21/20- Land Development Technical Advisory Committee  
o I attended the meeting as there were (3) three projects in District 2 

communities under consideration.  
o This was the initial opportunity for applicants and the public to exchange 

ideas and concerns. Staff answers procedural questions and helps to 
guide projects for the best outcome for all. Projects may ultimately come 
to the Board for approval.  

• 1/4/21- Land Development Technical Advisory Committee  
o I attended the meeting where projects were presented by staff and 

applicants for North County and in Crowley Lake. Our staff gave guidance 
to the applicants on how to proceed with the permitting process and heard 
questions and concerns from the public.   

o These items will be noticed and will proceed to the Planning Commission 
for denial or recommendation to the Board of Supervisors for approval 
where needed. 

 

Supervisor Gardner: 

• On Dec. 9 I participated in the June Lake Chamber of Commerce annual 
membership meeting.  The Chamber continues to support several projects related 
to strengthening the June Lake business community.  

• On Dec. 10 I participated in the NACO Rural Action Caucus webinar.  There were 
several presentations on various topics, including COVID relief legislation, vaccine 
distribution, and building back local economies. 

• On Dec. 11 I participated with Chair Corless in the ESCOG meeting.  We had a 
very informative briefing from IMACA Director Larry Emerson about their 
homeless programs.  We also discussed planning for presentations to each of the 
ESCOG entities about the Sustainable Recreation Ecosystem Management 
Program Resolution and received an update on activities of the Eastern Sierra 
sustainable Recreation Partnership. 

• On Dec. 11 I also participated in the monthly meeting of the ESTA Board.  ESTA’s 
ridership is still well below last year’s levels but is showing some increase each 
month.  



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 14 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

• On Dec. 14 I participated in a June Lake Chamber Roundtable meeting about 
COVID.  Thanks to the many County and other staff who attended this session. 

• On Dec. 14 I attended the monthly meeting of the Mono Basin Fire Safe Council.  
The Council continues to work on fire prevention and other related projects.         

• On Dec. 18 I participated in a meeting of the NACO Public Lands Policy 
Committee.  We heard updates on pending legislation and were briefed on 
potential Biden Administration appointees. 

• Also, on Dec. 18 I attended a meeting of the Regional Forest and Fire Capacity 
Program stakeholders.  We discussed further work by this group on possible 
projects. 

• On Dec. 23 I attended the joint Town and County special meeting about COVID 
restrictions. 

• Yesterday I participated with Supervisor Corless in the monthly meeting of the 
Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership.  Besides updates from each 
of the partners, we heard about several possible recreation-related grant 
opportunities for the region.   

 
Supervisor Kreitz: 

• On December 8th I attended the Town Council special meeting where the Council 
authorize additional funding for community support services in response to the 
COVID19 economic impacts.  

• December 9th I participated in the NACo Community Workforce and Economic 
Development committee meeting. There was a guest speaker to provide an 
overview of Section 8 Vouchers. Later in the afternoon I attended the Mammoth 
Lake Planning and Economic Development Commission public hearing on The 
Parcel Master Plan including phase 1 of the planned development which is 
proposed to create 81 apartments, (1-, 2-, and 3-bedroom units), a childcare 
facility and community center. The Commission recommended approval to the 
Town Council. It's currently schedule to be before the Council at their January 6th 
meeting.   

• NACo held an informative LUCC/RAC Virtual Symposium on December 10. The 
LUCC and RAC members talked about housing and hunger as the pandemic 
continues. To read the County News article highlighting the symposium, please 
click here. 

• Friday, December 11 was both the ESTA board meeting and the California 
Coalition for Rural Housing board meeting. ESTA staff have not had any 
COVID19 outbreaks within the staff. The late-night Mammoth Lakes trolley service 
has been reduced due to the COVID19 curfew and Stay at Home order.   

• The MLH labor negotiation ad-hoc committee met on December 11. I met with 
Cortney Powell, Mono County Child Care Council Coordinator on December 11 to 
discuss the childcare center included in phase one of The Parcel.  

• The regular monthly Local Transportation Commission meeting was held on 
December 14. The Commission adopted a resolution of appreciation for 
Commissioner Stump and wished him well and expressed their gratitude for his 
service.  The Board received a presentation from Caltrans on the District 9 Origin 
and Destination Study as well as a presentation on the Caltrans SHOPP program. 

• On December 16th I attended the CCP General Committee meeting.  The 
committee reviewed committees that will work on the 11 strategic objectives.  
Later in the day I participated in the CoC PIT Count for 2021. Due to the 
coronavirus pandemic HUD is allowing a COCs to not do a PIT count in 2021 and 
the Eastern Sierra COC agreed to not do a count this year. They will count those 
that are being served in units at this time through homeless outreach programs.  

• On December 17th I participated in a discussion on child care at The Parcel and 
later met with Behavioral Health Director Robin Roberts and staff Amanda 



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
January 5, 2021 
Page 15 of 15 
 

Note: 
These draft meeting minutes have not yet been approved by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Greenberg to discuss the County’s participation in phase one of The Parcel 
development. That evening I attended the COVID 19 Community Conversation. 

• Monday, January 4th was the regularly scheduled CCRH Legislative Committee 
meeting followed by the regular MLH Board meeting.  The state legislature has 
multiple housing related bills already proposed.  The MLH Board considered the 
2021 staff work priorities based on the organization’s Strategic Plan.   

• On Wednesday, January 6th at 4PM the Town Council will consider adoption of 
The Parcel Master Plan.  

• “You can use all the qualitative data you can get, but you still have to distrust it 
and use your own intelligence and judgement.” – Alvin Toffler 

 
Supervisor Peters: 

• 12/18 – NACo Human Services and Education Quarterly leadership call, WIR 
Board meeting   

• 12/21 – Met with Robin Roberts and Amanda Greenberg to discuss various 
housing opportunities and projects 

• Serving on the CSAC and NACo Broadband Taskforces 
 
Moved to Item 9. 

 

 

ADJOURNED AT 3:08 PM 
 
ATTEST 

 
 
____________________________________ 
JENNIFER KREITZ  
CHAIR OF THE BOARD 

 
 

___________________________________ 
QUEENIE BARNARD 
SENIOR DEPUTY CLERK OF THE BOARD 

 

 



OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Mono County Child Care Council
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Reappointment to the Mono County
Child Care Council

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Mono County Child Care Council seeks the re-appointment of Pam Heays by the Mono County Board of Supervisors for a
two-year term beginning February 28, 2021 and terminating February 27, 2023. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Appoint Pam Heays to a two-year term in the category of Consumer of Child Care beginning February 28, 2021
and terminating February 27, 2023. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Courtney Powell, Local Planning Council Coordinator

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-934-0031 / cpowell@monocoe.org

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 Membership Roster

History

Time Who Approval
2/8/2021 2:45 PM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:32 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24864&ItemID=13072

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24865&ItemID=13072


P. O. Box 130 

Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 

 

 

 

January 25, 2021 

 

To:  Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Courtney Powell, Mono County Child Care Planning Council (MCCCC) Coordinator 

 

Re:  Reappointment of Member to the Mono County Child Care Council – Pam Heays 

 

Dear Board of Supervisors; 

 

The Mono County Child Care Planning Council (MCCCC) is requesting reappointment by the 

Board of Supervisors of Pam Heays to serve as a member of the Child Care Council in the 

category of Consumer of Child Care.  Originally appointed by the County Superintendent of 

Schools, her term expires February 28, 2021. On January 21, 20201 the Mono County Child 

Care Planning Council (MCCCC) voted unanimously to reappoint Pam Heays for a two-year 

term.    

 

The new appointment will be for a two-year term beginning 2/28/2021ending 2/27/2023.  

 

Please confirm your agreement to Pam Heays to serve as a member of the Council. 

 

Thank you for considering this request. 

 

 

Courtney Powell, MCCCC Coordinator  

cpowell@monocoe.com  

760-934-0031 ext.136 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        
______________________________________    __________________ 
Mono County Board of Supervisors     Date 

mailto:cpowell@monocoe.com


 
 

Updated: 11/12/2020  

     2020-21 MCCCC Membership List 

  

Consumers of Child Care 

Pam Heays 

Town of Mammoth Lakes, Consumer of Child Care 
760-965-3603 (w); 509-671-0785 (c) 

P.O. Box 1609 
Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 

pkobylarz@townofmammothlakes.ca.gov 
Term ends: 2/28/21  MCOE 

Brooke Bien 

Mammoth Unified School District 
760-934-6802 x513 (w); 760-914-2290 (c) 

P.O. Box 3509 
Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 

bbien@mammothusd.org 
Term ends: 8/14/2021    MCOE 

Child Care Providers 

Danielle Dublino 
IMACA Lee Vining Preschool Lead Teacher 

760-937-1126(w);760-647-6095(c) 
P.O. Box 845 

Bishop Ca, 93515 

ddublino@imaca.net 
Term ends: 6/17/2022      MCOE 

Julie Winslow 
Mammoth Kids Corner 

760-934-4700 (w); 541-326-7124 (c) 
P.O. Box 9048 

Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

juliemarieblack14@gmail.com 
Term ends: 12/18/21    Bd of Sups 

Public Agency Representatives 

Jacinda Croissant 
Mono County Health Department 
760-924-1842 (w); 720-220-2124 (c) 

P.O. Box 3329 

Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 
jcroissant@mono.ca.gov 

Term ends: 10/22/2022 Bd of Sups 

Molly DesBaillets (Chair) 
First 5 Mono County 

760-924-7626 (w) 
P.O. Box 130 

Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 
mdesbaillets@monocoe.org 

Term ends:  10/31/22    MCOE 

Community Representative 

Sofia Flores (Vice-Chair) 
Mono County Behavioral Health 

760-924-1740 (w) 

P.O. Box 2619 
Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

sflores@mono.ca.gov 
Term ends: 12/18/21     MCOE 

Annaliesa Calhoun (Secretary) 
First 5 Mono County 

760-924-7626 (w) 

P.O. Box 130 
Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

acalhoun@monocoe.org 
Term ends: 3/17/22   Bd of Sups 

Discretionary Appointees 

Kelly Conboy 

Inyo Mono Advocates for Community Action 
Community Connections for Children 

760-934-3343 (w); 425-894-5078 (c) 
P.O. Box 8571 

Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

kconboy@imaca.net 
Term ends: 6/17/2022      Bd of Sups 

 

Brittany Nelson 

Inyo Mono Advocates for Community Action 
760-873-3001 (w) 

180 E. Clarke Street 
Bishop, CA 93514 

bnelson@imaca.net 

Term ends: 5/30/2021     Bd of Sups 

LPC Coordinator 

Courtney Powell 
Mono County Office of Education  
760- 934-0031 (w); 661-860-5000 (c) 

451 Sierra Park Rd., P.O. Box 130, Mammoth Lakes, Ca 93546  

cpowell@monocoe.org 

mailto:pkobylarz@townofmammothlakes.ca.gov
mailto:bbien@mammothusd.org
mailto:ddublino@imaca.net
mailto:juliemarieblack14@gmail.com
mailto:jcroissant@mono.ca.gov
mailto:mdesbaillets@monocoe.org
mailto:sflores@mono.ca.gov
mailto:kconboy@imaca.net
mailto:bnelson@imaca.net
mailto:cpowell@monocoe.org


OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Clerk of the Board
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Appointment to County Service Area
#1 Advisory Board

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

The County Service Area #1 (CSA1) Advisory Board recommends the appointment of David Titus to its Board effective
February 16, 2021, for a term expiring November 30, 2024.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Appoint David Titus to the CSA1 Board effective February 16, 2021, for a term expiring November 30, 2024.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Queenie Barnard

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5534 / qbarnard@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Minute Order

 Board Application

History

Time Who Approval
2/8/2021 2:11 PM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:33 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24882&ItemID=13078

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24956&ItemID=13078










OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Public Health
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Authority to Hire WIC Program
Manager/Registered Dietician at Step
B

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Authorize the Public Health Director to fill the WIC Program Manager/Registered Dietician position at Step B (75B).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Authorize the Public Health Director to hire Ms. Stephanie Riley-Stai at a B step in the position of WIC Program
Manager/Registered Dietician.

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no impact to the County General Fund.  The cost of this position is currently budgeted in fiscal year 2020-21
through the approved budget.  The fiscal impact for the remainder of fiscal year 2020-21 will be approximately $62,897
consisting of $37,650 in salary and $25,247 in benefits.

CONTACT NAME: Bryan Wheeler

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-924-1835 / bwheeler@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:
Bryan Wheeler, Stephanie Butters, Dave Butters

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

History

Time Who Approval
2/8/2021 2:46 PM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:42 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:06 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24917&ItemID=13080


 

 
MONO COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT               
Public Health 

                          P.O. BOX 476, BRIDGEPORT, CA 93517 PHONE  (760) 932-5580 • FAX (760) 932-5284 
                                         P.O. BOX 3329, MAMMOTH  LAKES, CA 93546  PHONE  (760) 924-1830 • FAX (760) 924-1831 

 
 

Date:  February 16, 2021  
 
To:  Honorable Board of Supervisors 
 
From:  Bryan Wheeler, Public Health Director  

 
Subject: Authority to Hire at Step B 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Authorize the Public Health Director to fill the WIC Program Manager/Registered 
Dietician position at Step B (75B). 
 
Discussion: 
 
The WIC Program Manager/Registered Dietician was a vacant position due to the 
resignation of the prior incumbent.  After interviews, Stephanie Riley-Stai was hired as 
the successful candidate on January 4th 2021.  Due to her qualifications, we are 
requesting to promote her to a Step B retroactive to her hire date.  
 
Stephanie Riley-Stai possesses excellent qualifications for the position of WIC Program 
Manager/Registered Dietician. She has over five years of experience working with and 
providing nutritional assessments to neonatal, pediatric, and obstetrics/postpartum 
patients. Additionally, she has experience providing bilingual and culturally appropriate 
nutrition and breastfeeding education, counseling, and explanation of evidence-based 
practices to patients at varying developmental and educational levels. Lastly, Stephanie 
has experience managing programmatic responsibilities, collaborating on quality 
improvement projects, and developing program policies and procedures. Typically, a new 
employee is placed at Step A of a given salary range.  In accordance with the Mono 
County Personnel System (MCPE), Board of Supervisors approval is required when an 
employee is hired above Step A.  Given Ms. Riley-Stai’s experience and qualifications, 
the department is requesting authorization to offer her employment at Step B of the salary 
range (Range 75) for this position. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
There is no impact to the County General Fund.  The cost of this position is currently 
budgeted in fiscal year 2020-21 through the approved budget.  The fiscal impact for the 
remainder of fiscal year 2020-21 will be approximately $62,897 consisting of $37,650 in 



salary and $25,247 in benefits. 
 
For questions regarding this item, please call Bryan Wheeler at (760) 924-1835. 
 
 



OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Public Health
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Authority to Hire Two Community
Health Outreach Specialists at Step B

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Authorize the Public Health Director to fill two (2) Community Health Outreach Specialist positions at Step B (63B).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Authorize the Public Health Director to hire Ms. Maria Vega and Mr. Juan Rios into the positions of Community Health
Outreach Specialist as a Step B (63B).

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no impact to the County General Fund.  Both positions are fully grant funded through the term of the grant, with the
positions coming to an end on November 17, 2022.  The cost of these positions is currently budgeted in fiscal year 2020-
21. The fiscal impact for the remainder of fiscal year 2020-21 will be approximately $32,596 per position, consisting of
$20,350 in salary and $12,246 in benefits, or $65,192 total for both positions in fiscal year 2020-21.

CONTACT NAME: Bryan Wheeler

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-924-1835 / bwheeler@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:
Bryan Wheeler, Stephanie Butters, Dave Butters

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

History

Time Who Approval
2/8/2021 2:43 PM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:40 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:06 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24926&ItemID=13085


 

 
MONO COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT               
Public Health 

                          P.O. BOX 476, BRIDGEPORT, CA 93517 PHONE  (760) 932-5580 • FAX (760) 932-5284 
                                         P.O. BOX 3329, MAMMOTH  LAKES, CA 93546  PHONE  (760) 924-1830 • FAX (760) 924-1831 

 
 

Date:  February 16, 2021  
To:  Honorable Board of Supervisors 
From:  Bryan Wheeler, Public Health Director  
Subject: Authority to Hire at Step B 
 

Recommendation:  
 
Authorize the Public Health Director to fill two (2) Community Health Outreach 
Specialist positions at Step B (63B). 
 
Discussion: 
 
The two (2) vacancies for Community Health Outreach Specialist are grant-funded, 
limited term positions ending with the grant termination date of November 17, 2022.  
Both are new positions that were recently introduced as a result of targeted funding from 
the California Department of Public Health provided to local Health Departments to hire 
additional staff to support a robust COVID-19 response during the pandemic (COVID-19 
Enhancing Laboratory Capacity/Enhancing Detection Funding Grant Award).  Maria 
Vega and Juan Rios have been selected as successful candidates to fill these positions. 
 
Ms. Vega comes to the table with strong prior experience.  She has worked closely with 
the Health Department to assist with COVID-19 testing and health education since July 
2020.  Her familiarity with COVID-19 programing and operations will allow her to hit 
the ground running.  She is fluent in Spanish and well positioned to assist with outreach 
to the Latinx community.  
 
Mr. Rios possesses excellent qualifications for his new role. He has a bachelor’s degree 
in a healthcare field, which well exceeds the minimum prerequisite for the role.  He is 
also fluent in Spanish and already an active participant in Latinx community engagement 
conversations, making his connections and insights very valuable for future Health 
Department health equity work. 
 
In accordance with the Mono County Personnel System, Board of Supervisors approval is 
required when an employee is hired above Step A.  Given Ms. Vega’s past experience, 
and Mr. Rios’ strong educational credentials, the Health Department is requesting 
authorization to offer both of them employment at Step B (63B). 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
There is no impact to the County General Fund.  Both positions are fully grant funded 
through the term of the grant, with the positions coming to an end on November 17, 



2022.  The cost of these positions is currently budgeted in fiscal year 2020-21.  The fiscal 
impact for the remainder of fiscal year 2020-21 will be approximately $32,596 per 
position, consisting of $20,350 in salary and $12,246 in benefits, or $65,192 total for both 
positions in fiscal year 2020-21. 
 
For questions regarding this item, please call Bryan Wheeler at (760) 924-1835. 
 



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Public Works - Roads
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Emergency Guardrail Replacement -
Justification for Continued
Emergency

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Update on the Emergency Guardrail replacement project on Eastside Lane and North River Lane and finding of continued
emergency.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1. Receive update on Eastside Lane and North River Lane emergency guardrail repair/replacement project.

2. As established by Public Contract Code Chapter 2.5, “Emergency Contracting Procedures,” review the emergency action
taken on Jan 5, 2021 and make a finding, based on substantial evidence set forth in this staff report and at the meeting, that
the emergency continues to exist as to Eastside Lane and North River Lane, and that continuation of action to replace the
damaged guardrail on both roads is necessary to respond to the emergency. [4/5th Vote Required.]

3. Delegate to the Mono County Road Operations Superintendent the authority to continue to procure the necessary
equipment, services, and supplies for the emergency guardrail replacement on Eastside Lane and North River Lane, without
giving notice for bids to let contracts, including executing any agreements or contracts for the construction or repair of the
damaged/destroyed guardrails. [4/5th Vote Required.] 

FISCAL IMPACT:
The total cost of the emergency repair/replacement of the guardrails is approximately $160,000.  The emergency projects
are eligible for 75% funding via the California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA) Program administered by the Governor’s
Office of Emergency Services (CalOES).  The LTC approved using transportation funding for the remaining 25% County
match.  Project costs are included in the amended budget for FY 2020-21.

CONTACT NAME: Kevin Julian

PHONE/EMAIL: 7609325449 / kjulian@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

 

javascript:history.go(0);


ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:54 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:49 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:07 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 


                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24970&ItemID=13035


 

MONO COUNTY 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
POST OFFICE BOX 457 • 74 NORTH SCHOOL STREET • BRIDGEPORT, CALIFORNIA  93517 

760.932.5440 • Fax 760.932.5441 • monopw@mono.ca.gov • www.monocounty.ca.gov 

 
 

  

 

Parks • Community Centers • Roads & Bridges • Land Development • Solid Waste 
Building Maintenance • Campgrounds • Airports • Cemeteries • Fleet Maintenance 

Date: February 16, 2021 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Supervisors 

From: Kevin Julian, Road Operations Superintendent 

Re: Emergency Guardrail Replacement – Justification for Continued Emergency  
 
Recommended Action: 

1. Receive update on Eastside Lane and North River Lane emergency guardrail 
repair/replacement project. 

2. As established by Public Contract Code Chapter 2.5, “Emergency Contracting 
Procedures,” review the emergency action taken on Jan 5, 2021 and make a finding, 
based on substantial evidence set forth in this staff report and at the meeting, that 
the emergency continues to exist as to Eastside Lane and North River Lane, and 
that continuation of action to replace the damaged guardrail on both roads is 
necessary to respond to the emergency. [4/5th Vote Required.] 

3. Delegate to the Mono County Road Operations Superintendent the authority to 
continue to procure the necessary equipment, services, and supplies for the 
emergency guardrail replacement on Eastside Lane and North River Lane, without 
giving notice for bids to let contracts, including executing any agreements or 
contracts for the construction or repair of the damaged/destroyed guardrails.   [4/5th 
Vote Required.] 

 
Fiscal Impact: 

Based on the initial estimates obtained by the Public Works Department – Roads 
Division, the total cost of the emergency repair/replacement of the Eastside Lane and 
North River Lane guardrails is approximately $160,000.00.  The emergency projects are 
eligible for 75% funding via the California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA) Program 
administered by the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (CalOES).  Staff 
proposes that the 25% County match for the emergency guardrail repairs/replacements 
be paid with available transportation funding.  
 

Strategic Plan Alignment: Infrastructure, Public Safety 

Current project status: 

• Temporary protective measures (k-rails) were removed on 2/8/21 in conjunction 
with the Coral Construction mobilization to the job site 

• Southbound lane guardrail at Eastside Bridge replacement complete 
• Northbound lane guardrail at Eastside Bridge replacement complete 



Board of Supervisors Staff Report February 16, 2021 
Emergency Guardrail Replacement – Justification for Continued Emergency Page 2 of 2 

Parks • Community Centers • Roads & Bridges • Land Development • Solid Waste 
Building Maintenance • Campgrounds • Airports • Cemeteries • Fleet Maintenance 

• North River Lane guardrail replacement scheduled 2/12/21 
• Southbound Lane guardrail north of Eastside Bridge scheduled 2/12-2/13 

 

Justification for Continued Emergency – Eastside La ne and North River Lane: 

Full replacement of the guardrail is required to ensure traffic safety along Eastside Lane 
and North River Lane.  Once the construction phase is complete, the continued 
emergency declaration needs to remain in force until project closeout. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this item, please contact me at 760.932.5449.  I 
may also be contacted by email at kjulian@mono.ca.gov. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Kevin Julian 
Road Operations Superintendent 

mailto:kjulian@mono.ca.gov


OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Public Works, County Counsel
TIME REQUIRED PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Ordinance Amending Chapter 13.40
of the Mono County Code - Public
Use of Conway Ranch

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Proposed ordinance amending Chapter 13.40 of the Mono County Code related to public use of portions of Conway Ranch
dedicated to livestock grazing during grazing season or for other future uses. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Adopt proposed ordinance.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Stacey Simon

PHONE/EMAIL:  / ssimon@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 Ordinance

History

Time Who Approval
2/8/2021 2:44 PM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:35 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24922&ItemID=13083

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24921&ItemID=13083


County Counsel 
Stacey Simon 
 
Assistant County Counsels 
Christian E. Milovich 
Anne L. Frievalt 
 

OFFICE OF THE 

COUNTY COUNSEL 
Mono County 

South County Offices 
P.O. BOX 2415 

MAMMOTH LAKES, CALIFORNIA 93546 

Telephone 
760-924-1700 

 
Facsimile 

760-924-1701 
 

Paralegal/Office Manager 
Kevin Moss 

 
 
To:  Board of Supervisors 
 
From:  Stacey Simon, County Counsel and Justin Nalder, Conway Ranch Manager 
 
Date:  February 16, 2021 
 
Re: Ordinance amending Mono County Code Chapter 13.40 related to public access 

on Conway Ranch 
 
Recommended Action 
Adopt proposed ordinance amending Mono County Code Chapter 13.40 related to public use of 
areas on Conway Ranch dedicated to livestock grazing during grazing season or other future 
uses. 
 
Strategic Plan Focus Areas Met 

 Economic Base       Infrastructure     Public Safety 
 Environmental Sustainability          Mono Best Place to Work 

 
Fiscal Impact 
None. 
 
Discussion 
This ordinance was introduced at the Board’s February 9, 2021, regular meeting and is on the 
consent agenda today for adoption. 
 
Background 
Mono County Code Chapter 13.40 governs public use of Conway and Mattly Ranches (“Ranch”) 
which are public properties owned by the County.  That chapter includes a specific prohibition 
on public access to the area of the Ranch which had been used for aquaculture activities during 
the past decade.  
 
As the Board knows, aquaculture activities have ceased, at least temporarily, in recent years and 
other activities have been approved and/or proposed for the Ranch.  Also on today’s agenda, the 
Board considered a grazing lease with Hunewill Land and Livestock Co., Inc. for the use of a 
portion of the Ranch for livestock grazing, consistent with historic use of the property (see staff 
report accompanying that item).  Other proposals not yet acted on include use of a portion of the 
Ranch for small-scale agriculture and/or its possible use as a cry dance site by the Mono Lake 
Kutzadika’a Tribe. 
 



As a result of these evolving uses of the Ranch, it is necessary to update Chapter 13.40 to add 
flexibility to the provisions limiting public access to accommodate grazing and other potential 
future uses.  The proposed ordinance would make that amendment. 
 
Please feel free to contact me, or Justin Nalder, if you have any questions prior to the meeting. 
 
 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

 

- 1 - 

 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ORD21-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE MONO COUNTY 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AMENDING  

CHAPTER 13.40 OF THE MONO COUNTY CODE 
RELATED TO PUBLIC USE OF PORTIONS OF  

CONWAY RANCH DEDICATED TO LIVESTOCK 
GRAZING DURING GRAZING SEASON OR OTHER FUTURE USES  

 
WHEREAS, Mono County Code Chapter 13.40 governs public use of Conway and 

Mattly Ranches (the “Ranch”) in Mono County; and 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 13.40 describes a portion of the Ranch which has been used for 
fish rearing and prohibits public entry into that area without the express written consent of 
County; and 
 

WHEREAS, fish rearing activities have not been active on the Ranch for the past several 
years, however, the County intends to continue historic grazing activities on the Ranch during 
the 2021 grazing season (May 1 through September 15) and thereafter, in order to maintain 
vegetative health and historic uses of the Ranch, and minimize fire danger; and 

 
WHEREAS, public access to grazing areas during the grazing season should be 

restricted to protect the public and livestock from adverse interaction; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF 

MONO ORDAINS that: 
 
SECTION ONE:  Subdivision H is hereby added to section 13.40.010 (“Definitions”) 

and shall read as follows: 
 
“H. Leased grazing area” means that portion of Conway Ranch devoted primarily to 
livestock grazing by the County or any lessee or licensee of the County as shown in the 
applicable lease or license between the County and the grazer.  The Leased grazing area 
shall be completely enclosed by fencing installed by the County or its lessee or licensee.   
 
SECTION TWO: Subdivision A.1 of Section 13.40.020 (“Prohibitions”) is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 
 
“1. Entering or occupying the leased grazing area during the grazing season (May 1 
through September 15), any licensed fish-rearing and fishing area, or any other area 
leased or licensed by County to a third party which requires that public access be limited, 
provided that adequate signage, notice and/or fencing is installed to demarcate the area. 
 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

 

- 2 - 

SECTION THREE:  This ordinance shall become effective 30 days from the date of its 
adoption and final passage, which appears immediately below.  The Clerk of the Board of 
Supervisors shall post this ordinance and also publish it in the manner prescribed by Government 
Code Section 25124 no later than 15 days after the date of its adoption and final passage.  If the 
Clerk fails to publish this ordinance within said 15-day period, then the ordinance shall not take 
effect until 30 days after the date of publication. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this _________ day of ____________, 2021, 

by the following vote, to wit: 
 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       ______________________________ 
       Jennifer Kreitz, Chair 
       Mono County Board of Supervisors 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________   ______________________________ 
Clerk of the Board     County Counsel 



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Notice Of Petitions for Change for
Licenses 10191 And 10192
(Applications 8042 And 8043) of The
City of Los Angeles, Department of
Water And Power

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

On November 14, 2013, the State Water Resources Control Board received Petitions for Change from the City of Los
Angeles, Department of Water and Power (LADWP) pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 23, section 791,

subdivision (e) requesting incorporation into its water right Licenses 10191 and 10192 the Mono Basin Settlement
Agreement Regarding Continuing Implementation of Water Rights Orders 98-05 and 98-07.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: Queenie Barnard

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5534 / qbarnard@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Notice

History

Time Who Approval
2/11/2021 3:54 PM County Counsel Yes

2/11/2021 10:46 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24962&ItemID=13113


 

 

 

State Water Resources Control Board 

 
NOTICE OF PETITIONS FOR CHANGE FOR LICENSES 10191 AND 10192 

(APPLICATIONS 8042 AND 8043) OF THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES, 
DEPARTMENT OF WATER AND POWER 

 
COUNTY: MONO STREAM SYSTEMS: RUSH CREEK, LEE 

VINING CREEK, PARKER CREEK, AND 
WALKER CREEK 

 
On November 14, 2013, the State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) 
received Petitions for Change (Petitions) from the City of Los Angeles, Department of 
Water and Power (LADWP) pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 23, section 
791, subdivision (e) requesting incorporation into its water right Licenses 10191 and 
10192 the Mono Basin Settlement Agreement Regarding Continuing Implementation of 
Water Rights Orders 98-05 and 98-07 (Settlement Agreement). 
 

Background: 
In September 1994, the State Water Board adopted Water Right Decision 1631 
(D-1631) modifying LADWP’s water right Licenses 10191 and 10192 for diversions 
from streams tributary to Mono Lake in order to protect public trust resources in and 
around Mono Lake.  D-1631, and subsequent Orders WR 98-05 and WR 98-07 
amending D-1631, established minimum base flows and Stream Restoration Flow 
(SRF) requirements on four tributary streams to Mono Lake, minimum lake level 
requirements, restoration requirements, and associated monitoring and study 
requirements.  Order 98-05 required a State Water Board-approved stream monitoring 
team (SMT) to evaluate and provide recommendations on the SRFs and that LADWP 
implement the recommendations “unless it determines that the recommendation is not 
feasible.”  The SMT evaluated the magnitude, duration, and frequency of flows 
necessary for the restoration of the Mono Basin ecosystem, the need for an outlet from 
Grant Dam to achieve such flows, and related matters.   
 
In April 2010, the SMT presented its recommendations in Mono Basin Stream 
Restoration and Monitoring Program: Synthesis of Instream Flow Recommendation to 
the State Water Resources Control Board and the Los Angeles Department of Water 
and Power, Final Report (Synthesis Report).  LADWP determined that certain 
recommendations in the Synthesis Report were not feasible, and as an alternative to 
disputing that determination under Order WR 98-05, which would have triggered 
resolution of the disputes by the Deputy Director of the Division of Water Rights, 
LADWP, Mono Lake Committee, California Trout, and California Department of Fish 
and Wildlife (Settlement Parties) requested permission to undertake settlement 



-2- 
 
 

 
 

negotiations.  By letter dated November 1, 2010, the State Water Board authorized 
such negotiations, and by subsequent letters extended the deadline for completion of 
the negotiations until September 30, 2013.   
 
As part of the Settlement Agreement and proposed amendments to LADWP’s 
License 10191 and 10192, LADWP circulated for public comment on October 30, 2020 
an “Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration for Mono Basin Water Rights 
Licenses Project” (IS-MND). The IS-MND provides LADWP’s environmental analysis of 
the license amendments that have been requested as a result of the Settlement 
Agreement.  The IS-MND analyzes the impacts of building the chosen outlet design as 
well as operating the outlet under the new Stream Ecosystem Flows (SEF) 
requirements.  In addition, the IS-MND analyzes the potential impacts of authorizing 
LADWP to export an additional one-time 12,000 acre-feet of water that can only be 
exercised under certain circumstances.  This additional export was intended to offset 
the costs of building the Grant Lake Reservoir Outlet. 
 
Proposed Changes: 
The changes proposed in the petitions submitted by LADWP are to incorporate the 
provisions of the Settlement Agreement as terms and conditions in Licenses 10191 and 
10192.  The purposes of the Settlement Agreement are: (i) resolution of disputes 
between the Settlement Parties related to the Synthesis Report; (ii) provision and 
adaptive management of flows sufficient to complete stream restoration and fish 
protection required by D-1631, Orders 98-05 and 98-07, and relevant case law, 
including modification of Grant Lake Reservoir to release such flows; (iii) re-focusing 
the stream monitoring program on adaptive management and related improvements in 
the limnology and waterfowl monitoring programs; and (iv) reduction in LADWP’s costs 
associated with modification of Grant Lake Reservoir and ongoing monitoring 
programs. 
 
Drafts of the amended licenses are available on the State Water Board’s website for 
review of all changes being proposed. 
 
  



-3- 
 
 

 
 

Summary of Water Right License 10191 (Application 8042) 
 
Sources: 
(1) Lee Vining Creek, (2) Walker Creek, (3) Parker Creek, and (4) Rush Creek 
 
Points of Diversion: 
(1) NE¼ of NW¼ of Section 20, T1N, R26E; 
(2) NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 4, T1S, R26E; 
(3) SW¼ of NW¼ of Section 9, T1S, R26E; 
(4) NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 15, T1S, R26E, all within MDB&M 
 
Points of Rediversion: 
Grant Lake Reservoir - NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 15, T1S, 
R26E; Long Valley Reservoir - SE¼ of NW¼ of Section 19, 
T4S, R30E; Tinemaha Reservoir -  NE¼ of NW¼ of Section 
26, T10S, R34E; 
Los Angeles Aqueduct Intake - NE¼ of SW¼ of Section 24, T11S, R34E;  
Haiwee Reservoir - SW¼ of NE¼ of Section 2, T21S, R37E, all within 
MDB&M 
 
Amount: 
16,000 acre-feet per year in combination with License 10192. 
 
Water diversion criteria applicable until the water level of Mono Lake reaches 6,391 feet: 
a. Licensee shall not export any water from the Mono Basin any time that the water 

level in Mono Lake is below 6,377 feet above mean sea level, or any time that the 
water level of Mono Lake is projected to fall below 6,377 feet at any time during the 
runoff year of April 1 through March 31. 

b. If the water level of Mono Lake is expected to remain at or above 6,377 feet 
throughout the runoff year of April 1 through March 31 of the succeeding year based 
on Licensee's final May 1 runoff projections and any subsequent runoff projections, 
then Licensee may divert up to 4,500 AF of water per year under the terms of this 
amended license. 

c. If the water level of Mono Lake is at or above 6,380 feet and below 6,391 feet, then 
Licensee may divert up to 16,000 AF of water per year under the terms of this 
amended license. 

 
Water diversion criteria applicable after the water level of Mono Lake reaches 
6,391 feet: 
a. Once the water level of Mono Lake has reached an elevation of 6,391 feet, no 

diversions shall be allowed any time that the water level falls below 6,388 feet. 
b. Once the water level of 6,391 feet has been reached and the lake level has fallen 

below 6,391 feet, diversions by Licensee shall be limited to 10,000 AF per year 
provided that the water level is at or above 6,388 feet and less than 6,391 feet. 



-4- 
 
 

 
 

c. When the water level of Mono Lake is at or above 6,391 feet on April 1, Licensee 
may divert all available water in excess of the amount needed to maintain the SEFs, 
up to the amounts otherwise authorized under this amended license. 

 
Season: 
January 1 through December 31 
 
Purpose of Use: 
Municipal 
 
Place of Use: 
Within the service area of the City of Los Angeles, Department of Water and 
Power, as shown on map filed with the State Water Board 
 
 
  



-5- 
 
 

 
 

Summary of Water Right License 10192 (Application 8043) 
 
Sources: 
(1) Lee Vining Creek, (2) Walker Creek, (3) Parker Creek, and (4) Rush Creek 
 
Points of Diversion: 
(1) NE ¼ of NW¼ of Section 20, T1N, R26E; 
(2) NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 4, T1S, R26E; 
(3) SW¼ of NW¼ of Section 9, T1S, R26E; 
(4) NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 15, T1S, R26E, all within MDB&M 
 
Points of Rediversion: 
Grant Lake Reservoir - NW¼ of NW¼ of Section 15, T1S, R26E;  
Long Valley Reservoir - SE¼ of NW¼ of Section 19, T4S, R30E; 
Upper Gorge Power Plant - SE¼ of NE¼ of Section 5, T5S, R31E; 
Middle Gorge Power Plant - SE¼ of SE¼ of Section 16, T5S, R31E, all within MDB&M   
 
Amount: 
16,000 acre-feet per year in combination with License 10191.  Water diversion criteria 
similar to License 10191. 
Season: 
January 1 through December 31 
 
Purpose of Use: 
Power 
 
Places of Use: 
Upper Gorge Power Plant - SE¼ of NE¼ of Section 5, T5S, R31E; 
Middle Gorge Power Plant - SE¼ of SE¼ of Section 16, T5S, T31E; 
Control Gorge Power Plant - NW¼ of SE¼ of Section 10, T6S, R31E, all within 
MDB&M. 

  



-6- 
 
 

 
 

 
Project documents, including this notice, petitions, draft licenses (with proposed 
changes), IS-MND, project map along with procedures for protesting and protest forms 
are available at: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/waterrights/water_issues/programs/applications/petitio
ns/2021.html.  Protests must be received by the Division of Water Rights by 4:30 p.m. 
on March 12, 2021.  
 
A copy of the protest must also be sent to the Petitioner to the following contact:  
 
Mr. Adam Perez 
City of Los Angeles  
Department of Water and Power 
300 Mandich Street 
Bishop, CA 93514 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please contact Steve Marquez by 
e-mail at: steve.marquez@waterboards.ca.gov. 
 
DATE OF NOTICE:  February 10, 2021 
 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/waterrights/water_issues/programs/applications/petitions/2021.html
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/waterrights/water_issues/programs/applications/petitions/2021.html
mailto:steve.marquez@waterboards.ca.gov


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) Letters re:
Dams Part of the Lee Vining Creek
Project, FERC Project No. 1388-CA

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) letters regarding responses to FERC Comments on the 3rd Independent
Consultant's Safety Inspection Report for Rhinedollar Dam, responses to FERC Comments on 11th Independent

Consultant's Safety Inspection Report for Saddlebag Dam, and Revised Semi-Quantitative Risk Analysis (SQRA) Report for
Rhinedollar Dam. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: Queenie Barnard

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5534 / qbarnard@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Letters

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:53 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:46 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:07 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24963&ItemID=13114












OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: First 5
TIME REQUIRED 20 minutes (10 minute presentation;

10 minute discussion)
PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Molly DesBaillets, Executive Director

SUBJECT First 5 Fiscal Year 2019-20
Evaluation Report

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Evaluation of services provided to families and children prenatal to five years old in Mono County for Fiscal Year 2019-20.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
None, informational only.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Molly DesBaillets

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-924-7626 / mdesbaillets@monocoe.org

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 Evaluation Report

 Presentation

History

Time Who Approval
2/10/2021 9:55 AM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:37 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:07 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24942&ItemID=13089

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24943&ItemID=13089

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24973&ItemID=13089


Providing leadership in sustaining a network of support for all children, ages 0 through 5 years, and their families. Partnering with the 
community to improve outcomes in children’s health, safety and learning. 

P.O. Box 130      Mammoth Lakes, CA  93546 
760-924-7626      760-934-8443 (fax)      mdesbaillets@monocoe.org   first5mono.org 

 
 

 

 
 

 

TO:  Bill Michael, Mono County Libraries 

FROM:  Molly DesBaillets, School Readiness Coordinator II 

DATE:  January 29, 2021 

RE:  Agreement Extension for School Readiness Services – Raising a Reader 

Bob Gardner 
Commission Chair 
Mono County Board of 
Supervisors 
 
Stacey Adler, PhD 
Commission Vice- Chair 
Mono County Superintendent 
of Schools 
 
Dr. Tom Boo 
Mono County Health Officer 
 
Dr. Kristin Collins 
Pediatrician 
Mammoth Hospital 
 
Michelle Raust 
Program Manager, Child and 
Adult Services 
Mono County Department of 
Social Services 
 
Patricia Robertson 
Executive Director 
Mammoth Lakes Housing 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Molly DesBaillets, MA 
Executive Director 
 
 
 

Date:     February 16, 2021 
 
 To: 

 
Honorable Board of Supervisors 

 
From: 

 
Molly DesBaillets, Executive Director First 5 Mono County 

 
Subject: 

 
FY 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

 
Subject 
Evaluation of services provided to families and children prenatal to five years old 
in Mono County for Fiscal Year 2019-20 
 

Recommendation 
Receive a report of activities and evaluation results from First 5 Mono County and 
provide comments about services to families prenatal to five. 
 

Fiscal Impact 
None 
 
Discussion 
The California Children and Families Act (also known as Proposition 10 or 
“First 5”) was enacted in 1998, increasing taxes on tobacco products to 
provide funding for services to promote early childhood development from 
prenatal to age 5. The Mono County Board of Supervisors created the Mono 
County Children and Families Commission, First 5 Mono, in 1999 to: 

• Evaluate the current and projected needs of young children and their 
families. 

• Develop a strategic plan describing how to address community needs. 
• Determine how to expend local First 5 resources. 
• Evaluate the effectiveness of funded programs and activities. 

 
First 5 Mono County currently receives a baseline of $350,000 a year from 
tobacco tax funds including annual allocations and small population county 
funding augmentations. Around $105,000 a year comes from Mono County 
Social Services and Behavioral Health for high-needs home visiting and Peapod 
Playgroups. First 5 Mono also collaborates with Mono County to: 1) provide 
funding through CDBG for child care in Bridgeport, and, 2) Increase home visiting 
services to use the Parents as Teachers evidence-based model. 
 

mailto:mdesbaillets@monocoe.org


0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

FY 2019-20
EVALUATION REPORT

Our goal is to enhance the network of support 
services for families with children ages 0 to 5 years.

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

0 
 

Table of Contents 
Overview………………………………………………………………………………….…..1 

Programs and Evaluation 

 Improved Family Functioning 

  Home Visiting…………………………………………………….….…………6
 Improved Child Development 

  School Readiness……………………………………………….……………16 

  Family Behavioral Health………………………………….…..…….………21 

  Childcare Quality……………………………………………..………..…..….23 

 Child Health 

  Oral Health……………………………………………………….….…….…...28 

  Child Safety……………………………………………………….….….….....30 

Appendices 

I, Home Visiting…………………………………...…………………………….....…32 

II, Early Literacy…………………………………………………………….....…...…38 

III, Peapod Playgroups………………………………….……………….…...…...…39 

IV, Childcare Quality……………………………………………………...….…...….41 

VI, Child Health..…………………………………………….…………..…….…..…..43 

VII, Results and Indicators.……………………………..…...………………..….…45 

VIII, Fiscal Overview………………………………………………………………..…48 

IX, Mono County 2017 Child Care Portfolio………………………….…….......…49

 

 

  
 
 



Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

1 
 

OVERVIEW 
The California Children and Families Act (also known as Proposition 10 or “First 5”) was 

enacted in 1998, increasing taxes on tobacco products to fund services that promote early childhood 
development from prenatal to age 5. The Mono County Children and Families Commission, First 5 
Mono, was created in 1999 by the Mono County Board of Supervisors to:  

• Evaluate the current and projected needs of children birth to five years old. 
• Develop a strategic plan describing how to address community needs.  
• Determine how to expend local First 5 resources.  
• Evaluate the effectiveness of funded programs and activities. 

First 5 Mono currently receives an annual baseline revenue from First 5 California of $350,000 which 
includes tobacco tax allocations and Small Population County Funding Augmentations (SPCFA). 
Additional Commission funds come from partner agencies like First 5 California, California 
Department of Education, and Mono County. To meeting funding requirements and guide 
Commission work, First 5 Mono adopted the 2019-2024 Strategic Plan which describes how 
Proposition 10 funds will promote a comprehensive and integrated system of early childhood 
development services. 

The 2019-20 Evaluation Report helps fulfill the intended function of First 5 Mono, meet state 
and local requirements, and evaluate funded programs for the purposes of guiding quality 
improvement and fund allocation. The report includes data and analysis on the 18 indicators in the 
2019-2024 Strategic Plan, logic models, findings, and conclusions. Guiding the format of the 2019-20 
Evaluation Report are: Small Population County Funding Agreement requirements, example content 
from First 5 California, and First 5 California supported feedback from Child Trends on the 18-19 
Evaluation Report.  

 
Demographics 

The US Census estimates for Mono County1 are as follows: 
 
 

 
Childhood poverty declined in Mono County between 2016 and 2018. The 2019 Childcare 

Portfolio for Mono County reports 7% of the 0-5 population was living in poverty, a decrease from 
13% in 2016 (Appendix IX, Page 50). With the devastating economic impacts of COVID-19, the 
number of children living in poverty in Mono County shifted suddenly and dramatically after March 

                                                             
1 https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/monocountycalifornia 

 Population 0-5 Population 
2018 14,250 691, 5% 
2019 14,444 693, 5% 



Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

2 
 

2020. Our local economy, in Mammoth Lakes most predominantly, has a tourism-based economy. 
After hotels and restaurants closed, there was an estimated 85% unemployment rate in Mammoth 
Lakes.  Families served through Home Visiting and Peapod Playgroups shared needs for rent 
support, utility payments, and diapers after job loss or reductions in hours after COVID-19 mandates 
shifted our world. First 5 met these needs through creation of an Emergency Fund which funded 
$10,000 in rent support through Mammoth Lakes Housing, collaboration with IMACA to distribute 
PPE from First 5 California to childcare providers, and providing grocery cards and utility payments to 
families in need enrolled in home visiting. 

Alongside nationwide and local movements to build systemic equity, some First 5 Mono Staff 
and a Commissioner chose to participate in a United Way 21 Day Equity Challenge to seek better 
understanding of personal, implicit, and systemic biases and to learn to apply cultural humility to 
Commission work while promoting equity for children and families. To that end, this report includes 
some shifts from prior years to seek to more clearly illuminate issues of equity through our work. 
 
Investment Areas, Programs, & Indicators 

The tables below show the investment areas, programs and the percent of the 0-5 population 
served, and associated outcomes and their result for FY 2019-20. Numbers for each program are 
unduplicated, across programs numbers include duplicates.  
Table 1: Investment Areas, Programs and Indicators 

Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-48. *reporting rate below 60% 

Investment 
Area 

Programs and % 
served 

Indicators 

Achieved  Static Need 
improvement 

Improved 
Family 

Functioning 

Home Visiting: 
Welcome Baby and 

Healthy Families 30% 

9 School readiness rate 
4 Developmental Screening rates 
14 Parents get developmental and 
parenting education* 

2 & 3, Higher 
participation rates:  
0-1 no; 0-5, yes 

15 Higher 
breastfeeding 
rates*                      
16 Expected BMI* 

Improved 
Child 

Development 

School Readiness:  
CDBG Preschool 2% 

Raising a Reader 18% 

8 Preschool attendance by K entry* 
9 School readiness rate                                                                                                            
10 Families attended Round Up 11 
Literacy programs accessed                                            
13 Kindergarteners assessed for 
readiness                                          

  12 Preschool slot 
availability 

Family Behavioral 
Health: Peapod 
Playgroups 14% 

1 Parents satisfied   14 High 
participation rates 

Childcare Quality 51%  
(omitting estimate 25% 

duplication) 
4 Developmental screening rate 

5 Children in high 
quality care (slight 
decrease from last year, 
but still a significant 
increase from 2 years ago) 

6 Provider permit 
attainment rate                                            
7 Childcare 
availability 



Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

3 
 

Investment 
Area 

Programs and % 
served 

Indicators 

Achieved  Static Need 
improvement 

Child Health 
Oral Health 2% 

18 Low number of Children at K 
entry with untreated dental 
problems* 

17 Annual dental 
screening rate*   

Child Safety  Child safety information and 
materials shared with parents.     

*Reporting rate below 60% 
 
Table 2: Percent of the 0-5 Population Served by First 5 Funded Program 

 

Demographics 

The most robust demographic data comes from Welcome Baby and Healthy Families, the First 5 
Mono home visiting program. Other programs don’t include an enrollment process that gathers 
ethnicity or area of residence, or, if the data is collected like for Raising a Reader, a data sharing 
agreement with First 5 Mono is not in place. Although this is the most robust data for participants, we 
do not have data for 100% of participants, and the database limits data compilation for these reasons 
the number of children in each data set (the n) varies. 

To better understand if First 5 Mono programs serve proportional numbers of children by race and 
ethnicity, the following considers data from home visiting and the 0-17 population—see table 3 below. 
Compared to the percentage of children in the County, in FY 19-20 home visiting served more 
Hispanic children, but less American Indian, Asian American, and White children. The same percent 
of Non-Hispanic Multiracial children were served.  

  

30%

2%

51%

14%
18%

2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Home Visiting CDBG Preschools Childcare Quality
System

Peapod Playgroups Raising a Reader Oral Health



Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

4 
 

Table 3: Race Ethnicity Comparison: First 5 Mono Home Visiting (n=113) and the 0-17 population 

 
Source: kidsdata.org for children 0-17 race/ethnicity and home visiting data 
 

To understand better if First 5 Mono programs are serving a proportional number of children in 
the birth to five population in each community as the school systems served kindergartners, Table 3 
compares them. Compared to the distribution of kindergarten students across the County’s 
communities, home visiting served a higher percentage of families in Mammoth Lakes and 
Bridgeport, and lower percentages in Benton, Lee Vining, and Coleville. 
 
Table 3: Area of Residence Comparison:  New Families in Home Visiting (n=76) and the Kindergarten 
Cohort (n=120) 

 
 

2% 2% 0%
3%

46% 47%

0% 0% 1% 3%

57%

40%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

American Indian Asian American Black Non Hispanic
Multiracial

Hispanic White
and Multiracial

White

Children 0-17 First 5 Home Visiting

0%

74%

3%

13% 11%

1%

68%

11%
6%

15%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Benton Mammoth
Lakes

Lee Vining Bridgeport Coleville

Home Visiting Kindergarten Cohort



Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

5 
 

Key Findings 
• Home Visiting 

o Participating families have improved parental knowledge, understanding, and 
engagement in promoting their children’s development and physical and mental health.   

o Qualifying children2 received developmental screenings (n=60), 59, 98% 
o A higher proportion of Hispanic families were served than the 0-17 population. 
o Services shifted to virtual with COVID 19 health department orders. 
o Participants received direct support of $200 for two months if impacted by COVID 19. 

• Oral Health 
o Children at kindergarten entry have a significantly lower percentage of carries than in 

the past, (n=120) 10%. 
• Peapod Playgroups 

o Participating families are receiving child-development and parenting education. Services 
shifted to virtual with COVID 19 health department orders. Facebook Live participation 
was higher than Zoom. 

• School Readiness 
o Funding for the Summer Bridge Program ended in spring of 2020 based on low 

participation and lack of desired results as reported in previous evaluation reports. 
• Emergency Funds 

o In response to the COVID pandemic, the Commission created an Emergency Fund in 
2020. Funds were used to support rental assistance through Mammoth Lakes Housing 
($10,000) and the Mammoth Lakes IMACA preschool which suddenly lost Head Start 
Funding ($10,000). 

• First 5 California Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
o In response to the COVID pandemic, First 5 California partnered with Inyo Mono 

Advocates for Community Action (IMACA) to provide PPE to childcare providers to 
support reopening and remaining open. 212 boxes of 40 gloves, 6 boxes of 50 masks, 
and 12 gallons of disinfectant were distributed. 

Due to the data, findings, and conclusions herein, First 5 Mono County will continue to fund 
existing programs in FY 2020-21 while implementing measures to improve quality. First 5 Mono will 
seek to leverage supports around investment areas by working with community partners to support 
the well-being of children birth to five and their families. This evaluation examines program efficacy, 
participation, and partner agency activities for the purposes of allocating funding to the most impactful 
initiatives for Mono County. 

                                                             
2 older than 4 months, not already receiving special needs services, and with at least 3 visits in the 
program year 



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

6 
 

PROGRAMS AND EVALUATION 
IMPROVED FAMILY FUNCTIONING 

HOME VISITING 
Home Visiting is included in the First 5 Mono Strategic Plan due to national recognition and 

strong data that Home Visiting is a strong strategy to improve outcomes for children and families. 
Home Visiting is an effective tool to: improve family functioning, decrease child abuse, and improve 
school readiness and literacy3. In 2019-20 the investment in Home Visiting increased to $324,789. 
With a new contribution from Mono County, the program was able to become evidence-based. The 
new program, renamed Welcome Baby and Healthy Families uses the Parents as Teachers 
evidence-based model. Families are offered between 12 and 24 visits a year, depending on need, 
until their child is enrolled in preschool, Transitional Kindergarten, or Kindergarten. 

First 5 Mono conducts the Home Visiting program with funding support from: 
• Mono County: $150,000 
• First 5 California Small Population County Funding Augmentation (SPCFA): $135,609 
• Mono County Department of Social Services  

o Child Abuse Prevention, Intervention, and Treatment (CAPIT): $32,271  
o CalWORKS Home Visiting Program (CWHVP): $6,830 

Program objectives include: 
o Facilitate parents’ role as their child’s first and most important teacher  
o Provide information on typical child development  
o Stimulate child development by providing age-appropriate activities  
o Increase and support breastfeeding and literacy activities  
o Link families to community services and support access to services  
o Conduct developmental screenings and refer families to early intervention programs 

                                                             
3 Promising Practice Local Model: Modified Parents as Teachers Evidence-based framework:  
Pfannenstiel, J. C., & Zigler, E. (2007). Prekindergarten experiences, school 
readiness and early elementary achievement. Unpublished report prepared for 
Parents as Teachers National Center. 
 
Snow, C.E., Burns, M., and Griffin, P. (Eds.). (1998). Preventing reading difficulties 
in young children. Washington, DC: National Academy Press. 
 
Parents as Teachers has a long history of independent research demonstrating 
effectiveness. For more details, refer to the Parents as Teachers evaluation brochure 
or Web site, www.parentsasteachers.org. 



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

7 
 

o Provide culturally competent services in Spanish and English  
o Facilitate optimal family functioning  
o Decrease child abuse and neglect  

 

Logic Model

 
 

  

Input

•Funding of 
$324,789

•4 part-time home 
visitors, 1 full time
•Program 

administration 
•Community 

participation

Activities

•Home Visits with 
families and 
providers

•Monthly staff 
meetings

•Data collection and 
input

•Recruiting

Outputs

•Percent of children 
in households 
where parents and 
other family 
members are 
receiving child-
development and 
parenting 
education. 

•Percent of children 
6 months to 5 years 
old screened for                
developmental 
delays. 

•Percent of children 
where 
breastfeeding is          
successfully 
initiated and 
sustained . 

•Number and 
percent of 
children in 
families provided 
with information 
about 
appropriate      
community 
services. 

Expected Outcomes

•Improved parental 
knowledge,    
understanding, and 
engagement in 
promoting their 
children’s              
development and 
physical and mental 
health.

•Improved screening 
and intervention for 
developmental 
delays, disabilities, 
and other special 
needs. 

•Improved school 
readiness. 

•Improved access to 
healthcare     
services for children 
0-5. 

•Increased 
breastfeeding rates. 

•Children in 
Expected Body 
Mass Index Range



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

8 
 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
 

Home Visiting Quick look: 
Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47 and analysis below 

Percent of indicators Indicator 
Achievement 

Indicator 

 
 
 

  67% 

 4 Screening rates improved 
9 School readiness improved 
14 Parents get developmental and parenting education* 

 2 & 3  Higher participation rates 
 Infants: no 
 Children: yes 

                33%  15 Higher breastfeeding rates* 
16 Expected BMI* 
 

*Under 60% reporting rate 

2. & 3. Is the number of parents participating high or increasing for the following age ranges: 
prenatal to 1 and prenatal to 5? No, and Yes 

o Data Source: parents’ participation in home visiting:  
• Prenatal -1 year old: 35% 
• Prenatal - 5 years old:  30%  

o Finding: A lower percentage of infants were served this year than last. Conversely, a higher 
percentage of children prenatal-5 were served this year than last. 

o Conclusion: In the last year a higher percent of children prenatal-5 were served and a lower 
percent of children 0-1 were served. Recruiting through Labor and Delivery changed 
significantly in March of 2020 when, due to COVID precautions, Home Visitors could only 
talk on the phone to new mothers to recruit rather than going into the hospital, supporting 
breastfeeding, and giving a new parent kit. As a result, the number of referrals through 
L&D—the main source of infant referrals—decreased on FY 19-20. 
 

  



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

9 
 

4. Does Home Visiting improve screening and intervention for developmental delays, 
disabilities, and other special needs? For children enrolled in Home Visiting, yes 

o Data Source: Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) screening data  

Table 1: Home Visiting Ages and Stages Questionnaire Developmental Screenings   
Number of 
children 

Percent of qualifying children* 
n=60 

Screenings Completed 59           98%  
With one or more identified concern(s) 14 24% of those screened 

Who received Early Intervention Services as a result of a screening 1 2% of those screened 
*children without special needs services, who are over 4 months old, and had 3 or more visits, qualify for a screening. 

 
o Finding: 98% of qualifying children (without an identified delay, older than 4 months, and 

with at least 3 visits) received a screening. Of those screened, 24% had a concern 
identified, and 2% of children screened received early intervention services because of a 
screening.  The gap between the 24% of children with an identified concern and 2% of 
children with a screening who received services is attributed to the following:   

1. Concerns were addressed by providing activities to families that lead to growth to 
the extent that there was no longer a concern;  

2. The parents refused a referral;  
3. After assessment by early intervention specialists, the concern did not meet the 

threshold to qualify for early intervention services.      
4. The services do not exist in our area 
5. The child was put on a waitlist for services 

o Conclusion: The program is achieving this outcome. Looking at population-based screening 
rates however, there was a slight decline from last year. 

9. Does Home Visiting improve school readiness?  Yes 

o Data Source: Kindergartners Assessed as School Ready and Kindergarten School 
Readiness by Activity Participation (both below)    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

10 
 

Table 1: Kindergartners Assessed as School Ready by District 2017-2019   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Table 2: 2019 Percent of Kindergartners Assessed as School Ready by Program Participation 
Compared to School Readiness Rate 

 

69%
61%

81%

38%

71%
79%

92%
100%

60%
67%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Playgroups n-12 CA State Preschools n=18 Other PreK Care/Preschools n=16
Summer Bridge n=23 Raising A Reader n=25 Story Time n-14
Home Visiting n-14 Early Intervention n=1 No participation n=8
Footsteps to Brilliance n=3

Baseline: 65%
Countywide 
School 
Readiness

Activity participation data source: parent surveys completed at kindergarten entry
School readiness data source: Brigance screening at kindergarten entry
n=60, 50% of the K class

* duplicates inlcuded,  children reported as participating in multiple programs are counted in each activity

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Mammoth Unified
School District

Eastern Sierra Unified
School District

Mono County

48% 48%

68%

50%
60% 60%

49% 51%
65%

Data source: Brigance assessments completed within first 1.5 months of school
96%-100% assessment rate 2017-2019 for districts



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

11 
 

o Findings: Compared to an overall increased school readiness rate of 65%, 92% of children 
who participated in Home Visiting were assessed as school ready. School readiness has 
been around 50% for the last 5 years, this is an exciting year to report a significant increase 
to a rate of 65%. Based on the data in the previous figures, children participating in First 5 
funded programs are more likely to be school ready at kindergarten entry. 

o Considerations: The use of the Brigance tool for assessment in Mono is being reevaluated 
due to discussions across the State about Racial Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion in Early 
Childhood which highlight the importance of assessing social-emotional readiness in 
assessments as it may better highlight culturally diverse students’ strengths. As the 
Brigance tool, used through 2019 to determine readiness in Mono County, does not include 
a social emotional component, the Commission will consider recommendations for a new 
tool for School Readiness Assessments in 2020-21. 

o Conclusion: Children who participate in Home Visiting are: 
•  32% more likely to be school ready than those who did not participate in early 

learning programs 
• 27% more school ready than the cohort as a whole 

First 5 Mono does not have data on the kindergarteners’ demographic characteristics, e.g., 
how many come from families with low income, low educational attainment, or other 
stressors. If the proportion of children experiencing stressors served through Home Visiting 
(43%) was higher than those of the kindergarten cohort as a whole, it would point to even 
more significant readiness gains for children enrolled in Home Visiting. At the February 
2019 Strategic Planning Retreat, the Commission asked staff to seek additional funding for 
home visiting to expand to an evidence-based program which includes school readiness as 
a demonstrated outcome. To that end, Commissioner Gardner and Executive Director 
DesBaillets worked through the County budget process to successfully support inclusion of 
a $150,000 annual contribution from the County general fund to raise the standard of home 
visiting in Mono County.  

 

  



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

12 
 

14.  Are parents participating in Home Visiting receiving child development and parenting 
education? Yes 

• Data Source: Home Visiting exit surveys and resource referrals  
Table 3: Exit Survey for children older than 1 year n=2 
 

 
 

Scale of 1 (Strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly 
agree) 

Before program 
average 

After Program 
Average 

           
Change 

I know how to meet my child's social and 
emotional needs 4 5 1 

I understand my child's development and how it 
influences my parenting responses.  4 5 1 

I regularly support my child's development 
through play, reading, and shared time together.  4.5 5 0.5 

I stablish routines and set reasonable limits and 
rules for my child. 5 5 0 

I use positive discipline with my child.  4 5 1 
I make my home safe for my child. 5 5 0 
I am able to set and achieve goals. 4 5 1 

I am able to deal with the stresses of parenting 
and life in general. 3.5 5 1.5 

I feel supported as a parent. 3.5 5 1.5 
Total   7.5 

   
 

Table 4: Exit Surveys 

      
Strongly Agree                
FY 19-20  N=4 

Strongly Agreed             
FY 18-19   N=26 

 I feel comfortable talking with my parent educator. 95% 94% 
I would recommend this program to a friend. 95% 94% 

My parent educator gives me handouts that help me continue learning 
about parenting and child development. 

95% 94% 
95% 94% 

My parent educator is genuinely interested in me and my child.  95% 94% 
My parent educator encourages me to read books to my child.  95% 88% 

This program increases my understanding of child's development. 95% 69% 
My parent educator helps me find useful resources in my community.  100% 75% 

Activities in the visits strengthen my relationship with my child.  95% 69% 
I feel less stressed because of this program.  95% 50% 

 
  



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

13 
 

Table 5: Resource Referrals 
 

FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 
Community Resource  Referred Accessed Referred Accessed Referred  Accessed 

Adult Education  17 2 5 1 2 0 
Early Intervention  10 5 16 4 8 1 

Early Education Care and 
Education Setting  

21 9 16 5 19 3 

Financial Resources  13 1 4 0 35 5 
Nutrition Resources (WIC, 

IMACA, DSS, Lactation)  
6 2 8 1 22 2 

Parenting or Social Support, 
Community Participation  

102 33 104 21 58 11 

Language/Literacy Activities  19 4 8 1 6 0 
Medical Services  12 6 14 7 14 0 

Mental Health Services  9 4 12 5 10 0 
Housing and utilities     14 1 

Other (injury prevention, crisis 
intervention, transportation, 

employment and legal resources)  

18 2 16 2 20 2 

Total  227 71 104 47 208 25 
%  Referrals Accessed  31% 45% 12% 

 
• Findings: Survey data yielded agreement of 95% or higher in measures pertaining to child 

development and parenting and an increase in activities related to child development after 
program participation. Referral data demonstrates parent engagement in accessing resources 
related to health and development and referrals to support families.   

Referral data reflect some COVID 19 related hardships: new referrals to housing and utilities 
and increased numbers for financial and nutrition resources. Although the percent of reported 
access to referrals accessed dropped significantly, the following impacted that data: 

• Evidence-based model implementation: as staff was focused on the many program 
changes, attention to some data became a challenge. 

• COVID 19: office staff did not have access to hard copy folders to verify and enter 
data at the end of the fiscal year. 

• Conclusion: The program is achieving this outcome 
 

 

 



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

14 
 

15. Do children whose mothers participate in Home Visiting have increased breastfeeding 
rates? No 

The rate of breastfeeding for infants whose mothers were enrolled in home visiting is high, 
although a bit lower than California as a whole. With the shift to an evidence-based program, 
breastfeeding data was only collected on 24 children (50% of children birth to one served). In 
future years, more training will be conducted with Home Visitors to support health evaluation 
data entry to better understand County breastfeeding rates for children enrolled in Home 
Visiting. 
o Data Source:  2017-2020 Home Visiting Records 

 
Table 6: Children ever Breastfed: Infants enrolled in First 5 Mono Home Visiting Compared to 
California 2017-18 to 2019-204 

 
 

o Finding: Mothers enrolled in Welcome Baby and Healthy Families who completed the 
health survey (50% of infants served) had static percentages of breastfeeding between 
2017 and 2019.   

o Conclusion: The program is not achieving this outcome and needs to improve data 
collection to ascertain the efficacy of the program at supporting breastfeeding.  

 
  

                                                             
4 California data: https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/data/reportcard.htm 

88%
80%

88%90%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 2018 2019

Home Visiting Mono County California (most recent data available)



Improved Family Functioning, Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation report 

15 
 

16. Is the percent of children 0-5 with the expected BMI high or increasing? No 
Data from Mammoth Hospital; Finding: 76%, a decrease from 81%; Conclusion: Continue to educate 
parents on healthy nutrition and seek to expand community opportunities for parents to expand 
learning. 

 
Conclusion 

The Commission will continue to fund Welcome Baby and Healthy Families as program-
specific evaluation results indicate achievement of the desired outcomes. Thanks to funding allocated 
by the Mono County Board of Supervisors and funded by the taxpayers of Mono County, in 2019-20 
home visiting expanded to become an evidence-based model. This was a significant shift from the 
previously funded locally-developed model.  The expansion was quite a feat and led to growth for the 
First 5 Home Visitors and higher-quality services for clients. 

  



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

16 
 

IMPROVED CHILD DEVELOPMENT 

SCHOOL READINESS 
A child’s education begins very early. Since school-based educational systems do not begin 

until 3-5 years of age, First 5 and community partners offer programs to help prepare children for 
school in the early years. School readiness programs include all Mono County public elementary 
schools, childcare and preschool centers, special needs programs, and the Mono County Library 
System. The FY 2019-20 investment in school readiness was $49,241 with funding support from First 
5 SPCFA ($21,846). For all incoming kindergartners planning to attend a public school, First 5 Mono 
funds transition to school support with Kindergarten Round Up (which First 5 also implements in 
partnership with the schools). Early literacy investments include: Raising A Reader and Story Time 
(conducted and partially funded by Mono County Libraries) and Readers’ Theatre and First Book 
(conducted and funded by First 5 Mono). 

The objectives and a brief description for the programs funded in this category are as follows: 
 

Transition to School Programs 
Kindergarten Round Up: informational meeting held at all public elementary schools in the County 

Objectives: 
o Introduce families and children to the school, teachers, principal, and each other 
o Provide information on entering school and kindergarten readiness 
o Facilitate children and families’ smooth transition into the education system 
o Enroll children in kindergarten  
o Sign children up for Summer Bridge 

Incoming Kindergarten Assessments: school readiness assessments conducted by teachers in the 
first month of school 

Objectives:  
o Assess students’ school readiness 
o Identify children’s skill development needs  

  

Early Literacy Programs 

Raising A Reader: book bags distributed by libraries and early learning programs 
Objectives:  
o Increase literacy for young children 
o Encourage use of the library system 
o Increase parental and care-provider literacy activities 

Readers’ Theatre: a literacy program provided to licensed childcares 



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

17 
 

Objectives:  
o Increase literacy for young children 
o Increase care-provider literacy activities 

First Book: free children’s books 
Objectives:  
o Increase parent-child literacy activities 
o Facilitate positive parent-child interaction 

Logic Model

 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
School Readiness Quick look:  
Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47 and analysis below 

Percent of Indicators Indicator Achievement Indicator 
 

 
      83% 

 8 Preschool attendance by K entry* 
9 School readiness rate 
10 Families attended Round Up 
11 Literacy programs accessed 
13 Kindergarteners assessed for readiness 

                   17%  12 Preschool slot availability 
 
 

* Under 60% reporting rate 

Input

•Funding of $49,241

•Staff time to plan 
and execute 
programs or 
partnership with 
implementing 
agency

•Administration of 
funding

•Community 
participation

Activities

•Transition to School 
Activities
•Kindergarten Round 

Up
•Summer Bridge
•Incoming 

Kindergarten 
Assessments

•Literacy Activities
•Raising A Reader
•Readers'  Theatre
•Footsteps2brilliance
•First  Book

Outputs

•Percent of children 
“ready for school” 
upon entering 
Kindergarten.

•Percent of children 
who have ever 
attended a 
preschool, Pre-K, or 
Head Start program 
by the time of 
Kindergarten entry. 

•Percent of children 
receiving 
Kindergarten 
transition support.

•Percent of entering 
Kindergarteners 
assessed for school 
readiness prior to 
entry. 

Expected Outcomes

•Improved school 
readiness.



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

18 
 

8. Is the percent of children who have ever attended a preschool, Pre-K, or Head Start 
program by the time of Kindergarten entry increasing? Yes 
o Data Source: Incoming Kindergarten Parent Survey 
o Finding: yes, 87% compared to 76% last year 
o Conclusion: Efforts to maximize enrollment and increase the number of available slots coupled 

with the district-mandated Transitional Kindergarten program had a positive impact on the rate 
of preschool attendance.  
 

9. Is the percent of children “ready for school” upon entering kindergarten increasing? Yes  
o Data Source: Brigance Assessments (Figure 1, page 11)  
o Finding: Readiness increased to 65% from 51% last year 
o Conclusion: While school readiness has been a major investment for 19 years, only in the last 

3 years was a standardized universal assessment used to measure school readiness. The 
Percent of Kindergartners Assessed as School Ready by Program Participation (Figure 2, 
page 11) demonstrates that funded programs support school readiness across the county. 
After many years of a rate of around 50%, the increase in FY 2019-20 is quite exciting! First 5 
Mono will seek to sustain and continue to increase the rate of school readiness in Mono 
County. 

10. Is the percent of children whose parents attended Kindergarten and TK Round-Up 
increasing or remaining high? Yes 

o Data Source:  
• Table 7: Participation in Transition to School Activities 

 

99%100%100%100%96%
86%

0%

100%

63%
70%

Mammoth
Elementary

Edna Beaman
Elementary

Lee Vining
Elementary

Bridgeport
Elementary

Antelope
Elementary

Transition to School Participation
Kindergartners who started school August 2019

Assessed Attended Kindergarten Round Up



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

19 
 

 
o Finding: Kindergarten Round Up participation increased to 82%, and has steadily increased 

from 54% in 2017-18.  
o Conclusion: The program is achieving its goal. 

 
11. Is the percent of children birth to 5 accessing funded literacy activates high or 
increasing? Yes 
o Data Source: Participation in Raising a Reader and Home Visiting, includes duplicates.    
o Findings: 48%, up from baseline of 47%  
o Conclusion: First 5 does not have access to the Raising a Reader participant names so cannot 

provide unduplicated numbers. The number remained largely static since last year around 47% 
 

12. Is there a high or increasing percent of preschool slots for age-eligible children? No 

o Data Source: Number of slots licensed for a preschool age-specific classroom 
o Finding: 43%, down from 51% last year. Note: last year’s figure was revised due to an update 

in what slots are counted, now only age-specific classrooms. 
o Conclusion: The decrease from 51% to 43% represents the closing of a site in 2019-20. 

Although there are preschool slots for only 43% of age-eligible children, some slots still remain 
unfilled. Reasons for underutilization are:  

• Slots are located in towns without enough age qualifying children to fill them 
• Children’s families fall above income requirements (e.g., State Preschool, Head Start, or 

CDBG) 
• Lack of transportation 
• Lack of sufficient hours to be feasible for the family, many programs are only around 4 

hours a day. 
• Federal employment requirements for parents (e.g., Mountain Warfare Training Facility 

Child Development Center). 
 

 

13. Is the percent of entering Kindergartners assessed for school readiness at entry 
increasing or remaining high? Yes 
o Data Source: Kindergarten readiness assessments (Figure 2 page 11)    
o Findings: yes, 98% of kindergartners  
o Conclusion: The new protocol to assess kindergartners at kindergarten entry (instead of prior 

to kindergarten) had a positive impact on the percentage of students assessed for the past two 
years. 
  



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

20 
 

 
As the majority of the program-specific evaluation results indicate achievement of the desired 

outcomes, the Commission will continue to fund the same School Readiness activities in 2012-21 as 
in 2019-20. The Commission ended Summer Bridge program funding earlier than planned—at the 
end of 2019-20 due to COVID. The decision to no longer fund Summer Bridge was based on low 
participation and lack of desired outcomes for over 5 years. Data in the evaluation report will continue 
to inform improvement and future investments.  

 
 

 
 

  



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

21 
 

Family Behavioral Health 
In such a rural and geographically isolated county, it is easy for families to feel alone. 

Opportunities for children and their parents are fewer than in more populated areas. To meet the 
social needs of parents and their children, a weekly playgroup program was developed. Funding is 
primarily from Mono County Behavioral Health for $36,507. Playgroups and parent education are 
conducted by First 5 Mono.  
 

The objectives and a brief description for the program funded in this category is as follows: 
Peapod Playgroups: For parents, caregivers, and children birth to 5 years old. Playgroups meet for 
10-week sessions. Sessions were held in the following communities: Walker, Bridgeport, Mammoth 
Lakes, Crowley Lake, and Chalfant. 
Objectives:  

o Decrease isolation by providing parents and children an opportunity to socialize 
o Destigmatize seeking behavioral health services 
o Link families to community services 
o Encourage school readiness and early literacy. 

 

Logic Model 

Input

•Funding of 
$36,507
•Playgroup 

leaders across 
the county

•Administration 
of funding

•Community 
participation

Activities

•Conduct 
playgroups

•Provide referrals 
to counseling

•Provide parent 
education

Outputs

•Number and 
percent of 
children in 
households 
where parents 
and other family 
members are 
receiving child-
development 
and parenting 
education.

Expected 
Outcomes

•Improved 
parental 
knowledge, 
understanding, 
and engagement 
in promoting 
their children’s 
development.



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

22 
 

 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
Peapod Playgroups Quick Look: 
Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47 and analysis below 

Percent of indicator Indicator Achievement Indicator 
 
      50% 

 1 Parents satisfied 
 

                   50%  14 High participation rates 
 

 

1. Does Peapod survey data yield 100% satisfaction or an average of 4-5 on a scale of 1-5 that 
the playgroup met participant expectations. Yes 

o Data Source: Peapod surveys 
• Figure 1: Participant Survey Results (appendix III Table 3, page 38) 

o Finding: Yes 
o Conclusion: Due to client satisfaction with the program, the program will continue to offer 

services as it has in the past. 
 

14. Is the percent of children in households where parents and other family members are 
receiving child-development and parenting education high or increasing? No 

o Data Source: Number of children participating in playgroups. 
• Figure 1: Participation 2017-18 to 2019-20 

 

*Kids participating via Facebook live not counted  

97

524

150

6

143

683

118

6

192

878

130

7

0 200 400 600 800 1000

Kids Served*

Kids' Total Attendance

Number of Groups Offered

Average Attendance

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20



Improved Child Development 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

23 
 

o Finding: Down to 14% from 21% of children birth to 5 in the County last year.   
o Conclusion: Due to participation in Peapod, children lived in households receiving child-

development and parenting education. More groups were offered than in the past, and children 
participating on Facebook Live were not counted. Changes in staffing for the playgroups has 
contributed to the decline in participation over the last several years, all efforts will be made to 
support existing staff in rebuilding participation. COVID 19 significantly impacted the number of 
children who participated since in-person groups were not allowed after mid-March. Although 
there was a decrease in the percent of children who participated this year, the program is still 
achieving its intended outcome. 

 
Families have more information about parenting and child development because Peapod Playgroups, 
the First 5 Mono Family Behavioral Health investment. The Commission will continue to invest in and 
seek funding partnership for this initiative. Outreach efforts through COVID 19 have shifted online. In 
following with local and state health guidelines, groups shifted to a virtual platform in March of 2020. 
Groups were held first virtually on Zoom, than, as participation declined, on Facebook Live which 
received wider participation (albeit not interactive). Despite the pandemic, Peapod Playgroups still 
enjoy significant participation. 

 

Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono includes Childcare Quality in the strategic plan as many children spend a 

significant amount of their early years with their childcare provider. The initiative is fiscally supported 
by First 5 California, the California Department of Education, and a Federal Community Development 
Block Grant through Mono County. Educating child care providers on how to best meet the needs of 
children helps ensure children will spend their formative years in optimal learning environments.  

The Childcare Quality investment for FY 2019-20 was $536,836 that came from the following 
funding streams:  

o Improve and Maximize Programs so All Children Thrive (IMPACT), conducted by First 5 
Mono for Mono and Alpine Counties funded by First 5 Mono & First 5 California: 
$102,290 

o Region 6 Training and Technical Assistance Hub, funded by First 5 California: $178,350 
o California Department of Education (CDE) California State Preschool Program Block 

Grant (CSPP BG): $18,013  
o Certification and Coordination Grant (CDE): $2,625 
o Quality Rating and Improvement System (QRIS) Block Grant: $9,119  
o Equitable Learning Opportunities (CDE): $23,134 
o Childcare services provided by Eastern Sierra Unified School District funded by the 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) through Mono County: $203,305. 



Improved Child Development, Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

24 
 

 
The objectives and a brief description for the programs funded in this category are as follows: 
 
IMPACT: Training, coaching, rating, stipends, and support for childcare providers for the provision of 
high-quality care for children and their families. 

Objectives: 
o Provide site-specific professional development to child care providers. 
o Support providers’ implementation of developmental screenings and parent engagement 

activities 
o Build public awareness and support for quality early care  
o Build a Childcare Quality System that leverages funding and maximizes support for care 

providers 
 

QRIS and CSPP QRIS Block Grants: Support for state preschool sites and sites serving infants and 
toddlers. 

Objectives: 
o Provide site-specific professional development to child care providers 
o Support provider understanding of quality care and education 

 

Training and Technical Assistance Hub: Support regional efficiencies in Childcare Quality work 
Objectives:  
o Provide assessors for Spanish speaking sites 
o Contract with Viva for coordination for the Hub 
o Contract with i-Pinwheel database to track sites’ participation 
o Contract with American Institute of Research for the Early Learning Needs Assessment Tool 

(ELNAT) database to analyze child data to determine needs 
 

CDBG Childcare: Provide high-quality care to preschool age children in Bridgeport and Benton.  
  



Improved Child Development, Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

25 
 

Logic Model 

 
 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
Childcare Quality Quick Look:  
Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47 and analysis below 

Percent of indicators Indicator Achievement Indicator 
 
 

 
      50% 

 4 Developmental screening rate 
 

 5 Children in high quality care, 
slight decrease from last year, but 
still a significant increase from 2 
years ago. 
 
 

                
                  50% 

 6 Provider permit attainment rate 
7 Childcare availability 
 

 

Input

•Funding of $536,836
•Staff time to plan 

and execute 
programs

•Administration of 
funding

•Community 
participation

Activities

•IMPACT
•Region 6  T & TA Hub
•State Preschool 

Block Grant
•Preschool 

Development Grant
•Equitable Learning 

Opportunites Grant
•CDBG 

Implementation 
support

Outputs

•Percent of children 6 
months to 5 years 
old screened for 
developmental 
delays. 

•Percent of children 
served in home 
childcare settings 
and childcare 
centers that exhibit 
moderate to high 
quality as measured 
by a quality index. 

•Percent of licensed 
child care providers 
in Mono County 
advancing on the 
Child Development 
Permit Matrix. 

•Percent of licensed 
center and family 
child care spaces per 
100 children. 

Expected Outcomes

•Improved screening 
and intervention for 
developmental 
delays, disabilities, 
and other special 
needs. 

•Improved quality 
and availability of 
childcare providers. 



Improved Child Development, Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

26 
 

 

4. Is the percent of children 6 months to 5 years old screened for developmental delays 
increasing? Yes for the Childcare Quality System 
o Data Source: Childcare Quality System Completed ASQs 

• Table 1: Developmental Screening, ASQ, from Childcare Quality System Sites 
 

Fiscal Year Number of 
Screenings 

Percent of 
enrolled 
children 
screened 

Number of 
children 
screened 
with an 

identified 
concern 

Percent of 
children 
screened 
with an 

identified 
concern 

2017-18 130 60% 22 23% 

2018-19 180 85% 33 18% 

2019-20 n=197 173 88% 5 3% 

  
o Finding: Yes, 88% of children enrolled at participating sites were screened for a developmental 

delay, up from 85% the previous year. 
o Conclusion: More children were screened for developmental delays through their childcare 

provider this year. 
 

5. Is the percent of children served in home childcare and childcare centers that exhibit 
moderate to high quality as measured by a quality index increasing? 6. No, but still a 
significant increase over the last several years. 
o Data Sources: Site ratings and Childcare Quality System participation data 
o Finding: 127 children in Mono County attended a site with a high quality rating, 91% of children 

enrolled in programs participating in the Childcare Quality System and 24% of all children in 
the County. Gains from last year were maintained, the decrease was due to two family 
childcare sites not wishing to maintain their rating.  

o Conclusion: Although fewer sites were rated as having high quality this year, those that were 
rated achieved the highest ratings, 4 & 5 out of 5. Lee Vining Preschool was rated at a 5--
highest quality, the first site in Mono County to achieve the highest rating! 7 sites were rated as 
4—exceeding quality. Although less sites were rated in FY 19-20, all rated sites were rated as 
high quality and the number of sites rated as high quality has significantly increased over the 
last several years from 8% in 2016-17 to 25% in 2019-20.  
 



Improved Child Development, Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

27 
 

6. Is the percent of licensed childcare providers in Mono County advancing on the Child 
Development Permit Matrix high or increasing? No 
o Data Source: Childcare Quality System participation   
o Finding: 0, down from 2 in 2017-18 
o Conclusion: Although child development permits are an element of a high quality program, the 

incentive to improve quality is not enough to support providers in overcoming the barriers to 
attain a child development permit. Barriers include low pay regardless of permit achievement, 
no licensing requirement to have a permit, and the difficulty of gathering supporting documents 
and properly completing the permit application. Progress was made towards permit attainment 
through the AB 212 program administered by the Mono County Office of Education and gains 
are expected for FY 2020-21. 
 

7. Is the percent of licensed center and family childcare spaces per 100 children high or 
increasing? Almost the same, slight decrease 
o Data Source: IMACA Resource and Referral slot numbers and the Childcare Portfolio   
o Findings: In September of 2019 there were slots for 46% of children birth to 5 in the County 
o Conclusion: Although the number of slots available to children in Mono County decreased 

dramatically from 56% in 2008, the percent of available slots has increased over the years and 
is now 46%, a an increase over the last three years, albeit a loss of one percent from last year. 
First 5 Mono continues to actively participate in the Mono County Child Care Council to 
support initiatives seeking to increase the number of child care slots in Mono County. First 5 
collaborates with the Mono County Office of Education, which has taken the lead on a 
coordinated effort to create more slots in Mammoth Lakes. First 5 also continues to apply for 
CDBG funds and partner with the County and Eastern Sierra Unfired School District to help 
fund the Bridgeport Elementary Preschool. 
  

The Commission will continue to invest in Childcare Quality because of successes in leveraging 
First 5 California and California Department of Education funds, rating sites, supporting 
developmental screenings, and partnering with local providers to maintain and increase quality. Over 
the last several years, First 5 Mono has built significant capacity in this investment area. After 
completion of training and successful testing, First 5 Mono staff is able to provide teacher-specific 
coaching based on classroom observations, conduct observations, and rate sites. Childcare Quality 
System work is supported by the Mono County Office of Education’s Local Planning Council (the 
Mono County Child Care Council) and Inyo Mono Advocates for Community Action’s local Resource 
and Referral and Alternative Payment programs, as well as collaboration with Cerro Coso’s Child 
Development Department and partners in Alpine and Inyo Counties.



Improved Child Health, Oral Health 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

28 
 

IMPROVED CHILD HEALTH 

ORAL HEALTH 
The 2009 First 5 Mono Strategic Plan identified a significant community need in the area of 

oral health. Pediatricians saw visible tooth decay spurred development of a topical fluoride varnish 
application program. Pediatricians in the County continue to report needs for sustained efforts in oral 
health due to high numbers of children with poor oral health. The Oral Health Program consists of 
education, oral health checks, and topical fluoride varnish application for children in childcare settings 
across the County. The program was funded and operated by First 5 Mono at a cost of $7,142 for FY 
2019-20. The program provides free toothbrushes, toothpaste, and floss to families to help maintain 
oral health. 

 
Objective: Provide application of topical fluoride varnish twice a year to all Mono County children age 
1-5 not already receiving services from a dentist, and educate children and parents about oral health.  

Logic Model 

 

  

Input

•Funding of 
$7,142
•Staff time to 

plan and 
execute 
programs

•Administration 
of funding

•Community 
participation

Activities

•Education-
Tooth Tutor

•Topical Fluoride 
Varnish

•Oral Health 
Checks

Outputs

•Number and 
percent of 
children who 
regularly access 
preventive 
dental care. 

•Number and 
percent of 
children at 
Kindergarten 
entry with 
untreated 
dental 
problems. 

•Number and 
percent of 
children ages 1 
or older who 
receive annual 
dental 
screenings. 

Expected 
Outcomes

•Improved 
access to 
healthcare 
services for 
children 0-5.



Improved Child Health, Oral Health 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

29 
 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
Oral Health Quick Look:  
Indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47 and analysis below 

Percent of indicators Indicators Achievement Indicators 
 
 

      50% 

 18 Children at K entry with untreated dental problems* 
 

                
                   50% 

 17 Annual dental screening rate* 
 

*Lower than 60% reporting rate 

 

17. Is the percent of children ages 1 or older who receive annual dental screenings high or 
increasing? No 

o Data Source: Sierra Park Dental Data, 2017-20 
o Finding: 42% of children age 1-5 years old had an annual exam at Mammoth Hospital—, a drop 

from 51% the previous year. There was a corresponding drop in the reporting rate as the number 
of patients at Sierra Park Dental has declined by 134 individuals since 2017.  

o Conclusion: First 5 will continue oral health education efforts to support higher percentages of 
children receiving an annual screening. A data challenge is that only one dental provider is 
included—Mammoth Hospital. 

 

18. Is there a low percent of children at Kindergarten entry with untreated dental problems? 
Yes 

o Data Source: Kindergarten Oral Health Checks  
o Finding: 10% of the oral health checks turned in at kindergarten enrollment indicated the child had 

untreated caries (cavities), a significant decrease from the last 5 years which have been around 
30%. Note the low reporting rate though, 42%. 

o Conclusion: The percent of untreated caries at kindergarten significantly decreased to 10%.  
 

 
Fewer children are being seen at Mammoth Hospital Dental Clinic--45%. The actual rate of 

annual screening reported herein of 42% is certainly higher as some children access care through a 
private provider and data is only from Mammoth Hospital. The Commission will continue to invest in 
this initiative and seek to sustain the 19-20 improvements in oral health for children 0-5. First 5 will 
continue to provide topical fluoride varnish and oral health checks for children between one and 5-



Improved Child Health, Oral Health-Child Safety 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

30 
 

years-old served in Childcare sites participating in the Childcare Quality System as well as promote 
oral health through home visiting, playgroups, and school readiness. 

 
The 0-5 population’s oral health needs decreased in 19-20 based on the rate of untreated 

carries at kindergarten entry-- 10%. The decrease may be linked to First 5 and partner agency oral 
health investments, but may also be attributable to the low reporting rate. Analysis in future years will 
help identify if the decrease from the multi-year average of 32% to 10% is indeed a trend.  Once 
funded by First 5 California, First 5 Mono continues to allocate discretionary funds for the oral health 
initiative.  Leveraging the First 5 Mono investments are supplies from the Mono County Health 
Department, and the pediatric office’s application of topical fluoride varnish. 

 

CHILD SAFETY 
Prior to the formation of Safe Kids California, Mono Partners, no agency in the County 

specifically focused on child safety. While some agencies conducted safety activities, services were 
not coordinated. Initially spearheaded by Mammoth Hospital, multiple community agencies met to 
pursue the formation of a Safe Kids Coalition. Based on higher than average injury data for Mono & 
Inyo Counties, and after learning the benefits of such collaborations, the Commission decided to fund 
the coordination of Safe Kids California, Mono Partners as no other participating agencies had the 
necessary funding to conduct coordinating activities. With combined funding from SPCFA ($7,000) 
and the Mono County Office of Education, the Mono County Office of Education coordinates Safe 
Kids California, Mono Partners. 
 
Objective: Bring safety services & resources to families 

Logic Model 

 

Input

•Funding of 
$7,000
•Partnership 

with 
administering 
agency

•Community 
participation

Activities

•Coordinate 
County safety 
activities for 
children

Outputs

•Families county-
wide are 
informed about 
safety issues 
pertaining to 
young children 
and have access 
to Car Seat 
Safety Checks, 
Health and 
Safety Fairs, and 
Gun Safety 
Locks.

Expected Outcomes

•Help families and 
communities 
keep kids safe 
from injuries.



 Improved Child Health, Child Safety 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

31 
 

Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
Child Safety Quick Look: 

Not included in Strategic Plan Indicators 

Percent of indicators Indicator Achievement Indicators 
 
                     100% 

 Child safety information and 
materials shared with parents. 
 

 

Are families countywide informed about safety issues pertaining to young children and able to 
access Car Seat Safety Checks, Health and Safety Fairs, and Gun Safety Locks? Yes 

• Data Source: Coordinator report 
• Finding: services were greatly reduced due to COVID 19 
• Conclusion: As a result of investments, car seat checks, safety material distribution, and 

bike helmet distribution continued throughout the year at Mammoth Lakes Police 
Department, State Farm, and through First 5 Home Visiting. 
 

Families had access to child safety equipment and car seat checks as a result of the Safe Kids 
investment, thus the Commission will continue to invest in this initiative. As part of the continuous 
quality improvement of the Safe Kids California, Mono Partners work, outreach efforts will continue to 
ensure as many families as possible participate in future Health & Safety Fairs.  
 
 
 

  



 Improved Child Health, Child Safety 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

32 
 

APPENDICIES 
Appendix I, Home Visiting 

Table 1: Referral Source 
  Number Percent 

 Mammoth Hospital Labor & Delivery  17 22% 

 Self  16 21% 
 Doctor, Pediatrician, or Hospital Staff 12 16% 
 Other, Family/Friends  6 8% 
 Childcare Quality System 5 6% 
 Peapod  4 5% 
 First 5 Home Visitors  3 4% 
 Early Start/ screening agency 3  

 
 
 

18% 

School 2 

Tribal Organization 1 

IMACA 1 

Childbirth Education Class  1 

Not recorded 6 

19-20 Total 77 

18-19 Total 104 

17-18 Total  70 

 
Table 2: Visits Provided 

Visit Type FY 
2017-18 

FY 
18-19 

FY 
19-20 

Prenatal Home Visits  63 65 32 

Birth-5 Home Visits  561 527 584 

Total Visits  624 592 616 
 

 

  



 Improved Child Health, Child Safety 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

33 
 

Table 3: Families Served 

 FY 
17-18 

FY 
18-19 

FY 
19-20 

New Babies Enrolled  58 89 48 

Births to Mono County Residents* 134 135 137 

Percent of Mono County Babies Enrolled 43% 66% 35% 

Total Families Served   125 136 207 
 
*Source: California Department of Finance January 2020, projections  
FY calculations use the calendar year projections of the year the FY begins (e.g., 2018 for FY 2018-19)  
 
Table 4: Child’s Race & Ethnicity, N=113 children newly enrolled in the program year for whom data 
is available. 
 

o Child Race/Ethnicity (n=113) 
 Non-Hispanic 47 (43%) 

• White: 43 
• Black or African American: 1 
• Multi-race: 3 

 Hispanic 66 (57%) 
• Multi-race:  58 
• White: 8 

 

Non-Hispanic  47, 
43% 

Black or African American 1 
White  42 

Multi-race  3 

Hispanic  66, 
57% 

Multi-race  53 

White  13 
 
 
 
 
  



 Improved Child Health, Child Safety 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

34 
 

Table 5: Stressors 
Families with multiple stressors: 47, 43% (of 113 families who received a visit in the program year) 
 

Families with multiple stressors, previously called families with high needs, are determined using the national home 
visiting standard. If a family has more than one of the following stressors, they are considered as having multiple stressors 
and can access  home visits twice a month, rather than monthly.
low income or education 
child or parent with a disability  
homeless or unstable housing 
young parent 
substance abuse 

foster parents  
incarcerated parent  
very low birth weight  
domestic violence  
recent immigrant  

death in the immediate family  
child abuse or neglect  
active military family  

 

Stressors  Number of 
families 

Low income  62 
High School Diploma or Equivalency not attained  22 

Child with a Disability  10 
Parent with a Disability 9 

Young Parent (parenting under age of 21) 7 
Housing Instability 8 

Recent immigrant or refugee 2 
Parent incarcerated during child’s lifetime 2 

Very low birthweight and preterm birth 3 
Intimate Partner Violence 1 

 
 
Figure 1: Home Visiting Families’ Town of Residence Compared to the Kindergarten Cohort  

 
 
 

4%
10%

4%

74%

0%

7%

15%

5%
10%

68%

1%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Topaz, Coleville &
Walker

Bridgeport Lee Vining &  June
Lake

Mammoth Lakes
and Crowley Lake

Benton, and Hammil
& Chalfont Valleys

Unknown

Percent of Families  in Home Visiting who received a visit n=113 Percent of the TK & Kindergarten Cohort n=156



 Appendix I Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

36 
 

Table 6: Parenting Reflection exit Survey for families 
with children over 1 

   

   

    N=4  Before 
program 
average 

After 
Program 
Average 

Change 

Scale of 1 (Strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree)   
I know how to meet my child's social and emotional needs 3.75 4.5 0.75 

I understand my child's development and how it influences my parenting 
responses.  3.5 4.25 0.75 

I regularly support my child's development through play, reading, and 
shared time together.  4.5 4.75 0.25 

I stablish routines and set reasonable limits and rules for my child. 4.5 4.75 0.25 
I use positive discipline with my child.  4.25 4.25 0 

I make my home safe for my child. 4.75 4.75 0 
I am able to set and achieve goals. 3.75 4.5 0.75 

I am able to deal with the stresses of parenting and life in general. 3.25 4 0.75 
I feel supported as a parent. 3.5 4.5 1 

Total   4.5 
 

Table 7: Satisfaction exit survey 

      

Strongly Agree                 
FY 19-20  N=10 

Strongly Agree         
FY 18-19 N=26  

 I feel comfortable talking with my parent educator. 98% 94% 
I would recommend this program to a friend. 98% 94% 

My parent educator gives me handouts that help me continue learning 
about parenting and child development. 

98% 94% 
98% 94% 

My parent educator is genuinely interested in me and my child.  98% 94% 
My parent educator encourages me to read books to my child.  98% 88% 

This program increases my understanding of child's development. 94% 69% 
My parent educator helps me find useful resources in my community.  100% 75% 

Activities in the visits strengthen my relationship with my child.  98% 69% 
I feel less stressed because of this program.  88% 50% 

 
  



 Appendix I Home Visiting 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

37 
 

Survey comments: 
What about the program has been most helpful to you and your family? 

• Todo nos dan muccha informacion y nos explican paso a paso las cosas para mejorar toda la familia. 
(Everything gives us a lot of information and explains things step by step to improve the whole family.)  

• Mejorar las metas que tango para mis hijos (Improve the goals that I have for my children) 
• The thing that really helped my son and myself was being able to practice new stuff, for example using 

scissors was one thing my son loved and I didn’t know he was ready for that. 
• Debbie was great! She was always very flexible with scheduling. I liked that she listened and was 

patient with my concerns. She always had good and productive suggestions.  
• Everything, any other knowledge is helpful. 
• The early help with breastfeeding was great. 
• Reinforcement of milestones and helpful ways to achieve them. 
• As a new mom, I didn’t know what to expect. Debbie was very helpful and I always looked forward to 

our meetings. She provided a lot of useful information + made me feel comfortable.  
• The breastfeeding support that I received helped me so much and I felt like I could count on Debbie to 

check in and follow up with me.  
• I love that the parent educator came to our house it makes a lot easier with the little ones, and she was 

great giving alternative options on what to try to solve my problems.  
What could be improved about the program? 

• Que fueran mas las visitas a casa, en lugar dde 1 vez por mes. That there be more visits, instead of 
once a month.) 

• Creo que nada todo es excelente (I think nothing, all is excellent) 
• In my experience I feel like everything that was taught to my son was great and helpful. I don’t have any 

suggestion to improvements. Just keep being an awesome program!! 
• No Complains, This program is great! 
• More visits 
• Nothing  
• Group sessions every few months 
• I wish she came more frequently  

 
What changes have you made in your family or personal life as a result of Parents as teachers?  

• Todo nos motivan y nos dicen come hablar con los hijos. (Everything motivates us and tells us how to 
talk with our children.)  

Additional Comments: 
• Gracias por todo su apoyo. (Thank you for all your support. 
• Debbie was incredible! She was patient, understanding, kind, and empathetic. She was a key person in 

helping facilate my breastfeeding journey. I am forever grateful for this program and her support. Thank 
you!  

• Excelente programa y excelente trabajador social mil Gracias Elvira.(Excellent program and excellent 
social worker Elvira) 

• Thank you Elvira for making time for us, being available after my work hours. I (we) loved all the new 
activities and games and simply rearranging and accommodating my schedule. I feel like we both 
learned a lot of new things. Wish we could stay with you guys!! Thank you. 

• Everything was fantastic, and this program is an asset to our community.  



 Appendix II Early Literacy 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

35 
 

Appendix II Early Literacy 
Figure 1: Raising A Reader, Participation by Age 2017-18 to 2019-20 

 
 
Table 1: First Book Distribution  

Program Number of Books 
Home Visiting & Peapod 600 

Health & Safety Fairs 168 
Total  768  

 

  

63

52

43

174

125

84

237

177

127

0 50 100 150 200 250

FY 2017-18 N=237

FY 2018-19 N=177

FY 2019-20 N=127

Total Children Children 3 to 5 Children 0 to 3



 Appendix II Early Literacy 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

35 
 

Appendix III Peapod Playgroups
 
Table 1: Families Served by Location 2017-18 to 2019-20, includes duplicates between locations 

Playgroup Location FY 17-18 FY 18-19 
 

FY 19-20 
Benton/Chalfant 2 3 4 

Bridgeport 12 21 12 
Crowley Lake 45 38 10 

Lee Vining/ June Lake 0 3 0 
Mammoth English 55 

38 
(bilingual) 

  
42 

(bilingual) 
 

Mammoth Spanish 4 

Walker 4 15           8 

Total 122 118 76 

 

Table 2: Surveys, n=13 

 

 
 

4.6

4.8

4.9

4.8

5.0

5.0

5.0

5.0

4.5

4.2

3.9

4.0

0.0 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 6.0

Met my expectations for a playgroup

Was a helpful forum for talking about parenting

Addressed my family's needs and interests

Introduced helpful resources

Was knowledgeable and well prepared

Answered questions and suggested resources

Facilitated children's play

Facilitated parent interaction

I would feel comfortable with seeking mental health care if I felt like
I needed some help.

I know where to get mental health care in my community.

I know how to go about getting mental health care in my
community.

I know about some of the mental health issues common to families
with young kids.



 Appendix II Early Literacy 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

36 
 

Table 3: Survey Demographics (numbers differ between categories 
as not all surveys answered all questions) n=13: 
 
Race/ethnicity White: 12 

Hispanic: 1 
Language English 13 

Spanish 1 (also checked English) 
Age 16-25: 1 

26-40: 9 
41-59: 2 
60+: 1 

Sex Female: 12 
Male: 1 

 
 
Parent Survey Comments: 

• Playing and sharing   
• Songs, Kids, Learning to play together, practice sharing, talking w/ parents, 

Spanish and parachute. 
• Parent interactions, singing songs 
• Social interactions for kids. 
• Great interaction for kids with other kids. Great selection of play toys and learning activities.  
• Great songs and parent time too. 
• Parent and children interaction. 
• Regular place to go with routine. 
• Great Toys 
• Free play, songs, safety 
• Attendance, toys, free play 
• Socialization for my daughter 

Parent Suggestions: 
• Peapods are great. We love coming to them. 
• Keep going, year around 
• Music 
• None, we love Peapod 
• More of the same.  More baby signs. 
• Maybe longer playgroups - 1 hour goes fast 
• Musical tools for songs to spark interest. 
• More outreach, bring in more children  

 

  



 Appendix IV Childcare Quality 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

35 
 

Appendix IV, Childcare Quality 
• Interactions between teachers and children 
• How teachers meet and support the 

developmental needs of children 

• The health and safety of the classroom 
• Staff qualifications and training 
• Group size, number of children per teacher  

 
                 

2019-20 Mono Alpine Rated Childcare & Education Sites 
participating sites opting to be rated 

 

 
• Lee Vining IMACA Head Start/ State Preschool 

 

 

• Coleville IMACA State Preschool 
• Edna Beaman Elementary Preschool 
• Kindred Spirits 
• Mammoth IMACA Head Start/ State Preschool 
• Mammoth Lakes Lutheran Preschool 
• Mammoth Kids Corner 
• Mountain Warfare training Center Child Development 

Center 
• Alpine Early Learning Center (Alpine County) 

TBD 
Ratings were not completed 
due to COVID 19 restrictions 

• MCOE Inclusive Preschool 
• Maria Garcia Family Childcare 

 

  

Highest Quality 

Exceeding Quality 



Appendix V Child Health 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

36 
 

Appendix V Child Health 
 

Table 1: Oral Health Services Provided 
 

Oral Health Education Fluoride Varnish 

FY 2019-20 Total 12 9 

FY 2018-19 Total 114 114 
FY 2017-18 Total 102 155 

 

Table 2: Safe Kids Activities 

County-Wide Birth to 5 Health & Safety Fairs were cancelled due to COVID 19 
Car seat checks at Mammoth Lakes Police Department and Helmet distribution at State Farm 

continued. 
 

 

  



Appendix VI Results and Indicators 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

37 
 

Appendix VI Results and Indicators 
Quick Look: 3 Year Trend (indicator numbers refer to pages 45-47) 

% of indicators Trend Indicator 
 
 
 
 

        72%  

 • 1 Peapod satisfaction 
• 3 Children in home visiting 
• 4 Children screened for developmental delay 
• 5 Children in high quality childcare 
• 7 Childcare spaces 
• 8 Incoming kindergartners who attended preschool* 
• 9 Children ready for school 
• 10 Families who attended kindergarten round up 
• 11 Literacy program participation 
• 13 Kindergartners assessed at entry 
• 14 Breastfeeding successful* 

 
 • 18 Kindergartners with untreated dental problems *   

 
 • 14 Parenting education participation* 

 

 
        28% 

 • 2 Infants in Home Visiting 
• 6 Childcare provider permit attainment 
• 12 Preschool slots 
• 16 Expected BMI* 
• 17 Annual dental screening* 
 

*Less than 60% reporting rate 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  



Appendix VI Results and Indicators 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

38 
 

 

Result I:  Mono County children 0-5 are educated to their greatest potential. 
 

Indicator Investment 
area  2017-18 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-20 

1. Peapod survey data yields 100% 
satisfaction or an average of 4-5 on 
a scale of 1-5 that the playgroup 
met participant expectations 

Family 
Behavioral 

Health 
 

 
New 

Indicators 

Yes 

 
 

Yes 

2. Number and percent of children 
prenatal to age 1 whose parents 
accessed Home Visiting Home 

Visiting 
 

66% 

 

 
48, 35% 

3. Number and percent of children 
prenatal to age 5 whose parents 
accessed Home Visiting. 22% 

 

 
207, 30% 

4. Number and percent of children 6 
months to 5 years old screened for 
developmental delays.  

Home 
Visiting & 
Childcare 

Quality 

29% 35% 

  

 
232, 33% 

5. Number and percent of children 
served in home childcare settings 
and childcare centers that exhibit 
moderate to high quality as 
measured by a quality index.  

Childcare 
Quality 

 
13% 

 
28% 

  

 
 

127, 25% 

6. Number and percent of licensed 
child care providers in Mono 
County advancing on the Child 
Development Permit Matrix.   

4% 0 

  

 
0 

7. Number and percent of licensed 
center and family child care spaces 
per 100 children.  

37% 47% 
  

 
322, 46% 

Sources: 
1. Peapod Program Parent Surveys 
2. Home Visiting Participation 48/ 137 Department of Finance 2019 Birth projection from January 2020 
3. Home Visiting Participation 207/ 693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County  
4. Children in commission-run programs who received a developmental screening—Home Visiting (59) & children in child 

care programs participating in quality programs (173) 232/ 693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono 
County (67% reporting rate as 466 of the 693 birth-5 population is enrolled in home visiting, playgroups, or with a provider 
who participates in the Childcare Quality System, includes duplication). Screened is defined as a completed evidence and 
research-based formal screening tool like the Ages and Stages Questionnaire. While overall population screening rates 
declined, Home Visiting and Childcare Quality both increased rates of screening. 

5. Children served at sites with a rating of 3 or higher 127/ 693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County 
(100% reporting rate) 

6. Childcare Quality System data 0 of 32 participating providers (88% reporting rate, the percent of sites participating in the 
Childcare Quality System) 

7. Number of  licensed child care spaces available to Mono County children birth-5 on the IMACA Resource and Referral list, 
322 /693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County (100% reporting rate) 



Appendix VI Results and Indicators 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

39 
 

 

Result I continued:  Mono County children 0-5 are educated to their greatest potential. 
Indicator Investment 

area 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

8. Number and percent of children who have ever 
attended a preschool, Pre-K, or Head Start 
program by the time of Kindergarten entry. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
School 

Readiness 

     
  66% 

 

   
   
76% 

 
 
 52, 87%* 

9. Number and percent of children “ready for 
school” upon entering Kindergarten. 

 
49% 

 
51% 

 
77, 65% 

10. Number and percent of children whose parents 
attended Kindergarten and TK Round Up. 

 
54% 

 
73% 

 
98, 82% 

11. Number and percent of children birth to 5 
accessing funded literacy activities.  

    New 
Indicators 

 
47% 

 
334, 48% 

12. Number and percentage of age-eligible children 
for whom a preschool slot is available. 

 
51%** 

 
119, 43%  

13. Number and percent of entering Kindergartners 
assessed for school readiness at entry. 

 
100% 

 
 98% 

 
117, 98% 

14. Number and percent of children in households 
where parents and other family members are 
receiving child-development and parenting 
education. 

Home 
Visiting & 

Family 
Behavioral 

Health 

    
 
    
    44% 

 
 

 
 40% 

 
 
 

304, 44%* 

* Under 60% reporting rate 
**updated from last year to reflect the number of preschool specific slots rather than all possible slots for preschool aged children. 
 
Sources: 
8. Incoming Kindergarten Parent Surveys indicating enrollment in preschool or pre-K--52/60 surveys. The reporting rate 

is 50%, 60/120 kindergarten students. 
9. In-kindergarten Brigance screens of students assessed as within the typical range and above the gifted cutoff 77/117 

assessed. 98% reporting rate 117 /120 kindergarten students. Previous year’s reporting rates: 2017, 100%; 2018, 
98%. 

10. Children participating in Kindergarten and TK Round Up 87/120 number of children on the first day of kindergarten, 
school district data. 

11. Number of children enrolled in Raising a Reader (127) and or Home Visiting (207), includes duplicates 334/ 693 US 
Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County. 

12. The number of available preschool slots in the County based on the number of slots licensed to age-specific 3-4 year 
old classrooms 119/ 280-- Five-year Kinder and TK average (2014-2018) multiplied by 2 to get a projected number of 
3 & 4 year olds. The decrease from 18/19-19/20 represents the closing of Edna Beaman Elementary Preschool. 
 

13. Number of Brigance screens completed by the school district 117/ 120 kindergarten students. 
14. Children in commission-run programs with child-development education components (Home Visiting 207 and 

Peapod 97) 304/ 693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County. 44% reporting rate, as data is 
limited to commission run programs to ensure an unduplicated count. 

 



Appendix VI Results and Indicators 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

40 
 

Result II:  All Mono County children 0-5 are healthy. 
 

Indicator 
 

Investment Area 
 

2017-18 
   

2018-19 
 
2019-20 

15. Number and percent of children 
where breastfeeding is successfully 
initiated and sustained.  

 
Home Visiting 

Not 
available  86% 78, 89%* 

16. Number and percent of children 0 to 
5 years of age who are in the 
expected range of weight for their 
height and age, or BMI.       

Not 
available  81% 277, 76%* 

17. Number and percent of children ages 
1 or older who receive annual dental 
screenings. 

Oral Health 

 
 

59% 
 

 
51% 

 
294, 42%* 

18. Number and percent of children at 
Kindergarten entry with untreated 
dental problems.  

30% 33% 9, 10%* 

*Under 60% reporting rate. To move to population-based data for a higher reporting rate, research suggests would 
mean a shift to considering only prenatal indicators. 
 
Sources: 
15. Sierra Park Pediatrics number of Mono County children still breastfed at visits to pediatrics up to 1 month of age. 

Children seen up to 1 month 78/ 90 patients. 57% reporting rate, 78/137 births in 2019 Department of Finance 
projection January 2020. 2017-18 data not able to be collected due to a change in record keeping at Mammoth 
Hospital. 

 
16. Sierra Park Pediatrics number of Mono County 2-5 year olds seen in 2018-19 within the expected range of weight 

and height 277 of 366 patients. 53% reporting rate, 366 patients/693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in 
Mono County. 2017-18 data not able to be collected due to a change in record keeping at the hospital. 

 
17.  Number of children 1 year to 5.99 years old seen annually for a screening in the Mammoth Hospital Dental Clinic 

294/693 US Census population estimate children 0-5 in Mono County. 45% reporting rate, clients seen at Mammoth 
Hospital Dental Clinic 318/ 693 Census estimated children 0-5. Note: the number of patients in the age range 
declined by 134 clients (from 452 to 318) between FY 2017-18 and FY 2019-20. 

 
18. Oral Health Assessments turned into the school indicating untreated dental problems 9/108 completed oral health 

assessments. 87% reporting rate from the SCOHR school reporting system oral health assessments 108/ /124.

  



Appendix VII Fiscal Overview 
First 5 Mono 2019-20 Evaluation Report 

41 
 

Appendix VII Fiscal Overview 
 

Revenue  Amount 
Prop. 10 Tax Revenue  $76,204 
Small County Augmentation  $250,748 
Prop 56 apportionment $22,885 
Mono County Home Visiting $150,000 
CalWORKS HVI $6,830 
SMIF (Surplus Money Investment Fund)  $343 
Mono County Social Services CAPIT (High 
Needs Home Visiting)  

$32,257 

IMPACT  $83,799 
Region 6 T&TA Hub  $178,351 
CDBG Administration  $7,951 
CDBG  $195,384 
CDE State Preschool Block Grant $17,039 
Equitable Learning Opportunities  $23,217 
Mono County Behavioral Health Peapod 
Program 

$35,807 

Miscellaneous  $26,016 
Interest on Mono County First 5 Trust Fund  $12,257 
Total Revenue  $1,119,088 
Expense  Amount % of 

Expenditures 
% of 
Discretionary 
Funds 

5-year Strategic Plan 
% of Discretionary 
Funds 

Home Visiting  $324,789  30% 37% 33% 
Childcare Quality   $536,836  49% 1% 3% 
Emergency Fund $25,850  2% 7% - 
Operations/Support/Evaluation $68,312  6% 19% 39% 
Oral Health  $7,412  1% 2% 1% 
Peapod  $36,507  3% 0% 0 
Safe Kids Coalition  $7,000  1% 2% 2% 
School Readiness  $49,241  5% 14% 22% 
Systems Building $29,172  3% 8% - 
Total Expenses  $1,085,119  

Total Revenue  $1,119,088  
Net Revenue  $33,969 

Fund Balance Amount 

Fund Balance Beginning $557,717 
Fund Balance End $591,686 
Net Change in Fund Balance $33,969 

 



The 2019 California Child Care Portfolio, the 12th edition of a biennial report, presents a unique portrait of child care supply, demand, and 

cost statewide and county by county, as well as data regarding employment, poverty, and family budgets. The child care data in this report 

was gathered with the assistance of local child care resource and referral programs (R&Rs). R&Rs work daily to help parents find child care that 

best suits their family and economic needs. They also work to build and support the delivery of high-quality child care services in diverse 

settings throughout the state. To access the full report summary and county pages, go to our website at www.rrnetwork.org.

Family & Child Data

CHILD CARE AND FAMILY BUDGETS4, 8

Income Eligible Family Without Subsidy5 Income Eligible Family With Subsidy5 Median Family Income2

The 2019 Child Care Portfolio is produced by the California Child Care Resource & Referral Network | (415) 882-0234 www.rrnetwork.org

*Due to the availability of data in the U.S. Census Bureau’s ACS, these numbers do not include unmarried two-parent families or families with same-sex parents

FAMILIES IN 
POVERTY 
IN 20182

COUNTY STATE

7% 14%

POVERTY2 COUNTY STATE
2016 2018 CHANGE 2016 2018 CHANGE

Number of people living in 
poverty

684 1,378 101% 5,525,524 4,969,326 -10%

Children 0-5 living in poverty 95 114 20% 608,247 499,726 -18%

Children in subsidized care3 112 121 8% 315,100 337,264 7%

LABOR FORCE2* COUNTY STATE
2016 2018 CHANGE 2016 2018 CHANGE

Two-parent families, both 
parents in labor force

474 430 -9% 1,667,628 1,673,759 0.4%

Single-parent families, parent in 
labor force

280 176 -37% 966,506 957,871 -1%

PEOPLE1 COUNTY STATE
2016 2018 CHANGE 2016 2018 CHANGE

Total number of residents 13,785 13,887 1% 39,354,432 39,864,538 1%

Number of children 0-12 2,069 2,001 -3% 6,631,621 6,578,476 -1%

    Under 2 years 287 274 -5% 982,688 941,215 -4%

2 years 149 133 -11% 498,782 489,567 -2%

3 years 126 152 21% 503,064 503,509 0.1%

4 years 138 150 9% 503,461 503,657 0.04%

5 years 144 133 -8% 518,282 506,494 -2%

6-10 years 861 807 -6% 2,596,934 2,576,958 -1%

11-12 years 364 352 -3% 1,028,410 1,057,076 3%

Mono County

$54,027 Annual Income $54,027 Annual Income

Housing
Preschooler 

Infant/toddler All other 
family needs

Housing All other 
family needs

Family Fee Housing
Preschooler 

Infant/toddler All other 
family needs

29% 18% 22% 31% 29%

10
% 61% 17%

11
%

13
% 58%

$90,347 Annual Income



Child Care Data

The 2019 Child Care Portfolio is produced by the California Child Care Resource & Referral Network | (415) 882-0234 www.rrnetwork.org

AGE/TYPE

SCHEDULE AND COST

LANGUAGE

1. CA Department of Finance Population Projections 2018
2. American Community Survey 2018 1-year estimates. Poverty is defined   
 using the federal poverty guidelines.
3. CA Department of Education CDD 801-A October 2018, CA Department 
    of Social Services CW115, October 2018
4. U.S. Housing and Urban Development rent for 2-bedroom 50th percentile
5. 70% of 2018 State Median Income for a family of three 
6. Resource and referral (R&R) databases 2019
7. R&R child care referrals April/May/June 2019
8. 2018 Regional Market Rate Survey, Network estimate
9. Percentages may exceed 100% when multiple options are chosen

For more information about child care in

CHILD CARE SUPPLY6
LICENSED CHILD CARE CENTERS LICENSED FAMILY CHILD CARE HOMES

2017 2019 CHANGE 2017 2019 CHANGE

Total number of spaces 234 234 0% 114  100 -12%

    Under 2 years 36 36 0%

    2-5 years 198 198 0%

    6 years and older 0 0 0%

Total number of sites 9 9 0% 12  11 -8%

56% Child care centers with one or more federal/
state/local contracts25% Child care programs participating in the Child 

Care Food Program

CHILD CARE SUPPLY
LICENSED 

CHILD CARE CENTERS
LICENSED FAMILY 

CHILD CARE HOMES

Full-time and part-time spaces 100% 92%

Only full-time slots 0% 8%

Only part-time slots 0% 0%

Sites offering evening, weekend or overnight care 22% 55%

Annual full-time infant care8 $13,231 $12,028

Annual full-time preschool care8 $9,733 $11,138

CHILD CARE REQUESTS7

Under 2 years 27%

2-5 years 50%

6 years and older 23%

REQUESTS FOR CARE DURING 
NONTRADITIONAL HOURS

Evening / weekend 
/ overnight care 8%

CHILD CARE REQUESTS

AGES FULL-TIME

Under 2 years 100%

2 years 0%

3 years 100%

4 years 100%

5 years 0%

MAJOR REASONS FAMILIES SEEK CHILD CARE9

95% Employment 9% Parent seeking employment 5% Parent in school or training

LANGUAGE SPOKEN AT HOME

English only 75%

Spanish 22%

Asian/Pacific Island language 2%

Another language 2%

FAMILY CHILD CARE PROVIDERS SPEAKING THE FOLLOWING LANGUAGES9

Spanish 64%, English 55%

CENTERS WITH AT LEAST ONE STAFF SPEAKING THE FOLLOWING LANGUAGES9

English 100%, Spanish 33%

Mono County

MONO COUNTY:

IMACA Community Connections for Children
800-317-4700

www.imaca.net



FY 2019-20
EVALUATION REPORT

PRESENTATION

1

Our goal is to enhance the network of support 
services for families with children ages 0 to 5 years.



Overview

The California Children and Families Act (also known as Proposition 10 or 
“First 5”) was enacted in 1998, increasing taxes on tobacco products to 
provide funding for services to promote early childhood development 
from prenatal to age 5.  Mono County currently receives approximately 
$350,000 from annual allocations and the Small Population County 
Funding Augmentation. 

The Mono County Children and Families Commission, First 5 Mono, was 
created in 1999 by the Mono County Board of Supervisors to: 

• Evaluate the current and projected needs of children birth to five 
years old

• Develop a strategic plan describing how to address community 
needs. 

• Determine how to expend local First 5 resources. 

• Evaluate the effectiveness of funded programs and activities.

2

2



How many kids were served?

30%

2%

51%

14%

18%

2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Home Visiting CDBG Preschools Childcare
Quality System

Peapod
Playgroups

Raising a Reader Oral Health

3

Percent of the 0-5 Population Served by First 5 Funded Program



Where do the families served 
live?

0%

74%

3%

13%
11%

1%

68%

11%
6%

15%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Benton Mammoth Lakes Lee Vining Bridgeport Coleville

Home Visiting Kindergarten Cohort

4

Area of Residence Comparison:  New Families in Home Visiting 
(n=76) and the Kindergarten Cohort (n=120)



Emergency Fund & COVID 
Response

 The Commission formed an Emergency Fund policy and 
allocated resources to: Mammoth Lakes Housing for rent 
support for the families of children 0-5 and Inyo Mono 
Advocates for Community Action (IMACA) to pay for their 
facility in Mammoth Lakes due to the sudden loss of Head Start 
Funding.

 Partnered with IMACA to receive Personal Protective 
Equipment from First 5 California and distribute it to Childcare 
Providers and families with young children free of charge.

 Partnered with Childcare Providers, Mono County Public 
Health, Mono County Office of Education, and IMACA to 
develop Childcare COVID guidance.

 Supported utility payments or grocery cards for families in 
Welcome Baby and Healthy Families (Home 
Visiting)experiencing the impacts of COVID.

5



Systems Building

 Ensured consideration of the birth to 5 population at the regular 
meetings of: the Mono County Childcare and Child Abuse 
Prevention Councils.

 Sought partners to develop a plan and funding source for a new 
childcare site in Mammoth Lakes.

 Explored options to expand the Mono County CDBG Childcare 
Program.

 Completed CDBG application through Mono County for the 
Bridgeport Preschool.

 Partnered with the First 5 Association as an Executive Committee 
member and leadership of the North East Region.

 Participated in advocacy by signing letters supported by the First 5 
Association.

 Served on the MCOE Cabinet after the COVID pandemic began.

6



Programs and 
Evaluation

IMPROVED FAMILY 
FUNCTIONING

Home Visiting

IMPROVED CHILD 
DEVELOPMENT

School Readiness

Family Behavioral Health

Childcare Quality

IMPROVED CHILD HEALTH
Oral Health

Child Safety

7



Improved Family Functioning
Home Visiting

The 2018-19 investment in Welcome Baby and Healthy Families 
was $324,789
Program objectives include:

 Facilitate parents’ role as their child’s first and most important teacher 

 Provide information on typical child development 

 Stimulate child development by providing age-appropriate activities 

 Increase and support breastfeeding and literacy activities 

 Link families to community services and support access to services 

 Conduct developmental screenings and refer families to early intervention 
programs

 Provide culturally competent services in Spanish and English 

 Facilitate optimal family functioning 

 Decrease child abuse and neglect 

8

8



Home Visiting: Key Takeaways
Improved Family Functioning

 Program quality increased by offering evidence-
based visits thanks to increased funding from Mono 
County.

 More families were served and more visits provided 
than last year.

 More families with multiple stressors were served 
than last year.

 A higher proportion of Hispanic families were served 
than the 0-17 population in the County.

9



School Readiness: Transition to School and Early Literacy
Improved Child Development

The FY 2019-20 investment in School Readiness was $49,241

10

10

Transition to School Programs
Kindergarten Round Up: informational meeting held at all public 
elementary schools in the County

Objectives:
o Introduce families and children to the school, teachers, 

principal, and each other
o Provide information on entering school and kindergarten 

readiness
o Facilitate children and families’ smooth transition into the 

education system
o Enroll children in kindergarten 
o Sign children up for Summer Bridge

Incoming Kindergarten Assessments: school readiness 
assessments conducted by teachers in the first month of school

Objectives:
o Assess students’ school readiness
o Identify children’s skill development needs 

Early Literacy Programs

Raising A Reader: book bags distributed by libraries and early 
learning programs

Objectives:
o Increase literacy for young children
o Encourage use of the library system
o Increase parental and care-provider literacy activities

First Book: free children’s books
Objectives:

o Increase parent-child literacy activities
Facilitate positive parent-child interaction



Kindergartners Assessed as School Ready 
by District 2017-2019
School Readiness, Improved Child Development

11

11

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Mammoth Unified School
District

Eastern Sierra Unified School
District

Mono County

48% 48%

68%

50%
60% 60%

49% 51%
65%

Data source: Brigance assessments completed within first 1.5 months of school
96%-100% assessment rate 2017-2019 for districts



Percent of Kindergartners Assessed as 
School Ready by Program participation 2019
School Readiness, Improved Child Development

69%
61%

81%

38%

71%
79%

92%
100%

60%
67%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Playgroups n-12 CA State Preschools n=18
Other PreK Care/Preschools n=16 Summer Bridge n=23
Raising A Reader n=25 Story Time n-14
Home Visiting n-14 Early Intervention n=1
No participation n=8 Footsteps to Brilliance n=3

Baseline: 
65%
Countywide 
School 
Readiness

Activity participation data source: parent surveys completed at kindergarten entry
School readiness data source: Brigance screening at kindergarten entry
n=60, 50% of the K class

* duplicates inlcuded,  children reported as participating in multiple programs are counted in each activity

12

12



School Readiness: Key 
Takeaways
Improved Child Development

 After many years of around 50% readiness, the rate 
increased to 65%.

 Children who participate in First 5 funded programs 
are more school ready.

 More families participated in transition to school 
activities than last year

13



Family Behavioral Health

The FY 19-20 investment in Family Behavioral Health was $36,507.
Peapod Playgroups: For parents, caregivers, and children birth to 5 years 
old. Playgroups meet for 10-week sessions. Sessions were held in the 
following communities: Walker, Bridgeport, Mammoth Lakes, Crowley 
Lake, Lee Vining, June Lake and Chalfant/Benton.
Objectives:
 Decrease isolation by providing parents and children an opportunity 

to socialize
 Destigmatize seeking behavioral health services
 Link families to community services
 Encourage school readiness and early literacy.

14

14



Peapod Paly groups: Key 
Takeaways
Improved Child Development

 The families who participate continue to enjoy 
Peapod Playgroups

 Although more playgroups were offered, less 
families were served in-person than last year. Online 
participation was not counted since we don’t have 
the data to know who participants were. Typically, 
Facebook groups enjoy about 40 views, Zoom 
groups generally have only a couple participants.

15



Childcare Quality

The Childcare Quality investment for FY 2019-20 was $536,836.
The objectives and a brief description for the programs funded in this category are as follows:

 IMPACT: Training, coaching, rating, stipends, and support for childcare providers for the provision of high-quality care.
Objectives:

o Provide site-specific professional development to child care providers.
o Support providers’ implementation of developmental screenings and parent engagement activities
o Build public awareness and support for quality early care 
o Build a Childcare Quality System that leverages funding and maximizes support for care providers

 QRIS and CSPP QRIS Block Grants: Support for state preschool sites and sites serving infants and toddlers. 
Objectives:

o Provide site-specific professional development to child care providers
o Support provider understanding of quality care and education

 Training and Technical Assistance Hub: Support regional efficiencies in Childcare Quality work
Objectives: 

o Provide assessors for Spanish speaking sites
o Contract with Viva for coordination for the Hub
o Contract with i-Pinwheel database to track sites’ participation
o Contract with American Institute of Research for the Early Learning Needs Assessment Tool (ELNAT) database to analyze child 

data to determine need.

 CDBG Childcare: Provide high-quality care to preschool age children in Bridgeport. 

16

16



Childcare Quality: Rating Definition

Rating is based on the 
following set of California 
State standards known to 
promote high-quality 
early learning for kids. 

 Interactions between 
teachers and 
children

 How teachers meet 
and support the 
developmental 
needs of children

 The health and safety 
of the classroom

 Staff qualifications 
and training

 Group size, number 
of children per 
teacher 

20

17



Childcare Quality: Ratings
Participating sites opting to be rated

21

18

Mono County Childcare Quality Ratings 2019-20

Highest Quality • Lee Vining IMACA Head Start/ State Preschool

Exceeding Quality
• Coleville IMACA State Preschool
• Edna Beaman Elementary Preschool
• Kindred Spirits
• Mammoth IMACA Head Start/ State Preschool
• Mammoth Lakes Lutheran Preschool
• Mammoth Kids Corner
• Mountain Warfare training Center Child Development Center
• Alpine Early Learning Center (Alpine County)

TBD
Ratings were not completed 
due to COVID 19 restrictions

• MCOE Inclusive Preschool
• Maria Garcia Family Childcare



Childcare Quality: Key 
Takeaways

 This program has grown in the last several years to 
be able to rate sites, offer coaching, and provide 
home visits.

 At 87%, Mono has one of the highest rates of 
participation in the State.

 In the last several years sites have increased their 
ability to screen children for developmental delays 
and refer to special needs programs if needed.

 Lee Vining Preschool became the first site in Mono 
with the highest rating, 5.

22



Child Health: Oral Health & Safety

Oral Health was funded and operated by First 5 Mono at a 
cost of $7,412 for FY 2019-20. The program provides free 
toothbrushes, toothpaste, and floss to families to help 
maintain oral health.

Objective: Provide application of topical fluoride 
varnish twice a year to all Mono County children age 1-
5 not already receiving services from a dentist, and 
educate children and parents about oral health. 

Child Safety: With combined funding from Small County 
Funding Augmentations, $7,000, and the Mono County 
Office of Education, the Mono County Office of Education 
coordinates Safe Kids California, Mono Partners.

Objective: Bring safety services & resources to families

23

20



Child Health Key Takeaways

 Safe Kids partners provided car seat checks, bike 
helmets, home safety kits, and other resources to 
families.

 Health and Safety Fairs were cancelled due to 
COVID

 Children were able to get topical Fluoride Varnish 
through their preschool or childcare provider.

21



Outcome Indicators 
3 Year Trend

% of indicators Trend Indicator

72% 

1 Peapod satisfaction
3 Children in home visiting
4 Children screened for developmental delay
5 Children in high quality childcare
7 Childcare spaces
8 Incoming kindergartners who attended preschool*
9 Children ready for school
10 Families who attended kindergarten round up
11 Literacy program participation
13 Kindergartners assessed at entry
14 Breastfeeding successful*

18 Kindergartners with untreated dental problems *  

14 Parenting education participation*

28%
2 Infants in Home Visiting
6 Childcare provider permit attainment
12 Preschool slots
16 Expected BMI*
17 Annual dental screening*

22

*Less than 60% reporting rate



Fiscal 
Overview

23
Revenue Amount

Prop. 10 Tax Revenue $76,204
Small County Augmentation $250,748
Prop 56 apportionment $22,885
Mono County Home Visiting $150,000
CalWORKS HVI $6,830
SMIF (Surplus Money Investment Fund) $343
Mono County Social Services CAPIT (High Needs 
Home Visiting) 

$32,257

IMPACT $83,799
Region 6 T&TA Hub $178,351
CDBG Administration $7,951
CDBG $195,384
CDE State Preschool Block Grant $17,039
Equitable Learning Opportunities $23,217
Mono County Behavioral Health Peapod Program $35,807

Miscellaneous $26,016
Interest on Mono County First 5 Trust Fund $12,257
Total Revenue $1,119,088
Expense Amount % of 

Expenditures
% of 
Discretionary 
Funds

5-year Strategic 
Plan % of 
Discretionary Funds

Home Visiting $324,789 30% 37% 33%
Childcare Quality  $536,836 49% 1% 3%
Emergency Fund $25,850 2% 7% -
Operations/Support/Evaluation $68,312 6% 19% 39%
Oral Health $7,412 1% 2% 1%
Peapod $36,507 3% 0% 0
Safe Kids Coalition $7,000 1% 2% 2%
School Readiness $49,241 5% 14% 22%
Systems Building $29,172 3% 8% -



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Finance
TIME REQUIRED 20 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Patricia Robertson, Mammoth Lakes
Housing Executive DirectorSUBJECT Revolving Loan Update

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Mammoth Lakes Housing has utilized the Mono County Revolving Loan Fund for a total of five (5) purchases of deed-
restricted properties between September 26, 2017 and December 31, 2019.  There have been no new loans issued since

December 2019. There is one outstanding loan that received a 6- month extension for Unit H101 located on 550 Mono
Street.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

(1)   Receive presentation and update from Mammoth Lakes Housing (“MLH”) staff on use of Mono County Revolving Loan
Fund (Affordable Housing) (“RLF”) as required by Resolution Nos. 15-8, 17-86 and 20-104; 
(2)   Receive update on use of RLF funds to purchase affordable/deed-restricted housing and compliance with RLF
program requirements; and 
(3)   Provide any desired direction to staff.  

FISCAL IMPACT:
Interest continues to accrue for outstanding loan which now supports affordable housing activities.

CONTACT NAME: Megan Mahaffey

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-924-1836 / mmahaffey@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report RLF

 Property pictures

 Financial Information

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24914&ItemID=13073

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24912&ItemID=13073

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24959&ItemID=13073


 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/10/2021 9:56 AM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:46 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 
AUDITOR-CONTROLLER 
COUNTY OF MONO 

 
   

Kim Bunn 
Assistant Finance Director 
Auditor-Controller 

Janet Dutcher, CPA, CGFM, MPA 
Director of Finance 

Gerald Frank 
Assistant Finance Director 

Treasurer-Tax Collector 

 

TO:  Mono County Board of Supervisors 
 
FROM:  Janet Dutcher, Finance Director 
  Megan Mahaffey, Accountant 
  Patricia Robertson, Mammoth Lakes Housing Executive Director 
 
DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
RE:  Mono County Revolving Loan Fund (Affordable Housing) Presentation and Update 
 
 
Recommended Actions 

(1) Receive presentation and update from Mammoth Lakes Housing (“MLH”) staff on use of Mono 
County Revolving Loan Fund (Affordable Housing) (“RLF”) as required by Resolution Nos. 15-
8, 17-86 and 20-104; 

(2) Receive update on use of RLF funds to purchase affordable/deed-restricted housing and 
compliance with RLF program requirements; and 

(3) Provide any desired direction to staff. 
 
Fiscal Impact 

None at this time. 
 
Strategic Plan 

The RLF program moves Mono County towards the Mono County Strategic Plan by enhancing quality of life 
for county residents by addressing the housing crisis through policy, assistance and development programs.  
 
Background 

MLH has utilized the RLF for a total of five (5) purchases of deed-restricted properties between September 
26, 2017 and December 31, 2019.  There is one outstanding loan that received a 6- month extension for Unit 
H101 located on 550 Mono Street. 
 
Discussion 

The Revolving Loan fund continues to be a good partnership in preserving affordable homeownership 
opportunities. The most recent activity was the two loans issued at the end of 2019.  Both of the loans were 
used to purchase 3-bedroom, 2-bath units at Meridian Court, which is a complex in the Town of Mammoth 
Lakes that does not allow for long-term rentals.  Both units have a one-car garage and one surface parking 
space. The first purchase closed on November 22, 2019, located at 550 Mono Street Unit B202.  This unit 
received new carpet and paint, and other minor repairs.  The unit closed escrow and the loan was paid back 
with interest on October 26, 2020.  The unit was sold to an income-eligible household earning below 80% of 
the Area Median Income ($63,900 for a household of four).  The second loan was used for a purchase that 



Mono County Board of Supervisors 
RE: Mono County Revolving Loan Fund (Affordable Housing) Presentation and Update 
February 16, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 
 
closed escrow on December 18, 2019, on a home located at 550 Mono Street Unit H101.  This unit was 
occupied by long-term tenants who were unable to secure alternative housing during the holiday season.  A 
short-term lease was entered with the tenants through May 2020.  The tenants vacated the unit in June and 
repairs have been underway including new a window, new carpet, new keys, as well as repairs to luminant, 
drywall, doors and blinds. The unit will be sold to an income-eligible household earning below 120% of the 
Area Median Income ($97,450 for a household of four).   
 
Upon transfer to the new owners, resale restriction agreements will be executed and recorded.  These 
agreements preserve the affordability and below-market-rate value of the home for 60 years from the date of 
execution.  This is an asset to the community and region that helps to ensure there are quality homes 
affordable to members of the community and workforce. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this agenda item or staff report, please contact Megan Mahaffey at (760) 
924-1836 or mmahaffey@mono.ca.gov. 
 
 
 
Attachment: 

1. Photos of Meridian Court Units 
2. Financial Information 

 

mailto:mmahaffey@mono.ca.gov


Deed 
Restriction 

Stewardship 
in partnership 

with Mono 
County

through the 
RLF



Mono County 
made 2 RLF 
Loans in 2020 
to preserve 2 
affordable 
homes in the 
Town of 
Mammoth 
Lakes



550 Mono Street
Unit B202

UNIT #1

• 3 bedroom
• 2 bath
• 1 garage
• Restricted to 80% AMI
• $64,700 for family of 4





• New paint and carpet
• New dishwasher
• SOLD October 2020
• Household working in 

medical field



550 Mono Street
Unit H101
Unit #2
• New window

• New carpet

• New paint

• New keys

• Minor repairs: laminate, drywall, 
doors, blinds, etc.

• Available for households earning 
below 120% AMI

• $97,450 for a family of four

• 6-month loan extension through 
June 2021



Thank you for your partnership in persevering 
affordable homeownership opportunities!



Mono County RLF

SCHEDULE OF CASH TRANSACTIONS

Beginning 

Balance date

Transaction 

Amount

Ending 

balance Activity detail

300,000$               9/26/2017 (20,000)$       280,000$         Loan issued for home 

280,000$               9/30/2017 222$              280,222$         Interest

280,222$               11/14/2017 (220,000)$     60,222$           Loan issued for home 

60,222$                 12/11/2017 20,000$         80,222$           Loan repaid after 76 days

80,222$                 12/26/2017 220,000$       300,222$         Loan repaid after 42 days

300,222$               12/31/2017 517$              300,739$         Interest

300,739$               2/28/2018 (191,220)$     109,519$         Loan issued for home 

109,519$               3/31/2018 811$              110,330$         Interest 

110,330$               6/1/2018 191,200$       301,530$         Loan repaid after 94 days

301,530$               6/30/2018 719$              302,249$         Interest

302,249$               6/30/2018 (2,249)$          300,000$         transfer interest to GF

300,000$               11/21/2019 (196,000)$     104,000$         Loan issued for home 

300,000$               12/17/2019 (104,000)$     (0)$                    Loan issued for home 

‐$                            10/26/2020 196,000$       196,000$         Loan repaid after 340 days 

196,000$               1/1/2021 196,000$         Current Balance

SCHEDULE OF LOAN TRANSACTIONS

Loans Issued

Ending 

balance Days outstanding

61 Callahan Way, Unit 12, Door E2 20,000$         ‐$                      76 days

550 Mono Street, Unit A202 220,000         ‐                         42 days

550 Mono Street, Unit C101 191,220         ‐                         93 days 

550 Mono Street, Unit B202 196,000         340 days 

550 Mono Street, Unit H101  104,000         104,000           380 days as of January 1 2021

731,220$       104,000$        

RLF Quick facts

Creation: 11/17/15 R15‐81

Modified: 12/ 5/17 R17‐86

Interest to date 6,414$          

Average days for repayment: 176

Loans issued to date: 5

Property Address



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED 1 hour PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO, Bryan
Wheeler, Public Health DirectorSUBJECT COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Update

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Update on Countywide response and planning related to the COVID-19 pandemic, including reports from the Emergency
Operations Center (EOC), Unified Command (UC), and the various branches of the EOC, including Community Support and

Economic Recovery, Joint Information Center (JIC), and Public Health. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
None, informational only.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Robert C. Lawton

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5415 / rlawton@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:56 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:45 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:07 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 

javascript:history.go(0);


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED 10 minutes PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Justin Nalder, EOC Director

SUBJECT Mountain View Fire Update

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Update on the Mountain View Fire in Walker, California.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive update from Incident Command for the Mountain View Fire and involved staff regarding impacts of the fire, recovery
efforts, County response, debris removal and related topics. Provide any desired direction to staff.

FISCAL IMPACT:
No impact from this update.

CONTACT NAME: Justin Nalder

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5453 / jnalder@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:54 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 10:45 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);


OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Administration
TIME REQUIRED 1.5 hours PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO

SUBJECT Legislative Platform Workshop

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Workshop for the Board of Supervisors to review changes suggested by County departments for the 2021 Legislative
Platform

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make changes and recommendations for the 2021 Legislative Platform. Provide any desired direction to staff.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Rebecca Buccowich

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5408 / rbuccowich@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 2021 Legislative Platform (conformed)

 2021 Legislative Platform (redline)

History

Time Who Approval
2/12/2021 8:02 AM County Counsel Yes

2/12/2021 8:56 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:04 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24971&ItemID=12957

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24972&ItemID=12957


 
   

Mono County 
2021 State and Federal Legislative Platform 

Reviewed and adopted by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 
March 2, 2021 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 2  

Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Jennifer Kreitz...................................... District 1 

Rhonda Duggan.................................... District 2 

Bob Gardner ........................................ District 3 

John Peters .......................................... District 4 

Stacy Corless........................................ District 5 

   

 
Need Current 
Picture of BOS 

Robert C. Lawton 
County Administrative Officer 
PO Box 696 
Bridgeport, CA 93517 
Tel: (760) 932‐5415 
Email: rlawton@mono.ca.gov 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 3 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Guidelines for Implementation of this Platform .............................................................................................. 6 

State Priorities .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

1)  Protect County revenue sources ................................................................................................. 8 

2)  Encourage regulation relief/reform ............................................................................................ 8 

3)  Natural Resources, Public Lands and Agriculture ....................................................................... 9 

4)  Public Safety and Criminal Justice ............................................................................................. 12 

5)  Transportation and Infrastructure ............................................................................................ 13 

6)  Administrative and Fiscal Services ............................................................................................ 14 

7)  Health and Human Services ...................................................................................................... 15 

8)  Economic Development ............................................................................................................ 21 

Federal Priorities ............................................................................................................................................ 22 

1)  Support Funding/Program Preservation ................................................................................... 22 

2)  Natural Resources, Public Lands, and Agriculture .................................................................... 23 

3)  Public Safety and Criminal Justice ............................................................................................. 26 

4)  Transportation and Infrastructure ............................................................................................ 27 

5)  Health and Human Services ...................................................................................................... 28 

County Attractions ......................................................................................................................................... 33 

Elected State Representatives: ...................................................................................................................... 35 

Elected Federal Representatives: .................................................................................................................. 35 

   



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 4 

 

Introduction 

Mono County, California, is a rural county situated between the crest of the Sierra Nevada and 
the California/Nevada border. Accessed by US Highway 395 which weaves  its way north‐south 
and is a state‐designated Scenic Byway from its southern boundary all the way to Topaz Lake in 
the north, Mono County is 108 miles in length, and has an average width of only 38 miles. With 
dramatic mountain boundaries that rise  in elevation to over 13,000 feet, the county’s diverse 
landscape includes forests of Jeffrey and Lodgepole pine, juniper and aspen groves, hundreds of 
lakes, alpine meadows, streams and rivers, and sage‐covered high desert. The county has a land 
area of 3,030 square miles, or just over 2 million acres, 94% of which is publicly owned. Much of 
the land is contained in the Inyo and Humboldt‐Toiyabe National Forests, as well as the John Muir 
and Ansel Adams Wilderness areas. As a result, Mono County offers vast scenic and recreational 
resources, and has unsurpassed access to wilderness and outdoor recreation and adventure. 

The county is home to, and 
named after, Mono Lake, 
which is a large high‐desert 
saline lake with intriguing 
limestone tufa formations 
and is a vital habitat for 
millions of migratory and 
nesting birds. Mono Lake is 
just one of the reasons that 
Mono County draws 
landscape photographers 
year‐round. 

Another highlight is the historic gold rush town of Bodie, which during its heyday in the late 
1800s, was home to as many as 10,000 people, and is now maintained as a State Historic Park 
with about 200 buildings still standing 
as they were left, preserved in a state 
of “arrested decay” for visitors to 
enjoy. Other natural wonders that 
attract people to Mono County include 
Devils Postpile National Monument, 
one of the world’s finest examples of 
columnar basalt and the headwaters of 
the Owens and Middle Fork San Joaquin 
Rivers; two of the state’s most 
important watersheds. Yosemite 
National Park’s eastern entrance at 
Tioga Pass is only 12 miles from Lee 
Vining and Mono Lake. 

Mono County Tourism / Mono Lake Tufas 

Mono County Tourism / Bodie State Historic Park



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 5 

 

Mono County has several small towns and 
charming villages, each with its own scenic 
beauty, year‐round recreational 
opportunities, natural and historical 
attractions, and unique characteristics. The 
County seat is proudly located in 
Bridgeport, where the original 1881 
courthouse is the second oldest in the state 
to be in continuous use. The only 
incorporated town in the county is 
Mammoth Lakes, which is located at the 
base of world‐renowned Mammoth 
Mountain Ski Area, with a summit of 11,053 
feet, over 3500 skiable acres, 28 lifts, and an 
average of 400 inches of snowfall annually. 
For example, January 2017 recorded historic amounts of snow, with 20.5 feet accumulating in 
Mammoth during that month alone. Approximately 8,100 people reside in the Mammoth Lakes 
area year‐round, and during the peak winter season, the population swells to over 35,000 when 
visitors from around the state, country, and world come to ski, snowboard, and take part in many 
other winter activities. The sister resort, June Mountain, just 20 miles north of Mammoth, offers 
uncrowded, wide‐open slopes and a more peaceful, family‐friendly alternative to busier ski 
areas. 

Summer, however, is when Mono County really shines. The region offers countless miles of alpine 
hiking, superb trout fishing at dozens of well‐stocked lakes, streams and rivers, kayaking, 

cycling,  horseback  riding,  golfing, 
and  endless  warm‐weather 
adventures.  Photographers  flock  to 
the  county  in  September  and 
October when it is almost impossible 
to take a bad photo of the fall color 
that  lights  up  the  Eastern  Sierra 
landscape. Sunset Magazine named 
Mono  County  one  of  the  “Top  5 
places  to  Hike”  in  autumn  and 
TravelAndLeisure.com  listed  Mono 
County as one of “America’s Best Fall 
Color Drives. 

 
Mono County Tourism/Silver Lake 

 

A wide  variety  of  lodging,  restaurants,  and  shops  are  available  throughout  the  county,  and 
commercial air service to Mammoth Yosemite Airport, just a 10‐minute drive from the Town of 
Mammoth Lakes, is accessible non‐stop and year‐round from Los Angeles, and seasonally from 
many other airports. Air services are offered through United Airlines and JSX.

Mono County Tourism / Bridgeport Courthouse

Mono County Tourism / Silver Lake 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 6  

Guidelines for Implementation of this Platform 

It is the intention of the Board of Supervisors that this Legislative Platform streamline and 
support the County’s ability to comment on matters impacting the County and its citizens.  
Accordingly, any individual Board Member or Department Head, in consultation with the CAO 
and the Board Chair (unless consultation with the Chair would result in a violation of the Brown 
Act), may draft and submit a letter on behalf of the entire Board of Supervisors in support of or in 
opposition to an issue or matter addressed in this Legislative Platform, provided that the letter is 
consistent with the position expressed in this Platform.  Following its delivery or mailing, the 
letter shall be placed on the next available Board of Supervisors’ agenda as correspondence so 
that other Board Members, and the public, are aware of its contents. 

When a request for a letter in support of or in opposition to an issue or matter comes to the 
attention of a Department Head, the Department Head shall first consult this Legislative Platform 
for consistency with policy direction as described above.  If there is no clear policy direction in 
this Platform, but the subject of the letter is consistent with the goals and workplan of the county 
department, the Department Head shall draft the proposed letter and present it to the CAO for 
approval.  The CAO may additionally consult with the Board Chair in his or her discretion.  If the 
proposed letter is approved by the CAO, the Department Head may send the letter and, if the 
subject matter is of interest to the entire Board, place it on the next available Board of 
Supervisors’ agenda under correspondence.  If the proposed letter is not approved by the CAO, 
the Department Head may agendize it for consideration and possible approval by the full Board. 

The Mono County Board of Supervisors supports the general guidelines set forth below. County 
staff will apply these guidelines in evaluating State and Federal legislation, as well as executive 
and regulatory actions. It is the Board’s objective to implement these guidelines. 

To support the County’s service to the community, the County should: 

o Support legislative and budget efforts that protect and/or enhance local 
government revenues, maximize the County’s access to state and federal funding 
sources, including pandemic support and relief programs, and/or increase local 
funding flexibility; 

o Oppose any effort to balance the State budget through the taking of local 
government resources; 

o Support legislation that protects the County’s quality of life and diverse natural 
resources, while preserving the essence and historic values of the County; 

o Support legislation that provides tax and funding formulas for the equitable 
distribution of state and federal monies while opposing attempts to decrease, 
restrict, or eliminate County revenue sources; 

o Support legislation and budget action which provides additional and continued 
funding for local road infrastructure, including complete street features; 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 7  

o Oppose legislative and administrative actions which would create federal 
unfunded mandates and/or preempt local decision‐making authority; 

o Support legislation that realigns governmental services in such a manner as to 
improve the delivery of services and make government more accountable to the 
people; 

o Support the promotion of tourism, recreation, sustainable fisheries, filming, and a 
diversified local economy in the Eastern Sierra to achieve strong economic growth 
and prosperity; 

o Continue to support legislation that honors our veterans for their service to our 
country; 

o Support efforts that further the strategic directions outlined in the County’s 
Strategic Plan; 

o Engage on any proposals to repeal or additionally alter the Affordable Care Act 
(ACA), which provides Mono County citizens the ability to obtain affordable health 
care; 

o Support efforts to combat climate change; 

o Support legislation that seeks to address the insufficient quantity and quality of 
homes affordable to our residents; and 

o Support legislation that addresses the burgeoning substance use disorder crisis 
and increases access to Medication Assisted Treatment. 

o Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives 
requiring county involvement.  

o Support legislation that waives the local share of cost of all emergency response 
and disaster recovery activities.  

o Support funding for counties to provide for higher demands on critical recovery 
services. 

o Support local, regional, state, and federal initiatives and legislation that advance 
efforts to dismantle systemic racism and reduce inequity. 

   



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 8 

 

State Priorities 

1) Protect County revenue sources 

Many County programs are at risk due to the instability of State funding. The Board of 
Supervisors supports efforts to sustain funding, enabling the continuation of critical programs 
for Mono County’s constituents. 

2) Encourage regulation relief/reform 

Mono County applauds California’s efforts to protect the environment. The Board supports 
efforts to achieve responsible regulation relief in the following areas: 

a) Provide regulatory relief for solid waste operations 

i) Continue to provide regulatory relief to rural jurisdictions from statewide solid waste 
and recycling mandates when recycling infrastructure does not yet exist and causes 
significant transportation costs and emissions. 

ii) Provide funding for the siting and development of recycling infrastructure, and/or 
develop policies within state agencies and businesses such as Caltrans, Los Angeles 
Department of Water and Power and Southern California Edison for the local re‐use of 
materials (glass cullet, wood chips) when generated in rural areas. 

b) Support CARB compliance legislation 

Support legislation regarding California Air Resources Board (CARB) compliance to assist 
rural counties with the costs associated with State mandated compliance. 

c) Encourage communication between air districts especially as it relates to smoke 
management. 

d) Support environmental processing legislation 

Support legislation that streamlines environmental processing, including the application of 
certain urban exemptions under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) to rural 
communities. 

e) Support regulation of short‐term rental online platforms 

Online short‐term rental platforms are unregulated, leaving accountability and compliance 
issues to local jurisdictions. Mono County urges the legislature to support regulation of 
short‐term rentals to ensure an even playing field with traditional commercial lodging, 
require accountability, provide for tax collection, and support compliance at the state and 
local levels. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 9 

 

f) Ensure adequate oversight of state requirements for commercial cannabis activities, 
respect local CEQA processes for cannabis permits and encourage development of hemp 
regulations 

Mono County is concerned about the state’s allocation of resources for monitoring and 
inspection of commercial cannabis permits to ensure compliance with state requirements, 
particularly in rural areas like Mono County. Where oversight is delegated to local agencies, 
such as the Agricultural Commissioner, adequate funding should also be provided. Where 
oversight is retained by the state, state agency staff should have adequate on‐the‐ground 
presence to ensure accountability and compliance without increasing the burden on local 
jurisdiction staff. Further, the state should respect the CEQA process conducted by local 
jurisdictions serving as lead agencies, even if the state’s responsible agency role is not 
triggered, or assume lead agency status and conduct separate CEQA evaluations for the 
approval of state licenses. As with cannabis, state industrial hemp regulations are critical 
for local governments to craft local regulations that create a comprehensive set of rules to 
protect public health and safety while providing for the industry. Without state regulations, 
local jurisdictions are acting in a vacuum that may increase challenges due to 
uncoordinated or inconsistent requirements and approval processes. The state should 
continue working toward federally approved industrial hemp regulations. 

g) Continue to provide and increase funding for local jurisdictions to meet affordable 
housing goals 

In an effort to address affordable housing needs throughout the state, new housing laws 
are passed every year. Some carry new mandates that place a regulatory burden on local 
jurisdictions, and some simply require funding to implement. We encourage the State to 
continue providing new funding streams, such as SB 2 and the Regional Early Action 
Planning (REAP) grants program, as well as technical assistance programs, to assist local 
jurisdictions with meeting new mandates and working toward statewide and local housing 
goals. 

3) Natural Resources, Public Lands and Agriculture 

a) Support sustainable funding for State parks 

Continue to support measures to sustain our State parks, roads that access these parks, and 
recreation programs for the continued enjoyment of visitors and residents. Closure or 
underfunding of these parks would result in a significant negative economic impact on our 
County as tourism and recreation are our most important economic drivers. 

b) Protect our communities from wildfire and promote forest health 

Support a balanced approach to fuels management that increases funding and capacity for 
community protection and, also, considers air quality and other health related issues within 
the Great Basin Unified Air Pollution Control District. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 10 

 

c) Support legislation regarding programs and policies that promote the creation of both 
state and local disaster prevention, response, and recovery planning policy. 

d) Support continued and enhanced state funding for non‐native, invasive plant 
management programs 

After years of no state funding allocation, weed management area groups throughout the 
state will have funding opportunities in the coming budget year. These programs are critical 
to the protection of our local and statewide environment, and have proven positive effects 
on natural fire regimes, species diversity, watershed health, and many other concerns. 
State funding for these programs should be maintained and enhanced if possible. 

e) Ensure full funding of California Department of Fish and Wildlife Hatchery and Inland 
Fisheries Program (AB 7 ‐ 2006) 

In 2006, AB 7 dedicated by law one third of all sport fishing license fees to be used for 
adequate stocking of Department of Fish and Wildlife Hatcheries. Beyond the funding 
dedication, AB 7 dictated the size of fish to be stocked. Recent California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) actions, as well as state budget actions, have reduced the size of 
the stocking fish and not fully directed the fee funding to this program. Mono County 
supports the original intent including all funding being directed to the state hatchery 
program, fish size, and reproducing diploid fish countywide as described in the original 
legislation. 

f) Support budget appropriations to modernize and maintain the state hatchery system. 

g) Support a balanced approach to regulating fishing 

Support a fishing season in the Eastern Sierra that provides economic opportunity while 
maintaining the balance of environmental health and sustainable fisheries and requires 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) to notify local government of proposed 
fishing regulation changes. 

h) Support sustainable fishing 

Support the funding of efforts to enhance the fish population in Mono County including 
sustainable fishing, ongoing fish stocking, education for proper catch and release practices, 
protection of spawning waterways, and support of the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife (CDFW) stocking of diploid trout in allowable waters. 

i) Support bio‐energy action plan development 

Encourage the various state agencies involved to continue evolving this field of work to 
produce and permit cleaner, more affordable technology based on sustainable and healthy 
forestry principles in a manner that benefits rural Sierra economies. Mono County has 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 11 

 

encouraged state agencies, such as the Sierra Nevada Conservancy (SNC) and California 
Energy Commission (CEC) to provide funding for project scoping and planning. 

j) Support legislation that promotes, protects, or facilitates the sustainability of our local 
agriculture 

Mono County agriculture is an important local economic driver. It provides jobs and 
contributes to the open‐space landscape that draws visitors. Reinstate Williamson Act 
subventions and continue to develop alternative funding measures, such as the Strategic 
Growth Council’s Sustainable Agricultural Lands Conservation Program. 

k) Support development of domestic recycling markets and streamline process for recycling 
infrastructure development. 

Domestic recycling markets are needed to address the changes in international trade 
policies which have disrupted California’s solid waste and recycling industry by restricting 
foreign imports of recyclable materials and requiring reduced contamination levels in 
recycling streams. In order to meet California’s ambitious recycling mandates, investment 
in and development of domestic markets has become necessary. 

l) Support legislation that allows for alternative organic programs for rural areas and 
exempts them from the SB 1383 requirements until such time that an economically 
feasible infrastructure is in place 

Rural jurisdictions are disproportionately burdened under mandates of SB 1383/Short Lived 
Climate Pollutants. With no developed infrastructure, no economy of scale and great 
hauling distances to existing infrastructure, this remains a major challenge for rural areas. 

m) Support legislation and funding that eases the burden of implementing the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act, including creating necessary infrastructure in rural, 
sparsely populated areas 

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act provides for local agencies to develop 
groundwater sustainability plans and, pursuant to those plans, sustainably manage 
groundwater resources. The funding mechanism for these activities provided in the law is 
for local agencies to impose fees on water users. Areas in Mono County that have been 
subject to the Act in the past are sparsely populated and primarily in agricultural 
production. Accordingly, very few individuals (less than a dozen) would have to bear the 
significant burden of funding compliance with the Act, should it apply again in the future, 
which would endanger the viability of Mono County’s agricultural operations. 

n) Continued engagement in Bi‐State Sage Grouse conservation efforts 

Mono County appreciates the State’s increased role in sage‐grouse conservation efforts 
and addressing the threat posed by the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power’s 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 12 

 

(LADWP’s) management of water in Long Valley, a key habitat area for the South Mono 
Population Management Unit. The California Department of Fish and Wildlife is a significant 
player in this conservation effort. Ultimately, continuation of the collaborative multi‐party 
partnership, including the  cooperative engagement of LADWP, would be the ideal outcome 
to ensure the health and viability of sage grouse populations. If the bird us ultimately listed, 
the result would be an additional regulatory burden with devastating impacts to Mono 
County’s agricultural and recreational activity‐based economy. 

o) Climate and drought resiliency 

Support measures that provide funding and resources to develop drought and climate 
resilient water supplies in California, such as water recycling and reuse, leak and loss 
prevention/remediation and other solutions to enhance the State’s water resources in 
order to reduce reliance on increasingly unpredictable precipitation amounts. 

4) Public Safety and Criminal Justice 

a) Advocate to prevent adverse local impacts from cannabis and hemp legislation 

Advocate for local control, taxation and funding for addressing the environmental, land use, 
and public safety impacts of the cultivation of cannabis and hemp. 

b) Ensure State realignment & cost‐shifts 

Continue to ensure successful implementation of the broad array of programs transferred 
to county jurisdiction under the 2011 Public Safety Realignment, including appropriate 
distribution of AB 109 funding. Support state policy changes that will allow for greater 
administrative and program flexibility for county programs associated with this shift of 
responsibility. 

c) Support of rural fire districts 

The population of Mono County is highly rural and dependent upon voluntary associations 
that provide basic emergency services. These volunteer fire districts provide services to 
residents and tourists, and they are often the first responders to accidents. Support relief 
for rural fire districts. 

d) Advocate for Community Paramedicine 

Advocate for the State Emergency Medical Services Agency (EMSA) to expand the current 
number of EMS Programs participating in the Community Paramedicine Demonstration 
Project. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 13 

 

e) Advocate for legislation to extend the age for juvenile services from 18 through the age of 
20 

Neuroscience supports that brain development continues until the age of 23. 

f) Support legislation that provides financial support to probation 

Provide financial support to probation to include more evidence‐based services and 
incentives for both adults and youth. 

5) Transportation and Infrastructure 

a) Support action for transportation funding 

Support the multiple transportation funding sources that provide for improved 
transportation systems and multimodal networks, including SB 1 as enacted and delivery of 
projects that rehabilitate and improve local roads and related infrastructure. 

b) Support State highway access 

Mono County supports budget policy and legislation to fund rehabilitation of the Bodie 
Road (Highway 270) that provides access to Bodie State Park and to facilitate early Sierra 
Pass openings (including Highways 120 and 108). 

c) Support complete streets and walkable community principles 

Mono County is a strong supporter and advocate of the complete streets and walkable 
community principles in the 2040 California Transportation Plan. This focus is a 
transportation paradigm and culture shift that will impact projects from initiation to 
completion and maintenance. Recently, local jurisdictions have been increasingly tasked 
with the funding and maintenance of complete street features on state facilities such as 
state highways. These maintenance responsibilities lie with the state, and a corresponding 
shift in the functioning and funding of Caltrans is needed to ensure success of complete 
street designs. 

d) Support broadband deployment and communications systems improvements 

Leverage existing work efforts focused on broadband infrastructure investments and 
deployment projects to further increase access to Gigabit broadband throughout the 
County. Advocate and work to improve communication systems including: 

i) Plain Old Telephone Systems (POTS) system reliability; 
ii) Reliable 911 service, the NextGen 911 transformation (including the leveraging of 

broadband for improving 911), 211 service, and public notification and warning 
services; 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 14 

 

iii) Cellular‐based communication systems and networks including those designed for 
commercial and public safety use (such as FirstNet); 

iv) Policies, programs, and funding opportunities for other public safety communication 
platforms, including but not limited to Land Mobile Radio; 

v) Appropriate and effective definitions of ‘broadband’ which recognize the importance of 
technology and dependence on the internet for public safety and economic 
development; 

vi) Legislation and associated programs that provide funding for broadband infrastructure 
projects and adoption/education efforts. 

e) Investor‐Owned Utility Wildfire Mitigation and Public Safety Power Shutoff (PSPS) policy 

In coordination with local allied agencies and community organizations, advocate for 
policies and practices which ensure public safety while recognizing and addressing the 
unique challenges of PSPS events in a tourism‐driven rural environment. Encourage utilities’ 
investment in infrastructure hardening, grid modernization, and situational awareness 
tools. 

6) Administrative and Fiscal Services 

a) Support Clerk/Recorder Services and Elections Administration improvements 

Support resources for improving county record keeping services and election 
administration, and monitor legislation that may impact the following: 

i) Recording fees and process, and recorded documents; 
ii) Vital statistic fees and process; 
iii) Public records; 
iv) Unfunded mandates; 
v) Vote‐by‐mail, voter registration, election management systems, elections process, and 

election equipment; 
vi) Funding for records preservation (such as Board of Supervisors historic records); 
vii) Funding for modernization of elections equipment; 

b) Support Vote‐by‐mail legislation 

Support legislation to authorize vote‐by‐mail ballot elections for rural counties. 

c) Support leveraging SB2 Recording fees to return to Mono County for housing. 

d) Support the full funding of all Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILT) 

Support legislation and budget efforts that provide for payment of past due balances and 
continue to maximize the PILT revenue to counties and maintain full funding of PILT 
without restrictions beyond the current authorization. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 15 

 

e) Oppose legislation that would limit and/or impose significant procedural or substantive 
barriers to counties’ ability to contract for services. 

7) Health and Human Services 

a) Support accurate, adequate, flexible, and stable funding and regulatory interpretation to 
best meet Federal/State Health and Human Services program requirements 

These include Child Welfare Services, Mental Health Services, Substance Use Disorder 
Services, Human Services, Adult Protective Services, In‐Home Supportive Services, 
California Children Services, and Health Reform. In addition, support new innovation by 
maximizing flexibility in program design, increase Federal/State funding leveraging 
opportunities, and streamline State program requirements and regulations including those 
serving specialized needs due to COVID‐19.  

b) Support client access permitting online engagement and electronic interviews to reduce 
cost, increase participation and reduce duplicative eligibility processes. 

c)  

d) Support funding opportunities for environmental health regulation 

Support funding opportunities including fees for State mandates related to environmental 
health regulation of food establishments, sewage disposal facilities, water systems, well 
construction, swimming pools, and recreational health facilities, occupied housing, 
underground storage tank facilities, solid waste facilities, land use development, rabies and 
vector control, and the management of hazardous waste/materials. 

e) Support legislation that provides funding for the Local Primacy Agency (LPA) program 
that ensures safe drinking water to residents 

The LPA program provides local oversight of small public water systems (SPWS) in Mono 
County. This program is implemented by the Environmental Health Division of the Public 
Health Department. Currently, program costs are offset by annual permit fees collected 
from the SPWS and by Public Health Realignment. The revenues do not cover the costs of 
this program. 

f) Support funding opportunities for Mono County’s CUPA Program 

The California Unified Program Agency (CUPA) is implemented by the Environmental Health 
Division of the Public Health Department. Funding for this program is provided through 
environmental health fees and Public Health Realignment. In the past, the CUPA was 
provide grant funding through Cal EPA to offset costs incurred in implementing the 
program. This grant funding was subsequently discontinued last year. Negotiations are 
ongoing to reinstitute this funding program. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 16 

 

g) Support legislation for public health programs 

Support legislation and programing, and advocate for upstream approaches to health and 
preventative public health programs including Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health 
(MCAH), Oral Health, Tobacco Education, Women, Infants and Children (WIC), Emergency 
Preparedness, Communicable Disease, HIV/STDs, and Immunizations. 

h) Support revenue opportunities and increased flexibility with State allocations for local 
public health departments 

With rising costs of business, the Mono County Health Department’s expenditures are now 
greater than its revenues. With a decline of Public Health Realignment funds since 2007, 
these dollars no longer cover the cost of fulfilling mandates, backfilling State grants, and 
addressing local health priorities. Opportunities include increasing revenues through State 
allocations and advocating for a broader, less restrictive scope of work which can be 
tailored to a community’s unique health needs. 

i) Support public health fiscal sustainability in rural counties in the form of relaxed 
programmatic FTE requirements and indirect cost rate caps 

Health programs are continually evolving and new opportunities to improve community 
wellness are on the rise. Rural counties face unique recruitment and retention challenges 
and much of the prospective funding comes with strict FTE requirements and/or caps on 
what can be reimbursed in indirect costs. Funding allocations usually do not provide 
enough resources to hire new staff and the majority of existing staff manage or support 
multiple public health programs. Additionally, funding allocations do not cover the true cost 
of the program, especially overhead costs, leading to difficult decisions about implementing 
programs that have been recognized as a need in our rural communities. 

j) Support legislation for health providers 

Support legislation and advocate for increasing the number of dental and medical providers 
in rural counties, especially those who accept Medi‐Cal and Denti‐Cal insurance. 

k) Advocate for a level of funding that enables counties to properly administer the Medi‐Cal 
program on the state’s behalf. 

l) Support improvements to Medi‐Cal 

Support the streamlining of Medi‐Cal administration and improve access to health coverage 
for uninsured families. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 17 

 

m) Support legislation that would increase the number of volunteer Emergency Medical 
Technicians 

Current licensing requirements are onerous and deter volunteer first responders from 
seeking EMT licenses. 

n) Provide a State funding stream for county spending on Public Administrator/Public 
Guardian/Public Conservator (PA/PG/PC) programs 

County Public Administrator, Public Guardian and Public Conservator (PA|PG|PC) programs 
provide critical safety net services to the most vulnerable adult Californians. The PG/PC 
provides protective services to individuals with diminished capacity to make decisions due 
to cognitive impairments and severe mental illness. The PA function handles the disposition 
of deceased estates. Working collaboratively with local medical, mental health, social 
services, and justice providers, PA|PG|PC programs petition the Courts to be appointed the 
legal decision maker with regard to healthcare, psychiatric care, and/or financial 
management for clients who are unable to make decisions for themselves. County 
PA|PG|PCs are the only major county safety net programs that receive no direct State or 
Federal funding. 

o) Support legislation that increases services and supports Child Welfare 

i) Federal Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018: Support full state funding of 
required program changes to enact the newly mandated child welfare system reforms 
related to this Act. 

ii) Support legislation that increases services and resources for caregivers of children and 
former foster youth who are victims of or at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation.. 

p) Support legislative, administrative and budgetary efforts that seek to maintain active and 
healthy independence for seniors and the disabled 

including affordable housing, funding and other support for those who are homeless or at 
imminent risk of homelessness. 

q) Support legislation to increase skilled nursing facilities that are willing to accept dually 
diagnosed seniors with comorbid medical and mental health conditions. 

r) Older Adults and Persons with Disabilities 

i) Support legislation that promotes the financial sustainability of the In‐ Home Supportive 
Services Program through programmatic changes and appropriate cost sharing 
mechanisms between the State and counties. 

ii) Support the continuation of federal and state funding for IHSS and oppose any efforts 
to shift additional IHSS costs to counties. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 18 

 

iii) Support funding for the full range of aging programs that provide services to older 
adults including services provided by Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), senior nutrition 
programs, caregiver supports, resource centers, ombudsman programs, and home and 
community‐based supports. 

iv) Support legislation that would establish a comprehensive and coordinated system and 
provide options for long term care activities that will secure and maintain maximum 
independence and dignity in a home environment, remove individual and social barriers 
to economic and personal independence, provide a continuum of care for vulnerable 
seniors, and provide a comprehensive response to elder abuse/neglect and 
exploitation. 

v) Support legislation to increase skilled nursing facilities that are willing to accept dually 
diagnosed seniors with comorbid medical and mental health conditions. 

s) Support efforts to develop permanent supportive housing and affordable housing 

i) Support State laws that support affordable housing and broaden the opportunities and 
reduce barriers for local government, and non‐profit housing entities and 
instrumentalities of government to increase homeownership and the creation of rental 
housing. This includes repealing of California State Constitution Article XXXIV. In 
addition, support increased financing, subsidy options, and tax incentives to support 
development of new, affordable housing units in rural communities such as Mono 
County. 

ii) Support efforts to streamline funding, construction processes and land use regulations, 
which expedite the development of low and moderate income housing units and allow 
local governments to adequately plan to meet the housing needs of all economic 
segments of the community. 

iii) Support measures that enable seniors and the adult disabled population to obtain 
affordable housing and live independently. 

iv) Support additional funding for the Older Californians Act and other programs that assist 
older adults and caregivers. 

t) Support the enhancement of childcare and development 

Support measures that enhance the overall quality, affordability, capacity, accessibility, and 
safety of childcare and development programs. Specifically, support legislation and budget 
action that would: 

i) Ensure continuity of childcare for children and families. 
ii) Preserve, protect and increase funding for subsidized and other government‐funded 

childcare. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 19 

 

u) Support measures that seek to prevent Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), address 
the impacts of trauma, and build resilience. 

i) Support legislation and budget efforts that support children, youth, and families, 
including restoring and expanding quality childcare and preschool opportunities, 
homeless youth, promoting safety for all children, and mental and developmental 
health prevention and early intervention activities. 

v) Support legislation to combat human trafficking 

Support legislation that will develop or enhance programs and services to combat the 
negative impact that human trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation of children has 
on victims and support efforts to provide additional tools, resources, and funding to help 
counties address this growing problem. 

w) Support full funding to ensure that state mandates are cost‐neutral to the County and 
pursue revisions to streamline the process for local government. 

x) State Realignment & Cost‐Shifts 

Oppose proposals to restructure, realign, or otherwise shift the cost of programs to local 
government, without commensurate compensation. 

y) Support legislation, funding opportunities, and multidisciplinary efforts to provide harm 
reduction and substance use disorder services in Mono County. 

z) Support Peer Support Certification (SB 803) 

Unlike 48 states, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs (DVA), California fails to value or maximize the benefits of providers with 
lived experience in the state’s Medicaid program, Medi‐Cal, because California does not 
certify peer support specialists nor recognize these professionals as Medi‐Cal billable 
providers. In addition, unlike most states and the DVA, California does not include peer 
support services as a Medi‐Cal mental health benefit. Demand for peer services is growing, 
but there is no statewide scope of practice, training standards, supervision standards, or 
certification in California. SB 803 (Beall) establishes a statewide certification program for 
peer support specialists and provides the structure needed to maximize the federal match 
for peer services under Medi‐Cal. The program defines the range of responsibilities and 
practice guidelines for peer support specialists, specifies required training and continuing 
education requirements, determines clinical supervision requirements, and establishes a 
code of ethics and processes for revocation of certification. (Cosponsored by CBHDA with 
Los Angeles County, The Steinberg Institute, and the California Association of Mental Health 
Peer Run Organizations (CAMHPRO)) 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 20 

 

aa) Support legislation effort that would encourage Integrated School Behavioral Health 
Services 

The Integrated School‐Based Behavioral Health Services Partnership Program (Partnership 
Program) encourages local educational agencies (LEAs) and county behavioral health 
agencies to collaborate on providing on‐campus services for students at the earliest onset 
of a behavioral health condition. In the schools participating in the Partnership Programs, 
county behavioral health agency trained professionals will serve any student appropriately 
referred by school personnel, including Medi‐Cal beneficiaries, privately‐insured and 
uninsured students and provide brief initial intervention services intended to prevent a 
behavioral health condition from worsening. The county behavioral health professionals 
will ensure privately‐insured students access a private plan provider, if available. If the 
private plan cannot provide an appropriate provider within state mandated timely access 
timeframes, the county behavioral health agency will initiate services as appropriate and 
consistent with professionally recognized standards of practice. The Partnership Program 
will include annual reporting requirements to help the state evaluate the impact of these 
intervention services on the health and well‐being of students. 

bb) Strengthen the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) 

Support legislation proposals to review the MHSA, recognizing the importance and 
significant contribution this critical funding source has made to persons with mental illness. 
The MHSA review provides the opportunity to reflect on 15 years of MHSA implementation 
and find areas for improvement while preserving core MHSA services, including the crisis 
continuum, prevention/early intervention, and full‐service partnerships. Improvements 
should seek to eliminate restrictive mandatory funding distributions for each component of 
the MHSA and ensure MHSA funds can be used for individuals with primary substance use 
disorder diagnoses, as well as support the protection of MHSA’s current ratios and funding 
for small, rural counties. A review should also identify a process for the development of 
statewide performance and outcome measures to be reported annually to the state, the 
legislature and the public. 

cc) Enhance Board and Care rates to prevent further loss of critical housing for SMI clients 
and build out housing options 

There is a critical lack of housing in California, particularly for its most vulnerable low‐
income adults most at‐risk of homelessness: older adults, persons with disabilities, and 
persons with serious mental illness (SMI). With the rapidly growing aging population and 
continually rising housing costs, the homeless population is expected to grow, and a larger 
number of the homeless population are expected to be disabled and elderly. Even more 
alarming, California has lost hundreds of board and care homes in recent years that are 
specifically set up to serve these very populations. Los Angeles County has lost about 1200 
beds since January 2016. The reimbursement rates provided by SSI/SSP are inadequate at 
$35/ day and counties do not have the capacity to patch facilities at the demand needed. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 21 

 

CBHDA proposes enhancing board and care rates through $500 million one‐time General 
Fund (GF), reforming punitive regulations/ enforcement of facilities by CDSS, and exploring 
federal waiver opportunities to fund board and cares. (Co‐ sponsored by CBHDA with the 
Steinberg Institute) 

i) Status: Board and Care funding is a component of the $750 million Flexible Funding 
Pool Proposed in the Governor’s January budget, however, CBHDA will request a state 
lawmaker sponsor the full $500 million budget request via the legislature for 
consideration as part of the budget. 

dd) Pursue Funding for Pretrial Mental Health Diversion (AB 1810) 

There is an overrepresentation of individuals with SMI in the criminal justice system. All too 
often, individuals with SMI in crisis are inappropriately routed by law enforcement into jails 
and ultimately prison, instead of receiving treatment in the community. Once incarcerated, 
individuals living with a mental illness tend to stay longer in jail and upon release are at a 
higher risk of returning to incarceration than those without a mental illness. A significant 
number of individuals experiencing homelessness with behavioral health conditions can 
cycle in and out of the criminal justice system. California passed in 2018 AB 1810 which 
establishes pre‐trial MH diversion in CA for individuals with SMI and who could be 
experiencing homelessness. Funding AB 1810 with $250 million one‐ time GF would help 
alleviate strains on justice systems and break the cycle of individuals experiencing 
homelessness with SMI from cycling in and out of the justice system. (Co‐sponsored by 
CBHDA with the Steinberg Institute) 

8) Economic Development 

a) Support new and current business development 

Support legislation and programs that support economic development efforts that augment 
and promote business retention and expansion, as well as create an environment 
conducive to new business attraction. 

b) Support of commercial filming 

Support bills and initiatives to attract and retain film production in the state as increased 
filming statewide will result in commercial opportunities for commercial filming projects in 
Mono County. 

c) Support sustainable tourism and recreation economy 

Support legislation that strengthens the tourism and recreation economy, including 
continued support of the State Office of Outdoor Recreation, formed in 2016.



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 22 

 

Federal Priorities 

1) Support Funding/Program Preservation 

Support legislative, regulatory, and budget efforts that protect and/or enhance local 
government revenues, maximize the County’s access to federal funding sources, and/or 
increase local funding flexibility. Oppose legislative and administrative actions that would 
create federal unfunded mandates and/or preempt local decision‐making authority. Strongly 
encourage Congress and the President to commit to negotiate successfully so as to avoid any 
future Federal Government shutdowns. 

a) Support Sustainable Funding for Secure Rural Schools 

Support legislation that creates a sustainable revenue stream for Secure Rural Schools, such 
as the Forest Management for Rural Sustainability Act. 

b) Support the full funding of all Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILT) 

Support legislation and budget efforts that continue to maximize the PILT revenue to 
counties and continue full funding of PILT without restrictions beyond the current 
authorization. 

c) Support full federal funding for the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural 
Development (RD) Programs 

Support funding for community development programs and affordable housing such as the 
Section 502 Direct Loan Program and the necessary program staff to implement these 
programs. 

d) Support full and expanded federal funding for Housing and Economic Development 
programs 

Support the highest possible funding level for key federal housing and economic 
development programs, including the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), the 
HOME Investment Partnership Program, and the creation of a minimum four percent Low 
Income Housing Tax Credit floor. 

e) Support continued rural broadband deployment and communications improvements 
through local, State, and Federal policy advocacy, infrastructure projects, and grant 
programs 

Having appropriate policy at the local, State, and Federal levels is imperative to ensure 
adequate communications connectivity, which is a critical part of public safety and 
economic development. Because Mono County has dedicated resources to improve access 
to high‐quality broadband in our communities and as a result of the completion of the 
Digital 395 project, roughly 90% of our households have access to Gigabit internet. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 23 

 

Unfortunately, several Mono County communities and residents still face barriers to 
connectivity as there is inadequate infrastructure to support basic Plain Old Telephone 
Service (POTS) telephone service, including cellular phone service, let‐alone high‐speed 
Internet. In order to improve the landscape, the County should advocate for: 

i) Policies, regulations, and enforcement around providers delivering basic POTS services 
to all locations desiring this service; 

ii) Appropriate and effective definitions of ‘broadband’ which recognize the importance of 
technology and dependence on the internet for public safety and economic 
development; 

iii) Legislation and associated programs that provide funding for broadband infrastructure 
projects and adoption/education efforts; Programs and efforts that move to improve 
the accuracy of metrics used to represent the current state of broadband in Mono 
County. 

f) Support legislation that promotes, protects, or facilitates the sustainability of our local 
agriculture 

Mono County agriculture is an important local economic driver, provides jobs, puts food on 
the table and contributes to the open‐space landscape that draws visitors. 

g) Support Economic Development resources 

i) Support legislation and federal programs that provide access to small business capital 
for local business development through the Small Business Administration, Small 
Business Development Corporation and other government loan and financial programs. 

ii) Support legislation and federal programs that promote locally‐based business retention 
and expansion, as well as create an environment conducive to new business attraction. 

iii) Support initiatives to attract commercial filming opportunities to the region: in 
particular, budgetary allocations that increase capacity for processing special use 
permits on the Inyo and Humboldt Toiyabe National Forests. 

iv) Support bills, initiatives, and programs that strengthen the tourism and recreation 
economy, with a focus on sustainable practices. 

h) Disaster Response 

Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives requiring county 
involvement. 

2) Natural Resources, Public Lands, and Agriculture 

Support legislation that promotes agriculture and that protects the County’s quality of life, its 
diverse natural resources, and preserves the essence and history of the County, along with 
legislation that provides adequate funding for stewardship of our public lands. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 24 

 

a) Support sustainable funding for federal public lands 

Support measures to sustain our federal lands. Closure or underfunding of these lands 
managed by the US Forest Service, Bureau of Land Management and National Park Service 
would result in a significant negative impact to our county as tourism and recreation are 
our economic drivers. 

b) Support outdoor recreation economy and public lands 

Support the enacted 2016 Outdoor Recreation and Jobs Act and the effort to measure the 
outdoor recreation economy’s contribution to the US Gross Domestic Product. Once the 
federal government fully understands the economic benefits of outdoor recreation, land 
management agencies and local governments will have necessary data to measure the 
impact of the recreation economy and the key role that sustainable recreation needs to 
play in the management decisions of public lands agencies. 

c) Support special designations 

Support special use designations for public lands such as National Scenic Areas, Wild & 
Scenic Rivers, Wilderness, National Monuments, National Conservation Areas, when 
demonstrated conservation values and public support warrant such designations. 

d) Oppose public lands disposal 

Oppose the large‐scale sale, transfer or "disposal" of public lands except for strategic, 
widely supported transfers or exchanges for management and boundary adjustments with 
demonstrated public benefit, for example community expansion in support of affordable 
housing. 

e) Support wildfire funding and fuels reduction 

Support immediate enactment of legislation to change the method of funding wildfire 
suppression on National Forests by providing access to funding outside of the statutory 
discretionary limits for emergency purposes and for investment in additional resources for 
forest management/fuels reduction to mitigate wildfire risk to communities and increase 
forest health. 

f) Support public land infrastructure 

Support increased funding for public land management agencies to address deferred 
maintenance of infrastructure in forests, national parks and reserves that rural counties 
depend on for tourism and recreation‐based economies. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 25 

 

g) Support regulatory relief for Mill City Cabin Tract funding 

Support administrative and legislative solutions for funding and/or regulatory relief for the 
cleanup of contaminated soils at the Mill City recreation residence tract on the Inyo 
National Forest in Mammoth Lakes. 

h) Support land management directives 

Support Mono County’s tourism and recreation economy by ensuring funding, programs, 
and management directives for federal land agencies (including the Land & Water 
Conservation Fund) that facilitate the planning, building, and maintenance of infrastructure 
for sustainable recreation, travel, and commercial film permitting on public lands. 

i) Support sustainable fishing 

Support federal initiatives and / or funding of efforts towards enhancement of Mono 
County’s fish population, including sustainable fishing, ongoing fish stocking, education for 
proper catch and release practices, protection of spawning waterways, and support of the 
stocking of diploid trout in allowable waters. 

j) Support the control of invasive species 

Support control and mitigation for the spread of invasive species to protect, conserve, and 
restore public and private lands. 

k) Support biomass project development 

Support legislation that encourages the US Forest Service (USFS) and Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM) to continue actively promoting and assisting with biomass project 
development. 

l) Support alternative energy 

i) Support local efforts to develop renewable, distributed energy sources including but 
not limited to environmentally and appropriately scaled biomass, solar, and wind, while 
ensuring projects and their supporting infrastructure (i.e., transmission lines, pipes 
lines, towers, service roads) does not degrade the County’s quality of life, natural or 
visual resources, water or essence and history. 

ii) Continue to support geothermal power production that is environmentally sustainable 
and doesn’t negatively affect local domestic water supplies. 

m) Support Devils Postpile National Monument legislative requests 

Support legislation to authorize a boundary adjustment request, and to designate a portion 
of the Middle Fork San Joaquin River as Wild & Scenic, as described in Devils Postpile 
National Monuments 2015 Management Plan. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 26 

 

n) Support endangered species conservation 

Support a balanced approach to the implementation of endangered species regulation with 
impacts to the rural economy and communities of Mono County. Mono County is fortunate 
to have a rich natural heritage that should be conserved, and it supports the need to 
protect and recover imperiled species. These conservation measures should be specifically 
tailored to the threats and circumstances in the Eastern Sierra and Mono County, and must 
be weighed and balanced against impacts to the fragile tourism and recreation‐based rural 
economy and local communities. Every effort must be made to protect private property 
rights and avoid detrimental impacts to county residents. 

o)  

p) Support sage grouse conservation 

Mono County appreciates the strong support of the multi‐party, collaborative Bi‐State 
conservation effort, including several federal agencies such as the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service, Bureau of Land Management, U.S. Forest Service (Inyo National Forest and 
Humboldt‐ Toiyabe National Forest), and U.S. Geological Survey. The coalition includes 
technical and scientific support, legislative and policy support, and funding to ensure 
conservation commitments are met and honored by federal agencies Ultimately, 
continuation of the collaborative partnership requires the federal agencies to remain 
stalwart in their commitments with the flexibility to address new issues, such as the 
management of water by the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) in 
Long Valley, and adequate budgets to support a positive conservation outcome. If the bird 
is listed, the result could be an additional regulatory burden with devasting impacts to 
Mono County’s agricultural and recreational activity‐based economy. 

q) Support legislation to avoid landfilling of waste originating on Federal Land 

Develop policies and programs that successfully re‐use, recycle and transform resources 
that originate on USFS, BLM, and DOD lands. Support policies that reduce the impacts of 
Federally generated waste on local jurisdictions’ waste management systems, and/or 
support policies that enhance local systems to effectively manage Federally‐generated 
waste. 

3) Public Safety and Criminal Justice 

a) Support full funding of Byrne Justice Assistance Grants 

Support the preservation of funding levels for existing safety programs such as the Byrne 
Justice Grant (Byrne/JAG) Program and oppose efforts to reduce or divert funding away 
from these programs. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 27 

 

b) Support continued funding of FEMA’s Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) program 

Support continued funding to enhance the safety of the public and firefighters with respect 
to fire‐related hazards by providing direct financial assistance to eligible fire departments, 
nonaffiliated Emergency Medical Services organizations, and State Fire Training Academies. 
This funding is for critically needed resources to equip and train emergency personnel to 
recognized standards, enhance operations efficiencies, foster interoperability, and support 
community resilience. 

c) Support legislation that resolves the conflict federal statutes have with legalization of 
recreational cannabis use in California 

Ideally, this includes removing cannabis as a schedule 1 drug and providing cannabis 
businesses with access to business banking services by changing federal banking access 
laws. Barring a legislative solution by Congress, the County supports reinstatement of the 
concepts stated in the past Justice Department memorandums allowing for commercial 
cannabis activities to operate free and clear of federal enforcement interference so long as 
the County has a robust regulatory framework in place. 

d) Urge common‐sense gun safety legislation. 

e) Support sustainable Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) funding for airport safety 
related projects on public and private property on or near our airports. 

4) Transportation and Infrastructure 

a) Ensure that federal transportation formulas support rural road infrastructure 

Mono County relies on the network of state highways and locally maintained roads to link 
residents to essential services. Transportation funding formulas should provide funding 
protections or guarantees for California’s rural transportation system and reflect that rural 
counties lack viable means to fund larger projects that provide statewide benefit. We must 
advocate for formulas that distribute federal funds to support local transportation 
priorities. 

b) Support efforts to protect the Highway Trust Fund 

Support efforts protecting the Highway Trust Fund and programs that provide funding for 
local roads, bridges, and transit initiatives including pedestrian and bicycle systems, and 
other multi‐modal transportation programs. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 28 

 

c) Provide funding that maintains and enhances regional access across Federal Lands and 
National Parks 

Mono County supports budget policy and legislation that maintains, enhances, and extends 
the operational season of roads crossing federal lands and National Parks that provide 
access to communities, federal lands, national parks and monuments. 

d) Support Yosemite Area Regional Transportation and Eastern Sierra Transit Authority 
funding 

Support efforts to seek sustainable funding for regional public transportation to Yosemite 
National Park, other National Parks in our region, and other public lands destinations 
throughout the Eastern Sierra. 

e) Support the resurgence of the Scenic Byway program 

Mono County completed a Scenic Byway Corridor Plan through a federal grant, then 
shelved the plan because the Scenic Byway program was not funded. The program has 
been re‐established, and continuity of funding is needed for jurisdictions to dust off inactive 
plans, program their implementation into the workflow again, and being making an impact. 

5) Health and Human Services 

a) COVID 19 

Support and advocate for any legislative or budgetary action, including stimulus money, 
related to the response, recovery and/ or economic impacts of COVID‐19 both during the 
emergency and the long‐term effects of the pandemic. 

b) Disaster Response 

Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives requiring county 
involvement. 

c) Support Cost‐Neutral Federal Mandates 

Support full funding to ensure that federal mandates are cost‐neutral to the County and 
pursue revisions to streamline the process for local government. 

d) Oppose legislation to repeal the Affordable Care Act (ACA) 

Work to preserve and expand the number of citizens currently receiving health insurance. 
Oppose efforts to reduce benefits and block grants or other actions that would shift the 
current federal/state cost and responsibility to the states and counties. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 29 

 

e) Ensure that Affordable Care Act (ACA) funding is maintained for local governments 

Support the Prevention and Public Health Fund of the ACA, the nation’s first dedicated 
mandatory funding stream for public health and prevention activities, which supports 
Mono County health care services to underserved residents. 

f) Medi‐Cal Funding 

Support all efforts to adequately fund the federal Medicaid program. Similarly, oppose all 
efforts to block grant, cap or otherwise reduce federal and state funding to support this 
critical safety net program. 

g) Administration of the Medi‐Cal program 

Fully fund county costs for County administration of the Medi‐Cal program. 

h) Managed Care Medi‐Cal 

Advocate for a Medi‐Cal Managed Care model that generates high healthcare quality 
scores, increases primary care capacity, improves coordination of care, and conducts 
outreach to enroll uninsured populations. 

i)  

j) Oppose other eligibility changes, including but not limited to elimination of retroactive 
benefits or grace periods for eligibility pending verifications. 

k) Oppose turning Medicaid over to States 

Oppose efforts to turn Medicaid (Medi‐Cal in California) over to the states with less federal 
funding. 

l) Support full funding of programs that provide health insurance to children. 

m) Support funding of Veterans benefits 

Support provision and funding for current benefits and health care programs for Veterans. 

n) Support Women’s Rights to Health 

Health care is key to women’s well‐being and economic stability. Support provisions that 
make sure new health care law works for women. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 30 

 

o) Support Child Welfare 

i) Federal Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018 
Advocate for full federal and state funding of the Federal Family First Prevention 
Services Act of 2018 (P.L. 115‐123) enacted to reform the federal foster care system. 

ii) Support efforts to reform child welfare financing, including expanding the types of 
prevention activities eligible for the IV‐E foster care financial match. 

iii) Support a provision allowing for “skyping” with non‐minor youth in the extended 
foster care program when the youth  is attending college or living in another state or 
out of country as an alternative to monthly, in‐person visits. 

iv) Support increased federal funding for services and income support needed by parents 
seeking to reunify with their children in foster care. 

v) Support increased federal financial support for programs that assist foster youth in the 
transition to self‐sufficiency, including post‐ emancipation assistance such as secondary 
education, job training, and access to health care. 

vi) Support retaining the entitlement nature of the Title IV‐E Foster Care and Adoption 
Assistance programs and eliminate outdated rules that base the child's eligibility for 
funds on parental income and circumstances. 

vii) Support increased federal funding to respond to the service needs of youth who are 
victims of commercial sexual exploitation. 

p) Support legislation to combat human trafficking 

Support legislation that will develop or enhance programs and services to combat the 
negative impact that human trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation of children has 
on victims and support efforts to provide additional tools, resources, and funding to help 
counties address this growing problem. 

q) Support the enhancement of childcare and development 

Support measures that enhance the overall quality, affordability, capacity, accessibility, and 
safety of childcare and development programs. Specifically, support legislation and budget 
action that would: 

i) Ensure continuity of childcare for children and families. 
ii) Preserve, protect and increase funding for subsidized and other government‐funded 

childcare. 

r) Oppose Immigration Reform 

Oppose immigration reform efforts that would eliminate a pathway to full and equal 
citizenship, that would restrict the rights  of immigrants or break up families, or that would 
focus on a mass deportation of undocumented immigrants. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 31 

 

s) Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Reauthorization 

i) Support increased federal support for TANF/CalWORKS subsidized employment 
programs. 

ii) Support more flexible work participation requirement measures to give credit for client 
engagement and for work activities not meeting the current thresholds. 

iii) Support the ability of states to provide and receive federal support for vocational 
education and career technical training for longer than 12 months. 

t) Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 

i) Support a thorough review and updates to the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) 
Thrifty Food Plan (TFP) to more accurately account for the cost of food, dietary needs, 
purchasing patterns and regional differences in food costs, housing and medical care, 
which affect the purchasing power of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 
(SNAP) benefits. 

ii) Support increased nutritional supplementation efforts at the state and federal levels, 
including increased aid, longer terms of aid, and increased access for those in need. 

iii) Support extending Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents work requirement waivers 
for as many counties and sub‐county regions as possible. 

iv) Support further collaboration with the federal government and national partners to 
increase outreach and enrollment for SNAP/CalFresh, especially in underserved 
populations such as students, former foster youth, non‐English‐speaking populations 
and seniors. 

v) Support provisions to further streamline and simplify federal requirements for 
SNAP/CalFresh recipients to enhance enrollment and retention. 

vi) Support additional flexibility for states to align SNAP/CalFresh eligibility and processes 
with state TANF/CalWORKS programs. 

vii) Support efforts to improve timeliness of data provided by the Food and Nutrition 
Services (FNS) to states for use in administering SNAP/CalFresh. 

u) Support Adult and Disability Services 

Support legislation that would provide adequate funding such as state‐only funded 
programs, programs authorized under the Older Americans Act, a return to full funding for 
Social Services Block Grant (SSBG) programs and increases to the SSBG allocation to keep 
up with inflation and population growth. 

v) Support Homelessness Legislation 

Support federal homelessness legislation funding an array of services to individuals and 
families at risk of or who are experiencing homelessness. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 32 

 

w) Support State and Federal funding and regulatory changes or guidance that supports 
landlords and tenants, and prevents homelessness resulting from COVID‐19 related 
financial impacts. 

   



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 33 

 

 

County Attractions



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 34 

 

 

 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 35 

 

 

Elected State Representatives: 

 

Assembly Member Frank Bigelow 
5th Assembly District 
State Capitol, Suite #4153 
Sacramento, CA 94249 
Capitol Office Phone: (916) 319‐2005 
District Office Phone: (559) 673‐0501 
Website: https://ad05.asmrc.org 

Senator Andreas Borgeas 
8th Senate District 
State Capitol, Room 3082 
Sacramento, CA 95814‐4900 
Capitol Office Phone: (916) 651‐4008 
District Office Phone: (559) 243‐8580 
Fax: (916) 651‐4908 
Website: http://borgeas.cssrc.us/ 

Governor Gavin Newsom 
State Capitol, Suite 1173 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
Phone: (916) 445‐2841 
Fax: (916) 558‐3160 
Website: http://gov.ca.gov/ 

 

 

Elected Federal Representatives: 

 

Senator Alex Padilla 
United States Senate 
Russell Senate Office Building, Suite B03 
Washington, D.C. 20510 
Phone: (202) 224‐3553 
Fax: (202) 224‐2200 
Website: http://padilla.senate.gov/ 

Senator Dianne Feinstein 
United States Senate 
331 Hart Senate Office Building 
Washington, D.C. 20510 
Phone: (202) 224‐3841 
Fax: (202) 228‐3954 
TTY/TDD: (202) 224‐2501 
Website: http://feinstein.senate.gov/ 

Representative Jay Obernolte 
8th Congressional District 
1029 Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515 
Phone: (202) 225‐5861 
Website: http://obernolte.house.gov/ 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Mono 

Post Office Box 696 

Bridgeport, California 93517 

(760) 932‐5410 

www.mono.county.ca.gov 



 
   

Mono County 
2021 State and Federal Legislative Platform 

Reviewed and adopted by the Mono County Board of Supervisors 
March 2, 2021 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 2  

Mono County Board of Supervisors 

Jennifer Kreitz...................................... District 1 

Rhonda Duggan.................................... District 2 

Bob Gardner ........................................ District 3 

John Peters .......................................... District 4 

Stacy Corless........................................ District 5 

   

 
Need Current 
Picture of BOS 

Robert C. Lawton 
County Administrative Officer 
PO Box 696 
Bridgeport, CA 93517 
Tel: (760) 932‐5415 
Email: rlawton@mono.ca.gov 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 3 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Guidelines for Implementation of this Platform .............................................................................................. 6 

State Priorities .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

1)  Protect County revenue sources ................................................................................................. 8 

2)  Encourage regulation relief/reform ............................................................................................ 8 

3)  Natural Resources, Public Lands and Agriculture ....................................................................... 9 

4)  Public Safety and Criminal Justice ............................................................................................. 12 

5)  Transportation and Infrastructure ............................................................................................ 13 

6)  Administrative and Fiscal Services ............................................................................................ 14 

7)  Health and Human Services ...................................................................................................... 15 

8)  Economic Development ............................................................................................................ 22 

Federal Priorities ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

1)  Support Funding/Program Preservation ................................................................................... 23 

2)  Natural Resources, Public Lands, and Agriculture .................................................................... 24 

3)  Public Safety and Criminal Justice ............................................................................................. 27 

4)  Transportation and Infrastructure ............................................................................................ 28 

5)  Health and Human Services ...................................................................................................... 29 

County Attractions ......................................................................................................................................... 35 

Elected State Representatives: ...................................................................................................................... 37 

Elected Federal Representatives: .................................................................................................................. 37 

   



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 4 

 

Introduction 

Mono County, California, is a rural county situated between the crest of the Sierra Nevada and 
the California/Nevada border. Accessed by US Highway 395 which weaves  its way north‐south 
and is a state‐designated Scenic Byway from its southern boundary all the way to Topaz Lake in 
the north, Mono County is 108 miles in length, and has an average width of only 38 miles. With 
dramatic mountain boundaries that rise  in elevation to over 13,000 feet, the county’s diverse 
landscape includes forests of Jeffrey and Lodgepole pine, juniper and aspen groves, hundreds of 
lakes, alpine meadows, streams and rivers, and sage‐covered high desert. The county has a land 
area of 3,030 square miles, or just over 2 million acres, 94% of which is publicly owned. Much of 
the land is contained in the Inyo and Humboldt‐Toiyabe National Forests, as well as the John Muir 
and Ansel Adams Wilderness areas. As a result, Mono County offers vast scenic and recreational 
resources, and has unsurpassed access to wilderness and outdoor recreation and adventure. 

The county is home to, and 
named after, Mono Lake, 
which is a large high‐desert 
saline lake with intriguing 
limestone tufa formations 
and is a vital habitat for 
millions of migratory and 
nesting birds. Mono Lake is 
just one of the reasons that 
Mono County draws 
landscape photographers 
year‐round. 

Another highlight is the historic gold rush town of Bodie, which during its heyday in the late 
1800s, was home to as many as 10,000 people, and is now maintained as a State Historic Park 
with about 200 buildings still standing 
as they were left, preserved in a state 
of “arrested decay” for visitors to 
enjoy. Other natural wonders that 
attract people to Mono County include 
Devils Postpile National Monument, 
one of the world’s finest examples of 
columnar basalt and the headwaters of 
the Owens and Middle Fork San Joaquin 
Rivers; two of the state’s most 
important watersheds. Yosemite 
National Park’s eastern entrance at 
Tioga Pass is only 12 miles from Lee 
Vining and Mono Lake. 

Mono County Tourism / Mono Lake Tufas 

Mono County Tourism / Bodie State Historic Park



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 5 

 

Mono County has several small towns and 
charming villages, each with its own scenic 
beauty, year‐round recreational 
opportunities, natural and historical 
attractions, and unique characteristics. The 
County seat is proudly located in 
Bridgeport, where the original 1881 
courthouse is the second oldest in the state 
to be in continuous use. The only 
incorporated town in the county is 
Mammoth Lakes, which is located at the 
base of world‐renowned Mammoth 
Mountain Ski Area, with a summit of 11,053 
feet, over 3500 skiable acres, 28 lifts, and an 
average of 400 inches of snowfall annually. 
For example, January 2017 recorded historic amounts of snow, with 20.5 feet accumulating in 
Mammoth during that month alone. Approximately 8,100 people reside in the Mammoth Lakes 
area year‐round, and during the peak winter season, the population swells to over 35,000 when 
visitors from around the state, country, and world come to ski, snowboard, and take part in many 
other winter activities. The sister resort, June Mountain, just 20 miles north of Mammoth, offers 
uncrowded, wide‐open slopes and a more peaceful, family‐friendly alternative to busier ski 
areas. 

Summer, however, is when Mono County really shines. The region offers countless miles of alpine 
hiking, superb trout fishing at dozens of well‐stocked lakes, streams and rivers, kayaking, 

cycling,  horseback  riding,  golfing, 
and  endless  warm‐weather 
adventures.  Photographers  flock  to 
the  county  in  September  and 
October when it is almost impossible 
to take a bad photo of the fall color 
that  lights  up  the  Eastern  Sierra 
landscape. Sunset Magazine named 
Mono  County  one  of  the  “Top  5 
places  to  Hike”  in  autumn  and 
TravelAndLeisure.com  listed  Mono 
County as one of “America’s Best Fall 
Color Drives. 

 
Mono County Tourism/Silver Lake 

 

A wide  variety  of  lodging,  restaurants,  and  shops  are  available  throughout  the  county,  and 
commercial air service to Mammoth Yosemite Airport, just a 10‐minute drive from the Town of 
Mammoth Lakes, is accessible non‐stop and year‐round from Los Angeles, and seasonally from 
many other airports. Air services are offered through United Airlines and JSX.

Mono County Tourism / Bridgeport Courthouse

Mono County Tourism / Silver Lake 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 6  

State and Federal General Guidelines for Implementation of this Platform 

It is the intention of the Board of Supervisors that this Legislative Platform streamline and 
support the County’s ability to comment on matters impacting the County and its citizens.  
Accordingly, any individual Board Member or Department Head, in consultation with the CAO 
and the Board Chair (unless consultation with the Chair would result in a violation of the Brown 
Act), may draft and submit a letter on behalf of the entire Board of Supervisors in support of or in 
opposition to an issue or matter addressed in this Legislative Platform, provided that the letter is 
consistent with the position expressed in this Platform.  Following its delivery or mailing, the 
letter shall be placed on the next available Board of Supervisors’ agenda as correspondence so 
that other Board Members, and the public, are aware of its contents. 

When a request for a letter in support of or in opposition to an issue or matter comes to the 
attention of a Department Head, the Department Head shall first consult this Legislative Platform 
for consistency with policy direction as described above.  If there is no clear policy direction in 
this Platform, but the subject of the letter is consistent with the goals and workplan of the county 
department, the Department Head shall draft the proposed letter and present it to the CAO for 
approval.  The CAO may additionally consult with the Board Chair in his or her discretion.  If the 
proposed letter is approved by the CAO, the Department Head may send the letter and, if the 
subject matter is of interest to the entire Board, place it on the next available Board of 
Supervisors’ agenda under correspondence.  If the proposed letter is not approved by the CAO, 
the Department Head may agendize it for consideration and possible approval by the full Board. 

The Mono County Board of Supervisors supports the general guidelines set forth below. County 
staff will apply these guidelines in evaluating State and Federal legislation, as well as executive 
and regulatory actions. It is the Board’s objective to implement these guidelines. 

To support the County’s service to the community, the County should: 

o Support legislative and budget efforts that protect and/or enhance local 
government revenues, maximize the County’s access to state and federal funding 
sources, including pandemic support and relief programs, and/or increase local 
funding flexibility; 

o Oppose any effort to balance the State budget through the taking of local 
government resources; 

o Support legislation that protects the County’s quality of life and diverse natural 
resources, while preserving the essence and historic values of the County; 

o Support legislation that provides tax and funding formulas for the equitable 
distribution of state and federal monies while opposing attempts to decrease, 
restrict, or eliminate County revenue sources; 

o Support legislation and budget action which provides additional and continued 
funding for local road infrastructure, including complete street features; 

Commented [RL1]: Change per Stacey Simon 

Commented [RL2]: Addition per Stacey Simon 

Commented [RL3]: Recommended by Alicia Vennos 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 7  

o Oppose legislative and administrative actions which would create federal 
unfunded mandates and/or preempt local decision‐making authority; 

o Support legislation that realigns governmental services in such a manner as to 
improve the delivery of services and make government more accountable to the 
people; 

o Support the promotion of tourism, recreation, sustainable fisheries, filming, and a 
diversified local economy in the Eastern Sierra to achieve strong economic growth 
and prosperity; 

o Continue to support legislation that honors our veterans for their service to our 
country; 

o Support efforts that further the strategic directions outlined in the County’s 
Strategic Plan; 

o Engage on any proposals to repeal or additionally alter the Affordable Care Act 
(ACA), which provides Mono County citizens the ability to obtain affordable health 
care; 

o Support efforts to combat climate change; 

o Support legislation that seeks to address the insufficient quantity and quality of 
homes affordable to our residents; and 

o Support legislation that addresses the burgeoning substance use disorder crisis 
and increases access to Medication Assisted Treatment. 

o Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives 
requiring county involvement.  

o Support legislation that waives the local share of cost of all emergency response 
and disaster recovery activities.  

o Support funding for counties to provide for higher demands on critical recovery 
services. 

o Support local, regional, state, and federal initiatives and legislation that advance 
efforts to dismantle systemic racism and reduce inequity. 

   

Commented [RL4]: Recommended by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL5]: Recommended by Sheriff Braun 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 8 

 

State Priorities 

1) Protect County revenue sources 

Many County programs are at risk due to the instability of State funding. The Board of 
Supervisors supports efforts to sustain funding, enabling the continuation of critical programs 
for Mono County’s constituents. 

2) Encourage regulation relief/reform 

Mono County applauds California’s efforts to protect the environment. The Board supports 
efforts to achieve responsible regulation relief in the following areas: 

a) Provide regulatory relief for solid waste operations 

i) Continue to provide regulatory relief to rural jurisdictions from statewide solid waste 
and recycling mandates when recycling infrastructure does not yet exist and causes 
significant transportation costs and emissions. 

ii) Provide funding for the siting and development of recycling infrastructure, and/or 
develop policies within state agencies and businesses such as Caltrans, Los Angeles 
Department of Water and Power and Southern California Edison for the local re‐use of 
materials (glass cullet, wood chips) when generated in rural areas. 

b) Support CARB compliance legislation 

Support legislation regarding California Air Resources Board (CARB) compliance to assist 
rural counties with the costs associated with State mandated compliance. 

c) Encourage communication between air districts especially as it relates to smoke 
management. 

d) Support environmental processing legislation 

Support legislation that streamlines environmental processing, including the application of 
certain urban exemptions under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) to rural 
communities. 

e) Support regulation of short‐term rental online platforms 

Online short‐term rental platforms are unregulated, leaving accountability and compliance 
issues to local jurisdictions. Mono County urges the legislature to support regulation of 
short‐term rentals to ensure an even playing field with traditional commercial lodging, 
require accountability, provide for tax collection, and support compliance at the state and 
local levels. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 9 

 

f) Ensure adequate oversight of state requirements for commercial cannabis activities, 
respect local CEQA processes for cannabis permits and encourage development of hemp 
regulations 

Mono County is concerned about the state’s allocation of resources for monitoring and 
inspection of commercial cannabis permits to ensure compliance with state requirements, 
particularly in rural areas like Mono County. Where oversight is delegated to local agencies, 
such as the Agricultural Commissioner, adequate funding should also be provided. Where 
oversight is retained by the state, state agency staff should have adequate on‐the‐ground 
presence to ensure accountability and compliance without increasing the burden on local 
jurisdiction staff. Further, the state should respect the CEQA process conducted by local 
jurisdictions serving as lead agencies, even if the state’s responsible agency role is not 
triggered, or assume lead agency status and conduct separate CEQA evaluations for the 
approval of state licenses. In addition, the state has issued emergency regulations for hemp 
cultivation but has not yet proposed a regulatory plan for final regulations or federal 
government review. As with cannabis, state industrial hemp regulations are critical for local 
governments to craft local regulations that create a comprehensive set of rules to that 
protect public health and safety while providing for the industry. Without those state 
regulations, local jurisdictions are acting in a vacuum that may increase challenges due to 
uncoordinated or inconsistent requirements and approval processes. The state should 
continue working toward federally approved industrial hemp regulations. 

g) Continue to provide and increase funding for local jurisdictions to meet affordable 
housing goals 

In an effort to address affordable housing needs throughout the state, new housing laws 
are passed every year. Some carry new mandates that place a regulatory burden on local 
jurisdictions, and some simply require funding to implement. We encourage the State to 
continue providing new funding streams, such as SB 2 and the Regional Early Action 
Planning (REAP) grants program, as well as technical assistance programs, to assist local 
jurisdictions with meeting new mandates and working toward statewide and local housing 
goals. 

3) Natural Resources, Public Lands and Agriculture 

a) Support sustainable funding for State parks 

Continue to support measures to sustain our State parks, roads that access these parks, and 
recreation programs for the continued enjoyment of visitors and residents. Closure or 
underfunding of these parks would result in a significant negative economic impact on our 
County as tourism and recreation are our most important economic drivers. 

b) Protect our communities from wildfire and promote forest health 

Commented [RL6]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Wendy Sugimura 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 10 

 

Support a balanced approach to fuels management that increases funding and capacity for 
community protection and, also, considers air quality and other health related issues within 
the Great Basin Unified Air Pollution Control District. 

c) Support legislation regarding programs and policies that promote the creation of both 
state and local disaster prevention, response, and recovery planning policy. 

d) Support continued and enhanced state funding for non‐native, invasive plant 
management programs 

After years of no state funding allocation, weed management area groups throughout the 
state will have funding opportunities in the coming budget year. These programs are critical 
to the protection of our local and statewide environment, and have proven positive effects 
on natural fire regimes, species diversity, watershed health, and many other concerns. 
State funding for these programs should be maintained and enhanced if possible. 

e) Ensure full funding of California Department of Fish and Wildlife Hatchery and Inland 
Fisheries Program (AB 7 ‐ 2006) 

In 2006, AB 7 dedicated by law one third of all sport fishing license fees to be used for 
adequate stocking of Department of Fish and Wildlife Hatcheries. Beyond the funding 
dedication, AB 7 dictated the size of fish to be stocked. Recent California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) actions, as well as state budget actions, have reduced the size of 
the stocking fish and not fully directed the fee funding to this program. Mono County 
supports the original intent including all funding being directed to the state hatchery 
program, fish size, and reproducing diploid fish countywide as described in the original 
legislation. 

f) Support budget appropriations to modernize and maintain the state hatchery system. 

g) Support a balanced approach to regulating fishing 

Support a fishing season in the Eastern Sierra that provides economic opportunity while 
maintaining the balance of environmental health and sustainable fisheries and requires 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) to notify local government of proposed 
fishing regulation changes. 

h) Support sustainable fishing 

Support the funding of efforts to enhance the fish population in Mono County including 
sustainable fishing, ongoing fish stocking, education for proper catch and release practices, 
protection of spawning waterways, and support of the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife (CDFW) stocking of diploid trout in allowable waters. 

i) Support bio‐energy action plan development 

Commented [RL7]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Alicia Vennos 

Commented [RL8]: Amendment recommended by Alicia 
Vennos 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 11 

 

Encourage the various state agencies involved to continue evolving this field of work to 
produce and permit cleaner, more affordable technology based on sustainable and healthy 
forestry principles in a manner that benefits rural Sierra economies. Mono County has 
encouraged state agencies, such as the Sierra Nevada Conservancy (SNC) and California 
Energy Commission (CEC) to provide funding for project scoping and planning. 

j) Support legislation that promotes, protects, or facilitates the sustainability of our local 
agriculture 

Mono County agriculture is an important local economic driver. It provides jobs and 
contributes to the open‐space landscape that draws visitors. Reinstate Williamson Act 
subventions and continue to develop alternative funding measures, such as the Strategic 
Growth Council’s Sustainable Agricultural Lands Conservation Program. 

k) Support development of domestic recycling markets and streamline process for recycling 
infrastructure development. 

Domestic recycling markets are needed to address the changes in international trade 
policies which have disrupted California’s solid waste and recycling industry by restricting 
foreign imports of recyclable materials and requiring reduced contamination levels in 
recycling streams. In order to meet California’s ambitious recycling mandates, investment 
in and development of domestic markets has become necessary. 

l) Support legislation that allows for alternative organic programs for rural areas and 
exempts them from the SB 1383 requirements until such time that an economically 
feasible infrastructure is in place 

Rural jurisdictions are disproportionately burdened under mandates of SB 1383/Short Lived 
Climate Pollutants. With no developed infrastructure, no economy of scale and great 
hauling distances to existing infrastructure, this remains a major challenge for rural areas. 

m) Support legislation and funding that eases the burden of implementing the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act, including creating necessary infrastructure in rural, 
sparsely populated areas 

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act provides for local agencies to develop 
groundwater sustainability plans and, pursuant to those plans, sustainably manage 
groundwater resources. The funding mechanism for these activities provided in the law is 
for local agencies to impose fees on water users. Areas subject to the Act in Mono County 
that have been subject to the Act in the past are sparsely populated and primarily in 
agricultural production. Accordingly, very few individuals (less than a dozen) would have to 
bear the significant burden of funding compliance with the Act, should it apply again in the 
future, which would endanger the viability of . This raises real concerns regarding the 
future of Mono County’s agricultural operations.  Commented [RL9]: Amendments to this Item 

recommended by Alicia Vennos 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 12 

 

n) Continued engagement in Bi‐State Sage Grouse conservation efforts 

Mono County appreciates the State’s increased role in sage‐grouse conservation efforts 
and addressing the threat posed by the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power’s 
(LADWP’s) management of water in Long Valley, a key habitat area for the South Mono 
Population Management Unit. The California Department of Fish and Wildlife is a significant 
player in this conservation effort. Ultimately, continuation of the collaborative multi‐party 
partnership, strengthened by including the  cooperative engagement by of LADWP, would 
be the ideal outcome to ensure the health and viability of sage grouse populations warrant 
a new decision not to list the species under the federal Endangered Species Act. If the bird 
us ultimately listed, the result could would be an additional regulatory burden with 
devastating impacts to our Mono County’s agricultural and recreational activity‐based 
economy. 

o) Climate and drought resiliency 

Support measures that provide funding and resources to develop drought and climate 
resilient water supplies in California, such as water recycling and reuse, leak and loss 
prevention/remediation and other solutions to enhance the State’s water resources in 
order to reduce reliance on increasingly unpredictable precipitation amounts. 

4) Public Safety and Criminal Justice 

a) Advocate to prevent adverse local impacts from cannabis and hemp legislation 

Advocate for local control, taxation and funding for addressing the environmental, land use, 
and public safety impacts of the cultivation of cannabis and hemp. 

b) Ensure State realignment & cost‐shifts 

Continue to ensure successful implementation of the broad array of programs transferred 
to county jurisdiction under the 2011 Public Safety Realignment, including appropriate 
distribution of AB 109 funding. Support state policy changes that will allow for greater 
administrative and program flexibility for county programs associated with this shift of 
responsibility. 

c) Support of rural fire districts 

The population of Mono County is highly rural and dependent upon voluntary associations 
that provide basic emergency services. These volunteer fire districts provide services to 
residents and tourists, and they are often the first responders to accidents. Support relief 
for rural fire districts. 

d) Advocate for Community Paramedicine 

Commented [RL10]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Wendy Sugimura 

Commented [RL11]: Insertion of this Item recommended 
by Stacey Simon 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 13 

 

Advocate for the State Emergency Medical Services Agency (EMSA) to expand the current 
number of EMS Programs participating in the Community Paramedicine Demonstration 
Project. 

e) Advocate for legislation to extend the age for juvenile services from 18 through the age of 
20 

Neuroscience supports that brain development continues until the age of 23. 

f) Support legislation that provides financial support to probation 

Provide financial support to probation to include more evidence‐based services and 
incentives for both adults and youth. 

5) Transportation and Infrastructure 

a) Support action for transportation funding 

Support the multiple transportation funding sources that provide for improved 
transportation systems and multimodal networks, including SB 1 as enacted and delivery of 
projects that rehabilitate and improve local roads and related infrastructure. 

b) Support State highway access 

Mono County supports budget policy and legislation to fund rehabilitation of the Bodie 
Road (Highway 270) that provides access to Bodie State Park and to facilitate early Sierra 
Pass openings (including Highways 120 and 108). 

c) Support complete streets and walkable community principles 

Mono County is a strong supporter and advocate of the complete streets and walkable 
community principles in the 2040 California Transportation Plan. This focus is a 
transportation paradigm and culture shift that will impact projects from initiation to 
completion and maintenance. Recently, local jurisdictions have been increasingly tasked 
with the funding and maintenance of complete street features on state facilities such as 
state highways. These maintenance responsibilities lie with the state, and a corresponding 
shift in the functioning and funding of Caltrans is needed to ensure success of complete 
street designs. 

d) Support broadband deployment and communications systems improvements 

Leverage existing work efforts focused on broadband infrastructure investments and 
deployment projects to further increase access to Gigibit Gigabit broadband throughout the 
County. Advocate and work to improve communication systems including: 

i) Plain Old Telephone Systems (POTS) system reliability; 

Commented [RL12]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Wendy Sugimura 

Commented [RL13]: Spelling correction recommended 
by Nate Greenberg 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 14 

 

ii) Reliable 911 service, the NextGen 911 transformation (including the leveraging of 
broadband for improving 911), 211 service, and public notification and warning 
services; 

iii) Cellular‐based communication systems and networks including those designed for 
commercial and public safety use (such as FirstNet); 

iv) Policies, programs, and funding opportunities for other public safety communication 
platforms, including but not limited to Land Mobile Radio; 

v) Appropriate and effective definitions of ‘broadband’ which recognize the importance of 
technology and dependence on the internet for public safety and economic 
development; 

vi) Legislation and associated programs that provide funding for broadband infrastructure 
projects and adoption/education efforts. 

e) Investor‐Owned Utility Wildfire Mitigation and Public Safety Power Shutoff (PSPS) policy 

In coordination with local allied agencies and community organizations, advocate for 
policies and practices which ensure public safety while recognizing and addressing the 
unique challenges of PSPS events in a tourism‐driven rural environment. Encourage utilities’ 
investment in infrastructure hardening, grid modernization, and situational awareness 
tools. 

6) Administrative and Fiscal Services 

a) Support Clerk/Recorder Services and Elections Administration improvements 

Support resources for improving county record keeping services and election 
administration, and monitor legislation that may impact the following: 

i) Recording fees and process, and recorded documents; 
ii) Vital statistic fees and process; 
iii) Public records; 
iv) Unfunded mandates; 
v) Vote‐by‐mail, voter registration, election management systems, elections process, and 

election equipment; 
vi) Funding for records preservation (such as Board of Supervisors historic records); 
vii) Funding for modernization of elections equipment; 

b) Support Vote‐by‐mail legislation 

Support legislation to authorize vote‐by‐mail ballot elections for rural counties. 

c) Support leveraging SB2 Recording fees to return to Mono County for housing. 

d) Support the full funding of all Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILT) 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 15 

 

Support legislation and budget efforts that provide for payment of past due balances and 
continue to maximize the PILT revenue to counties and maintain full funding of PILT 
without restrictions beyond the current authorization. 

e) Oppose legislation that would limit and/or impose significant procedural or substantive 
barriers to counties’ ability to contract for services. 

7) Health and Human Services 

a) Support accurate, adequate, flexible, and stable funding and regulatory interpretation to 
best meet Federal/State Health and Human Services program requirements 

These include Child Welfare Services, Mental Health Services, Substance Use Disorder 
Services, Human Services, Adult Protective Services, In‐Home Supportive Services, 
California Children Services, and Health Reform. In addition, support new innovation by 
maximizing flexibility in program design, increase Federal/State funding leveraging 
opportunities, and streamline State program requirements and regulations including those 
serving specialized needs due to COVID‐19.  

b) Support client access permitting online engagement and electronic interviews to reduce 
cost, increase participation and reduce duplicative eligibility processes. 

b)c) Ensure State and Federal Healthcare Reform has equitable funding formulas for 
rural counties 

Affordable Care Act (ACA) implementation began in 2014, and it is vital that local 
government funding streams reflect equitable distribution formulas to service our rural 
constituents. Securing adequate funding to sustain health care reform measures is 
important to Mono County. Key issues include Medi‐Cal expansion and funding for these 
mandates and continuation of 1991 realignment allocation/amounts. 

c) Support legislation that provides funding to support the Local Primacy Agency (LPA) 
program that ensures safe drinking water to Mono County residents. 

d) Support funding opportunities for environmental health regulation 

Support funding opportunities including fees for State mandates related to environmental 
health regulation of food establishments, sewage disposal facilities, water systems, well 
construction, swimming pools, and recreational health facilities, occupied housing, 
underground storage tank facilities, solid waste facilities, land use development, rabies and 
vector control, and the management of hazardous waste/materials. 

e) Support legislation that provides funding for the Local Primacy Agency (LPA) program 
that ensures safe drinking water to residents 

Commented [RL14]: Addition of these Items 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL15]: Deletion of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson as redundant with other items below. 

Commented [RL16]: Amendment to this Item 
recommended by Louis Molina. See also Item “D” 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 16 

 

The LPA program provides local oversight of small public water systems (SPWS) in Mono 
County. This program is implemented by the Environmental Health Division of the Public 
Health Department. Currently, program costs are offset by annual permit fees collected 
from the SPWS and by Public Health Realignment. The revenues do not cover the costs of 
this program. AB 402, introduced last legislative cycle but continued to this year, proposes 
a new method of financial support of LPA programs statewide whereby an LPA would be 
able to bill the state for costs associated with implementing their LPA program. AB 402 is 
expected to be voted upon by the State legislature this legislative cycle. 

f) Support funding opportunities for Mono County’s CUPA Program 

The California Unified Program Agency (CUPA) is implemented by the Environmental Health 
Division of the Public Health Department. Funding for this program is provided through 
environmental health fees and Public Health Realignment. In the past, the CUPA was 
provide grant funding through Cal EPA to offset costs incurred in implementing the 
program. This grant funding was subsequently discontinued last year. Negotiations are 
ongoing to reinstitute this funding program. 

g) Support legislation for public health programs 

Support legislation and programing, and advocate for upstream approaches to health and 
preventative public health programs including Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health 
(MCAH), Oral Health, Tobacco Education, Women, Infants and Children (WIC), Emergency 
Preparedness, Communicable Disease, HIV/STDs, and Immunizations. 

h) Support revenue opportunities and increased flexibility with State allocations for local 
public health departments 

With rising costs of business, the Mono County Health Department’s expenditures are now 
greater than its revenues. With a decline of Public Health Realignment funds since 2007, 
these dollars no longer cover the cost of fulfilling mandates, backfilling State grants, and 
addressing local health priorities. Opportunities include increasing revenues through State 
allocations and advocating for a broader, less restrictive scope of work which can be 
tailored to a community’s unique health needs. 

i) Support public health fiscal sustainability in rural counties in the form of relaxed 
programmatic FTE requirements and indirect cost rate caps 

Health programs are continually evolving and new opportunities to improve community 
wellness are on the rise. Rural counties face unique recruitment and retention challenges 
and much of the prospective funding comes with strict FTE requirements and/or caps on 
what can be reimbursed in indirect costs. Funding allocations usually do not provide 
enough resources to hire new staff and the majority of existing staff manage or support 
multiple public health programs. Additionally, funding allocations do not cover the true cost 

Commented [RL17]: Amendment to this Item 
recommended by Louis Molina; legislation not signed by 
Governor Newsom. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 17 

 

of the program, especially overhead costs, leading to difficult decisions about implementing 
programs that have been recognized as a need in our rural communities. 

j) Support legislation for health providers 

Support legislation and advocate for increasing the number of dental and medical providers 
in rural counties, especially those who accept Medi‐Cal and Denti‐Cal insurance. 

k) Advocate for a level of funding that enables counties to properly administer the Medi‐Cal 
program on the state’s behalf. 

l) Support improvements to Medi‐Cal 

Support the streamlining of the Medi‐Cal administration and improve access to health 
coverage for uninsured families. 

m) Support legislation that would increase the number of volunteer Emergency Medical 
Technicians 

Current licensing requirements are onerous and deter volunteer first responders from 
seeking EMT licenses. 

n) Provide a State funding stream for county spending on Public Administrator/Public 
Guardian/Public Conservator (PA/PG/PC) programs 

County Public Administrator, Public Guardian and Public Conservator (PA|PG|PC) programs 
provide critical safety net services to the most vulnerable adult Californians. The PG/PC 
provides protective services to individuals with diminished capacity to make decisions due 
to cognitive impairments and severe mental illness. The PA function handles the disposition 
of deceased estates. Working collaboratively with local medical, mental health, social 
services, and justice providers, PA|PG|PC programs petition the Courts to be appointed the 
legal decision maker with regard to healthcare, psychiatric care, and/or financial 
management for clients who are unable to make decisions for themselves. County 
PA|PG|PCs are the only major county safety net programs that receive no direct State or 
Federal funding. Significant legislative changes to PA|PG|PC services, such as the Omnibus 
Conservator Act of 2006, and amendments to California Penal Code 1370 regarding criminal 
defendants who are found to be incompetent to stand trial and deemed unrestorable, have 
profoundly impacted programs through significant increases in referrals and case 
complexity. County PA|PG|PC programs on average are short staffed by 20% or more 
according to a 2018 study by CAPAPGPC and this impacts their ability to provide high 
quality services, find housing for conservatees, and stabilize treatment. Last year, the 
coalition requested augmenting spending on PA|PG|PC programs by $68 million GF 
annually or by 35% statewide which would significantly improve the lives of impaired 
Californians. (Co‐sponsored by CBHDA with the California State Association of Counties, 

Commented [R18]: Amendment to this Item 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 18 

 

California Association of Public Administrators, Public Guardians and Public Conservators, 
and Service Employees International Union – California) 

o) Support legislation that increases services and supports Child Welfare 

i) Federal Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018: Support full state funding of 
required program changes to enact the newly mandated child welfare system reforms 
related to this Act. 

i) Support legislation that increases services and resources for caregivers of children and 
former foster youth who are victims of or at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation. 

ii) Support legislation that increases and supports appropriate short and long‐term 
placements, services, and resource options for children and former foster youth who 
are victims of or at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation. 

p) Support county implementation of the Continuum of Care Reform 

Support adequate funding for county implementation of the Continuum of Care Reform 
including the recruitment, retention, and support of resource families so that they may 
provide stable, loving homes for children in the foster care system. 

q) Support legislative, administrative and budgetary efforts that seek to maintain active and 
healthy independence for seniors and the disabled 

including affordable housing, funding and other support for those who are homeless or at 
imminent risk of homelessness. 

r) Support legislation to increase skilled nursing facilities that are willing to accept dually 
diagnosed seniors with comorbid medical and mental health conditions. 

r)s) Older Adults and Persons with DisabilitiesSupport legislation that increases Adult and 
Disability Services 

i) Support legislation that promotes the financial sustainability of the In‐ Home Supportive 
Services Program through programmatic changes and appropriate cost sharing 
mechanisms between the State and counties. 

i) Support efforts to increase resources and services available to adults who are unable to 
live independently or victims of or at‐risk of abuse or neglect and the individuals who 
provide them with care. Support legislative and budgetary efforts to reduce 
fragmentation within the long‐ term care delivery system and adequately fund a system 
of care for seniors in California. A coordinated support system would better utilize state 
resources and provide a greater benefit to those receiving services. 

ii) Support the continuation of federal and state funding for IHSS and oppose any efforts 
to shift additional IHSS costs to counties. 

Commented [R19]: Amendment to this Item 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL20]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL21]: Deletion of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL22]: Deletion of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL23]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL24]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 19 

 

iii) Support funding for the full range of aging programs that provide services to older 
adults including services provided by Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), senior nutrition 
programs, caregiver supports, resource centers, ombudsman programs, and home and 
community‐based supports. 

iv) Support legislation that would establish a comprehensive and coordinated system and 
provide options for long term care activities that will secure and maintain maximum 
independence and dignity in a home environment, remove individual and social barriers 
to economic and personal independence, provide a continuum of care for vulnerable 
seniors, and provide a comprehensive response to elder abuse/neglect and 
exploitation. 

ii)v) Support legislation to increase skilled nursing facilities that are willing to 
accept dually diagnosed seniors with comorbid medical and mental health conditions. 

s)t) Support efforts to develop permanent supportive housing and affordable housing 

i) Support State laws that support affordable housing and broaden the opportunities and 
reduce barriers for local government, and non‐profit housing entities and 
instrumentalities of government to increase homeownership and the creation of rental 
housing. This includes repealing of California State Constitution Article XXXIV. In 
addition, support increased financing, subsidy options, and tax incentives to support 
development of new, affordable housing units in rural communities such as Mono 
County. 

ii) Support efforts to streamline funding, construction processes and land use regulations, 
which expedite the development of low and moderate income housing units and allow 
local governments to adequately plan to meet the housing needs of all economic 
segments of the community. 

iii) Support measures that enable seniors and the adult disabled population to obtain 
affordable housing and live independently. 

iv) Support additional funding for the Older Californians Act and other programs that assist 
older adults and caregivers. 

t)u) Support the enhancement of childcare and development 

Support measures that enhance the overall quality, affordability, capacity, accessibility, and 
safety of childcare and development programs. Specifically, support legislation and budget 
action that would: 

i) Ensure continuity of childcare for children and families. 
ii) Preserve, protect and increase funding for subsidized and other government‐funded 

childcare. 

v) Support measures that seek to prevent Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), address 
the impacts of trauma, and build resilience. 

Commented [RL25]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 20 

 

iii)i) Support legislation and budget efforts that support children, youth, and 
families, including restoring and expanding quality childcare and preschool 
opportunities, homeless youth, promoting safety for all children, and mental and 
developmental health prevention and early intervention activities. 

u)w) Support legislation to combat human trafficking 

Support legislation that will develop or enhance programs and services to combat the 
negative impact that human trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation of children has 
on victims and support efforts to provide additional tools, resources, and funding to help 
counties address this growing problem. 

v)x) Support full funding to ensure that state mandates are cost‐neutral to the County and 
pursue revisions to streamline the process for local government. 

w)y) State Realignment & Cost‐Shifts 

Oppose proposals to restructure, realign, or otherwise shift the cost of programs to local 
government, without commensurate compensation. 

x)z) Support legislation, funding opportunities, and multidisciplinary efforts to provide harm 
reduction and substance use disorder services in Mono County. 

y)aa) Support Peer Support Certification (SB 803) 

Unlike 48 states, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs (DVA), California fails to value or maximize the benefits of providers with 
lived experience in the state’s Medicaid program, Medi‐Cal, because California does not 
certify peer support specialists nor recognize these professionals as Medi‐Cal billable 
providers. In addition, unlike most states and the DVA, California does not include peer 
support services as a Medi‐Cal mental health benefit. Demand for peer services is growing, 
but there is no statewide scope of practice, training standards, supervision standards, or 
certification in California. SB 803 (Beall) establishes a statewide certification program for 
peer support specialists and provides the structure needed to maximize the federal match 
for peer services under Medi‐Cal. The program defines the range of responsibilities and 
practice guidelines for peer support specialists, specifies required training and continuing 
education requirements, determines clinical supervision requirements, and establishes a 
code of ethics and processes for revocation of certification. (Cosponsored by CBHDA with 
Los Angeles County, The Steinberg Institute, and the California Association of Mental Health 
Peer Run Organizations (CAMHPRO)) 

z)bb) Support legislation effort that would encourage Integrated School Behavioral 
Health Services 

Commented [RL26]: Addition of this item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 21 

 

The Integrated School‐Based Behavioral Health Services Partnership Program (Partnership 
Program) encourages local educational agencies (LEAs) and county behavioral health 
agencies to collaborate on providing on‐campus services for students at the earliest onset 
of a behavioral health condition. In the schools participating in the Partnership Programs, 
county behavioral health agency trained professionals will serve any student appropriately 
referred by school personnel, including Medi‐Cal beneficiaries, privately‐insured and 
uninsured students and provide brief initial intervention services intended to prevent a 
behavioral health condition from worsening. The county behavioral health professionals 
will ensure privately‐insured students access a private plan provider, if available. If the 
private plan cannot provide an appropriate provider within state mandated timely access 
timeframes, the county behavioral health agency will initiate services as appropriate and 
consistent with professionally recognized standards of practice. The Partnership Program 
will include annual reporting requirements to help the state evaluate the impact of these 
intervention services on the health and well‐being of students. 

aa)cc) Strengthen the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) 

Support legislation proposals to review the MHSA, recognizing the importance and 
significant contribution this critical funding source has made to persons with mental illness. 
The MHSA review provides the opportunity to reflect on 15 years of MHSA implementation 
and find areas for improvement while preserving core MHSA services, including the crisis 
continuum, prevention/early intervention, and full‐service partnerships. Improvements 
should seek to eliminate restrictive mandatory funding distributions for each component of 
the MHSA and ensure MHSA funds can be used for individuals with primary substance use 
disorder diagnoses, as well as support the protection of MHSA’s current ratios and funding 
for small, rural counties. A review should also identify a process for the development of 
statewide performance and outcome measures to be reported annually to the state, the 
legislature and the public. 

bb)dd) Enhance Board and Care rates to prevent further loss of critical housing for SMI 
clients and build out housing options 

There is a critical lack of housing in California, particularly for its most vulnerable low‐
income adults most at‐risk of homelessness: older adults, persons with disabilities, and 
persons with serious mental illness (SMI). With the rapidly growing aging population and 
continually rising housing costs, the homeless population is expected to grow, and a larger 
number of the homeless population are expected to be disabled and elderly. Even more 
alarming, California has lost hundreds of board and care homes in recent years that are 
specifically set up to serve these very populations. Los Angeles County has lost about 1200 
beds since January 2016. The reimbursement rates provided by SSI/SSP are inadequate at 
$35/ day and counties do not have the capacity to patch facilities at the demand needed. 
CBHDA proposes enhancing board and care rates through $500 million one‐time General 
Fund (GF), reforming punitive regulations/ enforcement of facilities by CDSS, and exploring 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 22 

 

federal waiver opportunities to fund board and cares. (Co‐ sponsored by CBHDA with the 
Steinberg Institute) 

i) Status: Board and Care funding is a component of the $750 million Flexible Funding 
Pool Proposed in the Governor’s January budget, however, CBHDA will request a state 
lawmaker sponsor the full $500 million budget request via the legislature for 
consideration as part of the budget. 

cc)ee) Pursue Funding for Pretrial Mental Health Diversion (AB 1810) 

There is an overrepresentation of individuals with SMI in the criminal justice system. All too 
often, individuals with SMI in crisis are inappropriately routed by law enforcement into jails 
and ultimately prison, instead of receiving treatment in the community. Once incarcerated, 
individuals living with a mental illness tend to stay longer in jail and upon release are at a 
higher risk of returning to incarceration than those without a mental illness. A significant 
number of individuals experiencing homelessness with behavioral health conditions can 
cycle in and out of the criminal justice system. California passed in 2018 AB 1810 which 
establishes pre‐trial MH diversion in CA for individuals with SMI and who could be 
experiencing homelessness. Funding AB 1810 with $250 million one‐ time GF would help 
alleviate strains on justice systems and break the cycle of individuals experiencing 
homelessness with SMI from cycling in and out of the justice system. (Co‐sponsored by 
CBHDA with the Steinberg Institute) 

8) Economic Development 

a) Support new and current business development 

Support legislation and programs that support economic development efforts that augment 
and promote business retention and expansion, as well as create an environment 
conducive to new business attraction. 

b) Support of commercial filming 

Support bills and initiatives to attract and retain film production in the state as increased 
filming statewide will result in commercial opportunities for commercial filming projects in 
Mono County. 

c) Support sustainable tourism and recreation economy 

Support legislation that strengthens the tourism and recreation economy, including the 
formation of a continued support of the State Office of Outdoor Recreation, formed in 
2016. Commented [RL27]: Amendment to this Item 

recommended by Alicia Vennos 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 23 

 

Federal Priorities 

1) Support Funding/Program Preservation 

Support legislative, regulatory, and budget efforts that protect and/or enhance local 
government revenues, maximize the County’s access to federal funding sources, and/or 
increase local funding flexibility. Oppose legislative and administrative actions that would 
create federal unfunded mandates and/or preempt local decision‐making authority. Strongly 
encourage Congress and the President to commit to negotiate successfully so as to avoid any 
future Federal Government shutdowns. 

a) Support Sustainable Funding for Secure Rural Schools 

Support legislation that creates a sustainable revenue stream for Secure Rural Schools, such 
as the Forest Management for Rural Sustainability Act. 

b) Support the full funding of all Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILT) 

Support legislation and budget efforts that continue to maximize the PILT revenue to 
counties and continue full funding of PILT without restrictions beyond the current 
authorization. 

c) Support full federal funding for the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural 
Development (RD) Programs 

Support funding for community development programs and affordable housing such as the 
Section 502 Direct Loan Program and the necessary program staff to implement these 
programs. 

d) Support full and expanded federal funding for Housing and Economic Development 
programs 

Support the highest possible funding level for key federal housing and economic 
development programs, including the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), the 
HOME Investment Partnership Program, and the creation of a minimum four percent Low 
Income Housing Tax Credit floor. 

e) Support continued rural broadband deployment and communications improvements 
through local, State, and Federal policy advocacy, infrastructure projects, and grant 
programs 

Having appropriate policy at the local, State, and Federal levels is imperative to ensure 
adequate communications connectivity, which is a critical part of public safety and 
economic development. Because Mono County has dedicated resources to improve access 
to high‐quality broadband in our communities and as a result of the completion of the 
Digital 395 project, roughly 90% of our households have access to Gigabit internet. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 24 

 

Unfortunately, several Mono County communities and residents still face barriers to 
connectivity as there is inadequate infrastructure to support basic Plain Old Telephone 
Service (POTS) telephone service, including cellular phone service, let‐alone high‐speed 
Internet. In order to improve the landscape, the County should advocate for: 

i) Policies, regulations, and enforcement around providers delivering basic POTS services 
to all locations desiring this service; 

ii) Appropriate and effective definitions of ‘broadband’ which recognize the importance of 
technology and dependence on the internet for public safety and economic 
development; 

iii) Legislation and associated programs that provide funding for broadband infrastructure 
projects and adoption/education efforts; Programs and efforts that move to improve 
the accuracy of metrics used to represent the current state of broadband in Mono 
County. 

f) Support legislation that promotes, protects, or facilitates the sustainability of our local 
agriculture 

Mono County agriculture is an important local economic driver, provides jobs, puts food on 
the table and contributes to the open‐space landscape that draws visitors. 

g) Support Economic Development resources 

i) Support legislation and federal programs that provide access to small business capital 
for local business development through the Small Business Administration, Small 
Business Development Corporation and other government loan and financial programs. 

ii) Support legislation and federal programs that promote locally‐based business retention 
and expansion, as well as create an environment conducive to new business attraction. 

iii) Support initiatives to attract commercial filming opportunities to the region: in 
particular, budgetary allocations that increase capacity for processing special use 
permits on the Inyo and Humboldt Toiyabe National Forests. 

iv) Support bills, initiatives, and programs that strengthen the tourism and recreation 
economy, with a focus on sustainable practices. 

h) Disaster Response 

Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives requiring county 
involvement. 

2) Natural Resources, Public Lands, and Agriculture 

Support legislation that promotes agriculture and that protects the County’s quality of life, its 
diverse natural resources, and preserves the essence and history of the County, along with 
legislation that provides adequate funding for stewardship of our public lands. 

Commented [RL28]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 25 

 

a) Support sustainable funding for federal public lands 

Support measures to sustain our federal lands. Closure or underfunding of these lands 
managed by the US Forest Service, Bureau of Land Management and National Park Service 
would result in a significant negative impact to our county as tourism and recreation are 
our economic drivers. 

b) Support outdoor recreation economy and public lands 

Support the enacted 2016 Outdoor Recreation and Jobs Act and the effort to measure the 
outdoor recreation economy’s contribution to the US Gross Domestic Product. Once the 
federal government fully understands the economic benefits of outdoor recreation, land 
management agencies and local governments will have necessary data to measure the 
impact of the recreation economy and the key role that sustainable recreation needs to 
play in the management decisions of public lands agencies. 

c) Support special designations 

Support special use designations for public lands such as National Scenic Areas, Wild & 
Scenic Rivers, Wilderness, National Monuments, National Conservation Areas, when 
demonstrated conservation values and public support warrant such designations. 

d) Oppose public lands disposal 

Oppose the large‐scale sale, transfer or "disposal" of public lands except for strategic, 
widely supported transfers or exchanges for management and boundary adjustments with 
demonstrated public benefit, for example community expansion in support of affordable 
housing. 

e) Support wildfire funding and fuels reduction 

Support immediate enactment of legislation to change the method of funding wildfire 
suppression on National Forests by providing access to funding outside of the statutory 
discretionary limits for emergency purposes and for investment in additional resources for 
forest management/fuels reduction to mitigate wildfire risk to communities and increase 
forest health. 

f) Support public land infrastructure 

Support increased funding for public land management agencies to address deferred 
maintenance of infrastructure in forests, national parks and reserves that rural counties 
depend on for tourism and recreation‐based economies. 

g) Support regulatory relief for Mill City Cabin Tract funding 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 26 

 

Support administrative and legislative solutions for funding and/or regulatory relief for the 
cleanup of contaminated soils at the Mill City recreation residence tract on the Inyo 
National Forest in Mammoth Lakes. 

h) Support land management directives 

Support Mono County’s tourism and recreation economy by ensuring funding, programs, 
and management directives for federal land agencies (including the Land & Water 
Conservation Fund) that facilitate the planning, building, and maintenance of infrastructure 
for sustainable recreation, travel, and commercial film permitting on public lands. 

i) Support sustainable fishing 

Support the federal initiatives and / or funding of efforts to enhance the fish population in 
Mono County towards enhancement of Mono County’s fish population, including 
sustainable fishing, ongoing fish stocking, education for proper catch and release practices, 
protection of spawning waterways, and support of the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife stocking of diploid trout in allowable waters. 

j) Support the control of invasive species 

Support control and mitigation for the spread of invasive species to protect, conserve, and 
restore public and private lands. 

k) Support biomass project development 

Support legislation that encourages the US Forest Service (USFS) and Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM) to continue actively promoting and assisting with biomass project 
development. 

l) Support alternative energy 

i) Support local efforts to develop renewable, distributed energy sources including but 
not limited to environmentally and appropriately scaled biomass, solar, and wind, while 
ensuring projects and their supporting infrastructure (i.e., transmission lines, pipes 
lines, towers, service roads) does not degrade the County’s quality of life, natural or 
visual resources, water or essence and history. 

ii) Continue to support geothermal power production that is environmentally sustainable 
and doesn’t negatively affect local domestic water supplies. 

m) Support Devils Postpile National Monument legislative requests 

Support legislation to authorize a boundary adjustment request, and to designate a portion 
of the Middle Fork San Joaquin River as Wild & Scenic, as described in Devils Postpile 
National Monuments 2015 Management Plan. 

Commented [RL29]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Alicia Vennos 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 27 

 

n) Support endangered species conservation 

Support a balanced approach to the implementation of endangered species regulation with 
impacts to the rural economy and communities of Mono County. Mono County is fortunate 
to have a rich natural heritage that should be conserved, and it supports the need to 
protect and recover imperiled species. These conservation measures should be specifically 
tailored to the threats and circumstances in the Eastern Sierra and Mono County, and must 
be weighed and balanced against impacts to the fragile tourism and recreation‐based rural 
economy and local communities. Every effort must be made to protect private property 
rights and avoid detrimental impacts to county residents. 

o) Support Red Fox conservation 

In particular, the current proposed listing of the Sierra Nevada Red Fox should be carefully 
evaluated to ensure conditions specific to the Eastern Sierra/Mono County have been taken 
into account. 

p) Support sage grouse conservation 

Mono County appreciates the strong support of the multi‐party, collaborative Bi‐State 
conservation effort, including several federal agencies such as the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service, Bureau of Land Management, U.S. Forest Service (Inyo National Forest and 
Humboldt‐ Toiyabe National Forest), and U.S. Geologic Geological Survey. The coalition 
includes technical and scientific support, legislative and policy support, and funding to 
ensure conservation commitments made during the 2015 listing withdrawal are met and 
honored by federal agencies Ultimately, continuation of the collaborative partnership 
requires the federal agencies to remain stalwart in their commitments with the flexibility to 
address new issues, such as the threat posed management of water by the Los Angeles 
Department of Water and Power’s (LADWP’s) dewatering of Power (LADWP) in Long Valley, 
and adequate budgets to support a positive conservation outcome such that a new decision 
can be made not to list the species under the federal Endangered Species Act. If the bird is 
listed, the result could be an additional regulatory burden with devasting impacts to our 
Mono County’s agricultural and recreational activity‐based economy. 

q) Support legislation to avoid landfilling of waste originating on Federal Land 

Develop policies and programs that successfully re‐use, recycle and transform resources 
that originate on USFS, BLM, and DOD lands. Support policies that reduce the impacts of 
Federally generated waste on local jurisdictions’ waste management systems, and/or 
support policies that enhance local systems to effectively manage Federally‐generated 
waste. 

3) Public Safety and Criminal Justice 

a) Support full funding of Byrne Justice Assistance Grants 

Commented [RL30]: Deletion of this Item recommended 
by Wendy Sugimura 

Commented [RL31]: Amendments to this Item proposed 
by Wendy Sugimura 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 28 

 

Support the preservation of funding levels for existing safety programs such as the Byrne 
Justice Grant (Byrne/JAG) Program and oppose efforts to reduce or divert funding away 
from these programs. 

b) Support continued funding of FEMA’s Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) program 

Support continued funding to enhance the safety of the public and firefighters with respect 
to fire‐related hazards by providing direct financial assistance to eligible fire departments, 
nonaffiliated Emergency Medical Services organizations, and State Fire Training Academies. 
This funding is for critically needed resources to equip and train emergency personnel to 
recognized standards, enhance operations efficiencies, foster interoperability, and support 
community resilience. 

c) Support legislation that resolves the conflict federal statutes have with legalization of 
recreational cannabis use in California 

Ideally, this includes removing cannabis as a schedule 1 drug and providing cannabis 
businesses with access to business banking services by changing federal banking access 
laws. Barring a legislative solution by Congress, the County supports reinstatement of the 
concepts stated in the past Justice Department memorandums allowing for commercial 
cannabis activities to operate free and clear of federal enforcement interference so long as 
the County has a robust regulatory framework in place. 

d) Urge common‐sense gun safety legislation. 

e) Support sustainable Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) funding for airport safety 
related projects on public and private property on or near our airports. 

4) Transportation and Infrastructure 

a) Ensure that federal transportation formulas support rural road infrastructure 

Mono County relies on the network of state highways and locally maintained roads to link 
residents to essential services. Transportation funding formulas should provide funding 
protections or guarantees for California’s rural transportation system and reflect that rural 
counties lack viable means to fund larger projects that provide statewide benefit. We must 
advocate for formulas that distribute federal funds to support local transportation 
priorities. 

b) Support efforts to protect the Highway Trust Fund 

Support efforts protecting the Highway Trust Fund and programs that provide funding for 
local roads, bridges, and transit initiatives including pedestrian and bicycle systems, and 
other multi‐modal transportation programs. 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 29 

 

c) Provide funding that maintains and enhances regional access across Federal Lands and 
National Parks 

Mono County supports budget policy and legislation that maintains, enhances, and extends 
the operational season of roads crossing federal lands and National Parks that provide 
access to communities, federal lands, national parks and monuments. 

d) Support federal highway accessMono County supports budget policy and legislation that 
funds infrastructure such as roads on federal land with access to popular destinations 
including national parks and monuments. 

e)d) Support Yosemite Area Regional Transportation and Eastern Sierra Transit 
Authority funding 

Support efforts to seek sustainable funding for regional public transportation to Yosemite 
National Park, other National Parks in our region, and other public lands destinations 
throughout the Eastern Sierra. 

f)e) Support the resurgence of the Scenic Byway program 

Mono County completed a Scenic Byway Corridor Plan through a federal grant, then 
shelved the plan because the Scenic Byway program was not funded. The program has 
been re‐established, and continuity of funding is needed for jurisdictions to dust off inactive 
plans, program their implementation into the workflow again, and being making an impact. 

5) Health and Human Services 

a) COVID 19 

Support and advocate for any legislative or budgetary action, including stimulus money, 
related to the response, recovery and/ or economic impacts of COVID‐19 both during the 
emergency and the long‐term effects of the pandemic. 

b) Disaster Response 

Support measures that increase resources for disaster response initiatives requiring county 
involvement. 

c) Support Cost‐Neutral Federal Mandates 

Support full funding to ensure that federal mandates are cost‐neutral to the County and 
pursue revisions to streamline the process for local government. 

d) Oppose legislation to repeal the Affordable Care Act (ACA) 

Commented [RL32]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL33]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 30 

 

Work to preserve and expand the number of citizens currently receiving health insurance. 
Oppose efforts to reduce benefits and block grants or other actions that would shift the 
current federal/state cost and responsibility to the states and counties. 

e) Ensure that Affordable Care Act (ACA) funding is maintained for local governments 

Support the Prevention and Public Health Fund of the ACA, the nation’s first dedicated 
mandatory funding stream for public health and prevention activities, which supports 
Mono County health care services to underserved residents. 

f) Medi‐Cal Funding 

Support all efforts to adequately fund the federal Medicaid program. Similarly, oppose all 
efforts to block grant, cap or otherwise reduce federal and state funding to support this 
critical safety net program. 

g) Administration of the Medi‐Cal program 

Fully fund county costs for County administration of the Medi‐Cal program. 

h) Managed Care Medi‐Cal 

Advocate for a Medi‐Cal Managed Care model that generates high healthcare quality 
scores, increases primary care capacity, improves coordination of care, and conducts 
outreach to enroll uninsured populations. 

i) Oppose funding reductions for Medicaid 

Oppose efforts to reduce or block grant federal funding for Medicaid administration or 
benefits, including efforts to place a per‐ capita cap on funding or limiting the ability of 
states to leverage funds through assessments on providers. 

j) Oppose federal efforts mandating states to require work as a condition for receiving 
Medicaid benefits. 

k)j) Oppose other eligibility changes, including but not limited to elimination of 
retroactive benefits or grace periods for eligibility pending verifications. 

l)k) Oppose turning Medicaid over to States 

Oppose efforts to turn Medicaid (Medi‐Cal in California) over to the states with less federal 
funding. 

m)l) Support full funding of programs that provide health insurance to children. 

n)m) Support funding of Veterans benefits 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 31 

 

Support provision and funding for current benefits and health care programs for Veterans. 

o)n) Support Women’s Rights to Health 

Health care is key to women’s well‐being and economic stability. Support provisions that 
make sure new health care law works for women. 

p)o) Support Child Welfare 

i) Federal Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018 
Advocate for full federal and state funding of the Federal Family First Prevention 
Services Act of 2018 (P.L. 115‐123) enacted to reform the federal foster care system. 

i) Support amendments to the Family First Prevention Services Act to better align the 
FFPSA with California’s Continuum of Care Reform initiatives and prevention services 
provided in the state. 

ii) Support efforts to reform child welfare financing, including expanding the types of 
prevention activities eligible for the IV‐E foster care financial match. 

iii) Support a provision allowing for “skyping” with non‐minor youth in the extended 
foster care program when the youth  is attending college or living in another state or 
out of country as an alternative to monthly, in‐person visits. 

iv) Support increased federal funding for services and income support needed by parents 
seeking to reunify with their children in foster care. 

v) Support increased federal financial support for programs that assist foster youth in the 
transition to self‐sufficiency, including post‐ emancipation assistance such as secondary 
education, job training, and access to health care. 

vi) Support retaining the entitlement nature of the Title IV‐E Foster Care and Adoption 
Assistance programs and eliminate outdated rules that base the child's eligibility for 
funds on parental income and circumstances. 

vii) Support legislation that would provide tax credits to companies that hire current or 
former foster youth. 

viii)vii) Support increased federal funding to respond to the service needs of youth 
who are victims of commercial sexual exploitation. 

q)p) Support legislation to combat human trafficking 

Support legislation that will develop or enhance programs and services to combat the 
negative impact that human trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation of children has 
on victims and support efforts to provide additional tools, resources, and funding to help 
counties address this growing problem. 

r)q) Support the enhancement of childcare and development 

Support measures that enhance the overall quality, affordability, capacity, accessibility, and 
safety of childcare and development programs. Specifically, support legislation and budget 
action that would: 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 32 

 

i) Ensure continuity of childcare for children and families. 
ii) Preserve, protect and increase funding for subsidized and other government‐funded 

childcare. 

s)r) Oppose Immigration Reform 

Oppose immigration reform efforts that would eliminate a pathway to full and equal 
citizenship, that would restrict the rights  of immigrants or break up families, or that would 
focus on a mass deportation of undocumented immigrants. 

t) Oppose Legal Immigrant Benefit Changes 

i) Oppose the Administration’s regulatory efforts to include non‐cash benefits in the 
definition of ‘public charge’. 

ii) Oppose federal efforts to further restrict legal immigrants’ access to federal benefits. 

u)s) Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Reauthorization 

i) Support increased federal support for TANF/CalWORKS subsidized employment 
programs. 

ii) Support more flexible work participation requirement measures to give credit for client 
engagement and for work activities not meeting the current thresholds. 

iii) Support the ability of states to provide and receive federal support for vocational 
education and career technical training for longer than 12 months. 

iv) Support new federal measures demonstrating success in meeting outcomes rather than 
processes that would align with the CalWORKs Outcomes and Accountability Review 
(CalOAR) process underway in the state. 

v) Support federal efforts aligning with the goals and vision of the CalWORKs 2.0 Strategic 
Initiative to better meet the needs of individual families and support families in a more 
holistic way. 

v)t) Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 

i) Oppose proposed rules to limit eligibility, reduce benefits and/or limit state and county 
flexibility in administering the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 
(SNAP/CalFresh). 

ii) Oppose efforts to block grant or otherwise limit the federal contribution to 
SNAP/CalFresh. 

iii) Oppose federal mandates to require states to increase SNAP/CalFresh work 
requirements. 

i) Support a thorough review and updates to the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) 
Thrifty Food Plan (TFP) to more accurately account for the cost of food, dietary needs, 
purchasing patterns and regional differences in food costs, housing and medical care, 

Commented [RL34]: Deletion of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL35]: Deletion of these Items 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL36]: Deletion of these Items 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 33 

 

which affect the purchasing power of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 
(SNAP) benefits. 

ii) Support increased nutritional supplementation efforts at the state and federal levels, 
including increased aid, longer terms of aid, and increased access for those in need. 

iv)iii) Support extending Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents work 
requirement waivers for as many counties and sub‐county regions as possible. 

v)iv) Support further collaboration with the federal government and national 
partners to increase outreach and enrollment for SNAP/CalFresh, especially in 
underserved populations such as students, former foster youth, non‐English‐speaking 
populations and seniors. 

vi)v) Support provisions to further streamline and simplify federal requirements 
for SNAP/CalFresh recipients to enhance enrollment and retention. 

vii)vi) Support additional flexibility for states to align SNAP/CalFresh eligibility 
and processes with state TANF/CalWORKS programs. 

viii)vii) Support efforts to improve timeliness of data provided by the Food and 
Nutrition Services (FNS) to states for use in administering SNAP/CalFresh. 

w)u) Support the Older Americans Act (OAA) 

Support the Older Americans Act (OAA) and increased federal funding for the OAA 
programs. The Act established a national network of Area Agencies on Aging (AAA) which 
oversee a variety of social services for seniors, including nutrition, elder abuse prevention, 
legal services and advocacy, and caregiver resources. The OAA is not adequately funded 
and does not reflect the need for senior services or the population growth of people over 
age 60. With the limited state funding to support California’s AAA programs, it is critical 
that the federal funding expand to support senior services. 

x)v) Support Adult and Disability Services 

Support legislation that would provide adequate funding such as state‐only funded 
programs, programs authorized under the Older Americans Act, a return to full funding for 
Social Services Block Grant (SSBG) programs and increases to the SSBG allocation to keep 
up with inflation and population growth. 

i) Support full appropriations of $100 million authorized under the Elder Justice Act to 
support state and county adult protective services programs. 

ii) Oppose the termination of the Social Services Block Grant, which in California is used 
primarily to augment county and state funded in‐home supportive services for elderly 
and disabled persons, and to coordinate services to children with disabilities. 

iii) Support the Older Americans Act OAA reauthorization and increased federal funding for 
the OAA programs. 

y)w) Support Homelessness Legislation 

Commented [RL37]: Deletion of this Item as duplicative 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 

Commented [RL38]: Amendments to this Item 
recommended by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 34 

 

Support federal homelessness legislation funding an array of services to individuals and 
families at risk of or who are experiencing homelessness. 

z)x) Support State and Federal funding and regulatory changes or guidance that supports 
landlords and tenants, and prevents homelessness resulting from COVID‐19 related 
financial impacts. 

   

Commented [RL39]: Addition of this Item recommended 
by Kathy Peterson 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 35 

 

 

County Attractions



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 36 

 

 

 



Mono County 2021 Legislative Platform Page 37 

 

 

Elected State Representatives: 

 

Assembly Member Frank Bigelow 
5th Assembly District 
State Capitol, Suite #4153 
Sacramento, CA 94249 
Capitol Office Phone: (916) 319‐2005 
District Office Phone: (559) 673‐0501 
Website: https://ad05.asmrc.org 

Senator Andreas Borgeas 
8th Senate District 
State Capitol, Room 3082 
Sacramento, CA 95814‐4900 
Capitol Office Phone: (916) 651‐4008 
District Office Phone: (559) 243‐8580 
Fax: (916) 651‐4908 
Website: http://borgeas.cssrc.us/ 

Governor Gavin Newsom 
State Capitol, Suite 1173 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
Phone: (916) 445‐2841 
Fax: (916) 558‐3160 
Website: http://gov.ca.gov/ 

 

 

Elected Federal Representatives: 

 

Senator Alex Padilla 
United States Senate 
Russell Senate Office Building, Suite B03 
Washington, D.C. 20510 
Phone: (202) 224‐3553 
Fax: (202) 224‐2200 
Website: http://padilla.senate.gov/ 

Senator Dianne Feinstein 
United States Senate 
331 Hart Senate Office Building 
Washington, D.C. 20510 
Phone: (202) 224‐3841 
Fax: (202) 228‐3954 
TTY/TDD: (202) 224‐2501 
Website: http://feinstein.senate.gov/ 

Representative Jay Obernolte 
8th Congressional District 
1029 Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515 
Phone: (202) 225‐5861 
Website: http://obernolte.house.gov/ 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Mono 

Post Office Box 696 

Bridgeport, California 93517 

(760) 932‐5410 

www.mono.county.ca.gov 



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Closed Session - Labor Negotiations

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS. Government Code Section 54957.6. Agency designated representative(s):
Bob Lawton, Stacey Simon, Janet Dutcher, and Dave Wilbrecht. Employee Organization(s): Mono County Sheriff's Officers

Association (aka Deputy Sheriff's Association), Local 39 - majority representative of Mono County Public Employees (MCPE)
and Deputy Probation Officers Unit (DPOU), Mono County Paramedic Rescue Association (PARA), Mono County Public

Safety Officers Association (PSO). Unrepresented employees: All.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Closed Session - Public Employee
Evaluation

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. Government Code section 54957. Title: County Administrative Officer.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Closed Session - Public Employee
Evaluation

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. Government Code section 54957. Title: County Counsel.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/10/2021 9:54 AM County Counsel Yes

 2/9/2021 9:58 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:06 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

TIME REQUIRED PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

SUBJECT Closed Session - Existing Litigation

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION. Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Government Code
section 54956.9. Name of case: Abshire et. al, v. Newsom, et al. (US Dist. Ct. for the Eastern District 2:21-cv-00198-JAM-

KJN).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

FISCAL IMPACT:

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

 History

 Time Who Approval

 

 

javascript:history.go(0);


OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Economic Development
TIME REQUIRED 15 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Jeff Simpson, Economic Development
ManagerSUBJECT New Statewide Inland Trout Fishing

Regulations for the 2021-2022
Fishing Season

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

The California State Fish and Game Commission approved new Statewide Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-
2022 fishing season. The current 2020-2021 regulations remain in effect through Feb. 28, 2021. The new regulations will go

into effect on: March 1, 2021.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
None, informational only.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Jeff Simpson

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-924-4634 / jsimpson@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO:

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 CDFW Regulation Change Flyer

History

Time Who Approval
2/10/2021 9:55 AM County Counsel Yes

2/10/2021 9:35 AM Finance Yes

2/12/2021 9:05 AM County Administrative Office Yes

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24915&ItemID=13081

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24916&ItemID=13081


 

 MONO COUNTY 
  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT and SPECIAL PROJECTS 

 

P.O. BOX 603, MAMMOTH LAKES, CALIFORNIA 93546 
(760) 924-4634 • (760) 924-1697 (Fax) 

Alicia Vennos 
Economic Development Manager 
Avennos@mono.ca.gov 
760-924-1743

 

  
  
  
 

Jeff Simpson 
Economic Development Manager 

Jsimpson@mono.ca.gov 
760-924-4634 

 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
SUBJECT: New Statewide Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-2022 Fishing Season. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Informational only. Give any desired direction to staff. 
 
BACKGROUND: The California State Fish and Game Commission approved new Statewide 
Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-2022 fishing season. The current 2020-2021 
regulations remain in effect through Feb. 28, 2021. The new regulations will go into effect on: 
March 1, 2021.  
 
The California Department of Fish and Wildlife held numerous outreach meetings and public 
comment periods including in person meetings in Bridgeport and Bishop in 2019. Staff and 
members of the Mono County Fish and Wildlife Commission attended these meetings.  
 
DISCUSSION: Below are some significant changes for Inyo and Mono Counties.  

• All Lakes and Reservoirs in Inyo and Mono counties will open to year-round trout fishing 
with a 5/10 bag/possession limit on March 1, 2021.  

o EXCEPT  
o *(those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name).  
o *Specifically, Crowley Lake and 19 other “Resort Lakes” will NOT open on 

March 1, 2021.  
o *(These lakes retain the traditional “Fishmas” opening and closing dates. The last 

Saturday in April through November 15). (Bridgeport Reservoir and tributaries; 
Convict Lake; Crowley Lake; George Lake; Grant Lake; Gull Lake; Horseshoe 
Lake; June Lake; Lundy Lake; Mamie Lake; Mary Lake; Rock Creek Lake; 
Sabrina Lake; Silver Lake; South Lake; Twin Lakes (Mammoth); Twin Lakes, 
Lower and Upper (Bridgeport); Virginia Lake, Lower and Upper).  

• All Rivers and Streams in Inyo and Mono counties will open to catch and release trout 
fishing (only artificial lures with barbless hooks, 0 fish limit) on March 1, 2021. 

o EXCEPT  
o *(those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name). They 

are currently closed through Feb. 28, 2021.  
• All Rivers and Streams in Inyo and Mono counties open to trout fishing with a 5/10 

bag/possession limit on the last Saturday in April 2021 through November 15, 2021.  

mailto:smccahill@mono.ca.gov


o *(except those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name).  
• There are 60 waters, or sections of a water, or geographic area listed in the alphabetical 

list of special regulations by water name, section, area within Inyo and Mono counties.  
 
See the new CDFW 2021-2022 fishing regulations on their website at: 
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Fishing/Inland/Trout-Plan/Regulation-Simplification 
Table of proposed changes to waters with special fishing regulations (section 7.50) (PDF)  
Smart phone regulations maps: https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/sportfishingregs/ 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None.  
 
 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Fishing/Inland/Trout-Plan/Regulation-Simplification
https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/sportfishingregs/


 

 

 

The California State Fish and Game Commission has approved NEW Statewide 

Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-2022 fishing season. 

The current 2020-2021 regulations remain in effect through Feb. 28, 2021. 

The new regulations will go into effect on: 

MARCH 1, 2021. 

Below are some significant changes for INYO and MONO county. 

❖ All Lakes and Reservoirs in Inyo and Mono counties will open to year-round trout fishing 

with a 5/10 bag/possession limit on March 1, 2021. 

EXCEPT 

*(those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name). 

*Specifically, Crowley Lake and 19 other “Resort Lakes” will NOT open on 

March 1, 2021. 
*(These lakes retain the traditional “Fishmas” opening and closing dates. The last Saturday in April through November 15). 

(Bridgeport Reservoir and tributaries; Convict Lake; Crowley Lake; George Lake; Grant Lake; Gull Lake; Horseshoe 

Lake; June Lake; Lundy Lake; Mamie Lake; Mary Lake; Rock Creek Lake; Sabrina Lake; Silver Lake; South Lake; Twin 

Lakes (Mammoth); Twin Lakes, Lower and Upper (Bridgeport); Virginia Lake, Lower and Upper). 

 

❖ All Rivers and Streams in Inyo and Mono counties will open to catch and release trout 

fishing (only artificial lures with barbless hooks, 0 fish limit) on March 1, 2021. 

EXCEPT 
*(those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name). 

They are currently closed through Feb. 28, 2021. 
 

❖ All Rivers and Streams in Inyo and Mono counties open to trout fishing with a 5/10 

bag/possession limit on the last Saturday in April 2021 through November 15, 2021. 

*(except those listed in the alphabetical list of special regulations by water name). 

 

❖ There are 60 waters, or sections of a water, or geographic area listed in the alphabetical 

list of special regulations by water name, section, area within Inyo and Mono counties. 

See the new CDFW 2021-2022 fishing regulations on our website at: 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Fishing/Inland/Trout-Plan/Regulation-Simplification 
 Table of proposed changes to waters with special fishing regulations (section 7.50) (PDF) 

Smart phone regulations maps: https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/sportfishingregs/ 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Fishing/Inland/Trout-Plan/Regulation-Simplification
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=175721&inline
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=175721&inline
https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/sportfishingregs/
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=175721&inline


 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: Social Services; Public Health; Behavioral Health
TIME REQUIRED Item scheduled to start at 1:30 PM

(45 minutes)
PERSONS
APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Kathy Peterson, Mono Social
Services; Meaghan McCamman, Inyo
HHSSUBJECT Discussion of MediCal Managed

Care and Presentation from Inland
Empire Health Plan

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

A brief presentation on the upcoming procurement of new MediCal managed care plans through the state Department of
Health Care Services will be provided, followed by a presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive presentation on the upcoming procurement of new MediCal managed care plans through the state Department of
Health Care Services followed by a presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan on the possibility of partnering with Mono
County to provide Medi-Cal Managed Care Services for Mono County Medi-Cal beneficiaries. Provide staff direction.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Kathryn Peterson

PHONE/EMAIL: 7609376518 / kpeterson@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 staff report

 Attachment A

 Attachment B

 Attachment C

 Attachment D

 Attachment E

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24964&ItemID=13119

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24965&ItemID=13119

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24966&ItemID=13119

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24967&ItemID=13119

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24975&ItemID=13119

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24969&ItemID=13119


 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/11/2021 3:55 PM County Counsel Yes

 2/11/2021 2:13 PM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 9:07 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

To: Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Kathy Peterson, Social Services Director  

 

Date: February 11, 2021 

 

Re: Discussion of MediCal Managed Care and presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan 

 

Recommended Action: 

Receive presentation on the upcoming procurement of new MediCal managed care plans through the 

state Department of Health Care Services followed by a presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan on 

the possibility of partnering with Mono County to provide Medi-Cal Managed Care Services for Mono 

County Medi-Cal beneficiaries. Provide staff direction. 

 

Fiscal Impact: 

Discussion only.  

 

Discussion: 

Beginning in late 2013, California’s Medi-Cal program expanded managed care into 28 primarily rural 

counties, including Inyo and Mono counties. The 2013 expansion of managed care completed the 

transformation of California’s Medi-Cal program from fee-for-service delivery (state management and 

payment of claims for services submitted by providers) to managed care (state contracting with public 

and private health plans that arrange and pay for services.)  

 

The state has implemented a variety of managed care models over the years, including County 

Organized Health Systems (COHS), in which one public plan serves an entire county, the Two-Plan 

Model, which provides beneficiaries a choice between a private and public plan, a Geographic Managed 

Care Model, which offers a wide variety of plan options, and, in Inyo County and in other very remote 

rural areas, the Regional model, served by two commercial health plans. Mono County’s commercial 

health plans are Anthem Blue Cross and California Health and Wellness (owned by Health Net). 

 

After several years and lessons learned, the state Department of Health Care Services is preparing a 

mass procurement of private/commercial Medi-Cal managed care plans. Many small rural counties 

served by the Regional Model are looking at this procurement as an opportunity to move to a different 

managed care model –specifically COHS or a Two-Plan model, both of which include a locally-governed, 

public health plan. While many Northern California counties are looking to join Partnership Health Plan, 

and those on the West side of the Sierra Nevada are in conversations with the Health Plan of San 

Joaquin, Inyo County Health and Human Services staff (and now Mono County) has begun exploratory 

conversations with the Inland Empire Health Plan, which serves San Bernardino and Riverside Counties.  

 



MediCal Managed Care Item 

Page 2 of 2 

 

A brief presentation on the upcoming procurement of new MediCal managed care plans through the 

state Department of Health Care Services will be provided, followed by a brief presentation from Inland 

Empire Health Plan. Following this, staff would like Board direction regarding next steps.  

 

The attached documents include a presentation by Inland Empire Health Plan; additional background on 

Medi-Cal managed care and the 2013 expansion to the rural counties; and a State Auditor report about 

oversight of the Regional Model counties.   

 



1

Jarrod McNaughton, MBA, FACHE | Chief Executive Officer

February 2021

Overview of IEHP



History of IEHP
A Local Initiative serving residents of Riverside and San Bernardino counties.* 

A Public Entity, formed as a Joint Powers Agency (JPA), created by Riverside and 
San Bernardino counties. IEHP became operational on September 1, 1996 and 
was organized as a Public Agency, Non-Profit HMO. 

A mixed model HMO as follows:

• Contracts with Independent Physician Associations (IPA) 

• Direct physician contracting

A two-plan model:

• One local initiative (IEHP) and One commercial plan (Molina)

2*Partial Counties



History of IEHP

As a Public Agency IEHP must:

• Act Responsibly

Accountable to both Riverside and San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors 

• Hold Board Meetings in Public Places

Monthly meetings are held at IEHP Headquarters in Rancho Cucamonga

• Be Accountable to the Public Subject to:

State Brown Act

Public Records Act

• Have a not-for-profit, Public Benefit Mission that is Primary, NOT Profit

3

Conflict of Interest 

Competitive Bidding for Contracts, etc. 



4

IEHP Governing Board

Four Elected County Supervisors Three Appointed Members of the Public

Karen Spiegel, Chair
Riverside County Supervisor

Dr. Dan Anderson
Riverside County Public Member

Curt Hagman, Vice-Chair
San Bernardino County Supervisor

Eileen Zorn
San Bernardino County Public Member

Jeff Hewitt
Riverside County Supervisor

Andrew Williams
Joint County Public Member

Dawn Rowe
San Bernardino County Supervisor

Comprised of Seven Board Members



5

MISSION
We heal and inspire the human spirit.

VISION
We will not rest until our communities enjoy optimal care and vibrant health.

VALUES
We do the right thing by:

• Placing our Members at the center of our universe.

• Unleashing our creativity and courage to improve health & well-being.

• Bringing focus and accountability to our work.

• Never wavering in our commitment to our Members, Providers,

Partners, and each other.



Medi-Cal

6

What is Medi-Cal?

Medi-Cal is a no-cost or low-cost health coverage program.  It provides health, dental 

and vision* coverage to qualified California residents.  

Who can apply for Medi-Cal and join IEHP?

People who live in our service area (most of Riverside and San Bernardino counties)

Adults with or without children, children, seniors, and people with a disability 

People who meet income guidelines and other program requirements.



IEHP Dual Choice Cal MediConnect 
(Medicare-Medicaid Plan)

7

What is IEHP DualChoice?

A Cal MediConnect Plan is organized to improve care by integrating Medicare and Medi-

Cal Benefits, long-term care, behavioral health and home and community-based services.  

Who is eligible for IEHP DualChoice?

People with both Medicare (Part A and Part B), Medi-Cal, are not apart of the “excluded 

population” (i.e., under age 21, reside in rural zip code, etc.) and who live in our service 

area (most of Riverside and San Bernardino counties).  



8

[CATEGO

RY 

NAME], 

1,335,05

3

Cal 

MediCon

nect 

([CATEGO

RY 

NAME]), 

30,088

Region Medi-

Cal

CMC

High Desert 13% 13%

San Bernardino Proper 27% 30%

Low Desert 11% 15%

Temecula/Corona/Hemet 19% 19%

Riverside Proper 19% 15%

West San Bernardino 11% 8%

Active membership by county: 

Riverside County = 689,643

San Bernardino County = 673,756
As of January 2021

IEHP Membership



IEHP Membership Profile

9

Gender EthnicityLanguage



IEHP Provider Network

10



Provider Satisfaction

11

The 2021 Provider Satisfaction Survey focused on key drivers, including: Access 
to care managers, helpfulness of the health plan call center staff in obtaining 
referrals for patients, and the timeliness of obtaining pre-certification, referral 
or authorization information.

Of the Providers who responded, 98.7% shared that they’d recommend IEHP 
to other physicians’ practices. IEHP ranked within the 99th percentile for:

• Provider Relations

• Health plan call center staff

• Pharmacy

• Utilization and quality management

• Coordination of care

IEHP also ranked in 98th percentile in the financial category.



IEHP Receives Innovation Award

12

Inland Empire Health Plan (IEHP) was awarded the 

prestigious California Department of Healthcare 

Services (DHCS) Innovation Award for 2020. 

The award was based on IEHP’s groundbreaking 

work using location intelligence to reach high-risk 

members and providers in geographic areas 

affected by power outages, wildfires, and other 

natural disasters.

IEHP has received this award more than any other 

health plan in the state.



13

• Awarded by the Inland Empire Newsgroup, IEHP was recognized 

for scoring in the 91st percentile in the Energage survey, 

distributed in August 2020.

• The survey was administered six months after our transition to 

work from home and had a 93% participation rate.

• Survey results highlighted our engaged and 

mission-oriented team members, and their strong commitment 

to company values.

• An article announcing this achievement was published in the 

Press Enterprise on January 31.

IEHP Named 2020 Inland Empire
Top Workplace

Please remove this slide if presenting before January 31, 2021.

Team Member Quote: “I am able to work in my profession doing what I love, serving 
others and making a difference in their lives under the direction of responsible, honest 
and caring managers.”  - IEHP Behavioral Health and Care Management team member 
in the survey.



2021 
Key Programs

14



IEHP Global Quality Pay for 
Performance (P4P) Program

Program was designed to reward Primary Care 
Physicians (PCPs) for high performance and year-over-
year improvements in key quality performance measures.

There are a total of 26 measures including: Access, 
Clinical Quality, Behavioral Health Integration, Patient 
Experience and Encounter Data. 

Providers are eligible to receive financial rewards for 
performance excellence and performance improvement.

15



Network Expansion Fund (NEF)

16

IEHP Network Expansion Fund (NEF) was launched September 2014. Since 

inception we have invested $46M. This has translated to the hiring of 369 new 

Providers in the Inland Empire:

*As of January 27, 2021



Healthcare Scholarship Fund (HSF)

17

The HSF :

• Addresses the widespread 

shortage of physicians and 

other critically needed 

healthcare practitioners in 

the Inland Empire region.

• Develops a pipeline and 

growing workforce of 

healthcare professionals to 

care for the Medi-Cal 

population in the Inland 

Empire upon completion of 

their education. 

• All scholarships have been 

distributed for 2020.

Scholarship allocation for 2020:



• $10M towards supportive housing for IEHP Members across Riverside and San Bernardino counties.

• Two Programs:

1. 3H Program – Focuses on the most vulnerable IEHP Members:

ü Homeless

ü High-utilizer of health services

ü High-cost

2. Custodial Program – Homeless IEHP Members living in 
Long Term Care  facilities.

• Goal: House 350 Members in two years

ü 200 3H Program Members

ü 150 Custodial Program Members

• As of January 27, 2021 – 212 Members housed

18

Supportive Housing Program

*As of January 27, 2021



Community Health: CRCs

19

IEHP’s Community Resource Centers (CRCs), located in 

Riverside, San Bernardino and Victorville, are for both 

IEHP Members and the general community. 

These CRCS provide free health and wellness classes, 

share information on affordable health coverage, help 

IEHP Members understand how to use their IEHP 

benefits, connect Inland Empire residents with 

important programs and more.

The Victorville CRC offers expanded services such as 

onsite pharmacy technicians to help Members with 

their medications and a food demonstration kitchen 

and pantry. The Victorville CRC was recently designated 

a California HUD EnVision Center.



COVID-19 Efforts: Providers

20

• Supported Skilled Nursing Facilities, providing increased rates to 

care for COVID-19 patients. 

• Partnered with local Medical Associations and Societies 

to ensure local physicians have necessary supplies to continue 

seeing patients.

• Developed the first-of-its-kind Physician Specialist 

Compensation Program. 

• Developed and implemented the innovative Hospital Cash 

Flow Emergency Amendment.

• Continued expedient claims processing to ensure timely cash flow.

• Provided meals and snacks to local hospital partner staff. 



COVID-19 Efforts: Members

21

• Waived prior authorization requirements for diagnostic tests and medically 

necessary acute covered services, consistent with CDC guidance.

• Developed and maintain current telehealth flexibilities allowed under the 

pandemic emergency declaration.

• Developed and maintain pharmacy flexibilities, lifting 90-day supply and 

early refill pharmacy restrictions.

• Conducted live outbound wellness calls to more than 29,000 members 

who are seniors and have chronic conditions.

• Developed and coordinated a social isolation texting program to contact  

more than 94,000 members who are seniors and have disabilities.

• Partnered with FQHCs to provide grants to support COVID-19 testing.

• Drafted a regional letter with community partners to the COVID-19 State  

Taskforce that helped bring Rapid Response testing to the area.



COVID-19 Efforts: Community

22

• Collaborated with local agencies to establish the COVID-19 

Medline, offering 24/7 medical advice to uninsured Inland 

Empire residents.

• Collaborated with local agencies to coordinate and support 

three weeks of grocery and supply deliveries to local senior 

living centers.

• Collaborated with local food banks to combat food insecurity by 

providing staff, host space and more than $50k in sponsorships.

• Donated and sourced 2.4M PPE Units across the Inland Empire.

• Assisted both counties with vaccine clinics by providing both 

clinical and non-clinical Team Member volunteers.



23

Thank you.

Questions?



 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues  

Margaret Tater, Julia Paradise, and Rachel Garfield 

California’s Medicaid program, Medi-Cal, is the largest state Medicaid program in the nation, insuring almost 

one-third of California’s more than 38 million residents. In the early 1970s, California was the first state to 

enter into risk contracts with managed care plans to serve some Medicaid beneficiaries, rather than pay for 

services on a fee-for-service (FFS) basis. Over the decades since that time, Medi-Cal has been progressively 

moving more beneficiaries into managed care. More than three-quarters of all Medi-Cal beneficiaries, 

including low-income children, adults, seniors, and people with disabilities, are now enrolled in managed care 

plans. Besides being the earliest Medicaid managed care program and, by far, the largest in the nation, at 

nearly 10 million enrollees, the Medi-Cal managed care program has a unique structure, an outgrowth of 

underlying historical differences in the health care systems and traditions in different counties of the state. As 

other state Medicaid programs increase their use of risk-based managed care, and policymakers, plans and 

providers, and advocates seek to understand and learn from developments in this area to guide future change, 

a review of Medi-Cal’s managed care evolution is both timely and illustrative. It also serves to illuminate some 

potential implications of the proposed rule on Medicaid managed care issued by the federal Centers for 

Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)  and expected to be finalized in the Spring of 2016, which represents a 

major overhaul of current regulatory requirements and standards.   

A number of observations stand out from this review:   

 County-based structure. California’s managed care program is unique, involving six different managed 

care models, shaped by the historical and continuing role of counties in financing and delivering primary 

care, public hospital services, mental health services, and certain long-term services and supports to poor 

and medically indigent residents. More than two-thirds of all Medi-Cal managed care enrollees are enrolled 

in public safety-net plans; the others are served by a mix of commercial and private non-profit health plans.     

 Phased managed care expansion. In the early days of the state’s managed care program, in a limited 

number of counties, managed care enrollment was mandated for nearly all Medi-Cal beneficiaries, including 

seniors and people with disabilities. Over time, California has expanded mandatory managed care to 

additional counties and to broader segments of the beneficiary population, including seniors and people with 

disabilities statewide, under the state’s “Bridge to Reform” section 1115 waiver (2011); children who were 

transitioned from CHIP to Medi-Cal (2013); low-income adults covered previously through the state Low 

Income Health Program and those newly eligible for Medi-Cal under the ACA (2014); and, under the state’s 

https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered
https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 2 
 

seven-county Financial Alignment Demonstration and on a voluntary basis, beneficiaries dually eligible for 

Medicare and Medicaid (2014). 

 Access to care. Problem with access to care in Medi-Cal FFS carry over into managed care, challenging 

Medi-Cal health plans to establish adequate provider networks and improve care. Gaps in access to certain 

specialists, including psychiatrists and other behavioral health providers, and long-term care services, are 

the most significant gaps. Providers have cited Medi-Cal’s low payment rates as a barrier to their 

participation in the program and sued the state on the basis that the fees violate federal Medicaid payment 

standards. Language and cultural gaps in access to care and gaps in rural access are additional issues.  

 Benefit carve-outs. Medi-Cal managed care plans provide for most primary and acute care services. 

However, certain services are “carved out” from managed care contracts. In particular, while mental health 

services for mild or moderate mental illness are included in plan contracts, specialty mental health services 

and substance use disorder treatment continue to be delivered through county mental health departments 

and local and county alcohol and drug programs. In most counties, nursing home care and certain home and 

community-based services (HCBS) are also carved out of managed care.   

 Managed long-term services and supports. In 2014, under its Coordinated Care Initiative in seven 

counties, California required all Medi-Cal beneficiaries, including dually eligible enrollees who were 

previously exempt from managed care, to enroll in a managed care plan to receive their Medi-Cal benefits, 

including nursing home and certain HCBS. 

 Transitions for people with complex needs. California’s experience shows that robust transition 

planning is necessary to minimize disruptions in care for beneficiaries with complex needs who are required 

to move from FFS to managed care. Beneficiary and provider engagement, timely transfers of data, 

continuity of care protections, beneficiary information and navigation assistance, and coordination with 

carve-out services emerge as essential elements of sound transitions. 

 Increasing focus on metrics, performance, and accountability. California has taken significant 

steps to improve the data reported by Medi-Cal managed care plans, which are needed for rate-setting, 

managed care monitoring, efforts to move to value-based purchasing. The state also established a managed 

care performance dashboard that makes plan-level quality and other data available to the public, increasing 

the program’s transparency and plan accountability.  

 Major current issues. Two recent developments – CMS’ proposed modernization of the Medicaid 

managed care regulations and the approval of “Medi-Cal 2020,” the renewal of California’s section 1115 

waiver – can be expected to bear on the Medi-Cal managed care program, by increasing plan- and state-level 

requirements and state oversight responsibilities, and by setting the stage for potential changes in the role 

and operation of managed care plans in a transforming health care delivery and payment system.       

 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 3 
 

 

 
California’s Medicaid program, Medi-Cal, is the largest state Medicaid program in the nation. Insuring almost 

one-third of California’s more than 38 million residents,1 Medi-Cal is a key source of health coverage in the 

state and the main source of coverage for low-income children, adults, and people with disabilities. It also 

provides wrap-around coverage for many elderly Medicare beneficiaries in the state.  

For several decades, Medi-Cal has been transitioning away from a fee-for-service (FFS) payment and delivery 

system to one that relies on risk-based managed care. Under the FFS system, beneficiaries could see any 

provider who accepted Medi-Cal, and providers were reimbursed for each individual service or visit. Under 

managed care, the state contracts with health plans to deliver Medi-Cal benefits to enrollees in exchange for a 

monthly premium, or “capitation” payment for each enrollee. The plans are accountable for and at financial 

risk for providing the services in the contract.  

California was the first state to pilot managed care in Medicaid, beginning in the early 1970s, and the Medi-Cal 

managed care program has a unique structure that grew out of the different health care delivery and financing 

systems in different counties of the state. Over time, California has transitioned progressively more Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries into managed care, and its program is, by far, the largest Medicaid managed care program in the 

nation, with nearly 10 million children, adults, seniors, and people with disabilities – or more than three-

quarters of all Medi-Cal beneficiaries – enrolled in plans.  

In its early managed care pilot programs, California awarded contracts to health plans to serve Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries in a specified county or service area. Over time, the Department of Health Care Services (DHCS), 

California’s Medicaid agency, expanded the reach of its managed care program to include additional counties. 

Later, as part of the “California Bridge to Reform Demonstration,” a Section 1115 waiver approved by CMS in 

November 2010,2 the state extended mandatory managed care to seniors and people with disabilities enrolled 

in Medi-Cal. California opted to expand Medi-Cal eligibility under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), greatly 

increasing the number of Medi-Cal beneficiaries overall and in managed care plans. As of July 2015, 77% of 

Medi-Cal beneficiaries were enrolled in Medi-Cal managed care plans,3 and in October 2015, over 10 million 

beneficiaries were enrolled in Medi-Cal managed care plans.4 In addition, DHCS has collaborated with the 

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) to launch a demonstration program in seven large counties 

under which beneficiaries who are dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid may enroll in capitated managed 

care plans that provide the full range of services covered by both programs, including managed long-term 

services and supports (MLTSS).  

As other states increase their reliance on risk-based managed care to serve their Medicaid beneficiaries, this 

review of California’s transition to a largely managed care-based Medicaid program is both timely and 

informative for Medicaid’s many stakeholders. It also serves to highlight some potential implications for Medi-

of CMS’ proposed rule on Medicaid managed care, a major overhaul of the current regulations that is expected 

to be finalized in the Spring of 2016.   

https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 4 
 

A distinguishing feature of Medi-Cal’s managed care program is that different managed care models operate in 

different counties (Figure 1), shaped strongly by the historical role of the counties in the financing and delivery 

of primary care, public hospital services, mental health services, and certain long-term services and supports  

to poor and medically indigent residents. In the 1980’s, the first  

Medi-Cal managed care programs began as County Organized 

Health System (COHS) plans, including the Health Plan of San 

Mateo and Santa Barbara Regional Health Authority, operating 

under Section 1915(b) waivers. COHS plans were created by 

counties, with mandatory enrollment for virtually all Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries in the county service area (including seniors and 

persons with disabilities) and with almost all Medi-Cal services 

covered. In the early 1990’s, Medi-Cal expanded its managed care 

program by adding more COHS plans (e.g., Partnership Health 

Plan serving Solano and Napa Counties, CalOptima serving Orange 

County, and Central California Alliance for Health serving Santa 

Cruz and Monterey Counties).  

The state also created the Two-Plan Model, which was designed 

to shift large segments of the Medi-Cal population into managed 

care while preserving the role of traditional safety-net providers,5 

and the Geographic Managed Care Model (GMC) in 

Sacramento and San Diego Counties. The Two-Plan Model offers 

enrollees a choice between one commercial plan and one “Local 

Initiative” public plan. Like COHS plans, Local Initiative plans are 

public entities and are expected to work collaboratively with county public hospitals and safety-net providers to 

support the safety-net delivery system. In general, Two-Plan Model counties tend to be ones with large Medi-

Cal populations and public hospital systems critical to the safety-net; they include nine of California’s 12 public 

hospital health system counties6.  

Local Initiative plans enjoy strong local support and have generally secured a 65%-85% Medi-Cal market share, 

with commercial plans in their service areas playing a smaller role. Notably, although there is only one Local 

Initiative plan in each county, some of them subcontract with one or more commercial plans, effectively 

providing Medi-Cal enrollees in these counties with more than two plan options. For example, L.A. Care, the 

Local Initiative plan in Los Angeles County, subcontracts with Anthem Blue Cross, Care1st, and Kaiser 

Permanente, in addition to providing health plan services directly to enrollees.7 

. A health plan created and 

administered by a County Board of 

Supervisors. Within a COHS county, all 

managed care enrollees are in the same 

plan. (22 counties) 

. This model is 

comprised of a publicly-run entity (a 

“Local Initiative”) and a commercial plan. 

(14 counties) 

In 

this model, DHCS contracts with a mix 

of commercial and non-profit plans that 

compete to serve Medi-Cal beneficiaries. 

(2 counties)

DHCS 

contracts with two commercial plans in 

each county. (18 counties)

This model only 

operates in Imperial County where DHCS 

contracts with two commercial plans.

This 

model only operates in San Benito 

County where DHCS contracts with one 

commercial plan.



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 5 
 

The GMC Model relies on a mix of 

commercial and non-profit health 

plans but does not include Local 

Initiative plans. Enrollees in GMC 

counties have more than two plan 

options.8 Like in COHS, enrollment in 

both the Two-Plan and GMC Models is 

mandatory for low-income adults and 

children, but, unlike in COHS, 

enrollment in the Two-Plan and GMC 

Models was initially voluntary for 

seniors and persons with disabilities, 

becoming mandatory in 2012.   

Finally, the Regional Expansion, 

Imperial, and San Benito 

(Voluntary) Models were created when Medi-Cal began expanding managed care to rural areas in late 2013. 

Both the Regional Expansion and Imperial Models involve contracts with two commercial plans. When 

children in the Healthy Families Program – California’s Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP) – who 

were enrolled in Kaiser Permanente’s Healthy Families plan transitioned to Medi-Cal coverage in 2013, the 

state contracted with Kaiser Permanente 

in three Regional Expansion Model 

counties to ensure continuity of care for 

these children.9 The San Benito Model 

allows Medi-Cal enrollees in San Benito 

County to choose between FFS and the 

one contracted commercial plan. 

In all then, six different managed care 

models operate across California’s 58 

counties today.10 Reflecting population 

distribution across the state, the largest 

share of Medi-Cal beneficiaries – nearly 

two-thirds as of October 2015 (64%) – 

were enrolled in the Two-Plan Model. 

Another 21% were enrolled in the COHS 

Model, and 11% were enrolled in the GMC Model (Figure 2). A large majority of Medi-Cal managed care 

enrollees (68%) were served through local public plans (COHS plans and Local Initiative plans under the Two-

Plan Model), while about one-third were served through commercial plans (Figure 3).  

Mariposa

Mono

Kern

San Bernardino

Siskiyou

Los Angeles

Lake

Sonoma
Napa

Yolo

Colusa

Solano

Contra Costa

Sacramento

San Joaquin

San Francisco

Amador

Santa Clara Merced

FresnoSan Benito

Madera

Kings
Monterey

Inyo

Placer

Nevada

Sierra

Humboldt

Trinity Shasta Lassen

ImperialSan Diego

Alameda

Alpine

Butte

Calaveras

Del Norte

El Dorado

Glenn

Marin

Mendocino

Modoc

Orange

Plumas

Riverside

San Luis Obispo

San Mateo

Santa Barbara

Santa Cruz

Stanislaus

Sutter

Tehama

Tulare

Tuolumne

Ventura

Yuba

COHS

Two-Plan 

Geographic Managed Care 

Regional 

San Benito

Imperial

Medi-Cal Managed Care Models, by County 

Figure 1

Two-Plan, 64%
6.5m

County Organized Health 
System, 21%

2.2m

Geographic Managed 
Care, 11%

1.1m

Regional Expansion, 3%
293,000

Imperial, 1%
72,000

San Benito (Voluntary), .1%
7,000

SOURCE: November 2015 Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment Report

Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment, Distribution by 
Model Type, November 2015 

Figure 2



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 6 
 

 

People can apply for Medi-Cal in 

several ways: by mail, in person, 

by phone through their County 

Social Services Office, or, since 

the launch of the ACA coverage 

expansions in 2014, online via the 

Covered California website 

(www.coveredca.com). Once their 

eligibility is determined, 

individuals are enrolled in Medi-

Cal and issued a Benefits Identification Card. They then choose from two or more health plan options, or 

are auto-assigned to a plan if they do not select a plan. In COHS counties, a single plan administers Medi-

Cal and all enrollees are mandatorily enrolled in that plan. In San Benito County, only one health plan is 

available and beneficiaries may enroll in that plan or choose to stay in Medi-Cal FFS.  

 

Upon enrollment in a health plan, beneficiaries choose a primary care physician (PCP) who is in the health 

plan’s network or, if they do not choose a PCP, the health plan will assign them one. Notably, California 

established special provisions regarding PCP selection for ACA Medicaid expansion adults in the 12 

counties with public hospital health systems11 that previously served these adults through Low Income 

Health Programs12 (discussed below) and county indigent programs. As in other counties, Medicaid 

expansion adults in these counties either select or are automatically assigned by their health plan to a PCP. 

However, to maintain support for the county public hospital health systems, for the period January 1, 2014 

through December 31, 2016, plans must auto-assign at least 75% of newly eligible adults who do not select a 

PCP to a PCP in the county hospital health system until the system meets its enrollment target or notifies 

the plan that it is at capacity. The required percentage drops to 50% beginning January 1, 2017.13 14 

 

Medi-Cal covers comprehensive primary and acute care, behavioral health care, and long-term services and 

supports (LTSS) for beneficiaries. While most primary and acute care benefits for managed care enrollees 

are provided by the managed care plans, the following services are generally “carved out” and provided on a 

FFS basis:  

 Dental care;  

 Specialty mental health services, such as targeted case management, partial hospitalization, and 

outpatient and inpatient mental health services (delivered through county mental health departments, 

which are responsible for intake, triage, and treatment of people who meet specific eligibility criteria for 

serious mental illness); 

Figure 2

SOURCE: November 2015 Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment Report

Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment, Distribution by 
Plan Type, November 2015 

Commercial Plans 
32%

Local Initiative 
Public Plans

68%

Figure 3

http://www.coveredca.com/
http://www.coveredca.com/


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 7 
 

 Substance use disorder treatment services (delivered by local and county alcohol and drug programs); 

 In-Home Supportive Services, which include personal assistance and other services that enable seniors 

and persons with disabilities to live safely in their homes (administered by counties, except in the seven 

MLTSS counties, where these services are provided by the health plan);   

 Home and community-based waiver services (HCBS), such as case management, continuing care 

nursing, day care, and respite services, for beneficiaries who would otherwise meet the functional 

eligibility criteria for institutional care (except in the seven MLTSS counties, where services authorized 

under the Multipurpose Senior Services HCBS waiver are covered by the health plan); and  

 Skilled nursing facility services beyond 91 days (except in COHS counties and the seven MLTSS 

counties, where these services are provided by the health plan).  

 

Except for most COHS plans, Medi-Cal managed care plans are licensed by the California Department of 

Managed Health Care (DMHC) and are subject to statutory and regulatory consumer protections, including 

network adequacy requirements.15 In addition, all DHCS contracts with health plans specify network 

adequacy standards. The COHS plans (except for the Health Plan of San Mateo) are exempt from statutory 

licensure requirements but are subject to the network adequacy requirements contained in their Medi-Cal 

contracts. (Appendix Table 1 describes network adequacy standards in Medi-Cal managed care. Appendix 

Table 2 describes standards for timely appointments in Medi-Cal managed care.) 

To prepare for the implementation of the ACA coverage expansions in 2014, California applied for its “Bridge 

to Reform” Section 1115 demonstration waiver, which CMS approved in November 2010.16 This section 1115 

demonstration waiver allowed the state to implement the Low Income Health Program, an expansion of 

county-based coverage programs for low-income adults, who would later become eligible for new ACA coverage 

options.). The waiver also allowed the state to pursue fundamental program changes intended to improve 

health outcomes and ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the Medi-Cal program. Mandatory 

enrollment of seniors and persons with disabilities (SPDs) in managed care was among these changes. Waiver 

amendments in subsequent years further expanded managed care to additional populations and geographic 

areas. Ultimately, over the period 2011-2014, California transitioned or enrolled almost 5 million Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries into managed care under authority provided by the Bridge to Reform waiver, including 

beneficiaries in rural counties; seniors and persons with disabilities; children previously covered by Healthy 

Families, the state’s Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP); individuals previously enrolled in the Low-

Income Health Program; and adults newly eligible for Medi-Cal under the ACA.  

 

Prior to 2011, California mandated managed care enrollment for seniors and persons with disabilities 

(SPDs) only in COHS counties. In all other managed care models, enrollment of seniors and persons with 

disabilities was voluntary. However, in 2011, after the Bridge to Reform waiver was approved, the state 

began to transition these beneficiaries, excluding those dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid, into 

managed care in 16 additional counties that had managed care for other Medi-Cal populations at the time, 

and where managed care for seniors and persons with disabilities had previously been voluntary. During 

the 12 months beginning June 2011, nearly 240,000 SPDs were enrolled into managed care plans in these 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 8 
 

counties, where they were offered a choice of at least two plans. As California began to expand mandatory 

managed care to rural counties in 2013, SPDs in these counties were also enrolled in plans.17 As of 

September 2014, 647,968 seniors and persons with disabilities (non-dually eligible) were enrolled in Medi-

Cal managed care, making up 7.7% of all Medi-Cal managed care enrollment statewide.18 

 

Starting in 2013, children enrolled in the Healthy Families Program were moved into Medi-Cal. This 

change was intended to simplify eligibility and coverage for children and families; improve children’s 

coverage through retroactive eligibility, increased access to vaccines, and expanded mental health benefits; 

and eliminate premiums for lower-income children in the Healthy Families Program.19 The shift was also 

expected to produce budget savings for the state, as average rates paid to Medi-Cal plans were generally 

lower than those paid under the Healthy Families Program for a largely equivalent benefit package (after 

adjustments for carve–outs).20 DHCS identified approximately 750,000 children eligible to be transitioned 

to Medi-Cal; the transition was implemented in four phases to minimize service disruptions and ensure 

continued access to care.21   

 

Through the Low Income Health Program (LIHP), county and local entities strengthened their primary and 

specialty care delivery systems, implemented primary care medical homes, and enrolled over 630,000 

uninsured adults ages 19-64 with incomes up to 200% of the federal poverty level in coverage. On January 

1, 2014, all but 24,000 LIHP enrollees (whose incomes qualified them instead for subsidies for Marketplace 

plans) became eligible for Medi-Cal under the ACA Medicaid expansion and were enrolled in managed care 

plans.    

Since 2011, California has expanded the benefits covered under managed care contracts through amendments 

to its Bridge to Reform waiver. The services added include adult day health services, mental health services 

and, in seven demonstration counties, certain long-term services and supports, as further described below. 

 

Prior to 2011, Adult Day Health Care (ADHC), a community-based day care program that provided health, 

therapeutic, and social services for persons at risk of nursing home placement, was offered as an optional 

Medicaid State Plan service on a FFS basis. To achieve budget savings, Governor Brown’s January 2011 

budget plan proposed to eliminate the ADHC benefit, and in March 2011, the state legislature voted to 

eliminate the ADHC benefit, subject to CMS approval (which was delayed until April 2012).22 In August 

2011, DCHS began transitioning ADHC participants from FFS to managed care plans, which were to 

coordinate their medical and social support needs. Later, under a settlement with the ADHC providers, the 

Community-Based Adult Services (CBAS) benefit — utilizing the same ADHC providers — was created to 

replace ADHC as a managed care benefit only. In effect, the former ADHC benefit was carved into managed 

care as the new CBAS benefit. Accessible only to managed care enrollees, Community-Based Adult Services 

became the first community-based LTSS managed care plan benefit. Currently, CBAS providers serve 

31,000 managed care enrollees statewide. 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 9 
 

 

In January 2012, Governor Jerry Brown proposed his Coordinated Care Initiative (CCI), aimed at 

improving health outcomes and beneficiary satisfaction for low-income seniors and persons with 

disabilities, while achieving substantial savings from rebalancing the delivery of long-term services and 

supports toward home and community-based care.23 The CCI proposal was enacted by the state legislature 

in 2012 to be implemented in seven counties in 2014.24 One component of the CCI was a mandatory 

managed long-term services and supports (MLTSS) program. The second component, a demonstration 

program for persons dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid, is described later. 

In the seven CCI counties, Medi-Cal beneficiaries, including dually eligible enrollees who were exempt from 

managed care before 2014, are required to enroll in a managed care plan to receive their Medi-Cal benefits, 

including the following long-term services and supports: consumer-directed In-Home Supportive Services, 

Community-Based Adult Services, the Multipurpose Services and Supports Program (the state’s HCBS 

waiver services for frail elders), and long-term (over 91 days) skilled nursing facility services. Other HCBS 

waiver services (such as those under the state’s Assisted Living waiver and the waiver for persons with 

intellectual and developmental disabilities) remain carved out. MLTSS coverage began on April 1, 2014. As 

of October 2015, over 300,000 dually eligible beneficiaries were enrolled in the MLTSS program in the 

seven counties. 

 

In 2014, mental health services for mild or moderate mental illness were added to managed care contracts 

(specialty mental health services continue to be carved out and provided through the counties). Also, in 

2015, behavioral health therapy for beneficiaries with autism or autism spectrum disorder was added as a 

Medi-Cal-covered benefit and will be covered by managed care plans in 2016. 

As mentioned earlier, the seven-county CCI also provided for a three-year Financial Alignment Demonstration 

(“Dual Demonstration”), as authorized by the ACA to promote coordinated health care delivery for individuals  

dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid. Under the demonstration, called “Cal MediConnect,” dually eligible 

enrollees can elect to receive all of their Medicare and Medicaid services, including medical, behavioral health, 

and institutional and home and community-based long-term services and supports, through a single managed 

care plan. Plan participation in the Dual Demonstration is limited to Medi-Cal plans already serving the area. 

Participating plans contract with other entities to provide some services, such as behavioral health and In-

Home Supportive Services, although the goal is that dually eligible beneficiaries receive all their care in a 

single, organized delivery system. A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the state and CMS 

authorizing the Dual Demonstration outlines its principles and operational plan.25   

The Dual Demonstration puts many new demands on Medi-Cal health plans, including the requirement to 

cover Medicare Part A, B, and D benefits as well as Medi-Cal long-term services and supports. To accomplish 

this, plans must organize providers who have not previously contracted with managed care plans or who have 

not previously provided services to Medicare beneficiaries. Under the Dual Demonstration, plans are also 

subject to specific and detailed DHCS and CMS contract requirements to maintain continuity of care, perform 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 10 
 

health risk assessments, and use person-centered, interdisciplinary care management teams. Enrollment in the 

Dual Demonstration is voluntary; as of December 1, 2015, 115,743 dually eligible enrollees – about one-quarter 

of the eligible population – were enrolled in it.26  

In late 2012, DHCS initiated the statewide Encounter Data Improvement Project (EDIP). The goal of the EDIP 

is to improve the timeliness, accuracy, and completeness of encounter data reported by managed care plans, to 

improve rate-setting and managed care monitoring, and to prepare for value-based purchasing. As part of the 

project, DHCS develops performance metrics and works with managed care plans to address their data 

collection and reporting deficiencies. This collaborative effort on data and metrics is critical in connection with 

performance reporting and will be foundational to value-based purchasing in the future. 

To increase transparency regarding the quality of managed care plans, DHCS has created a Managed Care 

Performance Dashboard that provides plan-reported data on a variety of measures to help DHCS and other 

stakeholders examine and understand managed care activity and performance at the state level, by managed 

care model, and at the individual plan level. The dashboard contains metrics related to enrollment, enrollee 

health care utilization, appeals and grievances, and quality of care. The dashboard stratifies the plan-reported 

data by beneficiary population.27  

Managed care plans are required to maintain adequate 

provider networks and capacity to ensure access to care for their members. Historically, Medi-Cal FFS payment 

rates have been among the lowest Medicaid fees in the nation.28

 Research has shown a positive relationship 

between fee levels and physician participation in Medicaid.29 30 31 In managed care, although provider payment 

rates are a contractual matter between plans and providers, the role of persistent low rates in depressing 

provider participation and beneficiary access continues to be a major issue. California providers have sued the 

state on the basis that Medi-Cal rates violate the “equal access” provision of federal Medicaid law.32 33 This 

provision requires that payment rates be “consistent with economy and efficiency… and sufficient to enlist 

enough providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the extent that such care and 

services are available to the general population in the geographic area.”34 On November 2, 2015, CMS issued a 

final rule implementing the equal access provision, which requires states to conduct access reviews on a regular 

basis and to consider the findings from those reviews in setting provider rates. However, CMS limited 

application of the latter requirement to FFS rate-setting, stating that standards for capitation payment rates are 

set in the June 1, 2015 proposed rule on Medicaid managed care.35  

Data from a 2012 survey of Medi-Cal enrollees show that the vast majority of beneficiaries found it easy to find 

a provider who accepted Medi-Cal, but almost 1 in 5 enrollees had difficulty. Fewer than half of Medi-Cal 

enrollees said it was easy to find a specialist or mental health provider who accepted Medi-Cal; enrollees in fair 

or poor health were particularly likely to report difficulty finding specialists.36 A separate analysis, based on 

national survey data, found that Medi-Cal adults were significantly more likely than adults with Medicaid in 

http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Pages/MngdCarePerformDashboard.aspx
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Pages/MngdCarePerformDashboard.aspx


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 11 
 

other states not to have a doctor visit (37% vs. 30%) or a specialist visit (48% vs. 36%) and to delay care 

because of difficulty getting an appointment.37 Along with medical groups and other physicians, federally 

qualified health centers (FQHCs) and community clinics play an important role in providing primary care for 

Medi-Cal beneficiaries, but arranging specialist referrals for patients in these settings is an ongoing challenge.  

A recent federal report shows that 54% of office-based physicians in California were accepting new Medicaid 

patients in 2013, compared to nearly 69% of office-based physicians nationally who were doing so.38 A 2013 

California survey of physicians, including facility-based physicians, found a higher rate overall -- 62% accepting 

new Medi-Cal patients, compared to 75% for Medicare and 79% for privately insured patients.39 The rate was 

70% among pediatricians, but just over 50% among other primary physicians. Facility-based specialists were 

mostly likely to accept new Medi-Cal patients, and only 36% of psychiatrists did so. In June 2015, the 

California State Auditor issued a report identifying major gaps in state oversight of Medi-Cal plan provider 

networks to ensure their adequacy, a high volume of unanswered calls to the office of the Medi-Cal managed 

care ombudsman, and inconsistent monitoring of Medi-Cal plans to ensure they meet Medi-Cal beneficiaries' 

medical needs.40 

Another challenge in Medi-Cal is the lack of linguistic and cultural 

concordance between the current provider workforce and the low-income population in California. A 2013 

analysis by the state showed that 40% of Californians eligible for Medi-Cal reported a language other than 

English as their primary language and that 13 languages met the state’s definition of a “Threshold Language” 

spoken at a high proportional rate within a geographic area.41 A separate study documented that nearly 40% of 

all Californians and approximately 50% of Medi-Cal beneficiaries are Latino, but that only 5% of licensed 

physicians in California are Latino and only 6% of California physicians speak Spanish.42 

While access to care is generally sufficient in most urban areas, securing access to care in rural 

areas is more challenging for publicly and privately insured patients alike. FQHCs, rural health centers (RHCs), 

and other health clinics form the backbone of the ambulatory care delivery system serving low-income 

populations in rural counties, and these safety net provider play an increasingly critical role in Medi-Cal 

managed care networks in rural as well as other areas of the state.43   

California’s shift of seniors and people with disabilities from FFS to managed care yielded important lessons 

about the importance of appropriate planning to foster smooth transitions and avoid disruptions in care, 

especially for people with complex health care needs. 

Robust stakeholder engagement is needed to support smooth managed care 

transitions.44 In implementing the Healthy Families and Low Income Health Program transitions and the Dual 

Demonstration, DHCS increased its engagement with beneficiaries, advocates, providers, and plans. For 

example, in the Dual Demonstration, the state held extensive webinars, workshops, and stakeholder meetings, 

which state officials said resulted in better and more effective outreach.45 DHCS also established a dedicated 

webpage to report on all meetings, updates, and notices. 

http://www.calduals.org/


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 12 
 

In the SPD transition, inaccurate enrollee contact information, privacy rules that prevented 

plans and providers from accessing beneficiary medical records, and other data problems made timely 

implementation of care coordination challenging for Medi-Cal plans. The state was able to improve its data-

sharing processes in the Dual Demonstration to give plans more time to contact incoming enrollees and 

prepare for their needs. Still, contacting beneficiaries to complete health assessments to support care 

management remains a challenge for plans, particularly in the case of individuals newly eligible for Medi-Cal 

and people without stable addresses.  

 SPDS were permitted to request continued access to an out-of-network 

provider for 12 months following their plan enrollment.46 However, lack of plan, provider, and beneficiary 

understanding of this provision led to unnecessary disruptions in established patient-provider relationships. In 

subsequent managed care transitions, DHCS and plans increased their engagement with enrollees and 

providers to improve understanding of the continuity-of-care protection. DHCS also incorporated specific 

continuity-of-care requirements in its managed care contracts.     

In the lead-up to the Dual Demonstration, advocates and plans urged greater 

transparency in the enrollment process and beneficiary protections, including the right to opt out of or 

disenroll from the Demonstration. In response, the state published the enrollment schedule and the mailing 

dates for notices to beneficiaries, to help advocates and insurance assisters prepare and stage beneficiary 

outreach and education efforts. The state also published issues that arose in the beneficiary notice/enrollment 

process and the steps the state took to address them. Advocates and plans also worked with DHCS to improve 

the managed care enrollment process for beneficiaries with LTSS needs and dually eligible beneficiaries.  

Coordination between plan and carve-out services is an ongoing 

challenge. This came up in the SPD transition, particularly in the context of mental health care, as prescription 

drugs were provided by plans, while specialty mental health services were carved out and provided by county 

mental health departments.47 In the MLTSS transition, plan coordination with waiver services that remained 

carved-out was also difficult. Differences between waiver service care managers and health plans in their 

assessments of beneficiary needs and care goals can create access barriers for beneficiaries. 

Managed care contracting enables states to measure and 

require accountability for quality. Through its contracts, California requires Medi-Cal managed care plans to 

periodically submit various quality-related reports, including Consumer Assessments of Healthcare Providers 

and Systems (CAHPS) survey findings, Healthcare Effectiveness and Data Information Set (HEDIS) scores, 

reports on member complaints, grievances, and resolutions, and other statistical reports.  

DCHS collection and monitoring of quality data and the public availability of data on plan 

performance in the Managed Care Performance Dashboard strengthen the foundation for state oversight of 

managed care, transparency of plan quality, and value-based purchasing strategies. DHCS works with Medi-Cal 

plans to improve its quality measures and refine its enforcement mechanisms. This work includes developing 

corrective action plans to improve plans’ quality reporting and outcomes and reporting formats that capture 

data accurately and completely. DHCS also conducts an annual quality forum to publicly recognize plans for 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 13 
 

their progress and achievements in quality performance. Poor-performing plans may be subject to enforcement 

actions or corrective action plans, or may lose out under the state’s auto-assignment algorithm.     

 All plans participating in the Dual Demonstration must 

submit additional reports to CMS that include data on quality metrics for both Medi-Cal and Medicare services. 

DHCS and CMS review these reports and work with the plans to ensure that data are reported consistently to 

support evaluation purposes. DHCS recently published the first quarterly Health Risk Assessment Dashboard, 

which compares the plans’ compliance with the requirement to complete Health Risk Assessments for Dual 

Demonstration members.48 

CMS’ proposed rule on Medicaid managed care would modernize and fundamentally redraw the current 

regulatory framework for managed care. It would strengthen beneficiary protections and network adequacy 

requirements, establish requirements to increase the fiscal integrity of capitation rates, address health care 

delivery and payment reform in managed care, increase state and plan accountability for access and quality, 

and strengthen oversight of Medicaid managed care programs.49 If these provisions are preserved in the final 

rule, expected in the Spring of 2016, they could have significant bearing on provider networks and beneficiary 

access to care, provider payment, and other issues in the Medi-Cal managed care program.  

In a letter to CMS submitted during the public comment period on the rule, the California Hospital Association 

expressed support for the overall direction of the rule and many of its specifics, but also identified some major 

concerns. Chief among them is the concern that the rule’s proposed limitations on states’ ability to direct plan 

expenditures and plan payments to specific providers would interfere with current supplemental payments 

targeted to certain hospitals– typically, safety-net and public hospitals that serve large numbers of Medicaid 

beneficiaries.50 The letter to CMS also commented on many other provisions of the proposed rule, 

recommending stronger standards in some areas and increased flexibility in others, and stressing the need for 

adequate state resources to audit and enforce the regulatory standards.   

California’s Bridge to Reform demonstration waiver expired on October 31, 2015. DHCS applied for a five-year 

extension of the waiver under the name “Medi-Cal 2020” and, on December 30, 2015, the terms of that waiver 

were announced.  Among the key components of the waiver is the Public Hospital Redesign and Incentives in 

Medi-Cal (PRIME) fund, a pool of up to almost $7.5 billion in combined federal and state spending over the 

five-year waiver period for delivery system reform in California’s public hospital systems. The PRIME pool 

builds off the Delivery System Reform Incentive Program (DSRIP) included in California’s original waiver. 

DHCS will use it to fund public provider system projects to change care delivery and strengthen the ability of 

these systems to be paid under risk-based alternative payment models (APMs) that hold providers accountable 

for quality and the cost of care. The waiver documents state that CMS and the state will measure the success of 

PRIME, in part, by assessing the progress in moving to APMs for designated entities through Medi-Cal 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 14 
 

managed care.51 It remains to be seen exactly how the DSRIP and PRIME pools will interact with the Medi-Cal 

managed care program and what the implications will be for plans and their Medi-Cal members. 

Medi-Cal 2020’s “Whole Person Care Pilots,” intended to provide more integrated care for vulnerable, high-

utilizing beneficiaries, also involve Medi-Cal plans. In these county-based pilots, Medi-Cal managed care plans, 

safety-net providers, and other community-based service providers and affordable housing providers, are 

expected to develop innovative partnerships to address social determinants of health as well as integrate 

physical and behavioral health care and improve beneficiary health and well-being.  

In the short time from 2011 to 2015, California expanded managed care to 28 rural counties, transitioned or 

enrolled almost 5 million beneficiaries into managed care, carved adult day health and mental health services 

into managed care, and, in seven counties, launched a managed long-term services and supports program and 

a Dual Demonstration. Currently, Medi-Cal managed care plans operate in all 58 counties in California and 

cover over three-quarters of all Medi-Cal enrollees. To absorb the influx of new members, including many with 

complex care needs, Medi-Cal plans have been challenged to expand their provider networks and reinforce 

their operations rapidly to handle increased demand for services, increased demand on call centers, and 

utilization management, care management, quality improvement, and claims processing on a larger scale. In 

addition, the state has been challenged to provide adequate notice and education to enrollees transitioning to 

managed care and to ensure that health plans receive data on a timely basis.     

Other states considering managed care expansions – especially, expansions to Medicaid populations with more 

complex care needs – can learn from California’s experience. Managed care is unlikely to solve longstanding 

access problems attributable to systemic provider shortages and/or low Medicaid payment rates and limited 

provider participation. As states expand their managed care programs to more Medicaid beneficiaries, 

including those with high needs, ensuring that plan networks are adequate to serve their enrollees could be 

more challenging for both plans and states. Robust transition planning is essential to minimize disruptions in 

care when states mandate that new groups of FFS beneficiaries enroll in managed care plans. Engaging 

beneficiaries, providers, consumer advocates, and other stakeholders in this planning process and its 

implementation is necessary to ensure that beneficiaries know how to navigate their plans to obtain needed 

services and assistance and are fully informed about their rights and options. Data-sharing systems and 

procedures to support managed care transitions, and information systems and data analytics capacity to 

support ongoing monitoring, oversight, and performance improvement are integral to both plan and state 

accountability for Medicaid managed care programs.  

California, like many other states, is increasingly oriented toward achieving better performance from its 

managed care contractors. Key areas of focus include further delivery system transformation to improve care 

while reducing costs; enhanced care integration; expansion of managed long-term services and supports; 

transparency regarding health outcomes of managed care enrollees; and improving population health. To meet 

these challenges, managed care plans will need to develop new ways to engage beneficiaries, partner with 

community-based social services and supportive housing organizations, and structure provider payment 

models to promote health care quality and outcomes – all in the context of limited federal and state funding. 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 15 
 

Finally, if, as managed care evolves in new ways, its potential to provide more coordinated and integrated care 

is to be optimized and gaps in access are to be minimized, close state monitoring of managed care plans and 

rigorous enforcement of federal and state managed care requirements will continue to be essential. 

  

The authors wish to acknowledge valuable input and assistance from 
Michael Engelhard, Donna Laverdiere, and Lisa Shugarman, all of 
Health Management Associates. 



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 16 
 

 

Knox-Keene Act Standards
a

 
Medi-Cal Two-Plan and GMC 

Contract Standards
b

 
COHS Contract Standards

b

 

General Requirements 

Comprehensive range of primary, 

specialty, institutional, and 

ancillary services readily available 

at reasonable times to all 

enrollees.

Maintain network adequate to 

serve 60% of all eligible 

beneficiaries within the service area 

and provide full scope benefits. 

Ensure appropriate provider 

network, including PCPs, 

specialists, and other personnel 

and an adequate number of 

inpatient facilities within the 

service area. 

Submit a complete provider network 

adequate to provide covered services 

to eligible beneficiaries within the 

service area.  

Increase capacity of the network to 

accommodate growth. 

Time and Distance Standards 

Primary care and hospital 

services must be available within 

30 minutes or 15 miles of 

enrollee’s residence or 

workplace.

Laboratory, pharmacy, and 

similar services available at 

locations within a reasonable 

distance from PCP.

Maintain a network of PCPs located 

within 30 minutes or 10 miles of a 

member’s residence unless MCO 

has an approved alternative 

standard. 

Maintain a network of PCPs located 

within 30 minutes or 10 miles of a 

member’s residence unless MCO has 

an approved alternative standard. 

Provider-to-Enrollee Ratios and Other Access Standards 

 PCPs: 1: 2,000

 Total physicians: 1: 1,200 

 Complete network of PCPs and 

specialists with admitting staff 

privileges at least one 

contracting hospital equipped 

to provide range of basic health 

care services

 Emergency 24/7

 Access to medically required 

specialists 

 PCPs: 1: 2,000 

 Total physicians: 1: 1,200  

 Non-physicians not to exceed 

provider/patient caseload of 1: 

1,000 

 Emergency services 24/7 

 Adequate number and type of 

specialists  

 PCPs: 1: 2,000 

 Total physicians: 1: 1,200  

 Non-physicians not to exceed 

provider/patient caseload of 1: 

1,000 

 Emergency services 24/7 

 Adequate number and type of 

specialists  

 

a 

Title 28, California Code of Regulations, §1300.51.H and §1300.67.2.

b 

COHS Boilerplate Contract and Two Plan Boilerplate Contract, available at 

http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/MMCDBoilerplateContracts.aspx  

http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/MMCDBoilerplateContracts.aspx


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 17 
 

 

 
Type of Appointment Standard for Timeliness 

Urgent care, no prior authorization 48 hours* 

Urgent care, prior authorization 96 hours 

Non-urgent primary care 10 business days of request 

Specialist care 15 business days of request 

Non-urgent ancillary services for 

diagnosis or treatment of injury, illness, 

or other health condition

15 business days of request 

First prenatal visit 10 business days 

Urgent dental care 72 hours 

Non-urgent dental care 36 business days 

Preventive dental care
40 business days 

         * The COHS contract has a more stringent urgent care provision that requires that a member needing 

urgent care be seen within 24 hours.
 

 

 
 

 

  



  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 18 
 

                                                        
1 Cite to new SHFO CPS data once posted.  

2 Most of the state’s Medi-Cal managed care programs were included in the California “Bridge to Reform” Section 1115 waiver 
amendment effective for the 2010 – 2015 time period. The waiver amendment also expanded the managed care programs to include 
seniors and persons with disabilities, expanded managed care to additional counties, and added benefits. California Bridge to Reform 
Section 1115 Demonstration Fact Sheet, Updated August 2015. Accessed at http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-
Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ca/ca-bridge-to-health-reform-fs.pdf  
3 See http://kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/managed-care-penetration-rates-by-eligibility-group/  

4 Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment Report, October 2015, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Documents/MMCD_Enrollment_Reports/MMCEnrollRptOct2015.pdf 

5 Medi-Cal Managed Care, Medi-Cal Facts No. 8, March 2000, Medi-Cal Policy Institute, a project of the California Health Care 
Foundation. Accessed at http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20M/PDF%20mmc2.pdf 

6 California’s 12 public hospital health system counties are: Alameda, Contra Costa, Kern, Los Angeles, Monterey, Riverside, San 
Bernardino, San Francisco, San Joaquin, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Ventura. All Plan Letter 13-022, California Department of Health 
Care Services, July 25, 2014, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/MMCDAPLsandPolicyLetters/APL2013/APL13-022.pdf. These 12 counties are 
served under the Two Plan Model, except for Monterey, San Mateo, and Ventura counties, which are served by COHS plans. . 

7 L.A. Care Health Plan website, Plan Partners page. Accessed at http://www.lacare.org/health-plans/medi-cal/plan-partners  

8 As of August 2015, there are four plan choices in Sacramento County and five in San Diego County. Medi-Cal Managed Care 
Enrollment Report, August 2015. Accessed at http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MMCDMonthlyEnrollment.aspx 

9 Medi-Cal Update, Part 1 – Program and Eligibility, October 2013. Accessed at http://files.medi-
cal.ca.gov/pubsdoco/bulletins/artfull/part1201310.asp 

10 California Department of Health Care Services, Medi-Cal Managed Care Program Fact Sheet – Managed Care Models, November 
2014. Accessed at http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Documents/MMCDModelFactSheet.pdf; Medi-Cal Managed Care Enrollment 
Report, August 2015. Accessed at http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MMCDMonthlyEnrollment.aspx  

11 California’s 12 public hospital health system counties are: Alameda, Contra Costa, Kern, Los Angeles, Monterey, Riverside, San 
Bernardino, San Francisco, San Joaquin, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Ventura. See All Plan Letter 13-022, op. cit.   

12 California’s “Bridge to Reform” section 1115 waiver, approved in November 2010, created the Low Income Health Program (LIHP), 
which allowed counties to receive federal Medicaid reimbursement for providing health services through the LIHP to residents who 
would become newly eligible for coverage under the ACA Medicaid expansion in 2014. 

13 All Plan Letter 13-022, op. cit.  

14 MCOs can avoid oversight action associated with not meeting the 75% auto-assignment standard if they demonstrate that they have 
attempted to meet it but are constrained by regulatory geographic access standards. 

15 Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975, §1367.03, and Title 28, California Code of Regulations §1300.51 and §1300.67.2. 

16 Bridge to Reform Waiver Resources, California Department of Health Care Services, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/1115-Bridge-to-Reform.aspx   

17 SPDs in an additional 19 rural counties (Alpine, Amador, Butte, Calaveras, Colusa, El Dorado, Glenn, Imperial, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, 
Nevada, Placer, Plumas, Sierra, Sutter, Tehama, Tuolumne, and Yuba) began to  transition to mandatory enrollment in Medi-Cal 
managed care  in December 2014.   

18 Medi-Cal Managed Care Performance Dashboard, , California Department of Health Care Services, accessed at: 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Documents/MMCD/20150305MMCPDashboard.pdf 

19 2012-2013 Governor’s Budget Highlights Department of Health Care Services, January 6, 2012, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/Documents/2012-13%20Budget%20Highlights.pdf 

20The 2012-13 Budget: Analysis of the Governor's Healthy Families Program Proposal, Legislative Analyst’s Office, February 17, 2012. 
Accessed at http://www.lao.ca.gov/analysis/2012/health/healthy-families-021712.aspx 

21 California Department of Health Care Services, Healthy Families Program Transition to Medi-Cal: Final Comprehensive Report, 
February 4, 2014. Accessed at http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Documents/Waiver%20Renewal/AppendixCHFP.PDF 

22 Legislative Analyst’s Office, Recent History of Adult Day Health Care and Transition of Seniors and Persons With Disabilities Into 
Managed Care, March 7, 2012. Accessed at http://www.lao.ca.gov/handouts/Health/2012/Recent_History_ADHC_3_7_12.pdf 

23 California Demonstration to Integrate Care for Dual Eligible Beneficiaries, May 31, 2012, Proposal to CMS. Accessed at 
https://www.cms.gov/medicare-medicaid-coordination/medicare-and-medicaid-coordination/medicare-medicaid-coordination-
office/downloads/caproposal.pdf  

24 Senate Bill (SB) 1008 (Chapter 33, Statutes of 2012); SB 1036 (Chapter 45, Statutes of 2012); and SB 94 (Chapter 37, Statutes of 
2013). 

http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ca/ca-bridge-to-health-reform-fs.pdf
http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ca/ca-bridge-to-health-reform-fs.pdf
http://kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/managed-care-penetration-rates-by-eligibility-group/
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Documents/MMCD_Enrollment_Reports/MMCEnrollRptOct2015.pdf
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20M/PDF%20mmc2.pdf
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/MMCDAPLsandPolicyLetters/APL2013/APL13-022.pdf
http://www.lacare.org/health-plans/medi-cal/plan-partners
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MMCDMonthlyEnrollment.aspx
http://files.medi-cal.ca.gov/pubsdoco/bulletins/artfull/part1201310.asp
http://files.medi-cal.ca.gov/pubsdoco/bulletins/artfull/part1201310.asp
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Documents/MMCDModelFactSheet.pdf
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MMCDMonthlyEnrollment.aspx
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/1115-Bridge-to-Reform.aspx
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Documents/MMCD/20150305MMCPDashboard.pdf
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/Documents/2012-13%20Budget%20Highlights.pdf
http://www.lao.ca.gov/analysis/2012/health/healthy-families-021712.aspx
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Documents/Waiver%20Renewal/AppendixCHFP.PDF
http://www.lao.ca.gov/handouts/Health/2012/Recent_History_ADHC_3_7_12.pdf
https://www.cms.gov/medicare-medicaid-coordination/medicare-and-medicaid-coordination/medicare-medicaid-coordination-office/downloads/caproposal.pdf
https://www.cms.gov/medicare-medicaid-coordination/medicare-and-medicaid-coordination/medicare-medicaid-coordination-office/downloads/caproposal.pdf


  

 

Medi-Cal Managed Care: An Overview and Key Issues 19 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              
25 Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Between CMS and The State of California Regarding a Federal-State Partnership to Test a 
Capitated Financial Alignment Model for Medicare- Medicaid Enrollees, California Demonstration to Integrate Care for Dual Eligible 
Beneficiaries (2013). Accessed at http://www.cms.gov/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-and-Medicaid-
Coordination/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination-Office/FinancialAlignmentInitiative/Downloads/CAMOU.pdf 

26 Cal MediConnect Monthly Enrollment Dashboard as of October 1, 2015, California Department of Health Care Services. Accessed at 
http://www.calduals.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/CMC-Enrollment-Dashboard-October-Final-102015.pdf  

27 See:  http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Pages/MngdCarePerformDashboard.aspx 

28 S. Zuckerman, A. Williams, and K. Stockley (Urban Institute), Medi-Cal Physician and Dentist Fees: A Comparison to Other 
Medicaid Programs and Medicare  , California Healthcare Foundation, April 2009; accessed at 
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/04/medical-physician-and-dentist-fees-a-comparison-to-other-medicaid-programs-and-
medicare 

29 S. Decker, “In 2011, Nearly One-Third Of Physicians Said They Would Not Accept New Medicaid Patients, But Rising Fees May Help,” 
Health Affairs, 31, no.8, available at  http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/31/8/1673.full.pdf+html   

30 P. Cunningham and L. Nichols, “The Effects of Medicaid Reimbursement on the Access to Care of Medicaid Enrollees: A Community 
Perspective,” Medical Care and Research Review 62, no. 6(2005), available at http://mcr.sagepub.com/content/62/6/676.abstract  

31 D. Polsky, M. Richards, S. Basseyn, D.Wissoker, G. Kenney, S. Zuckerman, and K. Rhodes, “Appointment Availability after Increases 
in Medicaid Payments for Primary Care,” New England Journal of Medicine, February 5, 2015, accessed at: 
http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa1413299  

32 Douglas, Director, California Department of Health Care Services v. Independent Living Center of Southern California, Inc., et al., 
available at http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/09-958.pdf  

33 S. Rosenbaum, Medicaid Payment Rate Lawsuits: Evolving Court Views Mean Uncertain Future for Medi-Cal, California Health 
Care Foundation, October 2009, available at  http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/10/medicaid-payment-rate-lawsuits-evolving-
court-views-mean-uncertain-future-for-medical  

34 42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(30)(A).  

35 Medicaid and Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Programs; Medicaid Managed Care, CHIP Delivered in Managed Care, 
Medicaid and CHIP Comprehensive Quality Strategies, and Revisions Related to Third Party Liability: Proposed Rules, Federal 
Register, Vol. 80, No. 104, June 1, 2015, https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-
health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered  

36 Medi-Cal at a Crossroads: What Enrollees Say about the Program, California HealthCare Foundation, May 2012, available at 
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2012/05/medical-crossroads-what-enrollees-say  

37 Monitoring Access to Care for MediCal Enrollees in a Time of Change: CHCF Sacramento Briefing, October 16, 2014, California 
HealthCare Foundation, accessed at: http://www.chcf.org/events/2014/briefing-medical-access  

38 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, “Acceptance of New Patients With Public and 
Private Insurance by Office-based Physicians: United States, 2013,” NCHS Data Brief, No. 195, March 2015; accessed at 
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db195.pdf  

39 J. Coffman, D. Hulett, M. Fix, and A. Bindman, Physician Participation in Medi-Cal: Ready for the Enrollment Boom? California 
HealthCare Foundation, August 2014, available at http://www.chcf.org/publications/2014/08/physician-participation-medical 

40 California Department of Health Care Services: Improved Monitoring of Medi-Cal Managed Care Health Plans Is Necessary to 
Better Ensure Access to Care, Report 2014-134, California State Auditor, June 2015, available at 
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20P/PDF%20PhysicianParticipationMediCalEnrollmentBo
om.pdf  

41 Frequency of Threshold Language Speakers in the Medi-Cal Population by County for December 2013,” Medi-Cal Statistical Brief, 
California Department of Health Care Services Research and Analytic Studies Division, , “May 2014, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/statistics/Documents/RASB_Issue_Brief_Annual_Threshold_Language_Report.pdf  

42 G. Sánchez, T. Nevarez, W. Schink, and D. Hayes-Bautista, “Latino Physicians in the United States, 1980–2010: A Thirty-Year 
Overview From the Censuses,” Academic Medicine 90:7, July 2015, available at:  
http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Citation/2015/07000/Latino_Physicians_in_the_United_States,_1980_2010_.20.aspx 

43 On the Frontier: Medi-Cal Brings Managed Care to California’s Counties, California Healthcare Foundation, March 2015, available a 
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20F/PDF%20FrontierMediCalMgdCareRural.pdf 

44 C. Graham, E. Kurtovich, S. Taube, and R. Arguello, Transitioning Beneficiaries with Complex Care Needs to Medicaid Managed 
Care: Insights from California, Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured,  July 2013, available at 
http://kff.org/search/?s=Transitioning+Beneficiaries+with+Complex+Care+Needs+to+Medicaid+Managed+Care:+Insights+from+Ca
lifornia    

45 D. Gorn, “Medi-Cal Transition ‘Lessons Learned,’” California Healthline, October 24, 2013, available at 
http://www.californiahealthline.org/capitol-desk/2013/10/lessons-learned-from-medical-transitions   

46 Extended Continuity of Care for SPDs Transitioning to Mandatory Managed Care, News Release, Department of Health Care 
Services, November 4, 2011, available at http://files.medi-cal.ca.gov/pubsdoco/newsroom/newsroom_20066.asp  

http://www.cms.gov/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-and-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination-Office/FinancialAlignmentInitiative/Downloads/CAMOU.pdf
http://www.cms.gov/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-and-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination-Office/FinancialAlignmentInitiative/Downloads/CAMOU.pdf
http://www.calduals.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/CMC-Enrollment-Dashboard-October-Final-102015.pdf
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Pages/MngdCarePerformDashboard.aspx
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/04/medical-physician-and-dentist-fees-a-comparison-to-other-medicaid-programs-and-medicare
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/04/medical-physician-and-dentist-fees-a-comparison-to-other-medicaid-programs-and-medicare
http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/31/8/1673.full.pdf+html
http://mcr.sagepub.com/content/62/6/676.abstract
http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa1413299
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/09-958.pdf
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/10/medicaid-payment-rate-lawsuits-evolving-court-views-mean-uncertain-future-for-medical
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2009/10/medicaid-payment-rate-lawsuits-evolving-court-views-mean-uncertain-future-for-medical
https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered
https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2015/06/01/2015-12965/medicaid-and-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-programs-medicaid-managed-care-chip-delivered
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2012/05/medical-crossroads-what-enrollees-say
http://www.chcf.org/events/2014/briefing-medical-access
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db195.pdf
http://www.chcf.org/publications/2014/08/physician-participation-medical
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20P/PDF%20PhysicianParticipationMediCalEnrollmentBoom.pdf
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/PDF%20P/PDF%20PhysicianParticipationMediCalEnrollmentBoom.pdf
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/statistics/Documents/RASB_Issue_Brief_Annual_Threshold_Language_Report.pdf
http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Citation/2015/07000/Latino_Physicians_in_the_United_States,_1980_2010_.20.aspx
http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/F/PDF%20FrontierMediCalMgdCareRural.pdf
http://kff.org/search/?s=Transitioning+Beneficiaries+with+Complex+Care+Needs+to+Medicaid+Managed+Care:+Insights+from+California
http://kff.org/search/?s=Transitioning+Beneficiaries+with+Complex+Care+Needs+to+Medicaid+Managed+Care:+Insights+from+California
http://www.californiahealthline.org/capitol-desk/2013/10/lessons-learned-from-medical-transitions
http://files.medi-cal.ca.gov/pubsdoco/newsroom/newsroom_20066.asp


  

 
  
The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation Headquarters: 2400 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025  |  Phone 650-854-9400  

Washington Offices and Barbara Jordan Conference Center: 1330 G Street, NW, Washington, DC 20005  |  Phone 202-347-5270  
 

www.kff.org  |  Email Alerts:  kff.org/email  |  facebook.com/KaiserFamilyFoundation  |  twitter.com/KaiserFamFound 
 

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California. 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              
47 C. Graham, E. Kurtovich, S. Taube and R. Arguello, op. cit.  
48 Available at http://www.calduals.org/enrollment-information/hra-data 

49 J. Paradise and M. Musumeci, Proposed Rule on Medicaid Managed Care: A Summary of Major Provisions, Kaiser Commission on 
Medicaid and the Uninsured, July 23, 2015, available at http://kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/proposed-rule-on-medicaid-managed-
care-a-summary-of-major-provisions/  

50 California Hospital Association comment letter to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, available at 
http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=CMS-2015-0068-0570  

51 Medi-Cal 2020 Waiver Resources, California Department of Health Care Services, available at 
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/medi-cal-2020-waiver.aspx   

http://www.calduals.org/enrollment-information/hra-data
http://kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/proposed-rule-on-medicaid-managed-care-a-summary-of-major-provisions/
http://kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/proposed-rule-on-medicaid-managed-care-a-summary-of-major-provisions/
http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=CMS-2015-0068-0570
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/medi-cal-2020-waiver.aspx


Department of  
Health Care Services
It Has Not Ensured That Medi-Cal Beneficiaries 
in Some Rural Counties Have Reasonable 
Access to Care

August 2019

REPORT 2018‑122



For questions regarding the contents of this report, please contact Margarita Fernández, Chief of Public Affairs,  at  916.445.0255
This report is also available online at www.auditor.ca.gov   |   Alternative format reports available upon request   |   Permission is granted to reproduce reports

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200  |  Sacramento  |  CA  |  95814
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR

916.445.0255    |    TTY  916.445.0033

1.800.952.5665

For complaints of state employee misconduct,  
contact us through the Whistleblower Hotline:

Don’t want to miss any of our reports? Subscribe to our email list at     auditor.ca.gov



Elaine M. Howle  State Auditor

621 Capitol  Mall,  Suite 1200    |     Sacramento,  CA 95814    |     916.445.0255    |     916.327.0019 fax    |     w w w. a u d i t o r. c a . g o v

August 6, 2019 
2018-122

The Governor of California 
President pro Tempore of the Senate 
Speaker of the Assembly 
State Capitol 
Sacramento, California 95814

Dear Governor and Legislative Leaders:

As directed by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee, the California State Auditor performed an 
audit of the oversight by the Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) of the Regional Model, 
a form of administering managed care to beneficiaries of the California Medical Assistance 
Program (Medi-Cal) in 18 counties.

This report concludes that DHCS has not ensured that some Medi-Cal beneficiaries in the 
Regional Model received an acceptable level of care, which we define as adequate access to care 
combined with adequate quality of care. Specifically, DHCS did not enforce state requirements 
that limit the distances health plans may direct their Medi-Cal beneficiaries to travel to receive 
health care. By approving health plans’ requests for exceptions to the requirements without 
validating the reasonableness of those requests, DHCS allowed the health plans to require 
some of the Regional Model beneficiaries to travel excessive distances to receive care. DHCS’ 
actions also reduced the health plans’ incentives to expand their provider networks to include 
providers within reasonable distances of their beneficiaries. The Regional Model beneficiaries 
also generally received a lower quality of care than beneficiaries in other areas of the State, 
although that quality has recently improved as a result of DHCS’ enforcement of the health 
plans’ quality-of-care requirements.

When transitioning the Regional Model counties in 2013 from a fee-for-service delivery system 
to  managed care, DHCS did not adequately assist the counties in identifying the options 
available   to them, despite some counties expressing interest in joining a county organized 
health system (COHS). The COHS Model, used in 22 other counties in the State, may provide 
beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties with better access to care than they receive through 
their current health plans. Establishing a COHS would likely provide the beneficiaries with access 
to a greater proportion of the Medi-Cal providers in their geographic areas, thereby reducing 
the distances that the beneficiaries would need to travel to receive care. Because DHCS plans 
to establish new managed care contracts with the health plans currently serving the Regional 
Model counties after its current contracts expire in 2023, it is an ideal time for DHCS to evaluate 
whether the COHS Model would be better suited to provide reasonable access to care and to 
assist counties with making such a transition if they desire to do so.

Respectfully submitted,

ELAINE M. HOWLE, CPA 
California State Auditor



iv California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report

CAP corrective action plan

CMS Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

COHS county organized health system

DHCS Department of Health Care Services

HEDIS Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set

Managed Health Care Department of Managed Health Care

Regional Model New managed care model into which DHCS grouped 18 rural expansion counties in 2012

rural expansion counties The 28 counties that state law required DHCS to transition to managed care in 2012



vCalifornia State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Contents

Summary 1

Introduction 7

Chapter 1 
DHCS Has Allowed Health Plans to Require Some of Their  
Medi-Cal Beneficiaries to Travel Hundreds of Miles to Receive Care 15

Recommendations 31

Chapter 2  
DHCS Has Not Ensured That All Medi-Cal Beneficiaries in  
Rural Expansion Counties Receive Services Through a Model  
That Best Meets Their Needs 33

Recommendations 44

Appendix  
Scope and Methodology 47

Response to the Audit  
Department of Health Care Services 51

California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From 
the Department of Health Care Services 59



vi California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



1California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Audit Highlights . . .

Our audit of DHCS’ oversight of managed 
care in the Regional Model counties 
revealed the following:

 » The Regional Model health plans have not 
provided all Medi-Cal beneficiaries with 
adequate access to care.

• DHCS did not enforce state 
requirements that limit the distances 
health plans may direct their Medi-Cal 
beneficiaries to travel to receive 
health care—some beneficiaries were 
required to travel hundreds of miles to 
receive care.

• DHCS failed to hold Regional Model 
Health plans accountable for 
improving beneficiaries’ access to care.

 » Regional Model beneficiaries have 
generally received a lower quality of 
care than beneficiaries in other areas 
of the State.

 » DHCS did not adequately educate the 
Regional Model counties about 
the options available to them regarding 
their transition to managed care.

• It did not assist Regional Model 
counties that wanted to create or join 
a COHS, which may have provided its 
beneficiaries with better access to care.

Summary

Results in Brief

In 2012 state law required the Department of Health Care Services 
(DHCS) to transition the recipients of California Medical Assistance 
Program (Medi‑Cal) services (beneficiaries) in 28 fee‑for‑service 
counties in rural areas (rural expansion counties) to managed 
care. In contrast to the fee‑for‑service delivery system in which a 
beneficiary seeks medical care from a Medi‑Cal provider and that 
provider then bills the Medi‑Cal program for the individual service, 
in the managed care delivery system, DHCS contracts with and pays 
monthly rates to health plans to coordinate and administer services 
to beneficiaries enrolled in these plans. Eight of the 28 counties 
chose to join a nonprofit health plan called Partnership Health Plan 
of California (Partnership) that operated under county oversight, 
while DHCS worked with two other counties to establish their 
own unique models for providing health care. DHCS grouped the 
remaining 18 counties into a new managed care model that it called 
the Regional Model. DHCS then contracted with two commercial 
health plans—Anthem Blue Cross Partnership Plan (Anthem) 
and California Health & Wellness (Health & Wellness)—to deliver 
managed care services to the beneficiaries covered under the 
Regional Model. The Joint Legislative Audit Committee requested 
that we determine whether the Regional Model beneficiaries have 
received an acceptable level of care and to evaluate how that care 
compares to the care beneficiaries in other models have received. 
Acceptable level of care is not a standard term DHCS uses, so 
for the purposes of this audit, we have defined the term to mean 
adequate access to care combined with adequate quality of care. 
Under this definition, beneficiaries in the Regional Model have not 
received an acceptable level of care. 

Most significantly, even though Partnership operates in 
comparable rural counties, the two Regional Model health 
plans have provided beneficiaries with worse access to care than 
Partnership has provided its beneficiaries. In fact, our analysis 
showed that the Regional Model health plans have required some 
beneficiaries to travel hundreds of miles to reach certain health care 
providers, including obstetricians, oncologists, neurologists, and 
pulmonologists. In many instances, these distances far exceeded 
the distances that Partnership required its beneficiaries to travel for 
similar care. For example, according to DHCS’ January 2019 provider 
location data, Partnership required rural beneficiaries to travel up 
to 60 miles for an appointment with a cardiologist compared to 
239 miles for Anthem and 115 miles for Health & Wellness.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

2

Regional Model beneficiaries had to travel such long distances 
in part because most of the providers that contracted with the 
Regional Model health plans contracted with only one of 
the two health plans. Consequently, a beneficiary of one plan 
might have to travel significantly farther for care than a beneficiary 
of the other plan from the same location who was seeking the 
same care. For example, according to DHCS’ January 2019 
provider location data, a resident of Olancha in Inyo County who 
was seeking oncologist care would need to travel 60 miles to 
Ridgecrest if he were an Anthem beneficiary; however, if he were a 
Health & Wellness beneficiary, he would need to travel more than 
150 miles to Burbank for the same care because Health & Wellness 
did not have a contract with the closer provider. When health 
plans require beneficiaries to travel this far to receive care, those 
beneficiaries may be unable or unwilling to do so.

In many cases, the distances that the Regional Model health plans 
required far exceeded the limits state law imposes, which range 
from 10 to 60 miles depending on the type of service. Nonetheless, 
DHCS did not effectively intervene when health plans did not 
meet these access requirements as it did when it found that health 
plans were not meeting quality standards. Instead, after the current 
distance and travel time requirements first became effective in 2018, 
DHCS ultimately approved all the requested exceptions to the 
access requirements even though it had not evaluated whether 
the health plans had exhausted all other reasonable options to 
identify providers that would meet those requirements. As a 
result, all the health plans—including those in the Regional Model 
counties—remained in compliance with state law because of 
those approvals even though the distances that the plans required 
beneficiaries to travel did not comply. If DHCS had placed health 
plans on corrective action plans (CAPs) pertaining to access to 
care instead of approving their exception requests, it might have 
motivated them to improve their provider networks. By establishing 
CAPs, DHCS could also have required the health plans to pay for 
out‑of‑network care for beneficiaries that did not have adequate 
access to care. However, by approving the health plans’ requests for 
exceptions to travel‑distance requirements, DHCS reduced their 
incentives to improve their networks and undermined the intent 
of the law, which is to provide beneficiaries access to care within 
prescribed distance limits.

In addition, the Regional Model health plans have consistently 
provided a lower quality of care than many other plans in the 
State. Specifically, from 2015 through 2018, DHCS determined 
that the health plans in all 28 rural expansion counties performed 
below a number of national minimum performance levels. Further, 
when the Department of Managed Health Care—which state law 
authorized to perform audits on behalf of DHCS—audited the 



3California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

rural expansion counties’ health plans from 2014 through 2016, it 
identified more serious deficiencies in the 18 Regional Model plans 
than in the health plans of the other 10 rural expansion counties. 
However, because DHCS has taken steps to address these types of 
issues, such as imposing CAPs, the quality of care in the Regional 
Model counties has steadily improved in recent years.

DHCS provided the counties with only limited guidance and 
information to assist them in their transition to managed care. 
As the agency responsible for overseeing the effective delivery of 
health care to Medi‑Cal beneficiaries throughout the State, DHCS 
should have proactively educated the rural expansion counties on 
the available managed care model options before they transitioned 
to managed care and thus better ensured that the counties 
would select models that would best serve their beneficiaries’ 
needs. According to DHCS, the limited‑guidance approach had 
worked well when it transitioned other counties to managed 
care before 2012. However, this approach was not as effective for 
the rural expansion counties because many of them lacked the 
knowledge and resources to determine the model that would best 
serve their beneficiaries.

We believe that DHCS could improve the future access to managed 
care services of the Regional Model beneficiaries by assisting 
counties in transitioning from the Regional Model to a county 
organized health system (COHS). Partnership—the health plan 
that currently serves eight of the 28 rural expansion counties and 
has generally provided adequate access within those counties—is 
a COHS that non‑rural expansion counties established before the 
rural expansion. In contrast to the Regional Model, a COHS uses 
a single health plan to deliver services to all of its beneficiaries. 
Consequently, these beneficiaries can receive care from the same 
network of providers unlike in the Regional Model in which the 
two health plans frequently contract with different providers. 
Further, a COHS operates under the direct influence of county 
officials who make up a portion of its board of commissioners. 
The counties are therefore better able to direct the COHS to use 
its resources to address the specific needs of their beneficiaries. 
Although many variables affect health plans’ abilities to establish 
provider networks that deliver acceptable access to care, a COHS 
might enable better access to care in the Regional Model counties.

Transitioning the Regional Model counties to a COHS will be 
possible after DHCS’ contract with Anthem expires in 2023. 
However, transitioning from the Regional Model to a multicounty 
COHS would require the counties to complete a number of 
necessary start‑up activities, including establishing a special 
commission, hiring administrative staff, and gaining federal 
approval. Because the Regional Model counties tend to have 



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

4

fewer resources than other counties, they will likely need DHCS’ 
assistance in performing these activities. If Regional Model 
counties wish to be in a COHS, DHCS would need to immediately 
begin efforts to allow for a smooth transition for these counties’ 
beneficiaries. By providing the counties with assistance in creating 
a COHS, DHCS could ensure that Regional Model beneficiaries are 
better able to receive the health care services that they need.

Summary of Recommendations

To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the State have 
exhausted all of their reasonable options to meet the access 
requirements before seeking exceptions, DHCS should immediately 
begin doing the following:

• Develop written guidance that specifies the conditions under 
which staff should approve, deny, or contact health plans for 
clarification regarding their requests for exceptions.

• Determine a specific minimum number of providers that 
health plans must attempt to contract with before requesting 
an exception.

• Require health plans to report on their attempts to contract with 
providers when submitting their requests, including providing 
evidence of their efforts, such as the contact information for each 
provider with which they have attempted to contract.

• Establish a process for periodically verifying the health plans’ 
efforts, such as contacting a sample of the listed providers and 
determining whether the plans attempted to contract with them.

• Require health plans to authorize out‑of‑network care if they 
do not demonstrate they have exhausted all of their reasonable 
options to meet the access requirements.

To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have 
reasonable access to care, DHCS should do the following by 
June 2020:

• Determine the specific causes of Anthem’s and Health & Wellness’s 
inabilities to provide reasonable access to care in the Regional 
Model counties. 

• Evaluate whether the structural characteristics of a COHS Model 
would be better suited to providing reasonable access to care in 
these counties and notify the counties of its conclusions. If some 



5California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

or all of the counties desire to transition to a COHS, DHCS 
should assist them in making that change after their current 
contracts expire.

• Evaluate whether it has the financial resources to provide 
assistance to counties interested in establishing a COHS or 
other managed care model after the current Regional Model 
contracts expire. If DHCS does not have the required financial 
resources, it should seek an appropriate amount of funding from 
the Legislature. 

• Provide counties with reasonable opportunities to decide 
whether to change their managed care models after the 
expiration of their current contracts. DHCS should provide 
counties that choose to do so sufficient time to establish their 
new models before the expiration of their current agreements to 
ensure continuity of service.

Agency Comments

Although DHCS agreed with most of our recommendations, it 
disagreed with several recommendations, stating that it will not 
implement them.



6 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



7California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Introduction

Background 

Under the oversight of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid 
Services (CMS), the federal Medicaid program authorizes grants 
to states for medical assistance to low‑income individuals and 
families who meet federal and state eligibility requirements. In 
1966 California began participating in the federal Medicaid program 
through its California Medical Assistance Program (Medi‑Cal). The 
Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) is the designated state 
agency responsible for administering Medi‑Cal. In December 2013, 
before the implementation of the Affordable Care Act in 2014, 
the Medi‑Cal program had 8.6 million enrolled beneficiaries. As 
of November 2018, the Medi‑Cal program provided services to 
13 million enrolled beneficiaries—nearly one‑third of California’s 
residents. During fiscal year 2018–19, the Governor’s budget funded 
DHCS with more than $102 billion, of which more than $21 billion 
came from the State’s General Fund. 

Since the 1970s, the State has gradually transitioned Medi‑Cal 
beneficiaries by county from fee‑for‑service delivery systems 
to managed care systems. When the State first established the 
Medi‑Cal program, it relied solely on the fee‑for‑service system, 
under which beneficiaries choose the health care professionals 
from whom they receive care, and those professionals then bill 
DHCS directly for the approved services that they provide to 
the beneficiaries. Before 2012 DHCS transitioned 30 counties 
to managed care systems because of its belief that members 
enrolled in managed care can receive care coordination and 
case management services that are not available through the 
fee‑for‑service system. In 2012 state law required DHCS to 
transition the remaining 28 fee‑for‑service Medi‑Cal counties, 
which DHCS refers to as the rural expansion counties because 
many are largely rural, to managed care.1 Other states have also 
provided services to beneficiaries through managed care in a similar 
manner. Specifically, the four states that we reviewed—Arizona, 
Florida, Washington, and Oregon—all have enrolled the majority of 
their Medicaid beneficiaries in managed care and have continuously 
worked on expanding managed care over the last decade. 

1 The timeline for implementing the 2013 transition of the rural expansion counties to managed 
care was prompted in part by the State’s decision to end its Healthy Families program, a program 
that provided and promoted access to affordable health care services for families. The State 
wanted to continue providing managed care services to the individuals who had participated in 
that program.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

8

Under managed care, DHCS contracts with managed care health 
plans and pays monthly capitation payments—a specified amount 
per person covered—to each plan to administer beneficiaries’ 
services and pay health care professionals. In turn, the health 
plans establish provider networks by contracting with medical 
professionals and groups, known as providers, who supply health 
care to the beneficiaries. Establishing such a network allows 
health plans to monitor the quality of the providers that serve 
their beneficiaries, such as through conducting site reviews and 
monitoring providers’ data. The health plans’ provider networks 
include providers located within the counties where the plans’ 
beneficiaries live; in nearby counties; and—at times—in adjacent 
states, such as Oregon and Nevada. As we discuss in more detail 
below, some of the State’s managed care health plans are privately 
owned while counties oversee the others.

DHCS Established the Regional Model in 2013

As part of the State’s transition process from fee‑for‑service to 
managed care, DHCS has approved six models of managed care 
that it uses to contract with health plans to deliver services. Table 1 
summarizes the models and the types of health plans that operate 
within each model, and Figure 1 identifies each county’s model. 
When transitioning counties to managed care, DHCS has allowed 
them to pursue various options, including establishing their own 
health plans, joining existing health plans that other counties had 
established, or contracting with a commercial health plan. The 
county‑operated health plan options include a county organized 
health system (COHS), which provides health care through a 
single nonprofit health plan under county oversight, and a local 
initiative, which is a health plan with county oversight that provides 
services to beneficiaries in Two‑Plan Model counties. For counties 
that did not join or create county‑overseen health plans—either 
because they chose not to or were unsuccessful in doing so—DHCS 
contracted with commercial health plans. According to DHCS, this 
approach has worked well because it ensured that DHCS could 
establish managed care regardless of a county’s willingness to create 
or join a COHS or local initiative but also allowed counties to do so 
if they had the ability and desire. The four other states we previously 
mentioned also contract with both commercial and nonprofit 
health plans to provide services to beneficiaries.

DHCS transitioned the rural expansion counties from 
fee‑for‑service to managed care in 2013. Figure 1 shows that of the 
28 rural expansion counties, eight joined a COHS administered 
by Partnership Health Plan of California (Partnership), and DHCS 
worked with two to form their own unique models. Because none 
of the remaining 18 counties joined or created county‑overseen 



9California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

health plans, DHCS grouped them to create the Regional Model, 
which is the focus of this audit. In 2013 DHCS contracted with 
two commercial health plans, Anthem Blue Cross Partnership Plan 
(Anthem) and California Health & Wellness (Health & Wellness), 
to serve the Regional Model counties. When selecting health 
plans, DHCS intended to contract with additional health plans 
that met its selection criteria, but Anthem and Health & Wellness 
were the only plans that qualified. DHCS initially contracted with 
these health plans for five years, from 2013 to 2018, but it has since 
extended both contracts. We discuss DHCS’ contracts with the 
two plans in more detail in Chapter 2.

Table 1
DHCS Has Six Models of Managed Care That Involve Different Types of Health Plans

MANAGED CARE MODEL DESCRIPTION
NUMBER OF 

COUNTIES

Regional Beneficiaries may select one of two commercial health plans. 18

COHS
Beneficiaries receive services from a single, nonprofit health plan with 
county oversight.

22

San Benito
Beneficiaries select either to receive managed care delivered by a 
commercial health plan or to receive fee-for-service through Medi-Cal.

1

Imperial
Beneficiaries may select one of two commercial health plans; one of 
the health plans has county oversight.

1

Two-Plan
Beneficiaries may select between one commercial health plan and one 
local initiative, which is a health plan with county oversight. 

14

Geographic Managed Care Beneficiaries may select from three or more commercial health plans. 2

Source: Analysis of data from DHCS’ Medi-Cal managed care website, a DHCS presentation on Medi-Cal managed care, DHCS reports, 
Calviva Health’s website, and an Imperial County Board of Supervisors resolution.

Two Agencies Share Responsibility for Overseeing Health Plans That 
Participate in Medi‑Cal

DHCS and the Department of Managed Health Care (Managed 
Health Care) are responsible for overseeing most health plans that 
contract with providers to deliver Medi‑Cal care to beneficiaries. As 
part of its role to administer Medi‑Cal, DHCS manages the health 
plans’ contracts and oversees their compliance with the terms 
of those contracts. In its role in protecting health care rights of 
consumers, Managed Health Care licenses health plans that are 
subject to the Knox‑Keene Act—a state law that regulates most 
commercial health plans—and monitors their service delivery. Both 
departments evaluate whether the health plans are performing 
adequately by auditing their service delivery processes in areas such 
as access to care and quality of care.



10 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Figure 1
All 58 of California’s Counties Now Receive Medi‑Cal Through Managed Care Models

YUBA

YOLO

VENTURA

TUOLUMNE

TULARE

TRINITY

TEHAMA

SUTTER
STA

NISLA
US

SONOMA

SOLANO

SISKIYOU

SIERRA

SHASTA

SANTA CRUZ

SANTA
CLARA

SANTA BARBARA

SAN MATEO

SAN LUIS OBISPO

SAN
JOAQUIN

SAN FRANCISCO

SAN DIEGO

SAN BERNARDINO

SAN
BENITO

SA
CRAM

EN
TO

RIVERSIDE

PLUMAS

PLACER

ORANGE

NEVADA

NAPA

MONTEREY

MONO

MODOC

MERCED

MENDOCINO

MARIPOSA

MARIN

MADERA

LOS ANGELES

LASSEN

LAKE

KINGS

KERN

INYO

IMPERIAL

HUMBOLDT

GLENN

FRESNO

EL DORADO

DEL
NORTE

CONTRA
COSTA

COLUSA

CALAVERAS

BUTTE

AMADOR
ALPINE

ALAMEDA

MEDI-CAL MANAGED CARE MODELS

Rural Expansion

REGIONAL (18)

COHS (8)

SAN BENITO (1)

IMPERIAL (1)

COHS (14) 

TWO-PLAN (14) 

GEOGRAPHIC MANAGED CARE (2) 

Non-Rural Expansion

— Served by Anthem and Health & Wellness

— Served by Partnership

— Six Counties Served by Partnership
[ Marin, Mendocino, Napa, Solano, Sonoma, and Yolo ] 

Source: Analysis of data from DHCS’ Medi-Cal managed care website, a DHCS presentation on Medi-Cal managed care, and DHCS’ reports. 



11California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

DHCS and Managed Health Care determine whether the health 
plans have provided adequate access to care and quality of care by 
assessing whether the plans meet the requirements established 
by law and the health plans’ contracts. For access to 
care, these requirements address providers’ 
availability to schedule appointments for 
beneficiaries within specific numbers of days, the 
distance beneficiaries must travel to obtain specified 
care, and the travel time needed for beneficiaries to 
arrive at the providers’ locations. For quality of care, 
the requirements include providers’ delivery of 
specific services, such as preventive services and 
some post‑appointment follow‑up services; the 
outcomes of some providers’ service delivery; and 
the health plans’ performance of certain 
administrative activities, such as authorizing service 
requests and addressing grievance claims. For the 
purposes of this audit, we focused our evaluation of 
the Regional Model health plans’ performance 
on the specific indicators that the text box lists.

State Law Establishes Limits on the Distances Health Plans Can 
Require Beneficiaries to Travel to Receive Care

Effective January 2018, state law established access requirements, 
which are predefined limitations on the times and distances 
Medi‑Cal plans may require their beneficiaries to travel to obtain 
care. The Legislature passed the law in response to regulations that 
CMS issued in 2016 requiring states contracting with managed care 
plans to develop and enforce by 2018 time and distance standards 
for primary, specialty, hospital, and pharmacy services.2 As the 
State’s administrator of Medi‑Cal, DHCS assumed responsibility for 
developing these requirements, which it did in 2016 and 2017, also 
establishing an evaluation process to ensure that those standards 
were reasonable. As part of that process, DHCS considered 
industry standards and solicited feedback from health plans and 
other stakeholders. Additionally, it analyzed data on the quantity 
of providers, the location of providers, and beneficiaries’ use of 
services to identify the extent of beneficiaries’ needs and the 
availability of providers to administer care. 

When developing the access requirements, DHCS also considered 
the unique challenges of providing access in rural areas, such 
as the geographic dispersion of providers and beneficiaries; as 

2 State law requires health plans to evaluate whether they can meet travel distance standards for 
36 different types of providers as well as pharmacies, hospitals, and mental health outpatient 
services for each area they serve.

This Audit’s Criteria for Evaluating  
Health Plan Performance

• Access to Care: Whether the health plans have met 
travel distance requirements.

• Quality of Care: How frequently the health plans’ 
performances on national performance quality measures 
fell below acceptable levels.

• Quality of Care: Whether DHCS or Managed Health Care 
determined through their audits that the health plans 
were not meeting contractual quality-of-service 
delivery requirements.

Source: Analysis of state law and health plans’ contracts.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

12

a result, it established more lenient access standards for health 
plans operating in those locations. For primary care services, 
such as cancer screenings and vaccinations, DHCS established a 
universal requirement for all counties that aligns with a preexisting 
requirement in its contracts with managed care plans: within 
10 miles or 30 minutes travel time from a beneficiary’s residence to 
the provider’s location. For specialty care, such as psychiatry and 
dermatology, DHCS created requirements based on four defined 
categories of counties’ population densities: dense, medium, small, 
or rural. In dense counties like Sacramento and San Francisco, 
health plans must ensure beneficiaries can access specialty care 
within 15 miles or 30 minutes. In rural counties, such as Alpine or 
Inyo, health plans must ensure that their beneficiaries are able to 
access care within 60 miles or 90 minutes.

DHCS uses an annual network certification process to determine 
whether health plans are complying with the access requirements, 
as state law requires. It verifies the health plans’ compliance in each 
zip code they serve by requiring them to indicate the locations of all 
of their providers. Using these data, DHCS calculates the time and 
distance required to travel to the plans’ nearest providers from each 
zip code. In principle, for a health plan to pass the annual network 
certification, it would need to contract with a sufficient number 
of providers to ensure that beneficiaries in every zip code it serves 
can access care without having to travel farther than the distances 
specified by the access requirements. 

State law also authorizes DHCS to exempt health plans from 
meeting the access requirements and to establish alternative 
requirements for them. Specifically, DHCS may allow 
alternative access standards upon the request of a health plan 
if the plan has exhausted all other reasonable options to secure 
local providers that meet the applicable requirement. When 
DHCS allows alternative access standards, it establishes the health 
plan’s alternative standard as the distance between the location in 
question and the health plan’s closest available provider. 

DHCS Requires Health Plans to Meet Specific Performance Levels

Federal regulations also require the State to annually measure 
and report the quality of care that Medi‑Cal managed care health 
plans provide using a set of standardized performance measures. 
To comply with this requirement, DHCS uses a selection of 
performance measures primarily from the Healthcare Effectiveness 
Data and Information Set (HEDIS), which the National Committee 
for Quality Assurance developed. HEDIS is a nationally accepted 
set of measures for assessing health plans’ performance, and 
DHCS uses HEDIS to evaluate health plans’ delivery of preventive 



13California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

services, provision of care for chronic conditions, and appropriate 
treatment and utilization of services. For example, DHCS 
evaluates plans against HEDIS measures such as the percentage 
of eligible beneficiaries who receive breast cancer screenings and 
the percentage of beneficiaries with persistent asthma who are 
prescribed appropriate medication.

DHCS’ contracts with health plans require the plans to score at 
or above minimum performance levels for a selection of HEDIS 
measures. DHCS establishes these minimum performance levels 
based on the national performance of the Medicaid program. 
Specifically, DHCS expects plans to perform in the top 75 percent of 
Medicaid plans nationally.3  Health plans report their performance 
for each of their reporting units, which correspond to counties 
or groups of counties that the plans serve. For example, the 
Regional Model has two reporting units, which together represent 
the model’s 18 counties. The number of measures for which DHCS 
holds plans accountable may vary from year to year because 
it periodically adds or removes HEDIS measures to align with its 
areas of focus, such as maternal and child health, for quality 
improvement. When DHCS requires health plans to report on 
newly added measures, it does not require the health plans to meet 
the minimum performance levels until the second year in which 
those measures are in place.

Counties Are Important Stakeholders in the Medi‑Cal System

County health agencies are key to Medi‑Cal because they may 
participate as advocates for beneficiaries, as providers who serve 
beneficiaries, and as administrators of health plans. In addition, 
state law requires county health agencies to initially determine 
which applicants are eligible for Medi‑Cal and to assist the 
applicants in the application process as needed. As advocates, 
county health agencies may assist beneficiaries who have questions 
or are experiencing difficulty receiving services. For example, some 
counties help beneficiaries schedule appointments with providers 
and arrange transportation for them to attend appointments. 
Additionally, counties serve as primary providers for some 
beneficiaries in rural areas of the State through county‑operated 
clinics. Finally, several counties are involved in administering health 
plans through a COHS or through a local initiative in Two‑Plan 
Model counties. 

3 DHCS plans to modify its performance measurement process in 2020. DHCS will expect 
health plans to perform in the top 50 percent of Medicaid plans nationally to meet minimum 
performance levels, and it will select performance measures from lists published by CMS.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

14

As a result of the many functions county health agencies perform 
in the Medi‑Cal system, they often have specific expertise about 
the local conditions within their communities and may have 
experience working with local providers. Consequently, they are 
well‑positioned to negotiate and collaborate with health plans and 
with DHCS to improve the level of care beneficiaries receive.



15California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Chapter 1

DHCS HAS ALLOWED HEALTH PLANS TO REQUIRE 
SOME OF THEIR MEDI‑CAL BENEFICIARIES TO TRAVEL 
HUNDREDS OF MILES TO RECEIVE CARE

Chapter Summary

The Regional Model health plans have not provided all beneficiaries 
with adequate access to care. As a result, some beneficiaries in 
Regional Model counties may have had to travel hundreds of miles to 
receive medical care from in‑network providers of one health plan, 
even though the same care was available from closer providers who 
contracted with the other health plan. During the period we reviewed, 
DHCS failed to hold health plans accountable when they did not 
provide beneficiaries with access to care that met state requirements. 
Instead, it reduced the plans’ incentives to improve their provider 
networks by excusing them from meeting these requirements, 
even though it had not ensured that they had exhausted all of their 
reasonable options to secure local providers as state law requires. Our 
analysis indicates that some beneficiaries’ access to care would improve 
dramatically if DHCS were to require health plans to allow beneficiaries 
to obtain care from out‑of‑network providers that are closer to them 
when the plans are unable to provide adequate access themselves.

Additionally, the HEDIS scores for health plans in the rural expansion 
counties indicate that beneficiaries in these counties have generally 
received a lower quality of care than beneficiaries in other areas of the 
State. According to the HEDIS scores, the quality of care that Anthem 
and Health & Wellness provided in the Regional Model counties 
was comparable to the care that Partnership—a COHS that serves 
eight rural expansion counties—provided in its counties. However, 
Managed Health Care’s audits of the rural expansion counties suggest 
that Anthem and Health & Wellness experienced greater difficulty 
meeting contractual requirements pertaining to quality of care 
than Partnership did. In addition, DHCS has limited the counties’ 
abilities to respond to those problems and assist their beneficiaries in 
receiving adequate services because it has not taken adequate steps to 
share with the counties the deficiencies it and Managed Health Care 
have identified.

Some Beneficiaries in Regional Model Counties Have Had Poor 
Access to Care

The Regional Model health plans have required some beneficiaries 
to travel excessive distances to obtain medical care from providers. 
In most cases, managed care beneficiaries may receive medical care 



16 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

only from the contracted providers within their plan’s network. In 
this way, health plans choose the providers that beneficiaries may 
visit to obtain medical care. Within the Regional Model counties, the 
distances that beneficiaries have had to travel to access the closest 
contracted providers have varied widely, from less than 10 miles to 
365 miles. Table 2 identifies the distances some beneficiaries within 
these counties have had to travel to receive specific health care. 

Table 2
The Regional Model Health Plans Have Required Some Beneficiaries to Travel Unreasonable Distances to Access Care

MAXIMUM DISTANCE REQUIRED TO ACCESS CARE 
(IN MILES)

REGIONAL MODEL COHS

PROVIDER TYPE ANTHEM
HEALTH & 
WELLNESS PARTNERSHIP

Specialty Care
Cardiology/Interventional Cardiology 239 115 60

Dermatology 272 365 60

Endocrinology 313 225 60

ENT/Otolaryngology 343 200 60

Gastroenterology 83 150 60

General Surgery 123 115 60

Hematology 99 200 165

HIV/AIDS Specialists/Infectious Diseases 324 140 60

Mental Health (Nonpsychiatry) Outpatient Services* 83 60 60

Nephrology 124 230 60

Neurology 300 215 60

OB/GYN Specialty Care* 164 60 60

Oncology 299 170 120

Ophthalmology 81 60 120

Orthopedic Surgery 164 150 60

Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 327 220 120

Psychiatry 327 170 60

Pulmonology 327 180 60

Primary Care
OB/GYN Primary Care NA† 230 10

Primary Care Physician 10 85 45

Other Provider Types
Hospital 81 120 45

Pharmacy 45 90 10

Source: Analysis of the most recent alternative access standards that DHCS had approved as of January 2019.

NA = Not applicable. 

* We include OB/GYN Specialty Care and Mental Health (Nonpsychiatry) Outpatient Services with other specialists because they have the 
same time and distance standards.

† Anthem was exempt from this requirement because it does not designate its OB/GYN providers as primary care physicians.



17California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Although it may be difficult for health plans to provide beneficiaries 
with close access to care when those beneficiaries reside in remote 
regions of the State, we would expect this difficulty to equally 
affect all the health plans that serve rural counties. However, as 
Table 2 also shows, Partnership provided its beneficiaries in rural 
counties with access to most care within 60 miles. Moreover, 
the longest distances beneficiaries had to travel to receive care in 
Partnership’s counties were generally much shorter than those 
that Regional Model beneficiaries were required to travel for the 
same care. For example, Table 2 shows that Partnership required 
rural beneficiaries to travel up to 60 miles for an appointment with 
a cardiologist compared to 239 miles for Anthem and 115 miles 
for Health & Wellness. The additional distances that Anthem and 
Health & Wellness have required their beneficiaries to travel may 
have deterred some beneficiaries from seeking care.

We also identified inconsistencies between the distances that 
Anthem and Health & Wellness required their beneficiaries from 
the same locations to travel for the same care. When we reviewed 
provider location data that the two health plans submitted to DHCS, 
we identified more than 100 instances in which either of the plans 
required its beneficiaries to travel at least 100 miles farther than 
the other plan for the same care. In the five most extreme cases, the 
difference between the two plans ranged from 255 to 305 miles. For 
example, DHCS’ data indicate that a beneficiary of Health & Wellness 
residing in June Lake, in Mono County, who needed to take her child 
to a pediatric dermatologist would have been required to travel up to 
365 miles while if the same beneficiary were with Anthem, she would 
only have been required to travel up to 60 miles. 

On some occasions, Anthem and Health & Wellness each required 
its beneficiaries to travel significantly farther than the other plan 
required of its beneficiaries. As Figure 2 shows, a beneficiary 
of Health & Wellness residing in Olancha, in Inyo County, who 
needed to see an oncologist would have to travel more than 
150 miles to Burbank to receive cancer treatment. However, if this 
same beneficiary were with Anthem, he would have to travel only 
60 miles for the same care. Similarly, a beneficiary of Anthem 
residing in Tecopa, also in Inyo County, who needed to see a 
pulmonologist, would have had to travel 327 miles, which is more 
than 175 miles farther to receive asthma treatment than if she were 
with Health & Wellness.

The differences in the distance requirements between the 
two health plans are also noticeable in more densely populated 
areas of the Regional Model counties. For example, according to the 
January 2019 data, a beneficiary of Health & Wellness who needed 
to take his child to visit a pediatric cardiologist and who resided 
in the Lake Tahoe community of Kings Beach in Placer County—

We identified inconsistencies 
between the distances that Anthem 
and Health & Wellness required 
their beneficiaries from the same 
locations to travel for the same care.



18 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

which is more densely populated than many other rural expansion 
counties—would have to travel up to 70 miles farther than an 
Anthem beneficiary from the same location who sought that same 
service. As we discuss in more detail below, these instances suggest 
that the difference in distances is not always the result of a general 
lack of providers but rather a lack of providers who have contracted 
with a specific Regional Model health plan. In other words, some 
beneficiaries may live reasonably close to providers who offer 
the needed care; however, those providers are not in‑network for 
their plans. Although beneficiaries have the right to switch health 
plans, doing so may disrupt the continuity of the care they receive 
because they may not be able to continue seeing their primary 
care physicians and other providers from whom they have already 
received care.

Figure 2
The Two Regional Model Health Plans May Require Beneficiaries in the Same Location to Travel Significantly Different 
Distances to Receive the Same Services

 

Olancha

�������������������������������������������

BENEFICIARY’S HOME
                Olancha,  CA

FROM:    

DISTANCE:

ANTHEM’S
PROVIDER

TO:

Ridgecrest,  CA   

60 miles

|  via US-395 S Burbank,  CA |  via CA-14 S

HEALTH & WELLNESS’S 
PROVIDER

TO:

TRAVEL TIME:

50  minutes

DISTANCE:

155 miles

TRAVEL TIME:

2  hours  42  minutes

 

Source: Analysis of the alternative access standards that DHCS had approved as of January 2019, Anthem’s Medi-Cal provider directory, and Google Maps.



19California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Traveling significant distances to reach providers may limit 
beneficiaries’ ability to receive care. A beneficiary who has to 
travel hundreds of miles to receive medical care might be forced 
to miss an entire day of work and lose wages—a loss that might 
be critical considering that beneficiaries who qualify for Medi‑Cal 
while employed have limited incomes. Further, some beneficiaries 
might be unable to tolerate the physical hardship of traveling such 
substantial distances for health care. When health issues require 
multiple visits, it likely will exacerbate such concerns: for example, 
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services suggests 
weekly appointments for pregnant women nearing their delivery 
dates.4 If beneficiaries are unwilling or unable to seek care because 
of the distances required to do so, it undermines the fundamental 
purpose of the Medi‑Cal program, which is to improve the overall 
health and well‑being of all residents by providing access to 
affordable, integrated, and high‑quality health care. 

DHCS Has Failed to Hold Regional Model Health Plans Accountable 
for Improving Beneficiaries’ Access to Care

As we discuss in the Introduction, DHCS uses a network certification 
process to assess whether health plans are complying with state 
access requirements. DHCS published the initial results of its 
first annual network certification in June 2018 and finalized the 
results in January 2019. These results, which remain in effect until 
July 2019, indicate that DHCS granted alternative access standards 
to the State’s health plans in nearly 10,000 instances in which they 
requested them. More than 1,000 of these 10,000 instances involved 
the Regional Model health plans. On our website, we present an 
interactive map of the extended distances DHCS approved through 
alternative access standards by county and provider type. Given that 
DHCS made a considerable effort in 2016 and 2017 to ensure that the 
access requirements that state law established were reasonable and 
that this effort included analyzing the availability of providers who 
could meet those requirements, we question why it has chosen not 
to enforce them. By approving alternative access standards, DHCS is 
not holding health plans accountable to meet the access requirements 
prescribed in state law. Instead, alternative access standards allow 
health plans to deviate from the prescribed requirements by 
extending the time and distance that they may require beneficiaries 
to travel for care.

4 Although state law requires health plans to provide transportation services to their 
beneficiaries in some instances, the beneficiaries would still incur significant travel time for 
extensive distances.

If beneficiaries are unwilling or 
unable to seek care because of 
the distances required to do so, 
it undermines the fundamental 
purpose of the Medi‑Cal program.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

20

We are particularly concerned with DHCS’ decision not to enforce 
these state requirements given the weaknesses we identified in its 
process for evaluating requests for alternative access standards. In 
particular, although DHCS denies requests for alternative access 
standards if they are incomplete or inaccurate, it has not adequately 
evaluated whether health plans have, in fact, exhausted all other 
reasonable options to identify providers that would meet the access 
requirements before approving their requests for alternative 
access standards, as state law requires. DHCS stated that it must 
approve requests for alternative access standards, no matter what 
the potential hardship those alternative standards may present to 
beneficiaries, as long as the health plans meet legal requirements, 
specifically that the plan exhausts all other reasonable options to 
contract with providers that would meet the access requirements. 
DHCS requires health plans to provide written explanations of 
their contracting efforts that it uses to evaluate whether they 
have complied with this requirement. However, DHCS does not 
analyze the validity of these explanations; thus, its approach does 
not meet the apparent intent of the law.

Even though DHCS has required health plans to provide written 
explanations, it has not required them to provide supporting 
documentation to corroborate those explanations. Moreover, DHCS 
has not verified with any providers mentioned in those explanations 
whether the plans attempted to add them to their networks. 
Additionally, DHCS has not established a minimum number of 
providers that the health plans should attempt to contract with in 
a designated location before it considers an exemption request. 
We question how DHCS could conclude that a health plan had 
exhausted all reasonable efforts to seek providers that met an access 
requirement without establishing such a minimum threshold and 
substantiating at least some of the health plan’s efforts. 

Moreover, DHCS has not consistently enforced its requirements 
for the explanations health plans must include when requesting 
alternative access standards. DHCS’ instructions for making such 
requests state that health plans must detail their efforts to meet 
the access requirements in order for it to consider their requests. 
However, when we reviewed a selection of 30 approved requests for 
alternative access standards, we found six requests in which health 
plans prepared their explanations using the same boilerplate text 
for multiple requests. For example, Health & Wellness stated all 
of the following as its justification in each request for a pediatric 
specialist we reviewed: “There are no pediatric subspecialists 
located to meet the standard, the available pediatric specialists do 
not accept Medi‑Cal patients, or the available pediatric specialists 
have declined to contract with the Plan primarily due to capacity 
constraints.” In none of these cases did the plan identify the 
specific condition that applied to the request. Similarly, Anthem 

DHCS has not consistently 
enforced its requirements for the 
explanations health plans must 
include when requesting alternative 
access standards.



21California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

stated in some requests that no providers were in the area, 
yet we identified providers in the area that met the prescribed 
requirements. We determined that DHCS did follow up in some 
instances by requesting additional documentation when the health 
plan provided vague or inaccurate explanations, such as when it 
submitted a request with inaccurate provider information. DHCS 
acknowledged that its staff did not consistently identify when 
further clarification was necessary. This inconsistency can likely 
be attributed to DHCS’ lack of formal guidance specifying the 
conditions under which a request should be approved or denied.

By approving alternative access standards without proper 
justification, DHCS has reduced incentives for health plans to 
improve their beneficiaries’ access to care. When a health plan 
fails to comply with the access requirements specified in state law, 
DHCS has the authority to require that it complete a corrective 
action plan (CAP) to improve its provider network, which DHCS 
calls a network certification CAP. Network certification CAPs 
require health plans to make the necessary improvements to 
comply with the access requirements, such as contracting with 
providers that meet the travel distance requirements. DHCS 
initially placed health plans on network certification CAPs in 
2018 but closed them after approving alternative access standard 
requests for those health plans that were still unable to meet access 
requirements. However, it approved those requests even when 
the health plans did not demonstrate that they had exhausted all 
reasonable options to obtain closer providers. As a result, DHCS’ 
approval of such alternative access standards involving excessive 
distances was unreasonable. By enforcing network certification 
CAPs rather than approving unsupported requests for alternative 
access standards, DHCS could have ensured that health plans 
remained obligated to improve their networks.

Further, DHCS could have used network certification CAPs to 
provide some beneficiaries access to closer providers. Through 
such CAPs, DHCS may require health plans to temporarily allow 
beneficiaries to obtain medical care from out‑of‑network providers, 
provided that those out‑of‑network providers do not have a history 
of quality issues and are willing to accept reasonable rates as 
determined by the health plans. Although there is no assurance that 
out‑of‑network providers will agree to offer such care, a network 
certification CAP requiring plans to authorize out‑of‑network care 
to meet time and distance requirements would provide beneficiaries 
with greater opportunities to access care. As we previously 
describe, we identified multiple instances under the Regional Model 
in which either health plan’s nearest in‑network provider was 
significantly farther than the other health plan’s provider. In such 
cases, the ability to seek care from out‑of‑network providers could 
significantly improve some beneficiaries’ access to care. 

By approving alternative access 
standards without proper 
justification, DHCS has reduced 
incentives for health plans to 
improve their beneficiaries’ access 
to care.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

22

DHCS expressed concern to us that providers might demand 
unreasonably high rates from health plans if they were aware that 
DHCS would not approve certain requests, which could burden 
the health plans financially and could result in increased rates that 
DHCS would have to pay the health plans. However, we disagree 
with this reasoning. DHCS could enforce the state requirements 
on the distances health plans may require beneficiaries to travel but 
allow exceptions if there are no closer providers or if health plans can 
demonstrate that the rates providers have requested are unreasonably 
high. Although DHCS requests that the health plans provide rate 
information when requesting alternative access standards, in practice 
it has not required them to do so. None of the health plans provided 
this information for the 30 requests that we reviewed. When health 
plans are unable to demonstrate that nearby, available providers are 
demanding unreasonably high rates, neither they nor DHCS can 
justify the reasonableness of their requests for alternative access 
standards that require beneficiaries to travel excessive distances. 

When we asked DHCS for its perspective regarding the weaknesses 
we identified in its process for evaluating and approving 
requests for alternative access standards during its 2018 network 
certification, DHCS indicated that it intends to continually adjust 
its procedures for evaluating health plans’ requests based on 
the lessons it learns through each annual certification. However, 
DHCS did not inform us of the specific outcomes it desires to 
achieve through its adjustments. Instead, it informed us that as 
part of the 2019 network certification that it expects to complete 
in January 2020, it has already made changes to its process and 
anticipates implementing additional changes as part of its next 
network certification in 2020.

Although DHCS’ recent efforts may address some elements of its 
process, these efforts do not resolve certain concerns we identified 
pertaining to access to care. For instance, DHCS informed us that it 
plans to reject health plans’ requests that do not include supporting 
documentation to demonstrate that they attempted to contract 
with closer providers. However, we believe that this approach is 
insufficient because, according to DHCS, it would only be requiring 
health plans to demonstrate attempts to contract with a single 
provider. Consequently, that effort would not fulfill the intent of 
state law—requiring health plans to exhaust all reasonable options 
to obtain providers that meet access requirements—because health 
plans would likely have multiple providers available to them that 
they could attempt to contract with. Additionally, DHCS indicated 
that it plans to deny requests that it deems unreasonable, yet it has 
not developed formal guidance for its staff to use in making that 
determination. Without establishing such guidance for its staff 
and ensuring that health plans attempt to contract with multiple 
providers, DHCS will likely continue to approve requests that 

Although DHCS requests that 
the health plans provide rate 
information when requesting 
alternative access standards, it has 
not required them to do so.



23California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

unjustifiably excuse health plans from their obligation to meet 
access requirements and allow them to require beneficiaries to 
travel unreasonable distances to obtain care.

The Structure DHCS Selected for the Regional Model May Have 
Contributed to Some Beneficiaries’ Inadequate Access to Care

DHCS was unable to offer a definitive explanation as to why Anthem 
and Health & Wellness could not provide their beneficiaries with 
better access to care. Managers at DHCS responsible for overseeing the 
approval of health plans’ alternative access standard requests identified 
three potential causes of the excessive distances some beneficiaries 
may be required to travel: a lack of available providers, providers that 
contract with only one health plan rather than multiple plans, and 
providers that are unwilling to accept the payment rates that the 
health plans offered. Our analysis showed that a significant number 
of providers in the Regional Model have not contracted with either 
Anthem or Health & Wellness. However, we could not determine 
whether doing so would have improved beneficiaries’ access to care 
because the data we evaluated did not identify the noncontracting 
providers’ potential Medi‑Cal specialties or all of the locations where 
they provide care. Nevertheless, our findings support the explanation 
that many providers contracting with only one of the two Regional 
Model health plans likely contributed to poor access. Additional 
analysis is necessary to determine whether a lack of providers in 
specific geographic areas of the Regional Model or their unwillingness 
to accept offered payment rates has contributed to the access issues. 

When we analyzed licensing data from the Medical Board of 
California and the Osteopathic Medical Board of California—
two entities responsible for licensing doctors in the State who 
participate in Medi‑Cal—and provider network data from the 
health plans, we found that Anthem and Health & Wellness 
contracted with more than 3,900 providers located in the Regional 
Model counties. However, more than 1,900 additional providers 
in the Regional Model counties had not contracted with either 
health plan to provide services within these counties. It is unclear 
whether the two health plans contracting with these providers 
would improve beneficiaries’ access to care. For example, some of 
these 1,900 providers may be located near beneficiaries who do not 
experience challenges with limited access. 

We believe that DHCS would benefit from knowing the locations 
within the Regional Model counties that require additional 
providers and the types of providers required in those areas. If it 
had such knowledge, DHCS could determine the extent to which 
a lack of providers is causing some beneficiaries’ poor access 
to care, and it could also develop the appropriate strategies to 

DHCS would benefit from knowing 
the locations within the Regional 
Model counties that require 
additional providers and the types 
of providers required in those areas.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

24

alleviate those provider shortages. DHCS indicated that it would 
be willing to assist in an analysis of this nature, but that other state 
departments—such as the Office of Statewide Health Planning 
and Development—would be better suited to address workforce 
shortages among providers. Nonetheless, given DHCS’ critical role 
in overseeing the State’s provision of Medi‑Cal services, we believe 
that it is well positioned to oversee such an analysis. 

Our findings related to providers who contract with only one of 
the two plans are more straightforward. According to the data 
that the two health plans reported to DHCS in December 2018, 
fewer than 29 percent of the providers that contracted with either 
Anthem or Health & Wellness contracted with both health plans 
concurrently. Our analysis shows that some beneficiaries in the 
Regional Model would have significantly better access to care 
if they were able to seek it from the provider networks of both 
health plans. To evaluate how beneficiaries’ access to care would 
change if they had access to both networks, we reviewed DHCS’ 
data related to the health plans’ adherence to the time and distance 
requirements specified in state law. During its first annual network 
certification, DHCS identified more than 700 instances in which 
one or both Regional Model plans failed to meet these access 
requirements.5 However, if the Regional Model’s beneficiaries had 
access to both health plans’ provider networks, we estimate that 
this number would decrease to about 125, the number of instances 
in which both plans failed to meet the same access requirements in 
the same locations. 

This difference reinforces our conclusion that DHCS could improve 
beneficiaries’ access to care if it required plans to authorize 
out‑of‑network care when they do not demonstrate that they have 
exhausted all of their reasonable options to contract with providers 
that meet the state requirements and when DHCS determines that 
significantly closer providers of the needed care are available. The 
difference also underscores the supposition that the providers’ 
tendency to contract with only one of the two Regional Model 
health plans has contributed to some beneficiaries’ poor access to 
care. The geographic distribution of providers in rural areas already 
makes it difficult for health plans to provide adequate access to care; 
when providers do not contract with multiple plans, it can further 
compound this difficulty.

5 We excluded OB/GYN primary care from this analysis because DHCS informed us that it exempted 
Anthem from the access requirement for OB/GYN primary care. As a result, DHCS does not have 
sufficient data for us to conclude how often both Regional Model plans are meeting the access 
requirement for OB/GYN primary care.

Some beneficiaries in the Regional 
Model would have significantly 
better access to care if they were 
able to seek it from the provider 
networks of both health plans.



25California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Given that Partnership operates in comparably remote areas of 
the State, its ability to provide significantly better access to care 
than the Regional Model plans suggests that beneficiaries in rural 
counties may receive better access to care when those counties 
operate under a single health plan rather than multiple plans. As 
part of DHCS’ annual network certification, Partnership requested 
alternative access standards for 11 of the 39 types of providers 
that DHCS measures. In comparison, Health & Wellness and 
Anthem requested alternative access standards for 35 and 37 of 
the 39 provider types, respectively. Unlike the Regional Model, the 
structure of a COHS—such as Partnership—allows only one health 
plan in each county, meaning beneficiaries in COHS Model 
counties all have access to the same providers. We believe that this 
feature of the COHS Model may have contributed to Partnership’s 
ability to provide better access to care in some rural areas of the 
State. We discuss the benefits of the COHS Model in greater detail 
in Chapter 2.

Increasing beneficiaries’ access to providers currently outside 
of their networks could require some beneficiaries to schedule 
appointments farther in advance. However, the reduction in the 
distances the beneficiaries would have to travel might well outweigh 
this additional effort. As we mention in the Introduction, state 
law requires most health plans to ensure that their providers offer 
appointments within a specific number of days of the request for 
services. According to DHCS, if more Medi‑Cal providers were to 
provide care to beneficiaries in both health plans, it might strain 
some providers’ capacities and reduce their ability to meet this 
requirement. However, state law permits providers to extend the 
waiting time for appointments if they determine that waiting longer 
would not negatively affect the health of the beneficiaries involved. 
This exception could permit beneficiaries to make individual 
choices that are both safe and potentially more convenient. We 
believe that in certain circumstances beneficiaries might be willing 
to schedule appointments farther in advance if doing so would 
shorten how far they would have to travel. For example, the parent 
of a child with a heart condition requiring routine cardiology 
appointments might be willing to schedule those appointments 
farther in advance to avoid having to drive an additional 70 miles 
each direction. 

Given Partnership’s ability to provide its beneficiaries with better 
access to care and the apparent tendency of providers to contract 
with either but not both of the Regional Model health plans, we 
question whether having two separate health plans best serves the 
Regional Model counties. Conducting an assessment to identify 
the locations within the Regional Model that need additional 
providers and the types of providers necessary could offer DHCS 

Increasing beneficiaries’ access 
to providers currently outside 
of their networks could require 
some beneficiaries to schedule 
appointments farther in advance.

Although DHCS requests that 
the health plans provide rate 
information when requesting 
alternative access standards, it has 
not required them to do so.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

26

valuable perspective on whether access issues in the Regional 
Model are the result of provider shortages, the structure of the 
model, or both.

In 2016 DHCS commissioned an access assessment that may assist 
it in identifying and resolving shortages of providers in the Regional 
Model. DHCS commissioned the assessment in response to federal 
requirements issued in 2015. According to documentation provided 
by DHCS, the completed assessment will include maps comparing 
the number of providers for each specialty and each health plan 
with the number of beneficiaries. The assessment will also identify 
the percentage of available providers for each specialty that each 
health plan is contracting with, the average distance between 
beneficiaries and each health plan’s closest primary care physicians 
and hospitals, and recommendations for addressing systemic 
deficiencies it identifies. DHCS plans to finalize the assessment in 
October 2019. This assessment should enhance DHCS’ knowledge 
of the locations throughout the State, including those in the 
Regional Model counties, that are lacking certain types of providers.

Regional Model Health Plans Have Not Provided an Acceptable 
Quality of Care to Beneficiaries

Although most health plans in the State have not met some of 
their contractual requirements related to quality of care, the health 
plans that serve the 28 rural expansion counties have consistently 
delivered a lower quality of care to beneficiaries than the health 
plans delivering services to beneficiaries in other areas of the State. 
Further, Managed Health Care’s audits of the rural expansion 
counties suggest that the Regional Model health plans have had 
more difficulty than Partnership in meeting their contractual 
requirements related to quality of care.

Our review of HEDIS data from 2015 through 2018 found that the 
Regional Model health plans failed to meet a significant number of 
minimum performance levels. As the Introduction explains, DHCS 
requires health plans to meet minimum performance levels for key 
HEDIS measures related to the quality of care that they provide to 
beneficiaries. However, both Anthem and Health & Wellness scored 
below minimum performance levels for at least 24 percent of these 
HEDIS measures for each of the four years for which the data 
were available. For instance, neither of the two plans conducted an 
adequate number of breast cancer screenings in 2018. As Table 3 
shows, the two Regional Model plans scored extremely poorly 
in 2016: Anthem and Health & Wellness failed to meet an average 
of 12 and 14, respectively, of the 22 minimum performance levels. 
To supplement these figures on the number of HEDIS measures 
below the minimum performance level, we present an interactive 

In 2016 DHCS commissioned an 
access assessment that may assist 
it in identifying and resolving 
shortages of providers in the 
Regional Model.



27California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

map on our website that shows by county, plan, and measure the 
percent of HEDIS scores below the minimum performance levels 
during the past four years.

Table 3
The Regional Model Health Plans and Partnership Have Provided a 
Similar Quality of Care in the Rural Expansion Counties

AVERAGE NUMBER OF HEDIS MEASURES BELOW 
MINIMUM PERFORMANCE LEVEL

REGIONAL MODEL† COHS

YEAR
NUMBER OF 
MEASURES* ANTHEM

HEALTH & 
WELLNESS PARTNERSHIP‡

2015 22 9.5 10.5 10.5

2016 22 12 14 11

2017 18 6.5 7.5 8

2018 21 5 6 6

Source: Analysis of HEDIS data.

Note: Anthem, Health & Wellness, and Partnership report on their performance using reporting 
units made up of groups of counties. We averaged their scores in each of their rural expansion 
county reporting units to determine their overall performance in the rural expansion counties.

* Excludes measures for which DHCS has not specified a minimum performance level.
† Excludes Kaiser Permanente, which operates in a limited manner in three of the 18 Regional 

Model counties.
‡ Excludes Lake County, which is part of the rural expansion. Partnership reports Lake County’s data 

as part of a group of counties that includes three counties that were not in the rural expansion.

The HEDIS data indicate that although the quality of care the 
Regional Model health plans provided was comparable to 
the quality of care in the other rural expansion counties, it was 
lower than the quality of care in the rest of the State. As Table 3 
shows, the performance of Anthem and Health & Wellness within 
the 18 Regional Model counties was similar to Partnership’s 
performance in its rural expansion counties. However, Table 4 
shows that the rural expansion health plans’ average performance 
was well below the average performance of the plans serving the 
counties in the rest of the State. Improvements in the HEDIS 
scores of the Regional Model plans since 2016 have reduced the gap 
between the Regional Model counties and other areas of the State. 
According to the quality and monitoring chief, the improvements 
in these health plans’ HEDIS scores indicate that their quality of 
care has improved as a result of a CAP—which it refers to as a 
quality CAP—that it imposed when they fell below standards.



28 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Table 4
Beneficiaries in the Rural Expansion Counties Have Received a Lower Quality of Care Than Other Beneficiaries 
in the State

AVERAGE NUMBER OF HEDIS MEASURES 
BELOW MINIMUM PERFORMANCE LEVEL

YEAR
NUMBER OF 
MEASURES*

RURAL  
EXPANSION†

REMAINDER OF  
THE STATE‡

2015 22 10.2 4.1

2016 22 12.3 6.7

2017 18 7.3 4.7

2018 21 5.7 2.3

Source: Analysis of HEDIS data.

* Excludes measures for which DHCS has not specified a minimum performance level.
† Excludes Kaiser Permanente, which operates in a limited manner in three of the 18 Regional Model counties. Also excludes Imperial and  

San Benito counties, which Anthem and Health & Wellness serve outside the Regional Model.
‡ Includes Lake County, which is part of the rural expansion. Partnership reports Lake County’s data as part of a group of counties that 

includes three counties that were not in the rural expansion.

Other measures suggest that the Regional Model plans have 
struggled more than Partnership in meeting their contractual 
requirements for quality of care. As we discuss in the Introduction, 
both DHCS and Managed Health Care perform routine audits 
to verify whether health plans are complying with legal and 
contractual requirements that affect quality of care. However, these 
audits generally cover each plan’s performance throughout the 
State, without indicating the particular model or county with which 
the departments have identified deficiencies. Consequently, the 
audits do not address conditions that are specific to the Regional 
Model plans. Nonetheless, under the terms of an interagency 
agreement between DHCS and Managed Health Care for 2014 
through 2016, Managed Health Care conducted an audit of 
each of the three health plans—Anthem, Health & Wellness, 
and Partnership—that focused on their legal and contractual 
compliance within the 28 rural expansion counties. These audits 
suggest that the Regional Model health plans had greater difficulty 
meeting their contractual requirements than Partnership did. 

Managed Health Care identified contractual and legal violations 
that all three health plans committed in the rural expansion 
counties, but it identified potentially more serious deficiencies in 
its reviews of Anthem and Health & Wellness than of Partnership. 
For example, Managed Health Care determined that both 
Anthem and Health & Wellness failed to properly document and 
address potentially significant grievances and other quality issues 
pertaining to inadequate care, including a cardiac arrest caused 
by a medication error and a provider’s failure to detect a serious 
infection. The health plans’ failure to properly address these 



29California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

reported quality issues may have exposed beneficiaries to harm. In 
contrast, Managed Health Care’s findings related to Partnership did 
not indicate significant risks to beneficiaries’ health. For example, 
Managed Health Care found that Partnership resolved grievances 
promptly but did not always list the dates it received the grievances 
when responding to beneficiaries. 

DHCS has taken steps to ensure that the health plans have resolved 
the deficiencies that Managed Health Care’s audits identified. 
As part of its interagency agreement, DHCS used quality CAPs 
to address these violations. In our April 2019 audit report, 
Department of Health Care Services: Although Its Oversight of 
Managed Care Health Plans Is Generally Sufficient, It Needs to 
Ensure That Their Administrative Expenses Are Reasonable and 
Necessary, Report 2018‑115, we determined that DHCS’ process to 
oversee health plans’ quality of care—including quality CAPs—was 
generally sufficient.

DHCS Has Not Effectively Communicated to Counties When It 
Identified Quality of Care Deficiencies

Although DHCS has generally complied with state and federal 
reporting requirements, it could do more to inform county officials 
when it identifies significant quality of care issues with the Regional 
Model health plans. Federal and state laws require DHCS to 
publicly report different elements of its monitoring efforts, and 
DHCS complies with these requirements by publishing its HEDIS 
results and medical audit reports on its website. However, it has 
not adequately educated counties about all the types of monitoring 
that it performs, such as the medical audits we previously discuss 
and the corresponding CAPs, which DHCS calls medical audit 
CAPs. Through its medical audits, DHCS evaluates health plans’ 
performance and compliance with contractual requirements in 
six categories: utilization management, case management and 
coordination of care, access and availability of care, member 
rights, quality management, and administrative and organizational 
capacity. If stakeholders are not aware of DHCS’ monitoring efforts, 
they are unlikely to seek out the results of those efforts. Moreover, 
when it completes its audit reports, DHCS does not notify counties 
or distribute the reports to them, thereby placing the responsibility 
on the counties to review its website regularly to become aware of 
new medical audit findings. 

Further, DHCS does not promptly update its website with its 
medical audit reports, which delays stakeholders’ ability to review 
those results. For example, DHCS issued its most recent audit of 
Anthem in August 2018; however, it still had not made the results 
publicly available as of July 2019. DHCS explained that it waits 

DHCS has not adequately educated 
counties about all the types of 
monitoring that it performs, such as 
its medical audits.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

30

until the health plans complete the medical audit CAPs pertaining 
to their audits before it publishes the audit results on its website. 
Although state law allows this delay, counties could better assist 
their beneficiaries if DHCS informed them of performance issues 
more promptly. We believe that DHCS should publish medical 
audit results as they become available and then post the completed 
medical audit CAPs later. DHCS said it would consider making 
this change.

By providing counties with information about the significant 
quality of care issues that it identifies, DHCS could better enable 
them to help beneficiaries receive the care to which they are 
entitled. County representatives indicated that they were aware 
of beneficiaries’ difficulties with receiving appropriate care, 
and that in some cases, beneficiaries have reached out to them 
directly to report issues. Information about problems that DHCS 
has identified with health plans’ performance would likely assist 
counties in their efforts to help these beneficiaries, particularly 
when DHCS has identified violations of beneficiaries’ rights. For 
example, DHCS concluded in a 2017 audit that Health & Wellness 
had wrongfully denied a beneficiary an evaluation to determine 
whether he was eligible for an organ transplant, even though 
a physician recommended an evaluation and the health plan’s 
contract with DHCS entitled its beneficiaries to such evaluations. 
If DHCS consistently informed counties of such problems, the 
counties would be better positioned to assist other beneficiaries 
who are facing similar issues.

To obtain the counties’ perspectives on DHCS’ outreach efforts, we 
spoke with representatives of county health agencies in a number of 
rural expansion counties. Representatives of seven of these counties 
were unfamiliar with the full scope of DHCS’ monitoring efforts, 
and representatives of five stated that they did not even know 
that DHCS conducted medical audits. In general, most of these 
individuals who we spoke with stated that they would like DHCS 
to be more proactive in notifying them when it identifies serious 
deficiencies in their county’s health plans. 

The representatives’ comments suggest that counties would benefit 
if DHCS issued a periodic form of communication, such as a 
newsletter. In fact, one county representative described DHCS’ 
website as overwhelming, and another said that it is difficult to 
find the reports about health plans’ performance levels on that 
website. Another county official explained that her staff lack the 
time to review the website regularly to determine whether DHCS 
has published new reports. When we asked DHCS for perspective, 
it explained that counties and other stakeholders can request to be 
added to an email distribution list (mailing list) it uses to update 
stakeholders on managed care topics. It also stated that it has 

By providing counties with 
information about the significant 
quality of care issues that it 
identifies, DHCS could better enable 
them to help beneficiaries receive 
the care to which they are entitled.



31California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

two advisory groups in which counties may participate, and each of 
these groups has an email address to which stakeholders can submit 
questions or concerns. However, DHCS acknowledged that it does 
not discuss its medical audits and other monitoring efforts in these 
groups unless a member requests that it do so, nor does it send 
such information to stakeholders on its mailing list. By improving 
its process for publishing its monitoring results, which it is willing 
to do, DHCS could better ensure that county stakeholders have the 
knowledge necessary to assist beneficiaries in receiving the care 
that they need.

Recommendations

To ensure that beneficiaries in Regional Model counties have 
adequate access to care, DHCS should identify by August 2020 
the locations requiring additional providers and the types of 
providers required. It should also develop strategies for recruiting 
and retaining providers in those locations. If it requires additional 
funding to complete this assessment or to implement actions to 
address its findings, DHCS should determine the amounts it needs 
and request that funding from the Legislature.

To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the State exhaust 
all of their reasonable options to meet the access requirements 
before requesting alternative access standards, DHCS should 
immediately begin doing the following:

• Develop written guidance that specifies the conditions under 
which staff should approve, deny, or contact health plans for 
clarification regarding their alternative access standard requests.

• Determine a specific minimum number of providers that health 
plans must attempt to contract with before requesting an 
alternative access standard.

• Require health plans to report on their attempts to contract with 
providers when submitting their alternative access standard 
requests, including providing evidence of their efforts, such as 
the contact information for each provider with which they have 
attempted to contract.

• Establish a process for periodically verifying the health plans’ 
efforts, such as contacting a sample of the listed providers and 
determining whether the plans attempted to contract with them.

• Require health plans to authorize out‑of‑network care if they 
do not demonstrate they have exhausted all of their reasonable 
options to meet the access requirements, unless the health 



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

32

plans can demonstrate that closer providers are demanding 
unreasonably high rates or have documented deficiencies in 
quality of care.

To ensure that it promptly and sufficiently notifies counties and 
other stakeholders about health plans’ quality of care deficiencies, 
DHCS should immediately do the following:

• Post its medical audit reports to its website within one month 
after it issues the reports to the health plans.

• Include information about its recently published medical audit 
reports and other monitoring efforts in its communication with 
counties and other stakeholders on its mailing list.

• Ensure that relevant county officials are included on its 
mailing list.



33California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Chapter 2

DHCS HAS NOT ENSURED THAT ALL MEDI‑CAL 
BENEFICIARIES IN RURAL EXPANSION COUNTIES RECEIVE 
SERVICES THROUGH A MODEL THAT BEST MEETS 
THEIR NEEDS

Chapter Summary

Over the course of the past seven years, DHCS has not adequately 
engaged with the Regional Model counties regarding their managed 
care model and contracted health plans. Specifically, before the 
2013 transition, DHCS did not actively educate the rural expansion 
counties about the options available to them. Further, even when 
these counties sought to create or join a COHS, it did not assist 
them. DHCS’ lack of engagement with the counties continued well 
after the transition occurred. For example, it did not seek feedback 
from the Regional Model counties regarding their satisfaction with 
Health & Wellness’s performance before it extended its contract 
with the health plan.

However, DHCS could now take steps to begin acting on counties’ 
preferences and feedback. Since the completion of the rural 
expansion in 2013, a number of counties have expressed the desire 
to leave the Regional Model and instead create or join a COHS. 
DHCS’ current agreements with the Regional Model health 
plans make such a change difficult until 2023, but at that time, 
transitioning Regional Model counties to a COHS will be a viable 
option. Because creating a COHS would require the counties 
and DHCS to complete several time‑consuming activities, such 
as establishing a provider network, starting the process now 
would better enable the counties and DHCS to complete these 
activities before the current health plan contracts expire and ensure 
continuity of care for the counties’ beneficiaries. By assisting the 
counties in making such a change, DHCS could better ensure that 
beneficiaries receive adequate access to care. 

DHCS Did Not Adequately Educate and Assist Rural Expansion 
Counties During Their Transition to Managed Care

As the agency responsible for overseeing the effective delivery of 
health care to Medi‑Cal beneficiaries throughout the State, DHCS 
should have ensured that before the rural expansion counties 
transitioned to managed care, it proactively educated them on 
the available managed care options so that they could select a 
model that would best serve their needs. Instead, the counties 
selected their own models without receiving sufficient guidance 



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

34

from DHCS. Several county representatives we interviewed stated 
that they were unclear about their managed care options at the time 
of the rural expansion transition. In addition, even when counties 
determined that they wanted to join or create a COHS, DHCS did 
not assist them in exploring that option.

DHCS Did Not Adequately Inform and Educate Rural Expansion Counties 
on Their Managed Care Options

DHCS did not actively collaborate with the rural expansion 
counties before their transition to managed care to inform them 
of their options, to identify any potential concerns they should 
consider, or to confirm that they understood the transition 
process. According to the special projects manager of the DHCS 
director’s office (special projects manager), who formerly served 
as the managed care chief, DHCS representatives had several 
conversations with county representatives and providers, such as 
hospitals, that approached it with questions about managed care. 
For example, some counties asked DHCS about joining Partnership, 
and DHCS informed them of the steps they would need to take, 
including seeking federal approval. Nevertheless, because DHCS 
relied on the counties to select their own models, we expected it to 
have provided them with adequate information to ensure that they 
made informed decisions. That type of involvement likely would 
have helped ensure the overall success of the transition.

State law required DHCS to solicit feedback from relevant managed 
care stakeholders such as beneficiaries, providers, and health 
plans regarding their perspectives on the models that would be 
most suitable for the 28 rural expansion counties. During the rural 
expansion, DHCS held open meetings to solicit feedback from 
stakeholders, but it did not conduct outreach that specifically 
targeted the counties. Because counties are able to create COHS 
Models and local initiatives in a Two‑Plan Model, we expected 
DHCS to have considered them relevant stakeholders and to 
have sought their feedback. However, DHCS’ meetings did not 
address topics of specific relevance to counties, such as the steps 
a county would need to take to create a COHS Model. According 
to the special projects manager, DHCS believes it addressed its 
responsibility to inform stakeholders, including counties, about 
the rural expansion transition by facilitating these meetings and 
by being willing to address concerns stakeholders brought to 
its attention.

However, we question the effectiveness of this approach given 
that many counties told us they were unclear about their managed 
care options at the time of the transition. Representatives from 
several Regional Model counties stated that their counties had 

Because counties are able to create 
COHS Models and local initiatives 
in a Two‑Plan Model, we expected 
DHCS to have considered them 
relevant stakeholders and to have 
sought their feedback.



35California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

not fully understood the options that were available to them, the 
type of assistance DHCS was willing to provide them, or the steps 
they needed to take to establish or join a managed care model. 
Consequently, those counties did not take specific action to join or 
create another model and instead deferred to DHCS, which placed 
them in the Regional Model.

Neither DHCS’ chief deputy director—who was not involved 
in communications with the counties during the time of the 
rural expansion—nor its special projects manager could recall 
whether DHCS actively approached and educated the rural 
expansion counties beyond the transition meetings that it held for 
interested stakeholders. However, the special projects manager 
acknowledged that DHCS did not prepare informational material 
for stakeholders to explain the available managed care options, 
the steps the counties would need to take to act on those options, 
or the resources DHCS could offer to assist with the transition. 
Further, neither the chief deputy director nor the special projects 
manager recalled whether DHCS advised the counties on how 
to evaluate their demographics to determine whether particular 
models might be more effective in serving their beneficiaries. They 
also could not recall whether DHCS allocated staff resources, such 
as an assigned group of staff members, to monitor the progress of 
the counties during the transition and to serve as a resource for 
them. We expected DHCS to have taken some or all of these actions 
to ensure that the counties were well informed to select their own 
managed care models.

DHCS Did Not Assist Rural Expansion Counties That Wanted to Create or 
Join a COHS

Despite the questionable effectiveness of DHCS’ approach to 
inform counties of their managed care model options, many of the 
rural expansion counties attempted to create or join a COHS or 
local initiative, as we discuss in the Introduction. However, four of 
the Regional Model counties were unsuccessful in their attempts. 
Three of these four counties informed us that they attempted to 
join Partnership by discussing with Partnership representatives 
the viability of having that health plan serve their Medi‑Cal 
beneficiaries. One county indicated that it also passed a county 
board resolution affirming its support of Partnership’s expansion 
into the county. Representatives of the three counties explained 
that Partnership ultimately rejected the counties’ proposals because 
it had reached its capacity of additional counties it could accept. 
The other county attempted to join another COHS, the Central 
California Alliance for Health (Central Alliance). According to a 

Several counties had not fully 
understood the options that were 
available to them, the type of 
assistance DHCS was willing to 
provide them, or the steps they 
needed to take to establish or join a 
managed care model.

By providing counties with 
information about the significant 
quality of care issues that it 
identifies, DHCS could better enable 
them to help beneficiaries receive 
the care to which they are entitled.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

36

county representative, Central Alliance indicated that it would not 
be able to accept the county because it would have been financially 
prohibitive for it to do so.

Most of the eight rural expansion counties that successfully joined 
Partnership in 2013 received assistance from an external resource, 
which better prepared them to join a COHS. Several of these 
counties participated in stakeholder meetings facilitated by Health 
Alliance of Northern California (Health Alliance), a network of 
nonprofit community health clinics and health centers. The meetings 
informed these counties about their managed care model options, 
including the locations of the current COHS they could seek to 
join. Health Alliance recruited Partnership to attend the meetings. 
A Health Alliance representative informed us that Health Alliance 
also coordinated with the counties to obtain declarations from their 
boards of supervisors that demonstrated their desire to receive 
Medi‑Cal services through Partnership. At least two counties then 
contacted their respective state legislators, who encouraged DHCS to 
allow the counties to join Partnership. DHCS subsequently approved 
these counties’ requests to join Partnership.

DHCS did not provide the type of assistance that Health Alliance 
provided because it did not believe that doing so was part of its role. 
According to the chief deputy director, DHCS expected counties 
that were interested in joining a COHS to reach out directly to that 
COHS to determine whether it was interested in providing services 
in the county. Further, the special projects manager explained that 
the COHS would have needed to consider whether it was able 
to establish or expand its provider network into the counties. In 
other words, because DHCS believed that the counties and health 
plans should have taken the initiative to work together, it did not 
attempt to facilitate or encourage any communication among 
them. However, we expected DHCS—like Health Alliance—to have 
provided assistance to the counties to ensure that they were well 
positioned to work with the health plans to provide the best service 
to their beneficiaries.

In addition, if DHCS had made information about the transition 
available to counties sooner, more counties might have been able 
to select the health plans they determined would best serve their 
beneficiaries. A representative from one of the Regional Model 
counties told us that her county became interested in joining 
Partnership too late in the managed care transition process, 
after Partnership already reached its capacity. By that time, 
the county was not able to create its own COHS or establish a 
multicounty COHS with other counties. According to DHCS’ 
records, it held its first stakeholder meeting to inform Regional 
Model counties of the transition to managed care in July 2012—
only seven months before it awarded the contracts to Anthem and 

Most of the eight rural expansion 
counties that successfully joined 
Partnership in 2013 received 
assistance from an external 
resource, which better prepared 
them to join a COHS.



37California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Health & Wellness in February 2013. We question the sufficiency of 
this seven‑month period to allow counties to explore the option 
of joining a health plan or creating an alternate managed care 
model, especially without informational assistance from DHCS. 

Because DHCS is the entity responsible for administering the 
Medi‑Cal program, we believe that it was in the best position to 
provide assistance to counties that wanted to create a COHS. We 
expected DHCS to have informed the counties about the specific 
actions required to create a COHS and to provide assistance to 
those counties that did not have the resources to perform such 
actions. For example, two Regional Model counties told us they 
did not explore the option of creating a COHS at the time of the 
transition because they believed they did not have the necessary 
financial resources or knowledge. Had DHCS been proactive 
in offering assistance, the counties might now have managed 
care models that are more effective at providing services to 
their beneficiaries. 

The chief deputy director explained that providing such assistance 
to counties would not have been possible in 2013 because DHCS 
did not have sufficient financial resources at that time. She also 
stated that if DHCS were to take on the responsibility of providing 
financial assistance to counties that want to be in a different 
managed care model, it would need additional funding from the 
State. We discuss this possibility in more detail below.

DHCS Extended Its Contracts With the Regional Model Health Plans 
Without Seeking Input From the Counties

State law allows DHCS to enter into contracts with one or more 
health plans to provide managed health care services to Medi‑Cal 
beneficiaries in the rural expansion counties. In addition, DHCS has 
the exclusive authority to establish rates, terms, and conditions of 
managed care plan contracts and subsequent amendments, although 
these elements are subject to federal approval. Although state law 
required DHCS to request stakeholder feedback as part of the rural 
expansion counties’ transition to managed care in 2013, it does not 
require DHCS to request feedback from stakeholders, including 
counties, before extending its contracts with the Regional Model 
health plans. However, we believe that before taking such an action, 
DHCS should request the counties’ feedback. Otherwise, it may 
miss opportunities to gain important insight from the counties on 
whether the health plans have been effectively serving beneficiaries.

In 2013 DHCS established five‑year contracts with Anthem and 
Health & Wellness to provide services in the Regional Model 
counties through October 2018. In November 2018, DHCS 

DHCS has the exclusive authority 
to establish rates, terms, and 
conditions of managed care 
plan contracts and subsequent 
amendments, although 
these elements are subject to 
federal approval.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

38

extended its contract with Health & Wellness through a provision 
that allowed it the option to extend the terms in one‑year 
increments up to four additional years. DHCS initially exercised 
the option to extend the contract through June 2019 and extended 
it again through June 2020 without seeking feedback from counties 
about their satisfaction with the health plan’s performance. 
According to the managed care chief, DHCS extended the contract 
because of this provision and because it did not identify any 
concerns with Health & Wellness that warranted terminating 
that contract. 

Although DHCS does not have a formal internal review process 
for determining whether to extend a contract, it stated that it 
considers health plans’ performance when deciding whether to 
extend their contracts and would not do so if it identified significant 
issues. DHCS asserted that it continually monitors health plans’ 
performance through various methods, including but not limited 
to its medical audits and its review of HEDIS measures. DHCS 
also stated that it did not request stakeholder feedback before 
extending the contract, citing the absence of such a requirement 
and the fact that DHCS had received feedback from stakeholders 
when it first solicited proposals for the rural expansion counties 
in 2012. However, we question the timeliness and relevance of that 
feedback, given that it occurred before DHCS had even entered 
into a contract with Health & Wellness. We expected that each 
time DHCS extended Health & Wellness’ contract, it would request 
feedback from stakeholders, including counties, to gain insight 
regarding the health plan’s performance and the counties’ desire to 
continue in the Regional Model.

DHCS also extended Anthem’s contract without seeking feedback 
from stakeholders although it did so under other unique 
circumstances for which feedback would not have been relevant. 
In 2014 just one year after executing the original contract, DHCS 
agreed to a settlement with Anthem that extended its contracts 
for five additional years in all of the counties in which Anthem 
provided Medi‑Cal services, including the Regional Model counties. 
According to DHCS, the settlement was the result of several 
lawsuits Anthem filed against DHCS regarding rates that DHCS 
paid it to provide Medi‑Cal services. Because of the settlement, 
the Regional Model counties are obligated to remain in that model 
and have Anthem serve as one of their health plans through 
October 2023.

Nevertheless, it appears that DHCS did not inform counties of 
this extension until long after it was executed. DHCS’ current 
management were unclear about the extent of any discussions that 
their predecessors had with counties before extending the contract. 
However, according to representatives of several Regional Model 

Although DHCS does not have a 
formal internal review process for 
determining whether to extend a 
contract, it stated that it considers 
health plans’ performance when 
deciding whether to extend their 
contracts and would not do so if it 
identified significant issues.



39California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

counties, DHCS did not inform them of the extension at the time 
it occurred. Some of these representatives informed us that they 
had multiple meetings with DHCS’ executive staff in 2017 and early 
2018 to discuss the managed care model options that were available 
to them after DHCS’ contracts with Anthem and Health & Wellness 
expired. According to some of these counties, DHCS informed 
them during those meetings that it had extended Anthem’s contract 
through 2023 and that it would not be able to remove them from 
that contract because it would incur significant financial penalties.

DHCS announced on its website that it will initiate a new 
request for proposals (RFP) that it anticipates releasing in 2020 
for commercial managed care health plans throughout the State 
that include the Regional Model counties. It plans to place all of 
its commercial managed care health plan contracts up for bid 
in 2020, including Anthem’s and Health & Wellness’s Regional 
Model contracts. According to the chief deputy director, if the 
Regional Model counties want to join or create a COHS, they will 
need to begin working on the transition while DHCS’ contracts 
with Anthem and Health & Wellness are still in place, and they will 
need to inform DHCS before it issues the RFP. DHCS also identified 
January 2024 as the potential implementation date for the Regional 
Model contracts. However, that implementation date is subject 
to change, based on the health plans’ ability to provide services. 
According to DHCS, the four‑year period for implementation is 
based on the amount of time needed for it to evaluate and score 
proposals and to ensure that the selected health plans complete 
all required plan readiness activities. Although DHCS indicated it 
is not requesting feedback from stakeholders on this RFP because 
the stakeholders in those affected counties already have experience 
with managed care, it is willing to accept any public comments it 
receives after it issues the request. 

The COHS Model Is a Viable Option for the Regional Model Counties 
That Could Ensure That Its Beneficiaries Receive Better Access to Care

As we discuss in Chapter 1, the majority of the providers that 
contract with the Regional Model health plans contract with 
only one of the health plans but not both. Because the COHS 
Model consists of a single health plan that a county directly 
oversees, its structure might facilitate better access to care for 
Regional Model beneficiaries because they could access all of its 
contracted providers. With the assistance of DHCS, many Regional 
Model counties could establish a multicounty COHS that likely 
would more effectively serve their beneficiaries. However, any 
formal change could likely not occur until the contracts with the 
two existing Regional Model health plans expire.

DHCS announced on its website 
that it will initiate a new RFP 
that it anticipates releasing in 
2020 for commercial managed 
care health plans throughout the 
State that include the Regional 
Model counties.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

40

The COHS Model May Provide Better Access to Care for the Beneficiaries 
in the Regional Model Counties 

As we discuss in Chapter 1, the Regional Model’s use of two health 
plans that must each establish adequate provider networks has 
negatively affected beneficiaries’ access to care. The majority 
of providers in the Regional Model contract with either of the 
Regional Model health plans but not both, meaning that some 
beneficiaries may have to travel hundreds of miles to receive 
care from in‑network providers. In contrast, one of the defining 
characteristics of the COHS Model is that it consists of a 
single health plan that provides services to its beneficiaries. By 
implementing a COHS in the Regional Model counties, all of 
the beneficiaries in those counties would have access to all of the 
providers in that model. DHCS indicated that it is not aware of any 
evaluation that has concluded that a particular managed care model 
is more effective at providing access to care than another model. 
However, the poor access conditions we identified in the Regional 
Model counties led us to conclude that DHCS could benefit from 
performing such an evaluation to determine whether a COHS 
would improve access to care for those beneficiaries.

A COHS also can dedicate a greater portion of its financial 
resources to recruiting Medi‑Cal providers to rural locations in 
which it operates that do not currently have enough such providers. 
A COHS is a nonprofit organization with a governing board that 
is largely composed of officials of the counties they serve. Because 
of its nonprofit status, a COHS does not dedicate a portion of 
the capitation payments it receives to corporate shareholders in the 
same way that Anthem and Health & Wellness do. Consequently, a 
COHS could have more flexibility than a commercial health plan to 
commit its resources to improving provider availability.

Additionally, because a COHS’s board is composed largely of 
officials of the counties that it serves, these county officials have 
influence in directing the organization to dedicate its resources 
to their counties’ greatest needs, including recruiting providers. 
According to Partnership, its board directed the organization to 
prioritize recruiting for providers to fill service gaps in its counties. 
Partnership asserts it has since committed significant resources 
to recruiting new providers for those counties and retaining 
existing providers.

Establishing a COHS Is a Viable Option for the Regional Model Counties

Since the completion of the rural expansion transition in 2013, at 
least seven counties have expressed to DHCS their interest in either 
switching to a COHS Model or in learning more about doing so. 

A COHS can dedicate a greater 
portion of its financial resources 
to recruiting Medi‑Cal providers to 
rural locations in which it operates 
that do not currently have 
such providers.



41California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

We spoke with representatives of these and other counties in the 
Regional Model about their experiences with the rural expansion 
transition, their current service delivery, and their perspectives 
on their future involvement with managed care. Several counties 
identified potential benefits of the COHS Model that they do not 
have in the Regional Model. For example, representatives from 
some counties believe that the direct county oversight of a COHS 
can lead to the health plan’s implementation of programs that 
address the counties’ specific needs. When we spoke to Partnership, 
it explained that it has implemented programs to assist with the 
opioid epidemic in response to concerns from its counties.

DHCS’ settlement with Anthem and its contract with Health & 
Wellness would likely preclude the counties from considering other 
models until those contracts expire in 2023 and 2020, respectively. 
Thereafter, the Regional Model counties could consider creating or 
joining a COHS. Federal regulations generally require that states 
mandating that Medicaid beneficiaries must enroll in a managed 
care health plan must give those beneficiaries a choice of at least 
two plans. However, federal regulations allow an exception for 
COHS Models if the COHS offers its beneficiaries a choice of at 
least two primary care providers.

To create a COHS that would serve multiple counties in the 
Regional Model, those counties would need to establish the COHS’s 
administrative structure and provider network. For example, the 
counties would need to create a special commission to negotiate 
the contract and arrange for the provision of health care services. 
The counties would also need to hire personnel, procure computer 
systems, and establish contracts with providers, which all have 
associated costs. Because DHCS cannot issue health plan capitation 
payments until a COHS begins serving Medi‑Cal beneficiaries, 
the COHS would not have those resources available to fund its 
start‑up costs. Given that some of the Regional Model counties 
may not have sufficient staff or financial resources to fund the 
start‑up costs of a COHS, it would seem reasonable for DHCS 
to provide assistance to the counties to help create the entity 
and hire core personnel. Further, for this same reason, it may be 
more cost‑effective for the Regional Model counties to create a 
multicounty COHS for the region rather than one or more of them 
creating a county‑specific COHS. 

Although DHCS has yet to provide any such assistance to counties 
that currently desire to create a COHS, the chief deputy director 
stated that DHCS would need additional funding before it could 
provide assistance to counties. Similarly, DHCS indicated it does 
not provide financial resources to new health plans for start‑up 
costs and would need to seek funding from the Legislature to do so. 

To create a COHS that would 
serve multiple counties in the 
Regional Model, those counties 
would need to establish the COHS’s 
administrative structure and 
provider network.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

42

However, without DHCS’ assistance, small and rural counties may 
not be able to develop the infrastructure required to change their 
managed care models. 

Because DHCS’ current staff do not have experience with 
establishing a COHS, we interviewed a representative of the 
State’s most recently established COHS, Gold Coast Health Plan 
(Gold Coast), about the process Ventura County used to establish 
it in 2011. According to the representative, the formation of 
Gold Coast required Ventura County to hire staff to administer 
the health plan. Gold Coast then contracted with external 
vendors to perform some of its administrative functions, such 
as operating its claims and encounter data computer systems. 
Gold Coast obtained a portion of its start‑up funding from one of 
its vendors. Gold Coast estimated that creating and staffing the 
COHS cost about $15 million. 

In addition, before the Regional Model counties could begin 
operating a new COHS, both federal regulations and state law 
require DHCS to evaluate whether the COHS is adequately 
prepared to provide services to beneficiaries. That evaluation 
would entail reviewing the health plan’s provider network and its 
procedures to monitor and improve quality of care.

The Cost to Deliver Managed Care Depends on the Specific Needs of the 
Beneficiary Population Being Served

To evaluate whether the costs of delivering Medi‑Cal services 
using a COHS in the Regional Model counties would differ from 
the current costs of delivering those services, we reviewed DHCS’ 
capitation payments and other associated costs for Partnership 
counties and for the Regional Model counties. DHCS pays 
monthly capitation payments to health plans to cover services 
that DHCS has contractually required the health plans to provide 
to beneficiaries. DHCS groups eligible beneficiaries into 10 aid 
categories, each of which consists of individuals who have similar 
health risk traits. It then pays different capitation payments 
depending on the aid category. For example, DHCS would pay a 
different capitation payment for a beneficiary in the breast and 
cervical cancer aid category than for a beneficiary in the family and 
adult aid category. DHCS provides certain services to beneficiaries 
even though it does not require some health plans to include 
these services in their contracts. DHCS pays providers directly 
for these services, which we refer to as noncapitated services. 

As Table 5 shows, DHCS spent more per beneficiary per month 
from fiscal years 2013–14 through 2016–17 to deliver services to 
Partnership’s beneficiaries than to the Regional Model beneficiaries. 

DHCS pays monthly capitation 
payments to health plans to 
cover services that DHCS has 
contractually required the health 
plans to provide to beneficiaries.



43California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

However, DHCS indicated that the overall average per‑member 
per‑month cost of providing services to Partnership beneficiaries 
is not a reasonable representation of how much it would cost 
DHCS to provide services to beneficiaries in the Regional Model 
counties through a COHS. The research and analytic studies chief 
(research chief ) explained that the differences in the overall average 
per‑member per‑month cost for capitation payments between 
the Regional Model and Partnership was primarily driven by the 
variation in enrollment patterns between the model types during 
this period. The research chief stated that Partnership’s higher 
overall average per‑member per‑month cost is attributable to its 
counties having enrolled a greater proportion of beneficiaries in 
high aid categories than the Regional Model counties enrolled. 
For example, DHCS determined that in fiscal year 2013–14, 
about 13 percent of Partnership’s capitation payments were for 
beneficiaries in one of its disabled aid categories, while only 
1 percent of the Regional Model counties’ payments were for 
such beneficiaries.

Table 5
DHCS Spent More per Member per Month for Partnership’s Beneficiaries 
Than for the Regional Model’s Beneficiaries

MANAGED CARE MODEL TYPE

FISCAL  
YEAR PAYMENT TYPE

 
COHS 

(PARTNERSHIP)
REGIONAL  

MODEL

2013–14
Capitated $409 $266 

Noncapitated* 231 88

Totals $640 $354

2014–15
Capitated $428 $364

Noncapitated* 195 113

Totals $623 $477

2015–16
Capitated $365 $315

Noncapitated* 201 129

Totals $566 $444

2016–17
Capitated $318 $308

Noncapitated* 210 141

Totals $528 $449

Source: Analysis of DHCS’ Medi-Cal expenditures from fiscal years 2013–14 through 2016–17. 

Note: According to DHCS, neither capitation payments nor noncapitated services costs include 
certain supplemental payments, Medicare premiums, pharmacy rebates, or settlements.

* Noncapitated services are those that DHCS does not require health plans to provide to 
beneficiaries in their benefits packages. Instead, DHCS pays providers directly for the services 
when billed by the providers.



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

44

According to the research chief, another factor contributing to 
the difference between Partnership’s costs and Regional Model 
health plans’ costs is their beneficiaries’ utilization of noncapitated 
services. For example, DHCS paid about $27 more per member 
per month in fiscal year 2016–17 for Partnership’s beneficiaries 
to receive in‑home supportive services, which are noncapitated, 
than it did for the Regional Model beneficiaries. The research 
chief informed us that like capitation payments, costs relating to 
noncapitated services depend on the number of beneficiaries in a 
health plan who qualify to receive the services and the degree of 
assistance that each beneficiary needs. If a health plan has more 
beneficiaries that require noncapitated services, DHCS will pay 
a higher overall average per‑member per‑month cost for those 
beneficiaries. Consequently, the costs that DHCS incurs for health 
plans to deliver care to their beneficiaries is based on the specific 
needs of those beneficiaries whom the health plans serve.

Recommendations

To ensure that all counties are aware of the managed care 
model options available to them and of the steps necessary to 
implement those models, DHCS should provide by December 2019 
information to all counties that clearly defines each managed care 
model and the steps and legal requirements needed to establish 
each model.

To ensure that it makes informed decisions regarding the extension 
or renewal of its contracts with managed care health plans, DHCS 
should immediately begin the practice of requesting annual 
feedback from the counties that the health plans serve and of using 
that feedback in its decision‑making process.

To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have 
reasonable access to care, DHCS should do the following by 
June 2020:

• Determine the specific causes of Anthem’s and Health & Wellness’s 
inabilities to provide reasonable access to care in the Regional 
Model counties.

• Evaluate whether the structural characteristics of a COHS Model 
would be better suited to providing reasonable access to care in 
the Regional Model counties and notify the counties whether 
a COHS would improve beneficiaries’ access to care. If some 
or all of these counties desire to transition to a COHS, DHCS 
should assist them in making that change after their current 
contracts expire.



45California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

• Evaluate whether it has the financial resources to provide 
assistance to counties interested in establishing a COHS or 
other managed care model after the current Regional Model 
contracts expire. If DHCS does not have the required financial 
resources, it should seek an appropriate amount of funding from 
the Legislature.

• Provide these counties with reasonable opportunities to 
decide whether to change their managed care models after the 
expiration of the Regional Model health plan contracts. DHCS 
should provide counties that choose to do so sufficient time to 
establish their new models. DHCS should also include language 
in its 2020 RFP to allow Regional Model counties that can 
demonstrate their ability to implement a COHS Model in their 
county by 2023 to opt out of the RFP process.

We conducted this audit under the authority vested in the California State Auditor by 
Government Code 8543 et seq. and according to generally accepted government auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, 
appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our 
audit objectives specified in the Scope and Methodology section of the report. We believe that 
the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our 
audit objectives.

Respectfully submitted,

ELAINE M. HOWLE, CPA 
California State Auditor

Date: August 6, 2019



46 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



47California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Appendix

SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

The Joint Legislative Audit Committee (Audit Committee) 
directed the California State Auditor to examine DHCS’ oversight 
of the rural expansion and of managed care in the Regional Model 
counties. Specifically, the Audit Committee directed us to identify 
the process DHCS used to create the Regional Model, determine 
whether the level of care health plans have provided the Regional 
Model’s beneficiaries has been acceptable, and identify factors 
that may prevent the Regional Model counties from establishing 
a COHS. The table below lists the objectives that the Audit 
Committee approved and the methods we used to address them.

Audit Objectives and the Methods Used to Address Them

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

1 Review and evaluate the laws, rules, and 
regulations significant to the audit objectives.

Reviewed relevant federal and state laws, rules, and regulations related to DHCS’ 
oversight of managed care, health plans’ acceptable delivery of managed care, and the 
establishment of a COHS.

2 Identify the process by which DHCS identified 
and grouped the 18 counties in question 
into the Regional Model and evaluate the 
reasonableness of the process.

• Interviewed DHCS staff to identify the process it used to transition the 28 rural 
expansion counties, including the 18 Regional Model counties, to managed care.

• Interviewed representatives of the rural expansion counties, including the Regional 
Model counties, to determine how their counties learned they would be transitioning 
from fee-for-service to managed care, what types of interactions they had with DHCS, 
and whether DHCS addressed any concerns or health plan preferences they had.

• Evaluated any efforts DHCS made to communicate with counties regarding the 
managed care transition process.

• Reviewed and evaluated the process DHCS used to group the 18 counties into the 
Regional Model and whether that process was reasonable.

3 For the past three years, assess the rates of 
claims being paid by the Regional Model 
commercial plans and how they compare to 
Medi-Cal managed care plans offered through 
the COHS Model.

• Evaluated available fiscal years 2015–16 through 2017–18 financial records for Anthem, 
Health & Wellness, and Partnership to determine the amounts they spent to provide 
services to their beneficiaries.

• Interviewed DHCS staff to determine how it sets capitation rates.

• Evaluated the differences between the benefit packages for the Regional Model and 
the COHS Model and the effect that the benefit packages had on the amounts DHCS 
paid those models’ health plans per beneficiary.

• Evaluated Medi-Cal cost data from fiscal years 2013–14 through 2016–17 for all 
18 Regional Model counties and eight Partnership counties to determine how much 
DHCS spent to deliver services to the beneficiaries of those counties.

4 Determine how DHCS selected the Regional 
Model commercial plans, review the terms of 
any relevant agreements, and assess the degree 
to which DHCS considered stakeholder input or 
other relevant factors.

• Interviewed DHCS staff to determine the process it used to select the Regional Model 
health plans.

• Evaluated whether DHCS followed the applicable laws when it selected the Regional 
Model health plans. We determined that DHCS followed relevant laws when it selected 
Anthem and Health & Wellness to provide services in the Regional Model counties.

• Evaluated DHCS’ method for requesting feedback from stakeholders before it selected 
the health plans, as well as the extent to which DHCS addressed that feedback during 
its selection process.

continued on next page . . .



48 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

5 For the counties served under the Regional 
Model, determine the following:

• Analyzed DHCS’ statewide alternative access standard data to determine whether 
Anthem and Health & Wellness provided beneficiaries in the Regional Model with 
access to care that was comparable to other parts of the State.

• Analyzed statewide HEDIS data from 2015, the earliest year data was available, 
through 2018 to determine how the quality of care Anthem and Health & Wellness 
provided beneficiaries in the Regional Model changed since its implementation and 
whether that care was comparable to other parts of the State.

• Reviewed DHCS’ and Managed Health Care’s audit reports to determine whether the 
care that Anthem and Health & Wellness provided was similar to the care provided by 
other plans operating in rural expansion counties.

• Analyzed DHCS’ provider directory data to calculate the number of providers with 
which Anthem, Health & Wellness, and Partnership contracted.

a. Whether the level of care in those counties is 
disproportionately low as compared to other 
parts of California. To the extent possible, 
determine whether and how the level of care 
has changed since the implementation of the 
Regional Model.

b. Whether the level of care received is 
acceptable as it relates to industry standards 
and state and federal requirements.

• Interviewed staff at DHCS and Managed Health Care to identify criteria defining an 
acceptable level of care.

• Reviewed DHCS’ and Managed Health Care’s audit reports of Anthem and 
Health & Wellness to determine whether the health plans met state, federal, and 
contractual requirements.

• Analyzed HEDIS data from 2015 through 2018 to determine whether Anthem and 
Health & Wellness met the minimum performance levels that DHCS required.

• Analyzed DHCS’ alternative access standard data to determine whether Anthem and 
Health & Wellness provided beneficiaries in the Regional Model with access to care 
that met state requirements. We were unable to identify the number of beneficiaries 
whose access to care exceeded the state requirements because DHCS could not 
provide us with records that identified the number of beneficiaries assigned to each 
health plan by zip code.

c. Whether DHCS has taken steps to ensure that 
the plans adhere to the provisions of their 
contracts and whether DHCS has provided 
that information to the counties.

• Reviewed DHCS’ policies and procedures related to medical audits and corrective 
action plans.

• Determined the extent to which DHCS made its monitoring results available to 
counties and potential stakeholders.

• Evaluated DHCS’ efforts to notify counties and potential stakeholders of its 
monitoring and of the results of that monitoring.

• Interviewed a selection of Regional Model and Partnership county representatives to 
obtain their perspectives on DHCS’ efforts to notify them of its monitoring results.

d. Whether opportunities exist to improve the 
current level of care Medi-Cal beneficiaries 
receive under the Regional Model.

• Interviewed DHCS staff to determine whether DHCS has identified opportunities to 
improve the Regional Model’s level of care.

• Evaluated DHCS’ policies and procedures related to alternative access standards and 
network certification CAPs to identify opportunities to reduce access barriers.

• Evaluated the extent of DHCS’ authority to require health plans to take 
corrective actions.

• Compared provider data from the Medical Board of California and the Osteopathic 
Medical Board of California to DHCS’ provider directory data to determine whether 
Anthem and Health & Wellness have contracted with all of the available providers 
located in the Regional Model counties.

• Evaluated the characteristics of DHCS’ managed care models to determine whether 
any were better suited than others to serve the Regional Model counties.

6 Determine whether DHCS, when negotiating 
and extending its contract with the Regional 
Model commercial plans, made efforts 
to consider and mitigate any concerns 
communicated to DHCS by affected 
counties. Assess whether the process was 
sufficiently transparent.

Interviewed DHCS staff and a selection of Regional Model county staff to determine 
whether DHCS requested feedback from the counties before it extended Anthem’s and 
Health & Wellness’s contracts.



49California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

7 Evaluate what compels the Regional Model 
counties to remain in the existing commercial 
plan model as opposed to creating or 
joining a COHS.

• Evaluated DHCS’ contracts with Anthem and Health & Wellness to determine whether 
they require the counties to remain in the Regional Model.

• Interviewed DHCS staff and other personnel at selected Regional Model and 
Partnership counties, Partnership, and Gold Coast to identify the processes for joining 
or establishing a COHS, the cost of establishing a COHS, and the entities responsible 
for funding the establishment of a COHS.

• Evaluated federal and state laws to determine whether they impose any limitations 
on DHCS’ contracting with an additional COHS.

8 Review and assess any other issues that are 
significant to the audit.

• Interviewed DHCS staff to determine its process for approving or denying alternative 
access standards.

• Evaluated DHCS’ policies and procedures for reviewing alternative access 
standard requests.

• Evaluated a selection of 30 alternative access standard requests to determine whether 
DHCS adhered to its policies and procedures when it approved them.

Source: Analysis of the Audit Committee’s audit request number 2018-122, state law, and information and documentation identified in the column 
titled Method.

Assessment of Data Reliability

The U.S. Government Accountability Office, whose standards 
we are statutorily required to follow, requires us to assess the 
sufficiency and appropriateness of the computer‑processed 
information that we use to support our findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations. In performing this audit, we relied on DHCS’ 
provider directory, alternative access standard data, and HEDIS 
performance data to evaluate the access to care and quality of 
care that the Medi‑Cal managed care health plans provided to 
their beneficiaries. Additionally, we relied on license and eligibility 
data from the Medical Board of California and the Osteopathic 
Medical Board of California in order to identify licensed medical 
providers who are eligible to contract with Medi‑Cal. To evaluate 
these data, we performed electronic testing of the data, reviewed 
existing information about the data, interviewed agency officials 
knowledgeable about the data, and performed data set verification 
procedures. We found that the DHCS provider directory, 
alternative access standards, and HEDIS performance data were 
sufficiently reliable for the purposes of our audit.

However, during our review, we identified limitations with the 
Medical Board of California and Osteopathic Medical Board of 
California license data. Specifically, we found that the license data 
limited the number of practice locations for each provider and that 
not all providers submitted this information. As a result, we found 
the license data were of undetermined reliability for identifying the 
practice location of all providers. Although this determination may 



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

50

affect the precision of some of the numbers we present, there is 
sufficient evidence in total to support our findings, conclusions, 
and recommendations. 



51California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

* California State Auditor’s comments begin on page 59.

*



52 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Department of Health Care Services’ Response to the California State Auditor’s 
Draft Report, Department of Health Care Services: It Has Not Ensured That Medi-

Cal Beneficiaries in Some Rural Counties Have Reasonable Access to Care
Report Number: 2018-122 (19-06)

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 1 of 7

Finding 1: The Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) has allowed health 
plans to require their Medi-Cal beneficiaries to travel hundreds of miles to receive 
care.

Recommendation 1
To ensure that beneficiaries in Regional Model counties have adequate access to care, 
DHCS should identify by August 2020 the locations requiring additional providers and 
the types of providers required. It should also develop strategies for recruiting and
retaining providers in those locations. If it requires additional funding to complete this 
assessment or to implement actions to address its findings, DHCS should determine the 
amounts it needs and request that funding from the Legislature.

Current Status: Will Not Implement

Estimated Implementation Date: N/A

Implementation Plan:
As previously stated in the responses to the audit conducted by the California State 
Auditor titled: “Department of Health Care Services: Millions of Children in Medi-Cal Are 
Not Receiving Preventive Health Services,” DHCS does agree increasing the number of 
physicians who practice in California is beneficial for all health care delivery systems; 
however, such statewide assessment is not something that DHCS is the subject matter
expert in given that Medi-Cal is responsible for about 30% of the health care coverage.
DHCS suggests that this would be better suited for the Office of Statewide Health 
Planning and Development (OSHPD) and the California Workforce Investment Board
and DHCS would support OSHPD in addressing this important matter. However, we do 
note that within DHCS’ purview, DHCS has been actively involved in implementing a 
physician and dental provider loan repayment program using Proposition 56 funds as 
authorized and approved in the Budget Act of 2018. These loan repayments were 
targeted specifically at newly-practicing providers that agree to see a specific 
percentage of Medi-Cal patients in their practice (at least 30 percent) and maintain that 
commitment for at least five years. The loans were open to both pediatric and adult 
providers and additional criteria will include providers that are practicing in high-need
specialty areas such as child psychiatry or practicing in a medically underserved area. 
On July 2, 2019, DHCS announced that it paid $58.6 million in student loans for 247 
physicians through the loan repayment program. These efforts are specifically targeted 
at increasing participation in Medi-Cal within the state’s existing workforce.

Recommendation 2
To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the state exhaust all of their 
reasonable options to meet the access requirements, DHCS should immediately begin 
doing the following: Develop written guidance that specifies the conditions under which 
staff should approve, deny, or contact health plans for clarification regarding their 
alternative access requests.

1



53California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 2 of 7

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: July 2020

Implementation Plan:
DHCS currently has written guidance that is used to process alternative access 
requests. DHCS ensures that the alternative access requests are being process 
correctly through a secondary review process that includes multiple levels of 
management. DHCS will continue to expand on the existing guidance, including 
information on process changes that will be put into place for the July 1, 2020, annual 
network certification process.

Recommendation 3
To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the state exhaust all of their 
reasonable options to meet the access requirements, DHCS should immediately begin 
doing the following: Determine a specific minimum number of providers that health 
plans must attempt to contract with prior to requesting an alternative access standard.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: July 2020

Implementation Plan:
DHCS is in the process of modifying the alternative access request process for the 
July 1, 2020, annual network certification. The health plans will be required to search 
the same databases that DHCS uses when reviewing alternative access requests. If a 
provider is identified that is in closer proximity to what has been requested, the health 
plan will be required to submit contracting efforts to DHCS. DHCS would note that the 
amended process will be more stringent than what the CSA is suggesting. Previously, 
DHCS had a process that required the health plans to attempt to contract with a 
minimum number of providers and report that information to DHCS. DHCS was unable 
to process the requests in a timely fashion due to health plan errors. The enhancements 
that DHCS has made to date and is in the process of operationalizing for the July 1, 
2020, annual network certification are both stricter and more efficient that what has 
been done in the past. 

Recommendation 4
To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the state exhaust all of their 
reasonable options to meet the access requirements, DHCS should immediately begin 
doing the following: Require health plans to report on their attempts to contract with 
providers when submitting their alternative access standard requests, including 
providing evidence of their efforts, such as the contact information for each provider with 
which they have attempted to contract.

2

3



54 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 3 of 7

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: July 2020

Implementation Plan:
DHCS is in the process of modifying the alternative access request process for the
July 1, 2020, annual network certification. The health plans will be required to search 
the same databases that DHCS uses when reviewing alternative access requests. If a 
provider is identified that is in closer proximity to what has been requested, the health 
plan will be required to submit contracting efforts to DHCS that would demonstrate why 
a health plan was unable to enter into such contracts.

Recommendation 5
To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the state exhaust all of their 
reasonable options to meet the access requirements, DHCS should immediately begin 
doing the following: Establish a process for periodically verifying the health plans’ 
efforts, such as contacting a sample of the listed providers and determining whether the 
plans attempted to contract with them.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: September 2019

Implementation Plan:
DHCS has already established a process to select a random sample of alternative 
access approvals and verify health plan contacting efforts. This process is currently 
underway for the approvals issued for the annual network certification process that was 
completed on July 1, 2019. DHCS aims to complete the sampling and analysis by 
September 2019.

Recommendation 6
To obtain assurance that health plans throughout the state exhaust all of their 
reasonable options to meet the access requirements, DHCS should immediately begin 
doing the following: Require health plans to authorize out-of-network care if they do not 
demonstrate they have exhausted all of their reasonable options to meet the access 
requirements, unless the health plans can demonstrate that closer providers are 
demanding unreasonably high rates or have documented deficiencies in quality of care.

Current Status: Will Not Implement/Already In Compliance

Estimated Implementation Date: N/A

Implementation Plan:
This is a current requirement in the health plan contract. The health plan contract 
requires that health plans allow beneficiaries to obtain medically necessary covered 
services from out-of-network providers if the services cannot be provided in-network. A 

4



55California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 4 of 7

link to the current health plan boilerplate contract is listed below, but this requirement 
can be found in Exhibit A, Attachment 9 - Out of Network Providers. If DHCS denies an 
alternative access request, the health plan will be held to the contractual requirements 
prescribed in their contract and state and federal law. DHCS will deny alternative 
access requests when the department determines that there are potentially willing 
providers and a health plan has not sufficiently demonstrated that it made efforts to 
contract and providers were not willing to contract for reasonable rates. 

https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Pages/MMCDBoilerplateContracts.aspx

Recommendation 7
To ensure that it promptly and sufficiently notifies counties and other stakeholders about 
health plans’ quality of care deficiencies, DHCS should immediately do the following: (a)
Post its medical audit reports to its website within one month after it issues the audit to 
the health plan. (b) Include information about its recently published medical audit 
reports and other monitoring efforts in its communication with counties and other 
stakeholders on its mailing list. (c) Ensure that relevant county officials are included on 
its mailing lists.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: September 2019

Implementation Plan:
DHCS is currently in compliance with its state law requirements to post annual medical 
audits and their corrective action plans to its website once they have both been 
completed. DHCS does post its audit reports to its website once they have been 
completed and meet various requirements for public posting, such as accessibility.
DHCS will include additional information on its monitoring efforts in its communications 
with stakeholders through its mailing lists.

Finding 2: DHCS has not ensured that all Medi-Cal beneficiaries in the rural 
expansion counties receive services through a model that best meets their needs.

Recommendation 8
To ensure that all counties are aware of the managed care model options available to 
them and of the steps necessary to implement those models, DHCS should provide by 
December 2019 information to all counties that clearly defines each managed care 
model and the steps and legal requirements needed to establish each model.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: December 2019

4

5



56 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 5 of 7

Implementation Plan:
DHCS already provides via the DHCS website, the various Plan Model types and a 
description of each model. However, DHCS agrees to post additional information on the 
DHCS website for counties to access, that provides information on the steps and legal 
requirements to establish each model. In addition, DHCS has been willing to meet with 
counties when requested to discuss issues about managed care and answer questions 
regarding the models.

Link to current DHCS website for Plan Model Type Information:
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/Documents/MMCD/MMCDModelFactSheet.pdf

Recommendation 9
To ensure that it makes informed decisions regarding the extension or renewal of its 
contracts with managed care health plans, DHCS should immediately begin the practice 
of requesting annual feedback from the counties that the health plans serve and of 
using that feedback in its decision-making process.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: July 2020

Implementation Plan:
DHCS agrees to implement a practice of requesting annual feedback from the counties 
that the health plans serve and use that feedback in its decision-making process when 
extending or re-procuring health plan contracts.

Recommendation 10
To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have reasonable access to 
care, DHCS should do the following by June 2020: Determine the specific causes of 
Anthem’s and Health and Wellness’s inabilities to provide reasonable access to care in 
the Regional Model counties.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: June 2020

Implementation Plan:
DHCS will conduct an analysis of access in the Regional Model using available data, 
existing workforce shortages information, alternative access standard requests, the 
independent Access Assessment required under the Special Terms and Conditions of 
the 1115 Waiver that is being conducted by the DHCS External Quality Review 
Organization, and other relevant information pertinent to the analysis as its being 
designed.

6



57California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 6 of 7

Recommendation 11
To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have reasonable access to 
care, DHCS should do the following by June 2020: Evaluate whether the structural 
characteristics of a County Organized Health System (COHS) model would be better 
suited to providing reasonable access to care in the Regional Model counties and notify 
the counties whether a COHS would improve beneficiaries’ access to care. If some or 
all of these counties desire to transition to a COHS, DHCS should assist them in making 
that change after their current contracts expire.

Current Status: Not Fully Implemented

Estimated Implementation Date: Unknown

Implementation Plan:
Will implement as needed. As noted in recommendation ten, DHCS will conduct an 
analysis of access in the Regional Model. Once this analysis has been competed, 
DHCS will use the results to determine next steps. Additionally, DHCS has and will 
remain open to meeting with counties and plans to discuss what is necessary to 
transition to a different model.

Recommendation 12
To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have reasonable access to 
care, DHCS should do the following by June 2020: Evaluate whether it has the financial 
resources to provide assistance to counties interested in establishing COHSs or other 
managed care models after the current Regional Model contracts expire. If DHCS does 
not have the required financial resources, it should seek an appropriate amount of 
funding from the Legislature.

Current Status: Will Not Implement

Estimated Implementation Date: N/A

Implementation Plan:
DHCS will not implement as DHCS does not have the financial resources to provide 
direct financial assistance to counties to establish a Health Care Plan. The county 
interested in establishing a COHS would be responsible for seeking the necessary 
funding (from any source, whether county, state, or other) and overallcounty support to 
establish the COHS plan. 

Recommendation 13
To ensure that beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties have reasonable access to 
care, DHCS should do the following by June 2020: Provide counties with reasonable 
opportunities to decide whether to change their managed care models after the 
expiration of the Regional Model health plan contracts. DHCS should provide counties 
who choose to do so sufficient time to establish their new models. DHCS should also 
include language in the 2020 request for proposals (RFP) to allow Regional Model 

7

8



58 California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

Draft Report Response | 19-06 Page 7 of 7

counties that can demonstrate their ability to implement a COHS model in their county 
by 2023 to opt out of the RFP process.

Current Status: Will Not Implement

Estimated Implementation Date: N/A

Implementation Plan:
The RFP release and the dates of implementation will not preclude counties from 
seeking a COHS model in those counties that are a part of the RFP. We would expect 
counties and plans interested in switching to a COHS model in any of the RFP counties 
to make DHCS aware during the RFP process, which should provide them a reasonable 
amount of time to choose to opt out of the RFP process and take the necessary steps to 
implement a COHS model. 

9

9



59California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

COMMENTS

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON THE 
RESPONSE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
CARE SERVICES

To provide clarity and perspective, we are commenting on DHCS’ 
response to our audit. The numbers below correspond to the 
numbers we have placed in the margin of DHCS’ response.

We stand by our recommendation. As we state on page 24, 
given DHCS’ critical role in overseeing the State’s provision of 
Medi‑Cal services, we believe that it is well positioned to perform 
the assessment of locations requiring additional providers and 
strategies for recruiting those providers we describe. If DHCS 
believes that it would benefit from collaborating with other state 
agencies, we would encourage it to do so while still maintaining 
overall responsibility for performing this assessment.

Contrary to its assertion, the written guidance DHCS currently uses 
to process alternative access requests, which we evaluated during 
the audit, is inadequate. As we state on page 21, DHCS lacks formal 
guidance specifying the conditions under which its staff should 
approve or deny a request. Consequently, DHCS cannot ensure 
that its staff approve only those requests in which health plans have 
demonstrated that they exhausted all reasonable options to obtain 
closer providers so that beneficiaries are not required to travel 
excessive distances to receive care.

DHCS’ statement is incorrect. As we state on page 20, DHCS has 
not established a minimum number of providers that health plans 
should attempt to contract with in a designated location before it 
considers an alternative access standard request. By not requiring 
health plans to demonstrate that they have attempted to contract 
with a minimum number of providers before approving their 
alternative access standard requests, DHCS cannot ensure that the 
health plans have exhausted all reasonable efforts to seek providers 
that are closer to beneficiaries.

We disagree with DHCS’ statement that it is already in compliance 
with our recommendation. We acknowledge that the current 
contracts for Anthem and Health & Wellness contain a requirement 
that the health plans must allow beneficiaries to obtain medically 
necessary covered services from out‑of‑network providers if they 
cannot provide the services in‑network. However, we did not 
observe DHCS sufficiently enforcing this requirement during our 
audit. As we report on page 21, DHCS initially placed health plans 

1

2

3

4



California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

60

on network certification CAPs in 2018 to enforce the requirement 
but closed those CAPs after approving alternative access standard 
requests for those health plans that were still unable to meet access 
requirements. However, DHCS approved those requests even 
when health plans did not demonstrate that they had exhausted all 
reasonable options to obtain closer providers. We look forward to 
reviewing DHCS’ 60‑day response to the audit recommendations 
to learn about the steps that it will implement to enforce this 
contract requirement when it determines that health plans have not 
made sufficient efforts to contract with providers.

DHCS misses the point of our recommendation, which is to 
ensure that it promptly and sufficiently notifies counties and 
other stakeholders about health plans’ quality of care deficiencies. 
Although state law allows DHCS to delay the publication of health 
plan audits until the health plans complete the medical audit 
CAPs, which we acknowledge on page 30, we believe counties 
could better assist their beneficiaries if DHCS informed them of 
performance issues more promptly. Therefore, to provide this 
important information in a more timely manner to counties, we 
recommended DHCS post its medical audit reports to its website 
within one month after it issues the audit to the health plan, which 
state law allows.

We look forward to reviewing DHCS’ 60‑day response to learn 
about the progress it has made to post additional information 
regarding the steps and legal requirements to create each model. 
However, DHCS also needs to send this information directly to 
counties—especially rural counties that lack resources and ability 
to seek such information—to ensure that they are informed 
of their managed care options. Simply posting or updating 
information on DHCS’ website does not necessarily ensure that 
counties become aware of such information; we cite examples on 
page 30 of counties that find DHCS’ website overwhelming or that 
experience difficulties finding information on DHCS’ website about 
health plans.

DHCS’ approach to implement this recommendation does not 
sufficiently address the issues we identified with access to care. 
As we state starting on page 39 of the report, there are structural 
aspects of the COHS Model that may provide better access to 
care for beneficiaries in the Regional Model counties than those 
beneficiaries currently receive. However, the analysis that DHCS 
refers to, which is described in its implementation plan for 
recommendation 10, does not include an evaluation of whether the 
COHS Model would be better suited to provide reasonable access 
to care in the Regional Model counties. Until DHCS performs 
the evaluation we recommend and proactively assists counties 

5

6

7



61California State Auditor Report 2018-122

August 2019

that desire to transition to a COHS, those counties with limited 
resources may not be able to establish the health care systems that 
could best serve their beneficiaries.

We disagree with DHCS’ perspective. Because the Regional Model 
includes many counties that may desire to transition to a single 
multicounty COHS, we believe that it would be more effective for 
DHCS to submit a consolidated funding request to the Legislature 
rather than for each county to submit its own individual request. 
As we state on page 7, DHCS is the state agency responsible for 
administering Medi‑Cal. By submitting a single request, DHCS 
would help expedite authorization of such funding and would also 
help ensure that all of the counties are treated equitably, despite 
differences in their size and resources. As we characterize on 
page 42, small and rural counties may not be able to develop the 
infrastructure required to change their managed care models without 
DHCS’ assistance. 

We disagree with DHCS’ determination that it does not need to 
implement our recommendation. Although DHCS acknowledges 
that the release of the RFP and the dates of implementation will 
not preclude affected counties from seeking a COHS Model, it 
did not specify that it would include that provision in the RFP. By 
implementing our recommendation to include language in the 2020 
RFP to allow counties to opt out of the Regional Model if they can 
demonstrate their ability to implement a COHS Model, DHCS 
would demonstrate its commitment to helping small and rural 
counties improve the access to care for their beneficiaries.

8

9





























































AUTHORS
Matthew Newman, Len Finocchio, and Shawn Blosser 
Blue Sky Consulting Group

OCTOBER 2019

A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: 
Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience 
Under the Regional Model



2California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Contents

 3 Executive Summary

 5 Introduction

 6 Methodology

 8 Findings: Stakeholder Interviews

Burdensome Processes, Procedures, and Bureaucracy

Limited Specialty Care Networks

Differences in Philosophical Approaches to Providing 
Services

Other Perspectives Regarding Regional Model MCPs

Experience with Partnership HealthPlan Has Been Positive

Some Concerns Have Been Addressed

Despite MCP Improvement Efforts, Stakeholders Remain 
Concerned

 11 Findings: Access, Quality, and  
Consumer Experience 

Consumer Experience Was a Mixed Bag, but Mostly Worse 
for Enrollees of Regional Model MCPs

Other Indicators of Patient Satisfaction

Regional Model MCP Enrollees Fare Worse on Some 
Measures, but Differences Are Not Statistically Significant

Quality of Care Was Also Comparable Across Groups

Some Regional Model Enrollees Need to Travel Long 
Distances to the Nearest In-Network Provider

Data Analysis Conclusions

 17 Discussion

Further Research

Considerations for Improvement

 20 Appendices 

A. Structured Interview Participants

B. Regression Analysis Methodology and Results

C. Pursuing a Change in Managed Care Models

D. Additional Measures

E. Calculation of Average CAHPS and HEDIS Measures

 28 Endnotes

About the Authors
Matthew Newman is a founding partner with 
the Blue Sky Consulting Group. He earned 
his Master of Public Policy Degree from 
Harvard University’s John F. Kennedy School 
of Government. Len Finocchio leads the Blue 
Sky Consulting Group’s health care practice. 
He earned his Doctorate in Public Health 
from the University of Michigan. Shawn 
Blosser leads the Blue Sky Consulting Group’s 
data analysis team. He earned his bachelor’s 
degree from Stanford University and did 
graduate work in economics at the University 
of Chicago. 

Acknowledgments
The authors would like to acknowledge the 
expert contributions to this paper of Athena 
Chapman, MPP, Caroline Davis, MPP, and Jill 
Yegian, PhD.

About the Foundation
The California Health Care Foundation is 
dedicated to advancing meaningful, measur-
able improvements in the way the health care 
delivery system provides care to the people of 
California, particularly those with low incomes 
and those whose needs are not well served 
by the status quo. We work to ensure that 
people have access to the care they need, 
when they need it, at a price they can afford.

CHCF informs policymakers and industry 
leaders, invests in ideas and innovations, 
and connects with changemakers to create 
a more responsive, patient-centered health 
care system.

For more information, visit www.chcf.org.

http://www.chcf.org
http://www.chcf.org


3A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

counties, Medi-Cal enrollees residing in Regional 
model counties have received somewhat poorer qual-
ity of care, have greater difficulty accessing specialty 
care, and are less satisfied with their health care. The 
rate of improvement in health care quality and access 
to primary care has been somewhat better for Medi-
Cal enrollees in Regional model counties than for 
enrollees in the rural comparison group (findings from 
the comparison of the Regional model with PHC north 
are presented in the full paper). 

Key findings of the analysis include the following:

$$ Medi-Cal enrollees’ access to primary care in 
Regional model counties is comparable to that in 
other rural regions. On a survey of Medi-Cal MCP 
members, those enrolled in the two Regional model 
MCPs were, on average, more likely to report that 
they get care quickly and have a usual source of 
care than those enrolled in MCPs in the rural com-
parison group. However, Regional model MCP 
members were somewhat more likely to report that 
they had difficulty accessing primary care. 

$$ Access to specialty care is difficult for Medi-
Cal enrollees in Regional model counties. Many 
providers in these counties indicated that limited 
specialty care networks hindered their ability to 
deliver effective patient care and reported that the 
commercial MCPs had not invested in attracting and 
retaining specialty care providers. These providers 
also indicated that patients had difficulty access-
ing some benefits, such as the transportation or 
mild-to-moderate mental health benefits. Analysis 
of survey data suggests that Medi-Cal enrollees in 
Regional model counties are somewhat more likely 
to report difficulty accessing specialty care than res-
idents of other rural areas of the state. Moreover, 
some enrollees in Regional model counties need 
to travel very long distances to access care when 
compared with enrollees in other rural areas.3 State 
administrative data on network adequacy are of 
limited value in assessing whether patients are able 
to access the care they need. 

Executive Summary
Medi-Cal enrollees in 18 rural counties in California 
receive care under Medi-Cal’s Regional model of 
managed care, in which enrollees have the option of 
choosing between one of two commercial managed 
care plans (MCPs). The Department of Health Care 
Services (DHCS) intends to re-procure all of the com-
mercial Medi-Cal MCPs statewide beginning in 2020, 
with implementation for the Regional model sched-
uled for January 2024.1 This procurement provides an 
opportunity to review and evaluate the ways in which 
managed care is implemented in California, to incen-
tivize improvements in MCP performance leading up 
to the procurement, and to develop and implement 
specific improvements under new contracts with 
MCPs following the procurement. 

This report examines the performance of the two 
Regional model MCPs. It compares access to care, 
quality of care, and both patients’ and providers’ sat-
isfaction with MCPs in Regional model counties with 
(1) a “rural comparison” group consisting of 14 other 
rural counties in California and (2) the “PHC north” 
group, which includes seven of these rural comparison 
group counties that joined Partnership HealthPlan of 
California (PHC) as part of the Medi-Cal rural expan-
sion in 2013. The data analyzed for this report include 
the following: qualitative data collected through struc-
tured interviews with providers, county officials, and 
MCP representatives; quantitative data from surveys 
and measures of access and quality; and data from a 
recent report by the California State Auditor, which 
conducted an audit of the oversight by DHCS of 
Regional model MCPs.2 

Results
Rural Californians struggle with health care challenges 
unique to their setting. The state’s rural areas tend 
to have fewer health care providers relative to more 
urban areas, and many patients need to travel long 
distances in order to obtain certain types of specialty 
care. Within the state’s rural areas, however, important 
differences exist. Compared with rural comparison 



4California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Considerations for Improvement
This assessment of quality and access to care in Medi-
Cal’s Regional model of managed care shows mixed 
results. Compared with MCPs in other rural regions 
of the state, MCPs serving Medi-Cal enrollees in the 
18 Regional model counties performed better on 
some measures of access and quality (e.g., primary 
care access) and worse on others (e.g., specialty care 
access). What is clear, however, is that provider dis-
satisfaction is greater in Regional model counties. 
This should not be ignored: Research suggests that 
provider satisfaction is an important component of 
effective patient care and that, conversely, burnout 
or provider dissatisfaction can lead to poorer patient 
outcomes.4 

To ensure that Medi-Cal enrollees in the 18 Regional 
model counties receive access to timely, high-quality 
care, state policymakers and program officials should 
conduct additional research on the nature and extent 
of provider dissatisfaction and undertake careful 
monitoring of patient satisfaction, care quality, and 
health outcomes in Regional model counties. In addi-
tion, this assessment identified several opportunities 
for improvement that could be implemented by the 
MCPs or by DHCS. These include the following: 

$$ Developing a regional health care provider 
recruitment strategy 

$$ Increasing use of telehealth and other electronic 
mechanisms for accessing care 

$$ Improving communication among MCPs, pro-
viders, and counties to address challenges 
associated with having MCPs headquartered 
outside of the region 

$$ Involving DHCS or another neutral third party 
in discussions between MCPs and providers 
regarding unresolved contracting issues 

$$ Developing and enforcing more meaningful net-
work adequacy standards 

$$ Requiring MCPs and their delegates to deploy a 
valid, reliable, and standardized provider satis-
faction survey annually 

$$ The quality of care provided to Medi-Cal enroll-
ees in Regional model MCPs was worse, on 
average, than for Medi-Cal enrollees of MCPs 
in other rural counties. Although the differences 
were relatively small in percentage terms, the two 
Regional model MCPs scored, on average, well 
below the statewide average, whereas the MCPs 
in the rural comparison group scored, on average, 
above the statewide average. Quality scores have, 
however, been improving more rapidly in Regional 
model counties relative to rural comparison group 
counties.

$$ Overall Medi-Cal enrollee satisfaction with MCP 
performance was lower in Regional model coun-
ties relative to other rural regions of the state. 
On the measure of “Rating of All Health Care,” 
Medi-Cal MCPs in Regional model counties scored 
worse than Medi-Cal MCPs in the rural comparison 
group counties.

$$ Many providers and county officials in Regional 
model counties are concerned with the perfor-
mance of the two Regional model MCPs. Many 
providers expressed frustrations with the respon-
siveness of the MCPs in addressing patient and 
provider needs. They noted increased demands 
for staff resources needed to secure pre-authoriza-
tions and handle billing and other managed care 
administrative tasks. They also reported that the 
MCPs frequently denied claims and were slow to 
pay approved claims, which put a financial strain on 
providers. 

$$ Representatives of the two MCPs serving the 
Regional model counties said they were taking 
steps to address the concerns that had been 
raised by stakeholders. Representatives from 
Anthem Blue Cross (Anthem) and California Health 
& Wellness (CHW) indicated they had sought to 
increase staff resources dedicated to Regional 
model counties, respond to provider concerns, 
reduce the number of procedures requiring pre-
authorization, expand the specialty care network, 
and increase access to telehealth and other elec-
tronic means of accessing care.

http://www.chcf.org


5A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

assessment of the Regional model. Its intent is to 
identify opportunities for improvement and to inform 
the procurement process for commercial MCPs that 
DHCS will begin in 2020 with the scheduled release 
of its Request for Proposals.5 This procurement is an 
opportunity to reshape and strengthen the program 
to accelerate improvements in access to care, quality, 
consumer experience, and health outcomes. 

Issues in Rural Health Care
Rural patients face unique health challenges. Rates 
for the five leading causes of death nationally — heart 
disease, cancer, chronic respiratory disease, uninten-
tional injury, and stroke — are higher in rural areas. 
Additionally, while mortality rates are decreasing 
nationwide, they are falling at a slower rate in rural 
regions. Rural residents face higher rates of cancer 
from modifiable risks, including human papillomavi-
rus, tobacco, and a lack of preventive cervical cancer 
and colorectal screenings. Opioid overdose deaths 
are also 45% higher nationwide in rural regions, yet 
urban centers have more treatment facilities.6

Delivering health care in these rural settings poses 
unique challenges. Patients must travel long distances 
to receive care, and access to specialty care can be 
especially limited. Having to travel long distances can 
mean taking time off from work and needing to pay 
for child or elder care, creating delays in or avoidance 
of treatment. This lack of access sometimes means 
that residents of rural areas present with diseases in 
advanced stages. Longer travel times can also lead to 
longer waits for emergency medical services, putting 
the lives of patients in danger when they need imme-
diate treatment.7 In California, 25% of rural hospitals 
closed during the two decades prior to 2018.8 

Physician shortages also contribute to access-to-care 
difficulties in rural areas. Primary care physicians in 
rural regions often face heavy patient loads, and 
access to mental health providers and other specialists 
can be limited.9 Prior studies have found large differ-
ences in the number of providers in rural versus urban 
areas; one study found that rural areas had only 40 pri-
mary care physicians per 100,000 people, compared 

Finally, some providers in Regional model counties 
have expressed an interest in changing managed care 
delivery models, with most indicating a desire to par-
ticipate in a public MCP, either a County Organized 
Health System (COHS) or a Local Initiative (LI) as part 
of a Two-Plan model. Several important obstacles to 
COHS expansion may limit the ability of counties to 
change Medi-Cal managed care models, including a 
federally imposed cap on the number of COHSs and a 
cap on the percentage of Medi-Cal enrollees who can 
participate in a COHS. Forming a regional LI or draw-
ing one into the 18-county region might face fewer 
regulatory obstacles but would still involve significant 
effort. Regardless of which path is taken, policymak-
ers, program officials, and local stakeholders should 
take steps in the near term to improve provider sat-
isfaction, hold MCPs accountable for meeting access 
and quality requirements, and expand the health care 
workforce in rural counties. 

Introduction
In 2013, the state Department of Health Care Services 
(DHCS) continued the Medi-Cal program shift from 
traditional fee-for-service to managed care, transi-
tioning a group of largely rural Northern California 
counties into managed care delivery models. Some of 
these Northern California counties joined Partnership 
HealthPlan of California (PHC), an existing County 
Organized Health System (COHS). Eighteen of the 
remaining counties were part of a new “Regional 
model” of managed care delivery created by DHCS. 
DHCS contracted with Anthem Blue Cross (Anthem) 
and California Health & Wellness (CHW) to serve these 
Regional model counties. 

This study analyzed the experience of patients and 
providers in Regional model counties during the 
period following the transition to managed care and 
compared those experiences with the outcomes in 
comparable counties. Specifically, this report exam-
ined available data on managed care plan (MCP) 
quality, access to care, and patient experience as 
well as qualitative information from interviews with 
providers, MCPs, and others in order to develop an 



 

6California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Medi-Cal Managed Care Models
Among the states, California pioneered the use of 
managed care for Medicaid, launching some of the 
first pilots to test this delivery system in the 1970s. 
Beginning in the 1980s with the creation of the COHS 
model, the state has progressively transitioned all 58 
counties and most Medi-Cal populations into man-
aged care. 

The Regional model was implemented as part of Medi-
Cal’s expansion into the remaining, rural areas of the 
state in 2013. Under the Regional model, Medi-Cal 
enrollees can choose to enroll in one of two com-
mercial MCPs. Enrollment in the 18 Regional model 
counties is mandatory for most Medi-Cal enrollees.11 

Methodology
This study involved two principal components. First, 
the study team conducted structured interviews with a 
range of providers, MCP representatives, county offi-
cials, and policy experts. These interviews were aimed 
at identifying specific strengths and weaknesses in the 
Regional model approach, and at surfacing sugges-
tions for potential recommendations or improvements. 
Next, available data regarding patient satisfaction, 
health care quality, and access to care were analyzed, 
and the Regional model results were compared with 
those in other, similar counties. In addition, the study 
analyzed network adequacy data from DHCS and data 
from the California State Auditor on travel distance to 
the nearest provider. 

Structured Interviews
The study team conducted more than two dozen 
structured interviews during the course of the evalua-
tion, including interviews with the following12: 

$$ Providers, including clinics and hospitals

$$ MCPs and independent physician associations 
(IPAs)

$$ County officials, advocates, consultants, and 
others

with urban areas, which had 53 physicians per 100,000 
people. This discrepancy is even larger for specialists, 
with only 30 per 100,000 people in rural areas versus 
263 per 100,000 in urban areas.10 

An examination of data from the California Health 
Interview Survey (CHIS) indicates that rural Medi-Cal 
patients face more barriers to care than Medi-Cal 
patients statewide, particularly when attempting to 
access specialty care. Rural patients are more likely 
to face issues getting doctor’s appointments, having 
their insurance accepted by specialists, and finding 
specialty care, as shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1.  Difficulty Accessing Care

Had difficulty finding specialty care

Insurance not accepted by medical specialist in the past year

Sometimes/never able to get a doctor’s appointment within 
two days in the past 12 months

42.7%

35.8%              

25.5%                                    

18.1%                                                    

30.4%                          

20.1%                                                

Medi-Cal Population
■  Rural*    ■  California

*Includes the following counties: Butte, Shasta, Humboldt, Del Norte, 
Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra, Mendocino, Tehama, 
Glenn, Colusa, Sutter, Yuba, Nevada, Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, 
Mariposa, Mono, Alpine, Placer, El Dorado, Tulare, Merced, Madera,  
San Luis Obispo, San Benito, and Imperial.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of 2017 CHIS data. 

These difficulties in access mean that actions on 
the part of MCPs such as supporting specialty care 
networks, making telehealth services available, or 
facilitating transportation to available facilities can be 
especially important to bridge gaps in care.

http://www.chcf.org


7A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

During the interviews, participants were asked to 
describe their interactions with the two Regional model 
MCPs, identify specific strengths and weaknesses of 
the Regional model, and provide specific examples 
where MCP performance could be improved. Where 
participants had information about Regional model 
and alternative models of delivering managed care, 
they were asked to comment on the differences. 

Data Analysis
As a supplement to the structured interviews, the study 
team collected and analyzed available data on patient 
satisfaction and experience, access to care, and mea-
sures of MCP performance, including the following: 

$$ Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers 
and Systems (CAHPS)

$$ CHIS

$$ Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information 
Set (HEDIS)

$$ Selected DHCS Medi-Cal Managed Care 
Performance Dashboard measures

$$ Network adequacy reports — Alternative Access 
Standards

Comparison Groups
Because of the unique challenges of delivering health 
care in rural areas, two comparison groups of coun-
ties that matched the characteristics of the Regional 
model counties as closely as possible were devel-
oped. Specifically, Regional model counties were 
compared with (1) a “rural comparison” group con-
sisting of 14 other rural counties in California and (2) 
the “PHC north” group, which includes seven of these 
rural comparison group counties that joined PHC as 
part of the Medi-Cal rural expansion in 2013. The 
rural comparison group includes some counties where 
Medi-Cal managed care has been in place longer 
and is the more important comparison group in terms 
of setting state policy expectations and goals. The 
PHC north group is more directly comparable to the 
Regional model counties in terms of geography and 

experience with managed care, consisting of relatively 
remote counties that made the transition to managed 
care when the Regional model was established.13 
Table 1 lists the Regional model counties and counties 
from both comparison groups. 

Table 1. Regional Model and Comparison Group Counties

REGIONAL PHC NORTH RURAL COMPARISON

Alpine Del Norte Del Norte

Amador Humboldt Humboldt

Butte Lassen Imperial

Calaveras Modoc Lassen

Colusa Shasta Madera

El Dorado Siskiyou Mendocino

Glenn Trinity Merced

Inyo Modoc

Mariposa San Benito

Mono San Luis Obispo

Nevada Shasta

Placer Siskiyou

Plumas Trinity

Sierra Tulare

Sutter

Tehama

Tuolumne

Yuba

Note: In smaller counties, MCPs report results aggregated by region. For 
example, PHC reports data for both HEDIS and CAHPS in four regions: 
northeast, northwest, southeast, and southwest. Although Lake and Napa 
counties met the criteria to be included in the rural comparison group, 
the data for these counties are aggregated with other non-rural counties 
in the PHC southwest region. Therefore, data for these counties were not 
available for analysis, and these two counties were excluded from the rural 
comparison group.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group, 2019.



8California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Analytic Approach
In order to assess the performance of the Regional 
model, specific comparison metrics were identified; 
results from Regional model counties were compared 
with those from comparison group counties. In addi-
tion, data from CHIS were analyzed using a regression 
analysis in which key outcome measures from the sur-
vey were assessed while controlling for factors such as 
patient demographic characteristics.14 

Findings: Stakeholder 
Interviews
Structured interviews with stakeholders revealed that 
many Regional model providers and county health offi-
cials were deeply concerned about the performance 
of the two Regional model MCPs. In contrast, provid-
ers in the PHC north group were largely satisfied with 
the way their MCP has been performing. In addition 
to the contrast in providers’ reactions, interviews also 
revealed that the two Regional model MCPs acknowl-
edged difficulties associated with the initial transition 
to managed care and have made efforts since that 
time to improve both MCP performance and commu-
nication with Regional model counties and providers. 

Burdensome Processes, Procedures, 
and Bureaucracy
Many providers expressed frustrations with the pro-
cesses, procedures, and bureaucracy associated with 
their interactions with the two MCPs. Interviewees 
indicated that the MCPs lacked a consistent, formal 
presence in their communities, especially during the 
initial transition period from fee-for-service to man-
aged care. Some reported that there was frequent 
staff turnover among the MCPs’ regional staff, which 
made it difficult to identify the appropriate person 
to contact. Others reported that the initial contract-
ing process with the MCPs (and Anthem in particular) 
was long and burdensome, with at least one clinic 
reporting that it still does not have a contract in place. 
Several interviewees indicated that the initial rollout 

of managed care in Regional model counties was 
not handled well by the MCPs. These interviewees 
reported that they received little orientation or edu-
cation about managed care from the MCPs and that 
communication was poor.

Interviewees also expressed concern that the MCPs 
did not engage with or understand the region. For 
example, some interviewees noted that the two 
MCPs are headquartered and managed outside of the 
region and may therefore lack community input at the 
leadership level. This, they noted, was in contrast to 
PHC, which has local representation on its governing 
board and a chief medical officer who is a provider in 
the community. 

Providers also noted poor communication and infor-
mation sharing around their panels of patients; some 
indicated that patients had been assigned to their 
clinics who had not previously been seen at the facil-
ity or by its providers, and who were difficult to reach 
due to inaccurate contact information. Providers also 
noted that communication, education, and support 
around efforts to increase HEDIS scores were sporadic 
and inconsistent, which made the task of improving 
these scores difficult. 

In addition to the concerns about a limited presence in 
the community, many interviewees expressed concern 
about what they described as tedious pre-authori-
zation processes required for many procedures and 
frequent denials of their requests for authorization. A 
related concern involved slow adjudication of claims 
for reimbursement. Several interviewees noted that 
the transition to managed care required adding new 
staff members to handle the increased administrative 
requirements of seeking pre-authorization or approval. 
Interviewees indicated that this process was often 
opaque, and that obtaining what they believed was 
simple information, such as whether a particular medi-
cation was covered, required making a phone call and 
waiting on hold for an extended period. Another spe-
cific example that was mentioned involved the recently 
implemented transportation benefit, which covers the 
cost of transportation for Medi-Cal enrollees who lack 

http://www.chcf.org


9A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Limited Specialty Care Networks
The second important area where interviewees 
expressed concerns related to limited specialty care 
networks. Many interviewees reported that existing 
referral networks were disrupted by the transition to 
managed care. This transition (and what interviewees 
considered to be inadequate efforts to build networks) 
resulted in poor access to specialty care. Many inter-
viewees highlighted examples where patients had to 
travel long distances or endure long waits in order to 
access specialty care. For example, one interviewee 
reported that there were no rheumatologists accept-
ing patients in his region. Other interviewees reported 
that access to common specialties such as urology, 
neurology, gastroenterology, and podiatry was very 
limited or nonexistent in the region. 

Differences in Philosophical 
Approaches to Providing Services
One final issue that emerged in several interviews 
relates to differing ideas about how Medi-Cal should 
be provided. Specifically, several interviewees noted 
that the two commercial MCPs are seeking to earn 
a profit through their administration of Medi-Cal 
benefits. These interviewees identified at least two 
perceived issues or deficiencies that result from this 
arrangement. First, some interviewees perceived the 
profit motive as being responsible for burdensome 
preapproval processes, denials of claims and authori-
zation requests, and delays in receiving reimbursement 
from the MCPs. Second, several interviewees noted 
that PHC (a COHS that does not seek to earn a profit) 
had made significant community investments, such 
as in affordable housing or grants for clinic construc-
tion. Interviewees equated these investments to the 
lack of need for profits, in effect suggesting that com-
mercial MCPs have resources that could be invested 
in the community rather than going to shareholders.15 
Together with concerns about MCP leadership being 
based outside of the region (in contrast to PHC, where 
the MCP is locally based and providers and counties 
have representation on the governing board), these 
more philosophical objections provide important con-
text for evaluating the other practical concerns raised 
by interviewees. 

alternative means of transport. When this benefit was 
initially made available, several interviewees indicated 
that the procedures for accessing the benefit were 
burdensome and overly complicated or confusing 
such that the benefit was very difficult to access and 
therefore not widely used by enrollees. 

One source of potential communication difficulty 
between providers and MCPs relates to the role of IPAs. 
These organizations effectively operate in between 
the providers and the MCPs to aid in managing care. 
Under this model, the IPA receives a capitated pay-
ment for each covered member and is responsible for 
paying for care for those members through contracts 
with participating providers. The IPA structure can 
offer a more locally based connection to providers, 
and therefore may be more nimble in responding to 
local concerns than a larger MCP would be. However, 
the IPA also represents an additional layer of bureau-
cracy or administration between the providers and the 
MCPs. 

In the Regional model counties, California Health & 
Wellness generally has not used IPAs, while most care 
covered by Anthem is provided via the River City IPA. 
While interviewees generally did not explicitly indicate 
that problems with River City or the IPA model were 
root causes of their concerns or frustrations, it is never-
theless possible that this additional layer of complexity 
(and the difference between Anthem and CHW) was 
a source of confusion or contributed to difficulties in 
communication or in identifying the appropriate per-
son to address a problem. 



10California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

 Other Perspectives Regarding 
Regional Model MCPs
In order to put the concerns of Regional model pro-
viders and counties in perspective, interviews were 
conducted with providers in rural counties that had 
direct experience with PHC, including some who also 
have experience with one or both Regional model 
MCPs. In addition, interviews were conducted with 
representatives of both Anthem Blue Cross and 
California Health & Wellness as well as other experts 
familiar with Medi-Cal managed care in rural Northern 
California. These interviews suggest a somewhat 
more complex and nuanced situation that defies easy 
characterization.

Experience with Partnership 
HealthPlan Has Been Positive
All of the providers interviewed that had experi-
ence with PHC as a payer, including those with 
direct experience of both Regional model MCPs and 
PHC, described the experience in positive terms. 
Interviewees indicated that PHC provided important 
training and shared important information during 
the transition to managed care. Some interviewees 
indicated that the specialty care network improved 
following the transition to managed care when com-
pared with the fee-for-service provider network 
(reportedly as a result of higher rates paid by PHC to 
specialists). Interviewees also indicated that PHC had 
logical and reasonable requirements for pre-authori-
zations that were not viewed by providers as overly 
burdensome. Moreover, interviewees reported that 
exceptions to rules, such as the requirement to try 
a generic medication as a first-line treatment, were 
granted if a compelling reason could be provided. 
Interviewees also indicated that it was easy to contact 
the appropriate person at PHC regarding any issues 
that needed to be addressed and that communica-
tion around the rollout of new benefits, such as the 
transportation benefit, was timely and effective. Many 
interviewees stated that PHC is a “true partner” in 
their shared efforts to deliver care to their patients. 
In sum, the comments received about PHC were in 
stark contrast to many of the comments made about 
Anthem and CHW. 

The positive reputation that PHC has earned appears 
to have paid dividends. When problems arise, provid-
ers interviewed were usually willing to give PHC the 
benefit of the doubt. These same issues, when they 
have emerged in Regional model counties, have fre-
quently resulted in conflicts or criticisms. For example, 
providers in both PHC and Regional model areas 
described an issue in which patients were assigned to 
a clinic but could not be reached due to inaccurate 
contact information. In the case of one PHC provider, 
this was viewed as an inevitable outcome and one 
that provided an unanticipated benefit in the form of 
assistance with the clinic’s cash flow. That is, while cap-
itation payments received for patients not seen at the 
clinic eventually had to be returned, their initial receipt 
helped the clinic to manage its intra-fiscal-year cash 
flow. In contrast, the Regional model provider that 
described this same situation viewed the assignment 
of these “unseen patients” as an avoidable MCP error, 
and one that caused increased administrative burden 
as the clinic fruitlessly attempted to contact them. 
Furthermore, while providers viewed the assignment 
of these unseen new patients as MCP mismanage-
ment, MCP interviewees reported that this was simply 
part of their mandate to assign all patients to a pri-
mary care provider in their area. 

A similar circumstance surrounded the transporta-
tion benefit, with providers in both PHC and Regional 
model areas describing difficulty in accessing the ben-
efit. However, the PHC provider mostly viewed this 
difficulty as stemming from a lack of reliable transpor-
tation providers, while the Regional model providers 
viewed these issues as due to MCP bureaucracy or 
intransigence. 

This goodwill that PHC has earned may help to explain 
at least some of the differences in attitudes among 
providers in the PHC and Regional model areas. 
Interviewees indicated that at least some of the issues 
identified with respect to the Regional model MCPs 
have been addressed, while the lack of goodwill that 
early problems generated may have lingered. 

http://www.chcf.org


11A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Some Concerns Have Been 
Addressed
Over time, both Regional model MCPs have report-
edly responded to concerns raised by counties and 
providers. MCPs reported both an increased effort 
to make staff available and the addition of dedicated 
staff to support providers and counties in the region. 
Both MCPs also reported that they had made efforts 
to expand the available specialty care network, and 
that they were prepared to contract with “all willing 
providers.” In addition, both MCPs reported making 
investments in telehealth or other electronic means of 
expanding access to care as well as efforts to reduce 
the number of zip codes with Alternative Access 
Standards. In response to concerns about burdensome 
pre-authorization requirements, Anthem reported 
that, in conjunction with River City IPA, the number 
of procedures and services requiring pre-authorization 
had been significantly reduced (reportedly by 80%). 

Interviewees from the MCPs also suggested that 
at least some of the concerns about the Regional 
model do not relate specifically to MCP performance, 
but instead to the transition from a long-established 
fee-for-service model to the more tightly controlled 
managed care model. This transition inevitably 
resulted in significant changes to the way care was 
delivered and paid for, and required changes to the 
ways some providers treated specific patients or 
conditions. Interviewees reported that these types 
of changes were precisely the reason DHCS has pro-
moted the switch to managed care (i.e., to promote 
value-based payment methods, increase evidence-
based practice, and better align provider incentives). 

At least some interviewees acknowledged that some 
of these efforts on the part of the MCPs have been 
successful. While most interviewees continued to be 
concerned about specialty care access, some reported 
that the situation had improved relative to the initial 
period following the implementation of managed 
care. Others reported that the initial difficulties asso-
ciated with accessing the transportation benefit had 
been addressed, and at least some of the initial con-
tracting difficulties have reportedly been resolved 

(although at least some providers reportedly still do 
not have contracts in place). 

Despite MCP Improvement Efforts, 
Stakeholders Remain Concerned
Analysis of interviews with PHC and Regional model 
providers, MCPs, and others suggests a complex 
and nuanced picture. Circumstances in Regional 
model counties appear to have improved at least 
somewhat since the initial rollout of managed care, 
and both MCPs reported a willingness and desire to 
work with counties and providers to continue to make 
improvements. The MCPs have added staff to support 
Regional model counties; the number of procedures 
requiring pre-authorization has decreased at least in 
some cases; and efforts to address contracting issues, 
expand the provider network, and expand access 
to specialty care are ongoing. Nevertheless, many 
Regional model providers remain deeply concerned 
with the performance of the two MCPs. The initially 
troubled relationship between MCPs and providers, 
combined with the generally glowing reviews of PHC 
offered by providers in neighboring communities, has 
led some in the Regional model counties to believe 
that only a switch to a COHS model (and, ideally, join-
ing PHC) will address their concerns. 

Findings: Access, 
Quality, and Consumer 
Experience 
An extensive data analysis comparing the results in 
Regional model counties with those in comparable 
rural counties was conducted as a companion to the 
structured interviews. This data analysis indicates that 
patient experience and quality-of-care measures are 
similar, particularly when comparing Regional model 
and PHC north counties. On the broadest measures 
of patient satisfaction and health care quality from 
HEDIS, the rural comparison group showed somewhat 
better results when compared with either the Regional 
model or PHC north. Specific results are discussed 
below. 



 

12California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Consumer Experience Was a Mixed 
Bag, but Mostly Worse for Enrollees 
of Regional Model MCPs
Patient satisfaction was measured through two sepa-
rate data sources, a patient satisfaction survey and an 
analysis of grievance data filed with DHCS. 

The Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers 
and Systems (CAHPS) is a patient satisfaction survey 
conducted every three years. The most recent survey 
covers 2016 and was published in January 2018.16 The 
CAHPS survey is administered to patients in all Medi-
Cal MCPs and covers patient satisfaction with both 
their MCP and providers. Results are summarized by 
MCP, allowing for a comparison across managed care 
models when results are aggregated by MCP. 

Table 2 presents a comparison of Regional model 
MCPs, PHC north, and the rural comparison group. 
The values reflect the average score of all MCPs in 
each region, presented as the statewide percentile 
score. For example, 20th percentile means that 80% 
of MCPs performed better. 

Table 2.  Consumer Experience with MCPs, by Region

CAHPS PERCENTILE RANKING

REGIONAL
PHC 

NORTH
RURAL 

COMPARISON

All Health Care 20th 10th 37th

Personal Doctor 26th 18th 53rd

Specialist Seen Most Often 21st 51st 46th

Getting Needed Care 32nd 42nd 59th

Getting Care Quickly 75th 73rd 64th

How Well Doctors 
Communicate

49th 86th 48th

Customer Service 45th 99th 66th

Notes: CAHPS results are presented as a single value for each health plan. 
For smaller (generally rural) counties, results are presented for groups of 
counties. For example, both Anthem and CHW present the results for 
Regional model counties grouped into two regions. PHC presents results 
for counties grouped into four regions. Results presented here are the 
simple average, with one observation per plan/reporting unit. Results for 
adult and child measures were averaged to simplify presentation of the 
available data. Results for all measures are reported in Appendix D. Results 
exclude Kaiser Permanente.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of 2016 CAHPS data.

These results show a mixed picture. Regional model 
MCPs scored, on average, worse than PHC north on 
four of seven measures and worse than rural com-
parison MCPs on five of seven measures. On the 
broadest measure, “Rating of All Health Care,” Both 
the Regional model and PHC north counties earned 
scores well below that of the rural comparison group. 
Specifically, the result from the rural comparison group 
placed that region in the 37th percentile when com-
pared with all MCPs statewide (i.e., 63% of MCPs 
scored better). In contrast, the Regional model earned 
a result in the 20th percentile and PHC north’s score 
was in the 10th percentile. Similarly, the rural compari-
son group outperformed both the Regional model 
and the PHC north group on the measures “Rating 
of Personal Doctor” and “Getting Needed Care.” In 
contrast, both the Regional model and PHC north 
counties outperformed the rural comparison group on 
the measure “Getting Care Quickly.” On the measures 
“Rating of Specialist Seen Most Often” and “Customer 
Service,” both the PHC north and rural comparison 
groups outperformed the Regional model. 

Other Indicators of Patient 
Satisfaction
In addition to the CAHPS survey, two additional 
measures from the DHCS Medi-Cal Managed Care 
Performance Dashboard were examined that can help 
to illuminate the satisfaction of patients in Regional 
model counties. These measures included medical 
exemption requests and grievances filed. 

Table 3. Selected DHCS Dashboard Data, by Region  

REGIONAL
PHC 

NORTH
RURAL 

COMPARISON

Medical exemption 
requests per 10,000 
members

 1.38  0.04  0.29 

Grievances per 1,000 
member months

 53.6  69.3  46.6

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of data from the DHCS 
Medi-Cal Managed Care Performance Dashboard, 2018.

http://www.chcf.org


13A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Medical exemption requests are made by members 
who seek to remain in fee-for-service Medi-Cal rather 
than receive care from an MCP. As shown in Table 3, 
such requests were very rare among PHC north Medi-
Cal enrollees. Somewhat more enrollees in the rural 
comparison group filed such requests in 2018, but 
by far the largest rate of medical exemption requests 
came from Regional model county Medi-Cal enroll-
ees. Although this rate (1.38 requests per 10,000 
members) substantially exceeded the rate for either 
comparison group, the rate in Regional model coun-
ties was only slightly higher than the average rate of 
1.08 requests per 10,000 members across all MCPs 
statewide (not shown). 

The data on grievances presents a somewhat differ-
ent picture. While PHC north had the lowest rate of 
exemption requests among the three comparison 
groups, the rate of grievances filed against MCPs 
was highest for PHC north members. Grievances for 
Regional model MCPs were lower than for PHC north 
and only slightly higher than for the rural comparison 
group. Both the Regional model and rural comparison 
groups had grievance rates that were lower than the 
MCP average statewide, which was 56.8 grievances 
per 1,000 member months (not shown). 

Regional Model MCP Enrollees 
Fare Worse on Some Measures, but 
Differences Are Not Statistically 
Significant
The California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) is a 
large-scale annual survey of Californians. Respondents 
are asked detailed questions about health conditions, 
health insurance, and various economic and demo-
graphic characteristics, among other topic areas. 
Because CHIS is a large-scale survey with detailed 
questions about these respondent characteristics, it is 
possible to identify and separately analyze the Medi-
Cal population and identify the type of managed care 
delivery model they are enrolled in.17 

CHIS includes several important questions that can be 
used to evaluate potential differences among Medi-
Cal managed care delivery models. Table 4 presents 
the results of the CHIS data comparison. 

Table 4. CHIS Variables - Regional Model Comparison

REGIONAL
PHC 

NORTH
RURAL 

COMPARISON

Did not have usual 
source of care 

12% 10% 16%

Usual source of care: 
ER, some other place, 
no usual place

20% 15% 22%

Had difficulty finding 
primary care 

17% 16% 10%

Had difficulty finding 
specialty care 

35% 40% 32%

Insurance not accepted 
by medical specialist in 
past year

37% 35% 27%

Sometimes/never 
able to get doctor’s 
appointment within 
two days

38% 31% 47%

Note: Results are pooled across the years 2014–2017 in order to obtain a 
statistically stable result.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of CHIS data, 2014–2017.

This analysis does not point to clear differences among 
the three comparison groups. The first two measures 
provide an indication of whether rural county Medi-Cal 
enrollees have a usual place to go when sick or need-
ing care. On both of these measures, Regional model 
enrollees are very slightly less likely to lack a usual 
source of care (12%) or to use the ER as their usual 
source of care (20%) when compared with Medi-Cal 
enrollees in the rural comparison group (16% and 22%, 
respectively). Members in the PHC north group were 
the least likely to lack a usual source of care (10%) or 
use the emergency room as their usual source of care 
(15%). Although rural comparison county enrollees 
were the most likely to report that they used the emer-
gency room as their usual source of care, these same 
enrollees were the least likely to report that they “had 
difficulty finding primary care,” with only 10% report-
ing such difficulty as compared with 17% of Regional 
model enrollees and 16% of PHC north enrollees. 



 

14California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Results were similarly mixed for the two access-to-spe-
cialty-care measures. About a third of enrollees in all 
three groups reported difficulty finding specialty care. 
A larger share of enrollees in Regional model counties 
reported that their insurance was not accepted by a 
medical specialist in the past year (37%) when com-
pared with respondents in the rural comparison group 
(27%). 

In addition to the analysis of CHIS descriptive statis-
tics, each of these CHIS measures was tested using a 
regression analysis. Regression allows researchers to 
control for demographic and other variations across 
populations which may account for any observed 
differences. Any differences in outcomes due to 
the managed care model can then be identified. 
Regression analysis results did not find any reliable, 
statistically significant differences in outcomes due to 
the MCP.18 

Overall, the analysis of CHIS data suggests that 
Medi-Cal enrollees in Regional model counties have 
experiences that are substantially similar to those in 
comparable rural counties. Residents of rural areas are 
more likely to report difficulty in accessing care when 
compared with Medi-Cal enrollees statewide. 

Quality of Care Was Also 
Comparable Across Groups
The Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information 
Set (HEDIS) represents perhaps the most widely used 
data source for evaluating and comparing MCP per-
formance. According to the Centers for Medicare & 
Medicaid Services (CMS), HEDIS measures can be 
used by MCPs “to identify opportunities for improve-
ment, monitor the success of quality improvement 
initiatives, track improvement, and provide a set of 
measurement standards that allow comparison with 
other [managed care] plans.”19 The state of California 
uses HEDIS to measure the effectiveness of Medi-Cal 
MCPs, and publishes the results annually in the Medi-
Cal Managed Care External Quality Review Technical 
Report.20

HEDIS includes measures relating to immunization 
status, cancer screening, heart disease and diabetes 
management, emergency department utilization, and 
hospital readmissions. Data are available for more 
than two dozen separate HEDIS measures for each of 
California’s Medi-Cal MCPs. In order to facilitate analy-
sis of available data, Medi-Cal MCP HEDIS measures 
were summarized into four categories for the pur-
poses of this report21: 

$$ All-measures average. This measure includes the 
simple average for all available measures.22 

$$ Child and adolescent access to primary care. This 
summary measure includes the average of the follow-
ing individual measures: Childhood Immunization 
Status — Combination 3, Children and Adolescents’ 
Access to Primary Care Practitioners — 12–24 
Months, Children and Adolescents’ Access 
to Primary Care Practitioners — 25 Months–6 
Years, Children and Adolescents’ Access to 
Primary Care Practitioners — 7–11 Years, Children 
and Adolescents’ Access to Primary Care 
Practitioners — 12–19 Years, Immunizations for 
Adolescents — Combination 2, and Well-Child 
Visits in the Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Years of 
Life. 

$$ Chronic disease management. This sum-
mary measure includes the average of the 
following individual measures: Annual Monitoring 
for Patients on Persistent Medications — ACE 
Inhibitors or ARBs, Annual Monitoring for Patients 
on Persistent Medications — Diuretics, Asthma 
Medication Ratio — Total, Comprehensive Diabetes 
Care — Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm 
Hg), Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Eye Exam 
(Retinal) Performed, Comprehensive Diabetes 
Care — HbA1c Control (<8.0%), Comprehensive 
Diabetes Care — HbA1c Poor Control (>9.0%), 
Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Hemoglobin 
A1c (HbA1c) Testing, Comprehensive Diabetes 
Care — Medical Attention for Nephropathy, and 
Controlling High Blood Pressure.

$$ All-cause readmissions. This measure is reported 
in its original form. 

http://www.chcf.org


15A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Table 5 presents the results of a comparison of HEDIS 
scores for Regional model and comparison group 
counties. As shown in Table 5, Regional model MCPs 
demonstrate performance that is substantially similar 
to that of the PHC north group; performance of the 
rural comparison group was somewhat better across 
all measures. 

An examination of average HEDIS scores over time 
(Table 6) also finds that performance in Regional model 
counties was very similar to that of the PHC north 
group; however, the rural comparison group counties 
demonstrated somewhat higher HEDIS scores across 
each of the years examined. 

Scores improved slightly for all three comparison 
groups between 2015 and 2018, although the increase 
was largest in Regional model counties. The average 
HEDIS score in Regional model counties improved 
from 64% in 2015 to 68% in 2018. Other counties in 
the rural comparison group saw a smaller improve-
ment, from 70% in 2015 to 71% in 2018. Finally, 
average HEDIS scores improved in the PHC north 
group from 65% in 2015 to 67% in 2018. 

Overall, an examination of HEDIS scores shows that 
the results are substantially similar in Regional model 
counties as compared with other comparable parts of 
the state, particularly in the most recent, 2018 peri-
od.23 The comparison group of rural counties did 
outperform both the Regional model counties and the 
PHC north group, both of which implemented man-
aged care relatively recently. 

Table 6. Average HEDIS Score, by Region, 2015–18

2015 2016 2017 2018

Regional 64% 67% 67% 68%

PHC north 65% 67% 66% 67%

Rural comparison 70% 71% 70% 71%

Notes: Results reflect the unweighted MCP average score. Results exclude 
Kaiser Permanente.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of HEDIS data from 
Department of Health Care Services, Medi-Cal Managed Care Quality 
Improvement Reports: External Quality Review Technical Reports with 
Plan-Specific Evaluation Reports (July 1, 2016–June 30, 2017 and July 1, 
2017–June 30, 2018), www.dhcs.ca.gov. 

Some Regional Model Enrollees 
Need to Travel Long Distances to 
the Nearest In-Network Provider
DHCS requires (pursuant to federal requirements set 
forth by CMS) Medi-Cal MCPs to meet specific access 
standards. The standards measure both the distance 
and the time required to travel to specific types of 
providers, including adult and pediatric primary and 
specialty care, hospitals, outpatient mental health, 
obstetrics/gynecology, and pharmacies. 

According to the most recent Compliance Assurance 
Report from DHCS, all MCPs, including those in 
Regional model and comparison group counties, 
are “in full compliance with the Annual Network 
Certification requirements set forth in 42 C.F.R. section 
438.207 or [are] passing with conditions.”24 In cases 
where MCPs are not able to meet a specific stan-
dard, however, they can request an Alternative Access 

Table 5. Summary of HEDIS Measures, by Region, 2015–18

ALL-MEASURES 
AVERAGE

CHILD AND ADOLESCENT 
ACCESS TO PRIMARY CARE

CHRONIC DISEASE 
MANAGEMENT

ALL-CAUSE 
READMISSIONS

Regional 66% 75% 67% 15%

PHC north 66% 73% 67% 13%

Rural comparison 71% 78% 70% 14%

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of HEDIS data from Department of Health Care Services, Medi-Cal Managed Care Quality Improvement  
Reports: External Quality Review Technical Reports with Plan-Specific Evaluation Reports (July 1, 2016–June 30, 2017 and July 1, 2017–June 30, 2018),  
www.dhcs.ca.gov. Results reflect the unweighted MCP average score. Results exclude Kaiser Permanente.

https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MgdCareQualPerfEQRTR.aspx
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MgdCareQualPerfEQRTR.aspx


 

16California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Standard, which allows for longer travel times in cases 
where MCPs indicate that the original standard can-
not be met. Table 7 presents the most recent data on 
the percentage of zip codes affected by an Alternative 
Access Standard in Regional model, PHC north, and 
rural comparison counties.

Table 7.  Percentage of Regions with Alternative Access 
Standards, by Area of Specialty

REGIONAL
PHC 

NORTH
RURAL 

COMPARISON

Pediatric 28% 27% 53%

Adult 27% 27% 24%

Hospital 14% 30% 31%

Mental health 
(non-psychiatry)  
outpatient services

1% 0% 0%

Ob/gyn 1% 0% 0%

Pharmacy 11% 0% 2%

Ob/gyn PCP 69% 0% 7%

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of data from Department of 
Health Care Services, 2019 Approved Alternative Access Standards Report, 
as of January 30, 2019, www.dhcs.ca.gov (PDF).

As shown in Table 7, Regional model counties 
required Alternative Access Standards for more ser-
vice categories when compared with either the PHC 
north or rural comparison groups, although the per-
centage of zip codes requiring an Alternative Access 
Standard was very similar in several cases. All three 
regions required an Alternative Access Standard for at 
least some zip codes for pediatric, adult, and hospital 
care. However, in the Regional model, more zip codes 
had an Alternative Access Standard for pharmacy and 
obstetrics/gynecology primary care provider (ob/gyn 
PCP) in relation to both comparison groups. 

Although there were more service categories in the 
Regional model with an Alternative Access Standard, 
there were some categories where the frequency of 
Alternative Access Standard zip codes was lower. 
For example, nearly twice as many zip codes in the 
rural comparison group (53%) were affected by 
an Alternative Access Standard for pediatric care 

compared with the Regional model (28%) or the 
PHC north group (27%). For hospital care, just 14% 
of Regional model zip codes were affected by an 
Alternative Access Standard, about half the level in 
the rural comparison or PHC north groups. 

The California State Auditor also examined access to 
care using the network adequacy data, concluding 
that “Regional Model health plans have required some 
beneficiaries to travel excessive distances to obtain 
medical care from providers.”25 The State Auditor also 
found that, while both Regional model MCPs cover the 
same counties, enrollees may face very different travel 
distances depending on which plan they are enrolled 
in. For example, the State Auditor reported that some 
Anthem enrollees needed to travel as far as 239 miles 
to see a cardiologist, while the maximum distance for 
CHW enrollees was 115 miles. Conversely, some CHW 
enrollees needed to travel as far as 85 miles to see a 
primary care provider, while the maximum distance for 
Anthem enrollees was just 10 miles.26 

There can be many reasons for an Alternative Access 
Standard, including geographic obstacles to care 
(i.e., rural areas are difficult to serve). Nevertheless, 
while the need for an Alternative Access Standard 
does not in itself demonstrate diminished access to 
care, a larger fraction of Alternative Access Standard 
zip codes in a particular region does suggest poorer 
access to care. 

Data Analysis Conclusions
Patients in rural areas can face important challenges 
in accessing health care (Figure 1). In comparing dif-
ferences among rural areas, the analysis presented 
in this report suggests wide variation, depending on 
the region and measure used. The following are the 
important findings from this data analysis: 

$$ On the broadest measures of patient satisfaction 
from the CAHPS survey and health care qual-
ity as measured by HEDIS, results were poorer in 
the Regional model and PHC north counties when 
measured against the results in a comparison group 
of rural counties. 

http://www.chcf.org
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/AB_205_AAS_Report_2019.pdf


17A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

$$ While HEDIS scores were generally lower in 
Regional model counties when compared with the 
rural comparison group, scores increased more 
rapidly in Regional model counties over the 2015–
2018 period. 

$$ Using administrative data to examine patient sat-
isfaction showed that Regional model Medi-Cal 
enrollees had more medical exemption requests 
than those in either comparison group, but fewer 
grievances than those in the PHC north group 
(grievance rates were similar for Regional model 
and rural comparison group counties). 

$$ Access to care remains an important challenge for 
rural Medi-Cal enrollees across the state. However, 
available data on access to care presents a mixed 
picture when comparing performance across rural 
groups. For example, analysis of one survey mea-
sure, “Getting Care Quickly,” showed that both 
Regional model and PHC north MCPs received 
scores near the 75th percentile statewide (meaning 
they outperformed three-quarters of the MCPs); 
rural comparison group MCPs earned an aver-
age score at the 64th percentile. An examination 
of CHIS access-to-care data found that Regional 
model enrollees reported somewhat more diffi-
culty finding specialty care relative to enrollees in 
the rural comparison group, but were less likely to 
report not having a usual source of care. 

In general, data analysis suggests that Regional model 
MCP performance could be improved, at least in 
some areas, when compared with other, comparable 
rural counties. Available data are limited, however, 
and may not be the most appropriate tool for mea-
suring important provider concerns such as difficulty 
accessing benefits, lack of adequate specialty net-
works, limited presence in the community, or difficulty 
obtaining reimbursement. These concerns remain 
an important aspect of health care delivery in rural 
California, and challenges in delivering care remain in 
rural areas throughout the state. 

Discussion
Available data show that — at least according to some 
measures — opportunities exist to improve patient 
satisfaction, access to care, and other outcomes in 
Regional model counties when compared with other 
rural counties in California, although important differ-
ences in individual measures exist. Moreover, providers 
in Regional model counties were more likely to report 
serious frustrations with and concerns about the 
two Regional model MCPs, Anthem Blue Cross and 
California Health & Wellness. Higher levels of provider 
dissatisfaction, if not addressed, may lead to poorer 
patient outcomes in the future.27 In addition, provider 
concerns have led some in Regional model counties 
to seek an alternative Medi-Cal managed care deliv-
ery model. Specifically, several interviewees indicated 
a desire to join with Partnership HealthPlan, form a 
regional COHS, or develop another alternative to the 
current Regional model arrangement with two com-
mercial MCPs. The depth and extent of these provider 
concerns, therefore, suggest that changes or improve-
ments to the current system should be considered.

Further Research
Although important provider concerns were iden-
tified, this identification was based on structured 
interviews with a selected group of providers. In order 
to more systematically identify the breadth of these 
provider concerns, establish whether they are different 
from provider concerns in other comparable counties, 
and determine whether they have persisted over time, 
further research would be required. The most suitable 
vehicle for this research would be a survey of provid-
ers in both Regional model and comparison group 
counties. Such an analysis of provider satisfaction can 
supplement a continued monitoring of patient sat-
isfaction and outcome data, and determine if poor 
provider satisfaction (if confirmed) is translating into 
poorer outcomes for patients. 

In addition, while this study has sought to incorpo-
rate all available, relevant data sources, the analysis 
presented nevertheless is subject to important limita-
tions. Most important, very limited data on access to 



 

18California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

specialty care exist. HEDIS largely addresses quality 
measures subject to primary care intervention and, to 
a more limited extent, hospitalization. In general, how-
ever, these data do not address access to specialty 
care. DHCS network adequacy standards are intended 
to ensure that an adequate network is available; how-
ever, the available data do not directly allow for an 
analysis of whether such a network is in fact available 
to most enrollees. The survey data sources (CHIS and 
CAHPS) do more specifically address access to care, 
but these data are not a complete substitute for clini-
cal or administrative data measuring access to care 
directly. 

Considerations for Improvement
Given the numerous and vociferous provider and 
county concerns, combined with the fact that no 
model change is likely before the current contract 
expires in 2023,28 state policymakers and program 
officials should consider a variety of approaches to 
improving the current model’s performance. Changing 
the Regional model to another managed care model 
(e.g., COHS or Two-Plan model with a Local Initiative) 
could also be considered; considerations associated 
with this approach are discussed in Appendix C. 

During the course of the interviews, the following sug-
gestions for improvement emerged. The two MCPs 
could devote resources to these improvements, and 
DHCS could use its regulatory power to enable and 
enforce them.

Develop a regional recruitment strategy for 
improving access to care. Numerous interviewees 
highlighted the difficulties associated with access-
ing care due to provider shortages, most importantly 
for specialty care. While the MCPs are responsible 
for ensuring adequate networks, there is no explicit 
requirement for MCPs to recruit new providers to the 
region, and neither of the two Regional model MCPs 
makes significant investments in provider recruit-
ment (although PHC does make such investments). 
Because all MCPs in the region (including commer-
cial and Medicare MCPs) would potentially benefit 
from recruiting additional providers, it makes sense 

for multiple MCPs to share the costs associated with 
recruiting and retaining providers. A regional pool or 
fund dedicated to provider recruitment could help to 
lower the cost (for any individual MCP), while simul-
taneously increasing the total available resources for 
this purpose. These resources could be supplemented 
with state resources, potentially from Proposition 56. 
In addition, developing a more general mechanism 
for the two MCPs to address issues of mutual concern 
could be beneficial in terms of improving performance 
and responding to provider concerns. Leadership 
from state officials is likely to be needed to help MCPs 
develop a shared regional strategy and overcome 
strong incentives to differentiate themselves from 
competitors. 

Increase use of telehealth and other electronic 
mechanisms for accessing care. Because of the large 
distances that many patients must travel and the 
relative lack of providers in the region, tools such as 
telehealth have the potential to make an important 
difference in access to care. MCPs are already mak-
ing investments in telehealth and other similar tools 
to increase access to care. However, additional invest-
ments in telehealth (including the development of 
mechanisms that allow individual clinics to finance and 
receive reimbursement for services) have the potential 
to dramatically improve access to care. 

Improve communication between MCPs, providers, 
and counties. One of the most important concerns 
raised by providers was the difficulty associated with 
communicating with large commercial Medi-Cal MCPs 
headquartered outside of the region. Both commercial 
MCPs do have dedicated staff assigned to interfacing 
with providers and counties, and the MCPs report that 
the level of investment in such staffing has increased 
since the initial implementation of managed care in 
the region. Nevertheless, effective communication 
remains an important goal, and increased investment 
in MCP staffing for purposes of ensuring effective two-
way communication, providing provider education 
about MCP features or changes, and other matters 
remains an important goal. Scheduling more regular 
contact or meetings between MCPs and providers 
could help to improve communication. In addition, 

http://www.chcf.org


19A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

providers and counties might see an improvement in 
the responsiveness of the MCPs if they identify com-
mon concerns that span multiple clinics or counties 
and present these issues to MCPs as a group rather 
than on an ad hoc or individual basis.

Involve a neutral third party or DHCS in discussions 
regarding unresolved contracting issues. Although 
many of the contracting issues that characterized the 
initial rollout of managed care have been addressed, 
interviews identified a handful of cases in which indi-
vidual clinics or hospitals do not have contracts with 
one of the MCPs. These negotiations appear to have 
reached a stalemate, suggesting that involvement of a 
neutral facilitator, mediator, or other third party might 
be a fruitful step toward resolving these outstanding 
issues. 

Develop and enforce more meaningful network 
adequacy standards. Network adequacy standards 
could be designed to require MCPs to monitor and 
incentivize service delivery to Medi-Cal enrollees by 
providers in the network rather than a “head count” 
of providers as currently measured. This could neces-
sitate higher rates or additional incentives paid to 
providers to increase the share of their practice serv-
ing Medi-Cal enrollees.

Require MCPs and their delegates to deploy a valid, 
reliable, and standardized provider satisfaction sur-
vey annually. DHCS could incorporate this survey into 
its Medi-Cal Managed Care Quality Strategy. The sur-
vey goals would be developed with the input of MCPs, 
providers, advocates, and other stakeholders. DHCS 
could incorporate the results from an annual survey 
into its Quality Improvement Reports and included 
them on the Medi-Cal Managed Care Performance 
Dashboard.

The rural expansion of Medi-Cal, particularly in the 18 
counties that are part of the Regional model, brought 
with it a dislocation of established provider networks 
and business arrangements, which has resulted in 
important concerns on the part of many local provid-
ers and county officials. An investigation of available 
data suggests that the state’s rural areas do face 
numerous challenges in delivering care to patients, 
although many of these difficulties extend beyond the 
Regional model counties. Opportunities for improve-
ment exist, however, such as developing cooperative 
mechanisms for recruiting providers and addressing 
issues of mutual concern to rural MCPs. In developing 
its procedures for the Medi-Cal procurement, DHCS 
should pursue an array of approaches to accelerate 
improvements in access to and quality of care in the 
state’s rural areas. 



 

20California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

T. Abraham, Regional Vice President, Hospital 
Council Northern and Central California

Sean Atha, Senior Vice President, Business & 
Network Development, River City Medical Group

Doreen Bradshaw, Executive Director, Health Alliance 
of Northern California

Lynn Dorroh, CEO, Hill Country Community Clinic

Kimberli Frantz, MD, President, Red Oaks Medical 
Group, Lassen Medical Clinic

Beatrice Garcia, Imperial County Rural Legal 
Assistance

Dean Germano, Shasta Community Health Center

Michelle Gibbons, County Health Executives 
Association

Joel Grey, Anthem Blue Cross

Robin Hodgkin, Imperial County Public Health Officer

Dave Jones, CEO, Mountain Valleys Health Centers

Barsam Kasravi, Anthem Blue Cross

Lee Kemper, Former Executive Director, County 
Medical Services Program

Valerie Lucero, Tehama County

Meaghan McCamman, California Primary Care 
Association

Scott McFarland, CPCA Board and Western Sierra

Andy Miller, MD, Health Officer, Butte County

Jane Ogle, Consultant and Former Deputy Director 
for Healthcare Delivery Systems, Department of 
Health Care Services

Robert Oldham, MD, Public Health Officer and Public 
Health Director, Placer County

Paul Pakuckas, Anthem Blue Cross

Alicia Pimentel, Anthem Blue Cross

Tim Reilly, Pacific Health Consulting

Liza Thatranon, Staff Attorney, LSNC Health Program

Abbie Totten, California Health & Wellness

Dick Wickenheiser, MD, Public Health Officer, 
Tehama County

Mike Wiltermood, CEO, Enloe Regional Medical 
Center, Chico, Butte County

Bobbie Wunsch, Founder and Partner, Pacific Health 
Consulting

Appendix A. Structured Interview Participants

http://www.chcf.org


21A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Regression analyses using patient-level data from the 
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) were con-
ducted to assess whether the managed care model 
was correlated with specific measures of access to 
care. The CHIS survey is a random-dial telephone 
survey conducted by the UCLA Center for Health 
Policy Research in collaboration with the California 
Department of Public Health and the Department 
of Health Care Services, and includes over 20,000 
Californians each year across all 58 counties. The sur-
vey includes adults, teens, and children, and it collects 
detailed demographic information from the respon-
dents, such as age, gender, and level of educational 
attainment. The survey also asks questions on a vari-
ety of health-related topics, such as health insurance 
coverage and access to health-related services. The 
data used in the regressions included annual survey 
responses for the years 2014 through 2017.

Several models were developed comparing mem-
bers of the Regional model MCPs against members 
of Medi-Cal MCPs in both the PHC north and rural 
comparison groups. Specifically, models were devel-
oped to test whether these MCP members differed 
with regard to their responses for the following survey 
questions:

$$ Member had a usual place to go to receive 
health care when feeling sick or needing health 
advice

$$ Member had used the ER in the past 12 months 
for any reason

$$ Member had a preventive care visit in the past 
12 months

$$ Member had difficulty getting a doctor’s appoint-
ment within two days (if needed)

$$ Member had difficulty finding a primary care 
provider

$$ Member had difficulty finding a specialty care 
provider (if needed)

$$ Member had difficulty understanding his or her 
doctor

Note that these responses are all binary, or yes/no 
answers to the survey question. Because of this, it 
was necessary to use a specialized form of regression 
called a logistic (or logit) regression, where the depen-
dent variable is categorical rather than continuous. 
Using these responses as dependent variables, logis-
tic models were developed that included a dummy 
variable to indicate whether the member belonged to 
a Regional model MCP (based on respondent’s county 
of residence). A variety of other explanatory variables 
were also tested, including demographic variables 
such as the member’s age, gender, race, income, and 
level of educational attainment, in addition to vari-
ables to capture whether the member was married 
or had a partner, was a native English speaker or had 
a high level of English proficiency, worked full-time, 
was clinically obese, or was a smoker. Other variables 
included whether the member had diabetes, asthma, 
high blood pressure, heart disease, or psychological 
distress in the past year or needed help for emotional 
or mental issues or alcohol or drug problems. Finally, 
dummy variables for the year of the survey were also 
included.

Testing of numerous specifications using various com-
binations of these explanatory variables revealed no 
statistically significant difference in outcomes based 
on the respondent’s Medi-Cal managed care model 
(i.e., Regional model versus PHC north or rural com-
parison group). An example of one specification is 
presented in Table B1 (see page 22).

Table B1 presents numerous statistics from the logistic 
regression. The coefficient estimate is calculated using 
maximum likelihood estimation, or MLE. The odds 
ratio is the exponential of the coefficient estimate and 
can be used to compare the relative importance of 
the explanatory variables. The “Pct Increase in Odds” 
is the transformation of the logit coefficient using the 
formula 100(eb – 1), where b is the logit coefficient, 
and expresses the result as a percentage. Therefore, 
if this value is x, one may say, “Each additional unit of 
the explanatory variable results in an increase of about 
x% in the odds of the dependent event occurring.” 

Appendix B. Regression Analysis Methodology and Results



 

22California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Finally, the “Wald Prob > Chi Sq” value represents 
1 minus the confidence level at which the hypoth-
esis that the coefficient value equals zero cannot be 
rejected — that is, the data do not indicate whether 
the characteristic makes it more or less likely that the 
event represented by the dependent variable will 
occur. Thus, a value of 0.05 indicates that the coef-
ficient estimate is statistically significant at the 95% 
confidence level.

In this model, the dependent variable was assigned 
a 1 if the member’s survey response indicated he or 
she had visited the emergency room in the prior 12 
months. The CHIS data had 3,843 responses from 
Medi-Cal members in counties with Regional model 
MCPs or in similar rural counties, and 1,304 (34%) of 

those respondents said they had visited the ER. Of 
the explanatory variables tested, the only significant 
explanatory variables were age, whether the mem-
ber had asthma or high blood pressure, whether the 
member had an emotional or drug problem, English 
proficiency, and whether the member had a bachelor’s 
degree or higher. For example, those members who 
had a BA or higher were 47% less likely to respond 
that they had visited an ER in the past 12 months. As 
the results also show, members with asthma were on 
average 81% more likely to have visited the ER, and 
those with high blood pressure were 57% more likely. 
The variable denoting whether the respondent was a 
member of a Regional model MCP (“Regional Plan 
Member”), however, was not statistically significant.

Table B1. Sample Regression Results

$$ Dependent variable: 1 if member had visited an ER in the past 12 months, otherwise 0

$$ Number of observations: 3,843 $$ Pseudo R-square: 0.10081

$$ Number of observations where dependent variable is 1: 1,304 $$ Max rescaled R-square: 0.14083

COEFFICENT ODDS RATIO
PERCENT CHANGE  

IN ODDS WALD PROB>CHI SQ

Intercept (2.2737) 0.0000†

Regional Plan Member 0.2350 1.2649 26.4885 0.2029

Year: 2015 (0.0053) 0.9947 (0.5262) 0.9821

Year: 2016 (0.0350) 0.9656 (3.4355) 0.8857

Year: 2017 0.0849 1.0886 8.8600 0.7500

Age 0.0126 1.0127 1.2696 0.0668*

Gender: Male (0.0107) 0.9894 (1.0647) 0.9549

Race: White 0.1118 1.1183 11.8283 0.5479

Diabetes 0.1178 1.1250 12.5026 0.6474

Asthma 0.5935 1.8103 81.0332 0.0069†

High Blood Pressure 0.4517 1.5710 57.1011 0.0428†

Emotional or Drug Problem 0.6916 1.9969 99.6906 0.0010†

Married or Has Partner (0.1790) 0.8361 (16.3879) 0.3507

English Speaker (Well/Very Well) 0.6941 2.0019 100.1912 0.0263†

Education of BA or Higher (0.6367) 0.5290 (47.0960) 0.0272†

Works Full Time (0.0947) 0.9096 (9.0375) 0.6614

*Indicates signficance at the 90% level.                        †Indicates statistical significance at the 95% level.

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group Analysis of California Health Interview Survey data, 2019.

http://www.chcf.org


23A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Provider frustration and concerns with the cur-
rent Regional model have led some to express an 
interest in leaving the Regional model and joining 
Partnership HealthPlan of California (PHC) or forming 
their own County Organized Health System (COHS). 
While switching to a COHS model is one possibility, 
the Regional model counties could also switch to a 
traditional Two-Plan model, with one commercial 
MCP and a regional Local Initiative (LI). To date, no 
county has changed from one managed care model 
to another. In general, county leadership (e.g., board 
of supervisors, county public health and hospitals, 
providers) has considerable influence over the type 
of managed care model in their county or region. 
Other stakeholders in model choice would include 
the executive branch (California Health and Human 
Services Agency and DHCS) and MCPs themselves. 
Before a change in the model could proceed, careful 
consideration would need to be given to a number of 
issues and obstacles. Perhaps most importantly, given 
the lack of quantitative data suggesting systematic dif-
ferences in outcomes between Regional model and 
comparison group counties, a stronger case would 
need to be made that a change is warranted. This 
would potentially require additional data collection 
and development of new measures or data sources 
beyond those available currently. In addition, several 
additional practical limitations to a model change 
exist, as discussed below.

Considerations for Partnership HealthPlan 
Expansion
Historically, the state has followed local preference 
when determining which model operates in a county. 
Moving the Regional model to a COHS structure 
therefore would likely require support from the various 
boards of supervisors and regional providers before 
DHCS would embark on such a change. Furthermore, 
the limitations in federal statute regarding the COHS 
model would need to be evaluated to determine 
whether sufficient room exists under the 16% enroll-
ment cap to allow a COHS to enroll the Regional 
model population. Based on current (November 2018) 
enrollment data, it appears that adding the Regional 

model population to the existing COHS population 
would exceed the 16% limit on total enrollment in the 
COHS model.29 

Assuming the enrollment requirement in federal statute 
can be met, an expansion of Partnership HealthPlan’s 
service area would require federal approval by the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). 
PHC also would need to assess whether expansion is 
viable. While the MCP already operates in many areas 
of rural Northern California, adding approximately 
300,000 members could require significant invest-
ments in staff, information technology (IT), and other 
operational infrastructure. Before proceeding, the 
MCP would need to understand how DHCS would set 
the capitation rates for the Regional model members 
and evaluate the financial impacts of expansion. 

Considerations for Creating a New COHS  
or LI
If PHC did not expand into the Regional model coun-
ties, the counties could explore creation of a regional 
governing entity to operate a new COHS. While fed-
eral statute allows for seven COHSs in California, the 
remaining COHS is designated for Merced County, 
necessitating a change in federal statute to allow 
another county (or group of counties) to operate the 
new COHS. Similar to an expansion of Partnership 
HealthPlan’s service area, creating a new COHS 
would likely require changes to state statute and CMS 
approval of the change in the managed care model. 
The Regional model counties also would need to eval-
uate the costs of establishing a COHS. If the decision 
were made to proceed, implementation would still 
take several years (e.g., one to two years to obtain the 
necessary change in federal statute and an additional 
one to two years to launch the new COHS). 

Alternatively, state and local stakeholders could con-
sider moving to a traditional Two-Plan model structure, 
with one LI and one commercial MCP offering cover-
age to Regional model enrollees. This would require 
multiple counties to work together to create a regional 
LI through a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) or regional 

Appendix C. Pursuing a Change in Managed Care Models



24California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

 health authority that would manage the LI on behalf 
of all the counties. These would be similar to the gov-
ernance structures used by CalViva Health and Inland 
Empire Health Plan.30 

If the regional counties chose not to operate the 
LI, they could contract with an MCP. For example, 
Stanislaus County’s LI contracts with the Health Plan 
of San Joaquin, and Health Net serves as the com-
mercial MCP. Under this approach, it is possible PHC 
could serve as the Local Initiative, although this would 
require significant operational changes at the MCP, 
which may not be economically feasible. In addition, 
as state licensure is required for all Two-Plan model 
MCPs, PHC would need to complete the licensure 
process for each of the counties, further adding to the 
complexity and costs of serving as the regional coun-
ties’ LI. 

While significant obstacles to establishment of a new 
COHS or LI exist, either approach would provide 
for local control by the counties. Implementation of 
the Two-Plan model also would maintain beneficiary 
choice, which may be important to local stakeholders. 

http://www.chcf.org


25A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

Table D1. Average HEDIS Score, by Category and Region, 2015–18

REGIONAL
RURAL 

COMPARISON
PHC 

NORTH

Childhood Immunization Status — Combination 3 62% 67% 57%

Children and Adolescents’ Access to Primary Care Practitioners — 12–24 Months 94% 95% 94%

Children and Adolescents’ Access to Primary Care Practitioners — 25 Months–6 Years 85% 87% 84%

Children and Adolescents’ Access to Primary Care Practitioners — 7–11 Years 87% 88% 83%

Children and Adolescents’ Access to Primary Care Practitioners — 12–19 Years 86% 87% 84%

Immunizations for Adolescents — Combination 2 23% 31% 18%

Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children and 
Adolescents — Nutrition Counseling — Total

53% 70% 59%

Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children and 
Adolescents — Physical Activity Counseling — Total

47% 61% 52%

Well-Child Visits in the Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Years of Life 64% 74% 64%

Breast Cancer Screening 48% 55% 49%

Cervical Cancer Screening 49% 56% 49%

Prenatal and Postpartum Care — Postpartum Care 65% 60% 57%

Prenatal and Postpartum Care — Timeliness of Prenatal Care 82% 82% 80%

Annual Monitoring for Patients on Persistent Medications — ACE Inhibitors or ARBs 83% 86% 82%

Annual Monitoring for Patients on Persistent Medications — Diuretics 84% 86% 84%

Asthma Medication Ratio — Total 58% 64% 51%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm Hg) 66% 65% 63%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Eye Exam (Retinal) Performed 46% 55% 45%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — HbA1c Control (<8.0%) 48% 48% 50%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — HbA1c Poor Control (>9.0%) 41% 43% 39%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Testing 84% 86% 88%

Comprehensive Diabetes Care — Medical Attention for Nephropathy 84% 87% 86%

Controlling High Blood Pressure 58% 59% 56%

All-Cause Readmissions 15% 13% 13%

Ambulatory Care — Emergency Department (ED) Visits per 1,000 Member Months 52.77 50.81 58.02

Ambulatory Care — Outpatient Visits per 1,000 Member Months 283.44 302.46 232.45

Avoidance of Antibiotic Treatment in Adults With Acute Bronchitis 24% 27% 32%

Screening for Clinical Depression and Follow-Up Plan — Performance Rate 0% 8% 0%

Screening for Clinical Depression and Follow-Up Plan — Reporting Rate 5% 2% 0%

Use of Imaging Studies for Low Back Pain 74% 75% 81%

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of HEDIS data from Department of Health Care Services, Medi-Cal Managed Care Quality Improvement Reports: 
External Quality Review Technical Reports with Plan-Specific Evaluation Reports (July 1, 2016–June 30, 2017 and July 1, 2017–June 30, 2018), www.dhcs.ca.gov. 
Results reflect the unweighted MCP average score. Results exclude Kaiser Permanente.

Appendix D. Additional Measures

https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Pages/MgdCareQualPerfEQRTR.aspx


26California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Table D2. CAHPS Measures Comparison, by Region

REGIONAL RURAL COMPARISON PHC NORTH

ADULTS CHILDREN ADULTS CHILDREN ADULTS CHILDREN

Rating of All Health Care 2.1 2.4 2.3 2.4 2.1 2.2

Rating of Personal Doctor 2.4 2.6 2.5 2.6 2.4 2.5

Rating of Specialist Seen Most Often 2.4 2.6 2.5 2.6 2.4 2.8

Getting Needed Care 2.1 2.3 2.2 2.3 2.2 2.2

Getting Care Quickly 2.2 2.4 2.2 2.4 2.3 2.4

How Well Doctors Communicate 2.5 2.6 2.5 2.6 2.6 2.7

Customer Service 2.5 2.4 2.5 2.4 2.7 2.5

Source: Blue Sky Consulting Group analysis of 2016 CAHPS data. 

http://www.chcf.org


27A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

CAHPS results are presented using a “three-point 
mean” calculation. Survey respondents are asked to 
provide a rating on a scale of 1 to 10. These responses 
are then rescaled as follows: response values of 9 
and 10 were given a score of 3; response values of 
7 and 8 were given a score of 2; and response val-
ues of 0 through 6 were given a score of 1. These 
three-point scores are then averaged to create the 
three-point mean result reported in 2016 CAHPS 
Medicaid Managed Care Survey Summary Report and 
presented here.

Unweighted average CAHPS and HEDIS scores were 
then calculated across MCPs for each regional com-
parison group. 

  

Appendix E. Calculation of Average CAHPS and HEDIS Measures



 

28California Health Care Foundation www.chcf.org

Endnotes
 1. Department of Health Care Services, Medi-Cal Managed 

Care Request for Proposal (RFP) Schedule by Model Type, 
updated March 11, 2019, www.dhcs.ca.gov.pdf. Note that 
re-procurement of managed care services in Regional model 
counties likely could not take place until current contracts 
expire in 2023. 

 2. Elaine M. Howle, Department of Health Care Services: It 
Has Not Ensured That Medi-Cal Beneficiaries in Some Rural 
Counties Have Reasonable Access to Care, California State 
Auditor, August 2019, www.auditor.ca.gov (PDF). 

 3. Howle, Department of Health Care Services, 16. 

 4. See, for example, Maria Panagioti, Keith Geraghty, Judith 
Johnson, et al., “Association Between Physician Burnout and 
Patient Safety, Professionalism, and Patient Satisfaction,” 
JAMA Internal Medicine 178, no. 10 (October 2018): 
1317–1330.

 5. DHCS, Medi-Cal Managed Care Request for Proposal (RFP) 
Schedule by Model Type. 

 6. Robin Warshaw, “Health Disparities Affect Millions in  
Rural U.S. Communities,” AAMCNews, October 31, 2017, 
news.aamc.org.

 7. Warshaw, “Health Disparities Affect Millions in Rural U.S. 
Communities.” 

 8. Xenia Shih Bion, A Long Road to Care for Rural Californians: 
Stories That Caught Our Attention, California Health Care 
Foundation, June 8, 2018, www.chcf.org. 

 9. Warshaw, “Health Disparities Affect Millions in Rural U.S. 
Communities.” 

 10. National Rural Health Association, About Rural  
Health Care, accessed September 18, 2019,  
www.ruralhealthweb.org.

 11. A list of the Regional model counties is provided in 
Table 1 on page 7. 

 12. A complete list of interviewees is provided in 
Appendix A. 

 13. Several of the data sources analyzed for Partnership 
HealthPlan of California (PHC), including CAHPS and HEDIS, 
are only available as regional reports with aggregated 
data across a group of counties. Specifically, PHC data 
are aggregated into four regions: northeast, northwest, 
southeast, and southwest. Because several of the counties in 
the two southern regions are more urbanized than the rural 
Northern California counties included in the Regional model, 
the two northern PHC regions were selected as the most 
directly comparable to the Regional model counties. The 
counties in the northern PHC regions (“PHC north”) include 
Del Norte, Humboldt, Lassen, Modoc, Shasta, Siskiyou, and 
Trinity. 

 14. Additional details of the data analysis approach and 
regression results are presented in Appendix B.

 15. Interviewees from the commercial MCPs commented 
that, while they do earn a profit, they also believe that 
their large size allows for economies of scale, which lower 
costs. In addition, effective July 1, 2019, a Medical Loss 
Ratio (MLR) requirement will take effect, requiring Medi-Cal 
MCPs to spend a minimum of 85% of revenue on patient 
care expenses (thereby limiting profits and administrative 
expenses). 

 16. California Department of Health Care Services, 
Managed Care Quality and Monitoring Division, 2016 
CAHPS Medicaid Managed Care Survey Summary Report, 
January 2018, www.dhcs.ca.gov.

 17. Managed care model was identified based on reported 
county of residence. 

 18. Detailed regression results are presented in Appendix B.

 19. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Healthcare 
Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS), last modified 
July 6, 2017, www.cms.gov. 

 20. For the latest report, see California Department of 
Health Care Services, Managed Care Quality and Monitoring 
Division, Medi-Cal Managed Care External Quality Review 
Technical Report (July 1, 2017–June 30, 2018), April 2019, 
www.dhcs.ca.gov (PDF). 

 21. Data on all available HEDIS measures are presented in 
Appendix D.

 22. For measures where a lower score is better (e.g., 
hospital readmissions), the score was rescaled to make it 
comparable with the other measures by subtracting the 
reported value from 1.

 23. Note that differences in HEDIS scores can be caused 
by any number of factors, only some of which are related to 
health plan performance or the structure of the managed 
care delivery model. In fact, differences due to patient 
characteristics, geography, the provider network, and other 
factors may all have larger impact on HEDIS scores. 

 24. Department of Health Care Services, Compliance 
Assurance Report: 2018 Annual Network Certification, 
accessed May 28, 2019, www.dhcs.ca.gov (PDF). 

 25. Howle, Department of Health Care Services, 15. 

 26. Howle, Department of Health Care Services, 16. 

 27. See, for example, Lotte N. Dyrbye, Tait D. Shanafelt, 
Christine A. Sinsky, et al., Burnout Among Health Care 
Professionals: A Call to Explore and Address This 
Underrecognized Threat to Safe, High-Quality Care, National 
Academy of Medicine, July 5, 2017, nam.edu. 

 28. In Blue Cross of California v. Maxwell-Jolly (December 
2013), a settlement agreement over Medi-Cal rates  
extends the Anthem contract with the Department of  
Health Care Services in the Regional model counties until 
October 31, 2023.

http://www.chcf.org
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/rfa_rfp/Documents/MCOD_RFP_Schedule_v20190311.pdf
http://www.auditor.ca.gov/pdfs/reports/2018-122.pdf
https://news.aamc.org/patient-care/article/health-disparities-affect-millions-rural-us-commun/
https://www.chcf.org/blog/long-road-to-care-for-rural-californians/
https://www.ruralhealthweb.org/about-nrha/about-rural-health-care
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Documents/MMCD_Qual_Rpts/CAHPS_Reports/CAHPS_2015-2016.pdf
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Health-Plans/SpecialNeedsPlans/SNP-HEDIS.html
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/dataandstats/reports/Documents/CA2017-18_EQR_Technical_Report_F1.pdf
https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/AssuranceofComplianceReportMCP.pdf
https://nam.edu/burnout-among-health-care-professionals-a-call-to-explore-and-address-this-underrecognized-threat-to-safe-high-quality-care/


29A Close Look at Medi-Cal Managed Care: Quality, Access, and the Provider’s Experience Under the Regional Model

 29. As of November 2018, total Medi-Cal enrollment was 
12,995,647 enrollees, with 1,837,938 enrollees enrolled in 
COHS plans (excluding enrollment in Health Plan of San 
Mateo and CenCal Health per federal law). If the 294,850 
enrollees enrolled in the Regional model were transitioned 
into the COHS model, total COHS enrollment (excluding 
Health Plan of San Mateo and CenCal Health) would equal 
16.4% of the total Medi-Cal population. 

 30. Fresno, Kings, and Madera Counties created a regional 
health authority to manage their LI, CalViva Health. Riverside 
and San Bernardino Counties created a JPA to operate their 
LI, Inland Empire Health Plan. 



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

REGULAR AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE February 16, 2021

Departments: CAO
TIME REQUIRED 1 hour PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, County
Administrative OfficerSUBJECT Housing Update

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

In 2018, a toolbox matrix consisting of strategies to address Mono County's housing challenges was established and vetted
through extensive community outreach. The toolbox matrix proposed integration of goals and strategies into potential

programs and actions. 

In the absence of a dedicated County housing office, staff in a range of departments have stepped in to provide momentum.
Their efforts have enabled the County to be proactive and responsive despite the other demands on their time, especially

during the Pandemic. 

The County is now recruiting for a dedicated Housing Coordinator, and a new Supervisor has been elected to the Board
since the toolbox was last reviewed.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends the Board review and discuss the Housing Toolbox Prioritization set forth in 2018 for possible
recommendation of staff action and amendment at a future date.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted at this time.

CONTACT NAME: Robert C. Lawton

PHONE/EMAIL: (760) 932-5410 / rlawton@mono.ca.gov

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Mono County Housing Toolbox Prioritization 2018-11-05

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=24974&ItemID=13116


 History

 Time Who Approval
 2/12/2021 10:29 AM County Counsel Yes

 2/12/2021 9:26 AM Finance Yes

 2/12/2021 1:17 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



 

Current Staffing Additional Staffing Funding
Partnerships/Outside 

County Workflow

1.1A Update opportunity site 
database (4-0)

4.1A Add dedicated staff     
(5-0)

4.1A Add dedicated staff    
(5-0)

2.5A Pursue partnerships 
with other agencies in the 
County, such as TOML (4-1)

1.1B Regulatory changes 
that improve housing 
production potential (4-0)

1.2B Allocate additional 
resources to bolster staff 
capacity to review 
applications (5-0)

3.3C Identify opportunities to 
bolster the County's 
Revolving Loan Fund (3-0)

3.1A Bolster rehabilitation 
loan and grant program, in 
collaboration with TOML      
(3-1)

1.2C Identify future 
opportunities for CEQA 
streamlining (3-0)

1.1D Reduce barriers to “tiny 
home” construction (5-0)

3.1B Consider programs 
that may improve housing 
stock quality (4-0)

1.3A Evaluate if off-site 
infrastructure investment can 
improve development 
readiness

2.5A Pursue partnerships 
with other agencies in the 
County, such as TOML (4-1)

1.3C Evaluate 
feasibility/value of creating a 
housing land trust

1.1C Reduce barriers to 
second dwelling unit 
construction

1.3C Evaluate 
feasibility/value of creating a 
housing land trust

1.2A Identify additional 
opportunities for by-right 
review and approval

2.5D Partner with other 
agencies and employers to 
ensure that new employee 
housing qualifies toward 
meeting the County’s RHNA 
targets

2.4D Establish a tax deferral 
program for affordable units

2.2A Purchase housing units 
at market rate, deed restrict, 
and then sell.

2.1A Reinstate HMO, 
including inclusionary 
requirements, along with an 
in-lieu fee

3.2B Explore how to 
incentivize property owners 
to convert short-term rentals 
into long-term rentals

2.4A Allow waivers or 
discounts of planning or 
development impact fees for 
affordable projects/units

2.5D Partner with other 
agencies and employers to 
ensure new employee 
housing qualifies toward 
meeting RHNA targets

2.3A Establish policy 
regarding future county land 
disposition

3.3B Review the language of 
deed restricting conditions to 
minimize unintended 
consequences

2.5C Investigate potential for 
developer partnerships

2.3B Prepare for disposition 
and development by 
reviewing current use and 
long-term needs for county-
owned parcels

3.2A Conduct a study to 
evaluate the impact of short-
term rentals in the County

2.5B Investigate potential for 
landlord partnerships

2.4B Identify zoning 
requirements for which more 
flexible approaches could 
incentivize more on-site 
affordable units

1.3B Identify opportunities 
for land-banking

2.4C Create density bonus 
beyond State maximum
3.2C Consider further 
enhancing policy and 
enforcement of short term 
rentals
3.2D Educate realtors about 
the short-term rental approval 
process

Toolbox Prioritization by Resource



 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Toolbox
Goals

Program Top Priority for BOS Not a priority for BOS Current Staffing Additional Staffing
Additional 
Funding

Partnership
Outside County 

Workflow

1.1A Update opportunity site database 4 0 X

1.1B
Regulatory changes that improve housing 
production potential

4 0 X

1.1C
Reduce barriers to second dwelling unit 
construction

0 2 X

1.1D Reduce barriers to “tiny home” construction 5 0 X

1.2A
Identify additional opportunities for by-right 
review and approval

1 0 X

1.2B
Allocate additional resources to bolster staff 
capacity to review applications

5 0 X

1.2C
Identify future opportunities for CEQA 
streamlining

3 0 X

1.3A
Evaluate if off-site infrastructure investment can 
improve development readiness

2 0 X

1.3B Identify opportunities for land-banking 0 1 X X

1.3C
Evaluate feasibility/value of creating a housing 
land trust

1 0 X X

Mono County Housing Programs Toolbox

Program Implementation Actions

Key: Strong Priority; Some support/mixed opinion; Neutral (no color); Not a priority

1.1 Development Readiness

1.2 Project Review and Approval 
Streamlining

1.3 Proactive Investment

1. Increase Overall Housing 
Supply, 

Consistent with County's Rural 
Character



 

 

 

Housing Toolbox
Goals

Program Top Priority for BOS Not a priority for BOS Current Staffing Additional Staffing
Additional 
Funding

Partnership
Outside County 

Workflow

2.1. Inclusionary Housing 2.1A
Reinstate HMO, including inclusionary 
requirements, along with an in-lieu fee

2 1 X

2.2 Acquistions 2.2A
Purchase housing units at market rate, deed 
restrict, and then sell.

1 0 X X

2.3A
Establish policy regarding future county land 
disposition

2 0 X

2.3B
Prepare for disposition and development by 
reviewing current use and long-term needs for 
county-owned parcels

2 0 X

2.4A
Allow waivers or discounts of planning or 
development impact fees for affordable 
projects/units

1 3 X X

2.4B
Identify zoning requirements for which more 
flexible approaches could incentivize more on-
site affordable units

2 0 X

2.4C Create density bonus beyond State maximum 0 0 X

2.4D
Establish a tax deferral program for affordable 
units

1 2 X X

2.5A
Pursue partnerships with other agencies in the 
County, such as TOML

4 1 X X

2.5B Investigate potential for landlord partnerships 0 1 X X

2.5C Investigate potential for developer partnerships 1 0 X X

2.5D
Partner with other agencies and employers to 
ensure that new employee housing qualifies 
toward meeting the County’s RHNA targets

2 1 X X X

Program Implementation Actions

2. Increase Supply of 
Community Housing

2.3 Public Land Offering

2.4 Financial and Regulatory 
Incentives

2.5 Partnerships



 

 

Housing Toolbox
Goals

Program Top Priority for BOS Not a priority for BOS Current Staffing Additional Staffing
Additional 
Funding

Partnership
Outside County 

Workflow

3.1A
Bolster rehabilitation loan and grant program, in 
collaboration with TOML

3 1 X X

3.1B
Consider programs that may improve housing 
stock quality

4 0 X X

3.2A
Conduct a study to evaluate the impact of short-
term rentals in the County

0 1 X X

3.2B
Explore how to incentivize property owners to 
convert short-term rentals into long-term rentals

2 0 X

3.2C
Consider further enhancing policy and 
enforcement

0 1 X

3.2D
Educate realtors about the short-term rental 
approval process

0 1 X

3.3A
Identify opportunities to purchase and re-sell 
deed restricted units

1 0 X

3.3B
Review the language of deed restricting 
conditions to minimize unintended 
consequences

1 0 X X

3.3C
Identify opportunities to bolster the County's 
Revolving Loan Fund

3 0 X

4. Other 4.1 Additions by BOS 4.1A Add Dedicated Staff 5 0 X X

Program Implementation Actions

3. Retain Existing 
Community Housing

3.1 Rehabilitation Loans and Grants

3.2 Short-term Rental Policies

3.3 Acquisitions


	Meeting Agenda
	#5A - Board Minutes - January 5, 2021
	#5B - Reappointment to the Mono County Child Care Council
	#5C - Appointment to County Service Area #1 Advisory Board
	#5D - Authority to Hire WIC Program Manager/Registered Dietician at Step B
	#5E - Authority to Hire Two Community Health Outreach Specialists at Step B
	#5F - Emergency Guardrail Replacement - Justification for Continued Emergency
	#5G - Ordinance Amending Chapter 13.40 of the Mono County Code - Public Use of Conway Ranch
	#6A - Notice Of Petitions for Change for Licenses 10191 And 10192 (Applications 8042 And 8043) of The City of Los Angeles, Department of Water And Power
	#6B - Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Letters re: Dams Part of the Lee Vining Creek Project, FERC Project No. 1388-CA
	#7A - First 5 Fiscal Year 2019-20 Evaluation Report
	#7B - Revolving Loan Update
	#7C - COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Update
	#7D - Mountain View Fire Update
	#7E - Legislative Platform Workshop
	#9A - Closed Session - Labor Negotiations
	#9B - Closed Session - Public Employee Evaluation
	#9C - Closed Session - Public Employee Evaluation
	#9D - Closed Session - Existing Litigation
	#11A - New Statewide Inland Trout Fishing Regulations for the 2021-2022 Fishing Season
	#11B -Discussion of MediCal Managed Care and Presentation from Inland Empire Health Plan
	#11C -Housing Update



